ISSN 1339-5629 electronic journal

International Scientific Journal about Logistics

OGISTICA

Volume 9 Issue 2 2022



Acta Logistica

CONTENTS

### **CONTENTS**

(JUNE 2022)

### (pages 115-121)

### ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN **INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN**

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan, Erika Barojas-Payan, Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero, Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez, Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

### (pages 123-130)

### ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT **ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST**

Andrii Galkin, Oleksii Nazarov, Ganna Shapoval, Valeriia Kolosok, Yana Khodova, Anatolii Kuznetsov

(pages 131-139)

IMPROVING THE EFFICIENCY OF TRANSPORT SYSTEM LEGAL REGULATION IN THE CONTEXT OF GLOBALISATION: PECULIARITIES **OF THE NATIONAL ECONOMY** 

Na Li, Elena Panfilova, Natalia Vasina, Oleg Volodin

(pages 141-149)

THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE **OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY** Ibrahim Assabane, Ouail El imrani

(pages 151-169)

DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC **REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN** PETROLEUM SECTOR

> Younes Fakhradine El Bahi, Latifa Ezzine, Zineb Aman, Haj El Moussami

> > (pages 171-181)

TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS® Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas, Jose Alejandro Cano

(pages 183-193)

**IMPROVING THE LEVEL OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE MATURITY MATRIX IN INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISE** 

Jana Mesarosova, Klaudia Martinovicova, Helena Fidlerova, Henrieta Hrablik Chovanova, Dagmar Babcanova, Jana Samakova



Acta Logistica

CONTENTS

### (pages 195-205) AN EMPIRICAL COMPARISON OF DRP AND DEMAND-DRIVEN DRP

Yassine Erraoui, Abdelkabir Charkaoui

(pages 207-221)

SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE EVALUATION MODELS: **A LITERATURE REVIEW** Imadeddine Oubrahim, Naoufal Sefiani,

Ari Happonen

(pages 223-235)

**CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY** Ghazi M. Magableh, Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi

(pages 237-243)

WAYS TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS PROBLEMS EXISTING IN THE URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT SYSTEM Tamaz Morchadze, Nunu Rusadze

Acta logistica



a - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 115-121 ISSN 1339-5629

ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero; Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.269

Received: 22 Oct. 2021; Revised: 02 Dec. 2021; Accepted: 02 Apr. 2022

### ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan

Tecnologico Nacional de Mexico, Instituto Tecnologico de Gustavo A. Madero, Calle 608 No. 300 y Av. 412, Col. San Juan de Aragon, Alcaldia. Gustavo A. Madero, Mexico, CDMX, C.P. 07470, josue\_07@yahoo.com

### Erika Barojas-Payan

Facultad de Ingenieria, Universidad Veracruzana, Km 1.0 Carretera Sumidero Dos s/n, Ixtaczoquitlan, Ver., Mexico, 94450, ebarojas@uv.mx (corresponding author)

### Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero

UPAEP University, 17 Sur 901, Barrio de Santiago, 72410 Puebla, Puebla, Mexico,

damianemilio.gibaja@upapep.mx

### Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez

Tecnologico Nacional de Mexico; Instituto Tecnologico de Orizaba, Oriente 9, Col Emiliano Zapata, Orizaba, Ver.,

Mexico, 94320, megurruchaga@gmail.com

### **Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez**

Tecnologico Nacional de Mexico; Instituto Tecnologico de Gustavo A. Madero, Calle 608 No. 300 y Av. 412, Col. San Juan de Aragon, Alcaldia, Gustavo A. Madero, México, CDMX, 07470, dir\_gamadero@tecnm.mx

Keywords: trust, intermediaries, subgame Nash equilibrium, supply chain.

*Abstract:* This article looks at the role of middleman relationships in a decentralized supply chain, considering a threeelement structure consisting of an independent supplier, a distributor, and a producer. We study a model based on game theory that allows the analysis of the coordination of the three links, which evaluates qualitative criteria in their supply relationships, distribution, and reception of their operating preferences. The objective of the research is the construction of trust by analyzing the interrelationships of the three links for their consolidation, or not of the supply chain, using the Nash equilibrium, which allows summarizing satisfaction and loyalty throughout the supply chain. The set of Nash equilibria reflects that achieving satisfaction in the interrelationships between them is the main strategy to be followed by companies seeking to promote coordination within their operations. At the same time, we observe that only one agent is sufficient to maintain the flow of materials, i.e., the problem of the free-rider arises between us. In this study, five different equilibria are obtained, of which in four the supply flow continues within the chain, and in one equilibrium the relationship fails.

### **1** Introduction

The globalization of many industries has strengthened the competition that companies live in their markets, making necessary the improvement of the supply chain's management [1]. Nowadays, production processes take place in different places which implies the involvement of different agents, even from different countries, within the supply chain; this makes necessary to revisit the selection of partners. The literature recognizes the importance of intermediaries to satisfy the requirements from suppliers and producers costumers [2]. So, the benefit of a downstream company relies on the capacity of suppliers and intermediaries to satisfy requisitions. Hence, many companies invest in the development of better relationships with their elements in the supply chain to boost their overall performance and to increase the competitiveness level of the supply chain [3].

Reaching an efficient performance of the supply chain is not an easy task given the interaction of agents with specific objectives. That is to say, there are multiple decision-makers that control the behavior of a supply chain, some of them may have interests in opposition with the objectives of other agents [4]. For example, manufacturers prefer to produce in large batches to reduce installation costs. This increases the number of finished products in inventory, which will eventually increase costs, contradicting the original motivation for such a strategy [5].

It is important to note that member interactions follow the structure of the supply chain. Given the importance of intermediaries, this focuses in the analysis of a decentralized supply chain, which is a structure where agents have to make multiple decisions to improve their interrelationships [6]. On the other hand, Within a centralized supply chain, there is only one decision-maker that controls the activities within the supply chain. The first situation results in local improvement of the interrelations between the members or agents (supplier, distributor, producer), while the centralized system leads to a global development [7]. Our analysis models the decentralised interaction through a game theoretical approach where



ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero; Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

coordination in the activities between the supplier, the intermediary and the producer contributes to a better location of facilities to fulfil with on-time deliveries.

We analyses a supply chain with three agents: a supplier, an intermediary, and a producer. Considering a simple framework, we assume that producer and supplier may choose between to stay, or not, in the supply chain. So, our equilibrium analysis allows us to identify those scenarios of consolidation, or breaking-up, of the supply chain. Also, we show that the set of equilibria serve to determine the presence, or absence, of trust within the supply chain. Later, we argue the implications of such a factor.

The study of how to generate trust within a supply chain is not new since it a mechanism to improve the coordination between suppliers, distributors, and producers. Nowadays, the globalization of production processes requires the generation of trust for the efficient progress of supply chain members' activities. It is worth to mention that trust acts as a prerequisite to improving the performance of the three most essential processes in the management of the chain: a) flows of materials, b) financial flows and c) information flows. Hence, trust is a precedent to achieve cost reduction via the management. However, it is common that intermediaries do not adequately fulfil their activities generating distrust, which motivates the establishment of positive/negative incentives to induce the adoption of strategies or the fulfilment of specific objectives. We recall that trust generation is crucial since new challenges that supply chains face in the globalization of processes [8].

Our motivation comes from the manufacturing sector where inventory management and on-time fulfilment of customers' requisition may decrease companies' benefits. In [9,10] provide empirical evidence about the impact of intermediaries' actions on the benefits of their clients. Also, they observe that trust is the consequence of the frequency and long-term interactions. So, there is an opportunity area to generate confidence within supply chains. In this sense, game theoretical models provide useful insights into the designing of contracts that establish punishments to those that deviate from a desirable behaviour [1,11].

This paper focuses on analyzing a three-link supply chain through a game theoretical approach. We define the relationship between a supplier, an intermediary and a producer based on the fulfilment of each agent obligations to study the effect of trust in the consolidation or disaggregation of the supply chain, we can exemplify the following, we construct the agents' preferences considering the negative impact of non-compliance over agents' benefits. Moreover, we present the Nash equilibrium analysis in a case where agents only can win, lose or remain indifferent. The equilibria set is not a singleton; nonsurprisingly, the disaggregation of the supply chain is an equilibrium, but there are equilibria where the supply chain stands when a single member copes with his responsibilities.

The article is presented in the following order, Section 2 presents the state of the art on the importance of trust within the supply chain and how they interact between suppliers, intermediaries and producers has been analyzed it. So, in section 3 we present a game theoretical that summarizes the possible scenarios that our supply chain faces. Section4 presents the equilibrium analysis, and in section 5 the conclusions reached according to the Nash equilibrium are presented.

### 2 Literature review

Our article is closely related to analyzing the impact of intermediaries in the success of supply chain activities. In [12], Vieira et al. investigate how the cultural differences between 338 processing plants, in Asia and occidental countries, impact their relationships with intermediaries and the influence of such impact on suppliers' activities. They use structural models to measure the presence or absence of trust. In general, processing plants differences are crucial for the development of a supply chain because their decisions contribute to modify the behavior of previous links in the supply chain. The empirical evidence shows that Asian companies tend to trust more on each other than western companies, [13,14]. In a similar work, [15], MacDuffie, observes that processing plants are the first to punish since intermediaries often forget to evaluate the quality of suppliers' product. It is usual that that quality, from providers products, is taking for granted by the intermediary. However, such negligence generates negative incentives for the supplier activities. That is to say; suppliers have incentives to low the quality of their products since other members of the supply do not implement a complete assessment of their activities.

In recent years, the presence of conflicting objectives within a supply chain, from its participants, indicates that game theory is an appealing methodology to model the generation and impact of trust [16]. In this type of analysis, the structure of the supply chain is essential. In [17], Charvet et al. observe that the number of links in the supply chain has a different impact on the development of the supply chain since each link has specific objectives with different consequences for the other elements of the supply chain. So, the collaboration is necessary to reach a common purpose. However, a collaborative behavior requires different incentives [18].

The most straightforward supply chain, a producer, and a supplier is defined as a centralized structure since the producer also acts as an intermediary to attend final customers. Our paper develops a decentralised supply chain with the presence of an intermediary, who is independent of the decisions that take the producer and the supplier. Also, a decentralised supply chain is often called a three-tier supply chain. In [19], Huang, Huang and Newman analyze the equilibrium interaction of such kind of supply chain following a dynamic approach. They show



ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED **SUPPLY CHAIN** Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero;

Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

that inventory levels become a coordination problem since the capacity of some agents to set prices. The coordination analysis motivates non-cooperative [20] Zhao et al. and cooperative approaches [21] Huang and Li.

#### 3 Methodology

We consider a decentralised supply chain with the following players: a supplier, a distributor, and a producer. First, we consider a simultaneous game with incomplete information among these three agents. In this interaction, the supplier produces raw material that is used by the producer. The communication between these two agents relies on the distributor intervention. The central aim of our model is to analyse the consolidation or to break up, of the supply chain. Below, w describe the action that each can take in this supply chain.

Note that suppliers take care of raw material's quality, while the distributor is in charge of doing the delivery of the raw material. So, we consider that supplier may supply

(D), or not (ND), the good. Also, it is important to recall that distributor's reputation depends on how the producer evaluates him. So, distributors actions are the four possible combinations between Receive (R), Not Receive (NR), Give (G) and Not Give (NG), i.e., distributor's actions are (R, G), (R, NG), (NR, G) AND (NR, NG). Implicitly, the action (NR, G) assumes that distributor can satisfy producers' requisition using his inventory. Also, the action (R, NG) represents a situation where the distributor wants to increase his inventory levels by no fulfilling the producer's requisition. This behaviour is not unusual since distributor may desire to increase the cost by generating scarcity. Finally, given the features of raw material and distribution service, the produce chooses to continue (S), or not (O), with her relationship with this intermediary. The payoff of each supply chain member depends on the other actions. Table 1 summarises all the possible scenarios that result from the interaction between the producer, the distributor and the supplier.

			1401	erra	iymeni.	smai	іл Ој П	ie supp	nier, au		л, ини р	nouncer			
							DIST	<b>FRIBU</b>	TOR						
		Re	ceive	and	Ree	ceive a	and	Do not Receive			Do Not Receive and				1
			Give		N	Not Give		and Give		Do not Give					
P			(R, D	)	(R, ND)		(NR, D)		(NR, ND)				S		
R O D U C E R	$\begin{array}{c c} & X \\ Continue \\ (S) & Y \\ \end{array}$	X	A	М	Н	Ι	J	C	LL	Е	Р	Q	U	Supplying (D)	U P
		Y	В	N	K	L	Ñ	F	G	Z	Т	w	V	Not supplying (ND)	P L I
	Choice of	X'	A'	M'	H'	I'	J,	C'	LL'	E'	P'	Q'	U'	Supplying (D)	E R
	another (O)	Y'	B'	N'	K'	L'	Ñ'	F'	G'	Z'	T'	W'	V'	Not supplying (ND)	

Table 1 Payments matrix of the supplier distributor and producer

Below, we discuss the relationship between the payoffs, concerning players preferences.

### **Producer** Payments

- X > X'. Note that, in this case, choosing another supply chain is unnecessary since the distributor and the supplier fulfil their obligations, (R, D) and D respectively.
- $\mathbf{Y} > \mathbf{Y}'$ . The producer prefers to stay in the supply chain since the distributor fulfils with his requisitions.
- X > Y. Although the first link of the supply chain does not fulfil with their obligations, the supplier chooses ND, and the distributor satisfies the producer's requisition.
- H > H'. In this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain that can meet its obligations, D and even though the distributor is not complying with Do not Give (R, ND), respectively.

- $\mathbf{K} > \mathbf{K}'$ . The producer prefers to remain in the supply chain and even though the distributor is not supplying the product.
- H > K. The second link in the supply chain does not fulfil its obligations, the distributor decides not to give ND, does not satisfy the request of the producer. However, the producer decides to continue trusting because the supplier did comply with the demand to give D.
- C > C'. Keep in mind that, in this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain since the distributor fulfils half of his obligations by not receiving (NR, D) and giving, the supplier fulfils his obligations to give D.
- $\mathbf{F} > \mathbf{F}'$ . The producer prefers to remain in the supply chain since the distributor only complies with giving (NR, D) and satisfying his requisitions.
- C = F. Although the first link in the supply chain complies with its obligations, the supplier chooses to give D, but the distributor is not receiving (NR) the

ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero; Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

goods. So, the D is indifferent between the action that P chooses.

- **P** > **P'**. In this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain since the supplier fulfils his obligations, even though the distributor does not comply with his activities.
- **T** = **T**'. The producer prefers to remain in the supply chain and even though the distributor and supplier do not fulfil their obligations respectively.
- **P** > **T**. Note that the second link in the supply chain does not meet its obligations, the distributor decides not to receive and not give (NR, ND), and the supplier did comply with the demand to give D.

### Distributor Payments

- **A** > **A**'. Because the distributor and the supplier fulfil obligations, (R, D) and D, respectively, in this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain.
- **B** > **B**'. The distributor is complying with the producer's requests, which is why he prefers to remain in the supply chain.

A > B. The distributor, satisfies the producer's request, although the first link in the supply chain does not fulfil its obligations, because one of the two suppliers chooses ND.

• **I** > **I**'. The distributor decides to receive and not give (R, ND) falling into a breach of obligations and the supplier fulfils the supplies giving D, in this particular case, the producer chooses to continue the supply chain due to the trust he still has.

L > L'. The distributor and supplier are not complying with the producer's requisitions, which is why the last opportunity for both are presented. Also, in this situation, he has no more supply options, so he remains in the chain.

I > L. The second link does not fulfil its obligations, the distributor decides not to give ND, not satisfying the request of the producer. However, the producer decides to continue trusting because the supplier did meet the demand to give D.

• **D** > **D**'. Keep in mind that, in this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain since the distributor complies with half of his obligations by not receiving and giving (NR, D), the supplier fulfils his obligations to give D.

G > G'. The distributor only complies with giving (NR, D) and satisfying the producer's requests to remain in the supply chain.

• **D** > **G.** Although the first link in the supply chain fulfils its obligations, the supplier chooses to give D, and the distributor is not receiving (NR), and only satisfies the request of the producer.

• **Q** > **Q**'. In this case, the distributor does not fulfil its obligations, and because the supplier fulfils his D obligations, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 115-121 ISSN 1339-5629

- W > W'. The distributor and supplier do not fulfil their obligations respectively. Due to the complexity of replacing the two agents at the same time and the producer prefers to stay within the framework.
- **Q** >**W**. Note that the second link in the supply chain is not met, the distributor decides not to receive and does not give (NR, ND), and the supplier did comply with the request to give D. reason why the producer remains with them in the supply chain.

### Supplier Payments

- **M** > **M**'. In this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain that can fulfil its obligations D, and the distributor to receive and give (R, D), respectively.
- N > N'. Although the supplier is not supplying the product to the distributor, the supplier, if it gives and receives the product, the producer prefers to remain in the supply chain.
- **M** > **N**. Keep in mind that this is the ideal case of a trust scenario because all the intermediaries in the supply chain fulfil their obligations.
- **J** > **J**'. Even though the supplier fulfilled his obligations, D and the distributor does not do it because he only receives and does not give (R, ND), In this case, it is not necessary to choose another supply chain, due to the effort and commitment of the supplier.
- **O** > **O'**. The supplier is not supplying the product to the distributor, but he gives takes. Moreover, for that reason, the producer prefers to remain in the supply chain.
- **J** > **O**. The supplier did comply with the demand to give D to the distributor but decides not to give ND, not fulfilling his obligations with the producer. However, although the second link in the supply chain fails to satisfy its obligations, the producer decides to remain within this supply chain.

## 4 Results - Example for Nash equilibrium analysis

To illustrate the game that we described in the previous section, we present (Table 2) a payoff matrix considering the values of -1, 1, and 0. If the agent wins, loses or remain indifferent in the scenario described by the corresponding strategies profile.



ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED **SUPPLY CHAIN** 

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero; Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

	I able 2 Example of intermediary payments matrix														
							DI	STRIE	BUTO	R					
P R	Receive and		and	Re	Receive and		Do 1	Do not Receive		Do Not Receive and Do not Give				S	
		Give			N	Not Give		and Give						U	
0			$(\mathbf{R}, \mathbf{D})$	)	(	R, ND	)		(NR, D	))	0	NR, NI	<b>)</b> )		P
D	Continue	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	-1	1	0	-1	Supplying (D)	P
U C	(S)	-1	-1	0	0	-1	0	0	1	0	-1	0	0	Not supplying (ND)	L I
E	Choice of	0	0	1	-1	0	1	-1	1	-1	0	0	-1	Supplying (D)	E
R	another (O)	-1	-1	0	0	-1	0	0	-1	0	0	0	0	Not supplying (ND)	R

#### 5 **Discussion - Nash equilibrium**

To know the equilibria of the payment matrix of the supplier, distributor, and producer, we calculate the best response of each player. We find five Nash equilibria in the previous game, that we discuss below.

### 1. (S, (R-D), D)

The producer follows (S) or continues in the supply chain because the distributor receives (R) the product and gives it (D) and the supplier starts giving (D) the raw material. This first equilibrium could be understood as the full trust between the three players as they all give and receive and continue with the same structure. This balance is considered natural because all intermediaries fulfil their activities effectively and reciprocally.

### 2. (O, (R-D), D)

The producer does not follow (O) or does not continue in the supply chain, although the distributor receives (R) the product and gives it (D) and the supplier starts giving (D) the raw material. In this second equilibrium, it is observed that the producer changes or do not continue in the structure of said chain, although he is receiving the product, however, if confidence is generated between the supplier and distributor considering continuing with the same structure between said players. We do not omit that the result is surprising because the first two intermediaries comply without any problems that the producer requests and he decides to change the structure of the chain together with them. However, it is a reflection of what happens in real life.

### 3. (S, (R-ND), D)

The producer follows (S) or continues in the supply chain because the distributor receives (R) the product, but does not give it (ND) and the supplier starts giving (D) the product. In this third equilibrium, we observe a proper interrelation of coordination between the supplier and the producer because the first decides to give the goods and the last continues with supply chain structure even though the distributor, receiving the product, does not deliver it generating an area of opportunity to improve. In the same way, this balance surprises the result or decision of the producer who decides to continue the relationship with the

distributor, due to the failure of the same, but this reflects that in reality, many processes need particular or specific distributors. Therefore, they take the attitude of imposing priorities and not coping, and for them arise for both intermediaries areas of opportunity.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 115-121 ISSN 1339-5629

### 4. (S, (NR-D), ND)

The producer follows (S) or continues in the supply chain because the distributor does not receive (NR) the product, but if he manages to give (D) the product and the supplier starts not giving (ND) the raw material. In this fourth equilibrium, it is observed that confidence is generated between two players: distributor and producer, even though the supplier starts poorly or with a breach, as happens in a particular case of industrial life. Alternatively, the fantastic reflection of the total commitment that the distributor has a policy not to fall into default and to wear down the relationship with his final client. In this case, the producer because the relationship he has with the supplier is a complete loss.

### 5. (O, (NR-ND), ND)

The producer does not follow (O) or does not continue in the supply chain, as the distributor does not receive (NR) the product and consequently does not give (ND), and the supplier starts not giving (ND) the product. In this last equilibrium reflects that the behaviour of intermediaries are natural because it is observed that there is no penalty or punishment for any player because there are breach relations between them.

#### 6 Conclusions

Our article qualitatively analyzes the relationships of intermediate actors within a supply chain using the Nash equilibrium. The theoretical analysis of the game contributes to establishing five equilibria within a framework of actions by each of the members immersed in the said chain and how they impact its behavior and general structure.

The first equilibrium could be understood as full trust between the three players since they all give, receive, and continue with the same structure. This balance is considered natural because all intermediaries carry out their activities effectively and reciprocally. The third



ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero; Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

equilibrium reflects a surprising result or decision on the part of the producer who decides to continue the relationship with the distributor, despite the failure in the delivery of material from the latter, due to the particularity or specificity of his services. This gives us guidelines for the investigation of the particularities in the processes or services of the distributors and the tolerance levels of the producers to continue with the relationship. The fourth equilibrium identifies the efforts of the distributor to supply the producer even when the supplier does not comply, denoting the total commitment that the distributor has with a policy not to fall into default and wear down the relationship with its end customer.

In this way, we observe factors that exert a positive and motivating effect on trust and loyalty, as well as incentives for freeriding. In other words, although most of the studies focus on motivating aspects, our analysis identifies that the members of the offer pursue the maximum benefit by taking advantage of the trust that others place in them.

However, the second equilibrium reflects a change in the chain structure due to non-compliance by the producer, while still surprising the producer's decision, despite the distributor and supplier's compliance. However, it is a reflection of what happens in real life. Therefore, it gives way to the future qualitative and quantitative study of the reasons why a producer, despite having efficient supply services, decides to break with the supply chain structure. A five equilibrium shows the disinterest and lack of commitment on the part of the three players. This is motivated by the lack of penalty and/or punishment for the players because there are breaking relationships between them.

### References

- [1] TOKTAS-PALUT, P., ÜLENGIN, F.: Coordination in a two-stage capacitated supply chain with multiple suppliers, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 212, No. 1, pp. 43-53, 2011.
- [2] OH, J., RHEE, S.: Influences of supplier capabilities and collaboration in new car development on the competitive advantage of carmakers, *Management Decision*, Vol. 48, No. 5, pp. 756-774, 2010.
- [3] MANRIQUE, M.A.L., TEVES, J., TACO, A.M., FLORES, J.A.: Supply chain management: a look from the theoretical perspective, *Revista Venezolana de Gerencia, Universidad del Zulia*, Vol. 24, No. 88, pp. 1136-1146, 2019.
- [4] GIANNOCCARO, L., PONTRANDOLFO, P.: Supply chain coordination by revenue sharing contracts, *International Journal of Production economics*, Vol. 89, pp. 131-139, 2004.
- [5] BOWERSOX, D.J., CLOSS, D.J., COOPER, M.B.: Supply chain logistics management, Mcgraw-Hill, 1<sup>st</sup> edn., New York, 2007.
- [6] REINA, M.L., ADARME, W.: Distribution logistics of perishable products: case studies of Fuente de Oro

(Meta) and Viotá (Cundinamarca), *Revista colombiana de ciencias hortícolas*, Vol. 8, No.1, pp. 80-91, 2014.

- [7] PEÑA OROZCO, D., AGUDELO, S., RIVERA, L.: Analysis of the behavior of the income distribution contract in a fruit supply chain, *International Journal* of Numerical Methods for Calculation and Design in Engineering, Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 31, 2019.
- [8] JOHNSTON, D.A., MCCUTCHEON, D.D., STUART, I.F., KERWOOD, H.: Effects of supplier trust on the performance of cooperative supplier relationships, *Journal of Operation Management*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp. 23-38, 2004.
- [9] AL-ABDALLAH, G.M., ABDALLAH, A.B., HAMDAN, K.B.: The Impact of Supplier Relationship Management on Competitive Performance of Manufacturing Firms, *International Journal of Business and Management*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 192-202, 2014. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v9n2p192
- [10] JERMSITTIPARSERT, K., SUTDUEAN, J., SRIYAKUL, T., KHUMBOON, R.: The role of customer responsiveness in improving the external performance of an agile supply chain, *Polish Journal* of Management Studies, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 206-217, 2019. https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2019.19.2.17
- [11] CORTINA, A.: Lo justo como núcleo de las ciencias morales y políticas, Una versión cordial de la ética del discurso, Real Academia de Ciencias Morales y Políticas, Madrid, Chapter IX, pp. 119-138, 2008. (Original in Spanish)
- [12] VIEIRA, L.M., PAIVA, E.L. FINGER, A.B., TEIXEIRA, R.: Trust and Supplier-buyer Relationships: an Empirical Analysis, *Trust and Supplier-buyer Relationships*, Vol. 10, No. 3, pp. 263-280, 2012.
- [13] LAEEQUDDIN, M., SAHAY, B.S., SAHAY, V., WAHEED, K.A.: Trust building in supply chain partners relationship: an integrated conceptual model, *Journal of Management Development*, Vol. 31, No. 6, pp. 550-564, 2012.
- [14] LEE, D.Y., DAWES, P.L.: Guanxi, trust and longterm orientation in Chinese business markets, *Journal* of International Marketing, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 28-56, 2005.
- [15] MACDUFFIE, J.P.: Inter-organizational trust and the dynamics of distrust, *Journal of International Business Studies*, Vol. 42, No. 1, pp. 35-47, 2011.
- [16] LI, W., ZHAO, P., QU, H.: The empirical research of the effect about communication, trust and commitment on supply chain cooperation, *Advanced Materials Research*, Vol. 468-471, No. February, pp. 2963-2969, 2012.
- [17] CHARVET, F.F., COOPER, M.C., GARDNER, J.T.: The intellectual structure of supply chain management: a bibliometric approach, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 29, No. 1, pp. 47-73, 2008.
- [18] NYARKU, K.M., ODURO, S.: The Mediating Effect of Supplier Relationship Management on CSR and



ANALYSIS OF TRUST VIA THE INTERRELATIONS BETWEEN INTERMEDIARIES IN A DECENTRALISED SUPPLY CHAIN

Miguel-Josue Heredia-Roldan; Erika Barojas-Payan; Damian-Emilio Gibaja-Romero; Maria-Eloisa Gurruchaga-Rodriguez; Pedro Azuara-Rodriguez

Marketing Performance Relationship, *Indonesian Journal of Sustainability Accounting and Management*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 1-13, 2019. https://doi.org/10.28992/ijsam.v3i1.58

- [19] HUANG, Y., HUANG, G.Q., NEWMAN, S.T.: Coordinating pricing and inventory decisions in a multi-level supply chain: a game-theoretic approach, *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, Vol. 47, No. 2, pp. 115-129, 2011.
- [20] ZHAO, Y., MENG, X., WANG, S., CHENG, T.C.E.: Contract Analysis and Design for Supply Chains with Stochastic Demand, *International Series in*

*Operations Research & Management Science*, Springer, Vol. 234, No. 18, pp. 115-129, 2015.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 115-121 ISSN 1339-5629

[21] KAZEMI, A., SAEEDMOHAMMADI, Z.: A Model for Cooperative Advertising and Pricing Decisions in Manufacturer-Retailer Supply Chain with Discount: A Game Theory Approach, *International Journal of Supply and Operations Management*, Vol. 2, No. 4, pp. 1035-1063, 2016. https://doi.org/10.22034/2015.4.05

### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.

Acta logistica

- International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629

ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.279

Received: 10 Dec. 2021; Revised: 31 Jan. 2022; Accepted: 24 Feb. 2022

### ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST

### Andrii Galkin

O. M. Beketov National University of Urban Economy in Kharkiv, Department of Transport Systems and Logistics, 17 Bazhanova str., 61001 Kharkiv, Ukraine, andriy.galkin@kname.edu.ua (corresponding author)

### **Oleksii Nazarov**

Ukrainian State University of Railway Transport, Transport Hubs Department, Feuerbach sq. 7, 61001 Kharkiv, Ukraine, nazarovalexej65@gmail.com

### Ganna Shapoval

Ukrainian State University of Railway Transport, Department of railway stations and junctions, Feuerbach sq. 7, 61001 Kharkiv, Ukraine, shapoval@kart.edu.ua

### Valeriia Kolosok

Pryazovskyi State Technical University Mariupol, Department of Transport Management and Logistics, 7 Universitetska str, 87500 Mariupol, Ukraine, kolosok\_v\_m@pstu.edu

### Yana Khodova

Pryazovskyi State Technical University Mariupol, Department of Transport Management and Logistics, 7 Universitetska str, 87500 Mariupol, Ukraine, Khodova\_y\_a@pstu.edu

### Anatolii Kuznetsov

O. M. Beketov National University of Urban Economy in Kharkiv, Department of Electric Transport, 17 Bazhanova str., 61001 Kharkiv, Ukraine, kai@kname.edu.ua

*Keywords:* urban logistics, modelling, tariffs, vehicle carrying capacity, local tax regulations for transportation. *Abstract:* The paper will investigate the impact of the vehicle carrying capacity to which the local tax is applied on forming the cost of delivery. The cost of 1 ton of freight under different tax scenarios is estimated in the paper: without tax 0, with fixed tax – 10% and with progressive tax from 0 to 75%. The greatest effect on reducing the vehicle's load capacity during urban deliveries showed a progressive tax. The developed regression model allows determining the cost of transportation of 1 ton of goods depending on the technological parameters of transport operations, the costs of the transport (logistics) operators to perform these operations, and local tax regulations for transport. The application of the model makes it possible to regulate the use of vehicles of a given capacity by the local administration. In contrast to the strict prohibition on the establishment of traffic signs, the use of a progressive tax by the local administration makes it possible to regulate traffic structure by economic methods. Exploring of influence local tax regulations on transportation will lead to the sustainability of the cities in order to provide GREEN technologies.

### 1 Introduction

Managing the development of logistics is a vital task for industries and transport focused on the sale of goods and for entire retails, and other related industries focused on the livability of the cities. Researchers agree that the local policy of transport services is a very important stage in freight flows distribution, as it affects the final cost of goods, transport and freight flows, transport time, etc., in the cities [1,2]. Analysis shows expenditures on transportation services on the distribution stage of finished products in the world have increased by 12% since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic and, on average, account for 10% of sales [3]. However, the authors note that distribution costs continue to rise [4]. At the same time, the influence of traffic flows on the comfort of movement in cities has increased [5]: the number of private cars has increased, especially commercial vehicles - like HLV. In order to reduce the impact of these factors, urban logistics tools are used. One of the main factors that can be managing the attractiveness of the last-mile option is the

cost of shipment. Transport policy regulations usually have a direct impact on the cost factor. The complexity of such regulations is related to the variety of stakeholders who become members of urban freight and their numerous connections and the very object of pricing in supply chains. Such objects are the cost of transport or logistics services from one side and external costs of society for this type of service from the other side. Depending on the conditions of transport regulations, the cost structure of the transport operator and the method of pricing in the freight transportation market change, which determines the volume of services provided to them. Exploring the influence of city tax regulations on the price and amount of transport or logistics services becomes a high-value task for theory and practice to achieve well-known concepts of Smart and Livability cities. Such regulation leads to stimulating greener services to reduce transportation by high capacity vehicles and internal combustion engine utilisation and towards EV or ect., sustainable scenarios in cities. Local tax regulations for transportation can be one



AL

ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

of the authorities' options to manage transport policy and achieve marked goals. The aim of this paper is to assess the urban freight regulations into Ukraine transport policy and establish their effects on the transportation cost for Green city solutions.

The research includes the next steps:

- Literature review
- Methodology of research;
- Development of the Urban freight rate model including local transport tax;
- Determination of the influence value of urban freight rate on delivery value;
- Discussion and Conclusions.

### 2 Literature review

### 2.1 Urban freight efficiency

The transport participant is a separate link in the movement of goods in space and time from the places of origin to its consumption. Promotion of any freight flow is carried out according to the certain technology of transportation inherent in the given goods. Modern technologies aim to reduce transportation costs [6], zeroemission [7], sustainable transport development [8], etc. At the same time, the existing goals do not aim to study the connection between transport process technology and consumption [9]. This interaction is due to the use of steady demand in urban freight. The change in cost affects the demand and supply of transport in urban freight. Solving the problems of managing the cost of transport services will ensure the sustainable development of the city freight operator and the sustainable development of the city's transport system, which requires the use of new methods and technologies for managing them.

Among the models that determine the efficiency of transport services, there are models related to the evaluation of transport services by customers [10] and the own assessment of transport service carriers [11]. Such models include a large number of parameters of customer service quality, in other words, the requirements of transport services consumers to their service. Determining the source information for the calculation of this model is a difficult step because it requires data on the work of the carrier, which may not be available. Modern methods and models help to facilitate the functioning of transport in logistics systems as well as in other industries [12-14]. The key role of transportation in logistics is explained not only by the greater share of transport costs in the total logistics costs but also by the fact that without transportation, the very existence of material flows is impossible.

Analysing the work of transport operators of shipping goods, it can be noted that one of the main conditions for ensuring the efficiency of these systems is to meet the demand at the lowest cost. To do this, optimal routes are organised, the necessary brands of vehicles in terms of carrying capacity are selected, transport work is coordinated with loading and unloading posts, etc. [15]. Each logistics system in the process of its operation depends on its costs [16]. Analysing the structure of logistics costs, we can identify ways to improve the efficiency of the logistics system, one of which is the optimisation of delivery costs depending on the load capacity of the vehicle used [17]: Light commercial vehicles (LCVs) with grouse vehicle weight (GVW) less than 3.5 ton; Intermediate Light commercial vehicle (ILCV) with GVW of 3.5 to 8 ton; Intermediate commercial vehicle (ICV) with GVW of 8 to 10 ton; Medium commercial vehicles (MCV) with GVW of 10 to 15 ton; Heavy commercial vehicle (HCV) with GVW of 16 ton and above etc. The paper will investigate the impact of the vehicle carrying capacity to which the local tax is applied on the formation of the cost of delivery.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629

### 2.2 Transport policy regulations

The transportation cost affects the final price of goods to end-consumers, as well as it is add-value. The cost of transportation is often fixed in the urban environment by different operators. Constant technology provides sustainability and resilience of urban freight. But, variations of technological parameters (for instant, vehicle capacity changes) support changes in costs and urban freight rates, respectively. As the theory and practice of research shows [18-20], variation in the carrying capacity of a vehicle in cities is not a very popular management solution in Europe last years. Authors leave it constant due to several reasons for this:

- no other options in the fleet of the logistics operator. As a rule, the fleet consists of the same brands and typical vehicles that work according to a given technology. It is important to note the ease of maintenance of one brand of vehicles for the transport operator [21,22]. The increase in brand variations and vehicle carrying capacity will increase their maintenance cost, which is not always rational from the point of view of the revenue generated.

- lack of complete information and experience in the use of vehicles of different carrying capacity. The problem is related to the difficulty of predicting the operational performance of vehicles. Technological changes usually affect not only transport but also other participants in the supply chain: shippers and consignees [23];

- strict restrictions on the weight of the vehicle used in cities. Prohibition of HLV entry into cities or it is separate areas, historical centres, etc., reduces the possibilities by varying the carrying capacity of vehicles. Additional restrictions are imposed by «time window» and «green vehicles» [24];

- lack of a second chance. Buying a vehicle comes with a cost and should be justified enough. An active business does not have sufficient funds for experiments and wrong decisions. Therefore, any changes will be considered from many angles for a durable solution [25].

Mostly in CIS countries, scientific schools for the development of delivery technology determine the optimal vehicle's capacity for each delivery scenario or logistics system functioning [26-29]. During vehicle selection, it is

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629



ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

operation indicators, specification, speed and delivery times, level of goods storage, the convenience of transportation, regularity of service, the complexity of service and other quality characteristics, the spatial location of transport infrastructure, level of competition in the transport market and other factors should be taken into account. In this regard, there are some questions about determining the rational type of vehicle and delivery scenario [29]: traditional trucks with internal combustion engines, electric cars, trucks, «passing cars» (carsheering), «passing deliveries» (crowdshipping)), drones [30].

Transport operations in logistics systems have a number of parameters: turnaround time, route length, tour quntity, quntity of depots and recivers, the required quntity of vehicles, etc. [31]. Management of this indicators makes it possible to increase the efficiency of transport services and, as a consequence, the scheme of goods distribution [32]. Transport operator operations associated with its implementation costs due to certain parameters. In a coherent analysis of the chain, it is proved that the parameters of a single transport operator can have a significant impact on the end-prize of the goods.

Modeling and simulation techniques are widely used to handle many variations. They allow to transfer all the necessary properties of real objects to abstract systems. This approach ensures the integrity of the system and allows to explore all scenarios for a long-term decision.

#### 3 Methodology

#### 3.1 Model description, limitations, collecting the data

The task of urban logistics can be solved on the basis of establishing a rational load capacity, which provides a minimum cost of goods delivery. The establishment of local tax regulations for transportation capacity allows you to adjust costs (increase or decrease) depending on market conditions and the need to use vehicles of a certain capacity in the transport system of the city. It is possible to obtain such an effect by applying transport regulation in the formation of transport rates.

This approach leads to a set of interrelated functions, the implementation of which provides the desired effect in achieving the goal of functioning of the urban transport system and logistics operator as an integral system and not its individual components. These aspects cannot be considered in isolation but should be based on their interconnectedness, and the effectiveness of the decisions taken should be assessed in the light of the interests of all stakeholders involved in the delivery of the goods. To study urban freight regulations impact on the transportation cost it is necessary:

1. Set up the data source and system limitations.

2. Build a mathematical model of the transport services cost depending on the parameters of time and distance after taking into account local tax regulations for transportation capacity.

3. Establish the impact of changing the value of local tax regulations on the cost of delivery. Consider zero (taxfree), fixed, and progressive local tax regulations for transportation capacity.

To study the logistics chain functioning boundaries of the system, number of participants and their interaction was determined. The process of goods delivery on Kyiv, Kharkiv and Mariupol example was analysed. Due to numerous number of technologies the grocery food flow was applied for further analysis. The statisticla records from indystry was obtained and personal obsevations at logistics (transport) operators were made. The following delivery attributes that characterise retail networks and routes were selected for the study: time on the route when servicing the retail network; the distance travelled by the vehicle during maintenance. Such parameters are decisive for the formation of the transportation cost according to [22,27]. In addition, local tax regulations for transportation capacity and vehicle carrying capacity were established. The collected range of variation of these parameters is given in Table 1. The number of experiments was determined from the nomogram of sufficiently large numbers on the basis of the permissible error  $\varepsilon = 0.05$ . The Pearson's fitting criterion  $(\chi^2)$  for confidence probability P = 0.95 and permissible error  $\varepsilon = 0.05$ . was estimated.

Table 1 Data variation range								
Parameter	Units of measurement	Minimum value	Maximum value	Average value				
Total time of transportation in retail network	hrs	1.55	23.00	6.00				
Total distance of transportation in retail network	km	2	2250	25				
Load capacity of the vehicle	t	2	22	10				
Local tax regulations for transportation capacity	%	0	45	20				

#### 3.2 Model description, limitations, collecting the data

Analysis of the costs of the transport (logistics) operator indicates their dependence on the technological indicators of service time and total mileage on the routes. Also, the total cost of transporting goods consists of variable costs  $(C_i^{TO_{3M}})$  and fixed costs  $(C_i^{TO_{nocm}})$ :



ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

$$C_i^D = C_i^{TO\_nocm} \cdot T_i^{TO} + C_i^{TO\_3M} \cdot L_i^{TO} + T_i^{\% TO} \rightarrow min (1)$$

where  $C_i^{TO\_nocm}$  – fixed transportation costs, UAH/hour;  $C_i^{TO\_3M}$  – variable transportation costs, UAH/km;  $T_i^{\% TO}$  – local tax regulations for transportation, %;  $L_i^{TO}$  – total distance of transportation in retail network, km;  $T_i^{TO}$  – total time of transportation in retail network, hours.

In addition to the costs of the transport (logistics) operator, local tax regulations for transportation have been added to the model as a component of the city logistics

balance. Increasing the carrying capacity of vehicles reduces the delivery cost of 1 ton of goods [33]. The use of heavy-duty vehicles has a greater impact on the environment and other external costs than LCV or ILCV. The introduction of the tax will stimulate operators to operate vehicles with lower capacity and as a result will move towards a sustainable scenario of transport development in cities, Figure 1. 3 scenarios are considered: Scenario 0 – current situation, tax is not applied; Scenario A – tax is fixed at 10% for all types of vehicles, Scenario B – tax is progressive and consists of 0% for LCV, 10% for ILCV, 25% for ICV, 50% for MCV, 75% for HCV.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629



average demand of retailer is 1 ton

From the graphs (Figure 1) we see that the increase in the carrying capacity of vehicles leads to a change in the cost of transportation of 1 ton of goods. Transport costs and tax regulation are considered as a component of the goods delivery cost to members of the retail network. Such a change in indicators is interdependent. Initially, the increase in load capacity from LCV to ILCV affects the reduced cost of delivery, and with further growth there is a slight increase. The relationship between the indicators can be explained by the following circumstances. Increasing the load capacity of vehicles to a certain level helps to reduce the costs of the transport operator for a certain amount of restocking in system. Rational is such a capacity that minimises logistics costs per unit of delivery. With the considered parameters of the distribution scheme, it is advisable to use vehicles with a carrying capacity of ILCV, Figure 2 and Figure 3.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629



ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov



Figure 2 Scenario of a single ton transportation costs and tax regulation on type of vehicle, average demand of retailer is 3 ton



••• Tax regulation for Scenario B ••• \*\*•• Tax regulation for scenario A ••• Tax regulation for scenario 0

Figure 3 Scenario of a single ton transportation costs and tax regulation on type of vehicle, average demand of retailer is 5 ton

Analysis of Figure 1-3 showed that there is such a rational load capacity of the vehicle, which provides a minimum cost of delivery in accordance with local tax regulations. Increasing demand of delivery to 3 tons at Figure 2 and up to 5 tons causes an increase in the rational load capacity to ICV and MCV respectively.

Using the obtained data, the influence of each considered parameter on the cost of delivery was estimated. Using correlation-regression analysis, a model was obtained for the change in the average cost of one order fulfilment when servicing a retail network, taking into account local tax regulations for transportation capacity:

$$TSC_{i}^{D} = \frac{3,833 \cdot \sqrt{L_{i}^{TO}} + 0,28 \cdot (T_{i}^{TO})^{1,4} + 217,71 \cdot \left(\frac{T_{i}^{\% TO}}{100}\right)^{2}}{Q_{i}}.$$
 (2)

The regression coefficients were calculated by the method of least squares. The results of model evaluation are given in Table 2, Table 3.

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629



**ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST** Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

Table 2 Model evaluation results

Indicator	Value						
Students' criterion:							
tabular	1.97						
estimated for total mileage	2.20809						
estimated for the total service time	2.00112						
estimated for local tax regulations for transportation capacity	5.44039						
Fisher's index:							
calculated	3.88						
estimated	109.89						
Correlation coefficient 0.946							
Determination coefficient 0.8956							
Average approximation error	8.34						

The results of statistical evaluation prove that the obtained model is characterised by a sufficiently high information capacity, as evidenced by the estimated value of Fisher's index 109.89, which exceeds the tabular 3.88. The estimated Students' criterion is equal to 2.208 for the total mileage, 2.00 for the total service time, 5.44 for the rate of return of the transport operator, tabular 1.97. The

degree of correlation is 0.94. The average approximation error is 8.34%. Therefore, we can conclude that the obtained model adequately describes the dependence of the change in the average cost of one order when servicing the distribution network on the total mileage in the supply system, total service time, local tax regulations for transportation capacity.

*Table 3 95.0 %-confidence intervals for estimating model coefficients* 

Daramatar	Calculated coefficient	Standard error	Lower	Upper
Tarameter	Calculated coefficient	Standard Choi	border	border
Total mileage in the supply system	3.8329	1.73585	0.3741	7.2916
Total service time	0.2797	0.13980	0.0011	0.5583
Local tax regulations for transportation capacity	217.71	40.0174	137.97	297.44

Analysis of the model (2) of the delivery cost, taking into considering local tax regulations for transportation capacity showed that with increasing total mileage, total service time and the amount of tax increases the average cost of one order.

Obtained model can be used for estimating TSC for Ukrainian cities in order to facilitate reducing transport problems and provide necessary sustainable regulations. The results were obtained was disseminated on 3 cities which have different size, populations and other parameters. Obtained data define limitations of suggested method in order to data set was observed and collected statistics. The results allowed modeling the TSC for logistics (transport) operator for some adjustments in estimating the limits of business (taxation system), type of goods, distribution zone traffic regulations, green vehicle utilisation and other. This information can be initial data for further research and developing more specific model for each type of scenario.

### 4 Conclusions

The paper estimates the costs of 1 ton of freight under different tax scenarios: without tax 0, with fixed tax -10% and with progressive tax from 0 to 75%. The greatest effect on reducing the carrying capacity of the vehicle during urban deliveries showed a progressive tax. The size of the tax can be changed depending on the conditions of application (city,

population, level of motorisation, etc.). The current values of taxes applied in the work refer to large cities of Ukraine such as Kharkiv, Dnipro, Odessa, Kyiv, Lviv, Mariupol. The article simulates the volume of retailer demand in the delivery system. The increase in the volume of material flow in the logistics chain causes an increase in the rational carrying capacity of vehicles.

The proposed model allows to determine the cost of transportation of 1 ton of goods depending on the technological parameters of transport operations, the costs of the transport (logistics) operator to perform these operations, and local tax regulations for transport. This method takes into consideration the parameters of the participants in the process of transportation and demand, reflects the relationship between the parameters of supply systems and local government. Based on this, it can be argued that the cost optimisation of transport operator leads to increased efficiency of logistics which support the goal of paper to investigate the impact of vehicle carrying capacity to which the local tax is applied on the formation of the cost of delivery.

The application of the model makes it possible to regulate the use of vehicles of a given capacity by the local administration. In contrast to the strict ban on the establishment of traffic signs, the use of a progressive tax by the local administration makes it possible to regulate the structure of traffic by economic methods. The transport



**ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST** Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

(logistics) operator decides to pay a high tax or change the delivery technology and not pay the local tax. Reducing the vehicle's load capacity leads to a decrease in the volume of delivery and an increase in the frequency of deliveries, which positively affects the size and value of inventories of retail participants – reducing it. The funds received by the local administration as a result of the application of such a tax can be used to ensure the sustainable development of transport infrastructure or to stimulate investment in green logistics, etc.

Effective logistics management occurs when an optimal balance is established between logistics costs and local tax regulation for the use of different types of transport. For the consumer, not only the final price of the product is important, but also the level of service, accessibility and convenience of movement, and care for the environment. The use of LCV, ILCV reduces emissions and congestion on the roads and contributes to the sustainable development of society.

Thus, we have focused on one basic principle of creating persistence of delivery in green cities. We conclude that an effective supply chain delivery scenario is not based on an «entirely new» skill set. Instead, efforts to create more sustainable practices contribute to continuous business improvement. The development and fine-tuning of urban logistics management is a largely continuous process of improvement based on past experience and new research.

### References

- [1] TANIGUCHI, E., THOMPSON, R.G., YAMADA, T.: New opportunities and challenges for city logistics, *Transportation research procedia*, Vol 12. pp. 112-125, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.004
- [2] KUMAR, C., VIJAYARAGHAVAN, T., CHAKRABORTY, A., THOMPSON, R.G.: Urban Freight Regulations: How much they cost the consumers?, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 30, pp. 373-383, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.09.040

- [3] ROGGEVEEN, A.L., SETHURAMAN, R.: How the COVID-19 pandemic may change the world of retailing, *Journal of Retailing*, Vol. 96, No. 2, pp. 169-171, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2020.04.002
- [4] TANIGUCHI, E., THOMPSON, R.G., QURESHI, A.G.: Recent developments and prospects for modeling city logistics, *City Logistics 1: New Opportunities and Challenges*, 2018, pp. 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119425519.ch1
- [5] DHONDE, B., PATEL, Ch.R.: Identifying the factors inhibiting research on urban freight transport in developing countries: review of studies in India, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 1-10, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i1.190
- [6] MAKAROVA, I., SHUBENKOVA, K., PASHKEVICH, A.: Logistical costs minimisation for delivery of shot lots by using logistical information

systems, *Procedia Engineering*, Vol. 178, pp. 330-339, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.01.059

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629

- [7] WĄTRÓBSKI, J., MAŁECKI, K., KIJEWSKA, K., IWAN, S., KARCZMARCZYK, A., THOMPSON, R.G.: Multi-criteria analysis of electric vans for city logistics, *Sustainability*, Vol. 9, No. 8, pp. 1-34, 2017. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9081453
- [8] MAKAROVA, I., SHUBENKOVA, K., MAVRIN, V., BOYKO, A., KATUNIN, A.: Development of sustainable transport in smart cities, 2017 IEEE 3<sup>rd</sup> International Forum on Research and Technologies for Society and Industry (RTSI), pp. 1-6, IEEE, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1109/RTSI.2017.8065922
- [9] RUSSO, F., COMI, A.: Investigating the effects of city logistics measures on the economy of the city, *Sustainability*, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 1-11, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041439
- [10] MAKAROVA, I., KHABIBULLIN, R., BELYAEV, E., MAVRIN, V.: Increase of city transport system management efficiency with application of modeling methods and data intellectual analysis, *Intelligent Transportation Systems–Problems and Perspectives*, pp. 37-80, Springer, Cham, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19150-8\_2
- [11] HALKIN, A., SKRYPIN, V., KUSH, E., VAKULENKO, K., DOLIA, V.: Invest approach to the transportation services cost formation, *Procedia Engineering*, Vol. 178, pp. 435-442, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.01.086
- [12] YU, Y., XIAO, T.: Pricing and cold-chain service level decisions in a fresh agri-products supply chain with logistics outsourcing, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 111, pp. 56-66, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2017.07.001
- [13] QIN, X., LIU, Z., TIAN, L.: The optimal combination between selling mode and logistics service strategy in an e-commerce market, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 289, No. 2, pp. 639-651, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2020.07.029
- [14] SZENTESI, S., ILLÉS, B., CSERVENÁK, Á., SKAPINYECZ, R., TAMÁS, P.: Multi-Level Optimisation Process for Rationalising the Distribution Logistics Process of Companies Selling Dietary Supplements, *Processes*, Vol. 9, No. 9, pp. 1-27, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr9091480
- [15] COMI, A., BUTTARAZZI, B., SCHIRALDI, M., INNARELLA, R., VARISCO, M., TRAINI, P.: An advanced planner for urban freight delivering, *Archives of Transport*, Vol. 48, No. 4, pp. 27-40. 2018.

https://doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0012.8363

- [16] GALKIN, A.: Urban environment influence on distribution part of logistics systems, *Archives of Transport*, Vol. 42, No. 2, 7-23. 2017. https://doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0010.0522
- [17] COMI, A., SAVCHENKO, L.: Last-mile delivering: Analysis of environment-friendly transport,

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 123-130 ISSN 1339-5629



ASSESSMENT OF THE URBAN FREIGHT REGULATIONS IMPACT ON THE TRANSPORTATION COST Andrii Galkin; Oleksii Nazarov; Ganna Shapoval; Valeriia Kolosok; Yana Khodova; Anatolii Kuznetsov

*Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vol. 74, No. november, pp. 1-11, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2021.103213

- [18] CAMPAGNA, A., PERSIA, L., MEZZAVILLA, L.: A Method to Reveal Supply Chains in Order to Set Up Effective and Sustainable City Logistics Solutions, *Scienze Regionali*, Vol. 17, No. 3, pp. 455-476, 2018. https://doi.org/10.14650/90989
- [19] COMI, A., PERSIA, L., CAMPAGNA, A., POLIMENIA, A.: Revealing urban goods movements: empirical evidences from some European cities, *Transportation research procedia*, Vol. 30, pp. 275-284. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.09.030
- [20] CARDENAS, I., BORBON-GALVEZ, Y., VERLINDEN, T., VAN DE VOORDE, E., VANELSLANDER, T., DEWULF, W.: City logistics, urban goods distribution and last mile delivery and collection, *Competition and regulation in network industries*, Vol. 18, No. 1-2, pp. 22-43. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1177/1783591717736505
- [21] BÜYÜKÖZKAN, G., UZTÜRK, D.: Fleet Vehicle Selection for Sustainable Urban Logistics, Proceedings of 2020 the 9th International Conference on Informatics, Environment, Energy and Applications, pp. 116-120. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1145/3386762.3388955
- [22] GALKIN, A., OLKHOVA, M., IWAN, S., KIJEWSKA, K., OSTASHEVSKYI, S., LOBASHOV, O.: Planning the Rational Freight Vehicle Fleet Utilization Considering the Season Temperature Factor, *Sustainability*, Vol. 13, No. 7, pp. 1-19, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13073782
- [23] PRASOLENKO, O., BURKO, D., TOLMACHOV, I., GYULYEV, N., GALKIN, A., LOBASHOV, O.: Creating safer routing for urban freight transportation, *Transportation research procedia*, Vol. 39, pp. 417-427. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmpp.2010.06.044
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2019.06.044
- [24] SZYMCZYK, K., KADŁUBEK, M.: Challenges in general cargo distribution strategy in urban logisticscomparative analysis of the biggest logistics operators in EU, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 39, pp. 525-533. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrs.2010.06.054

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2019.06.054

[25] GALKIN, A.: Mechanisms for increasing of transportation efficiency using joint service of logistics systems, *Archives of Transport*, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 7-24. 2019. https://doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0013.2770

- [26] PESTRIKOV, S.A., BALABANOV, S.D., STARTSEV, V.I.: Management of transport and technological flows in large transport organisations by solving linear programming problems, AIP Conference Proceedings, Vol. 2389, No. 1, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0063644
- [27] KUSH, Y., SKRYPIN, V., GALKIN, A., DOLIA, K., TKACHENKO, I., DAVIDICH, N.: Regularities of Change of The Supply Chain Operation Efficiency, Depending on The Parameters of The Transport Process, *Transportation research procedia*, Vol. 30, pp. 216-225, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.09.024
- [28] NGUYEN, H.V., TO, T.H., TRINH, V.X., DANG, D.Q.: The role of supply chain dynamic capabilities and sustainable supply chain management practices on sustainable development of export enterprises, *Acta Tecnologia*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 9-16, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/atec.v7i1.98
- [29] HEBAZ, A., OULFARSI, S.: The drivers and barriers of green supply chain management implementation: a review, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 123-132, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i2.211
- [30] GDOWSKA, K., VIANA, A., PEDROSO, J.P.: Stochastic last-mile delivery with crowdshipping, *Transportation research procedia*, Vol. 30, pp. 90-100, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.09.011

[31] KUBASÁKOVÁ, I., KUBÁŇOVÁ, J., KOLLÁROVÁ, P.: The Case Study of International Transport by the Freight Forwarder in France, *Communications - Scientific Letters of the University of Zilina*, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. A256-A263, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.26552/com.C.2021.4.A256-A263

- [32] STRAKA, M., TREBUŇA, P., STRAKOVÁ, D., KLIMENT, M.: Computer simulation as means of urban traffic elements design, *Theoretical and Empirical Researches in Urban Management*, Vol. 10, No. 4, pp. 40-53, 2015.
- [33] KUSH, Y., TONKOSHKUR, M., VAKULENKO, K., RYABEV, A., DAVIDICH, N., GALKIN, A.: The efficiency of food supply chain engineering (case study in Ukraine), *Archives of Transport*, Vol. 55, No. 3, pp. 51-71, 2020. https://doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0014.4222

### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.



- International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 131-139 ISSN 1339-5629



IMPROVING THE EFFICIENCY OF TRANSPORT SYSTEM LEGAL REGULATION IN THE CONTEXT OF GLOBALISATION: PECULIARITIES OF THE NATIONAL ECONOMY Na Li; Elena Panfilova; Natalia Vasina; Oleg Volodin

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.283

Received: 24 Dec. 2021; Revised: 18 Feb. 2022; Accepted: 08 Mar. 2022

### IMPROVING THE EFFICIENCY OF TRANSPORT SYSTEM LEGAL REGULATION IN THE CONTEXT OF GLOBALISATION: PECULIARITIES OF THE NATIONAL ECONOMY

Na Li

Department of Economics, Sejong University, 209 Neungdong-ro, Gwangjin-gu, 05006, Seoul, South Korea, nali23845@yahoo.com (corresponding author)

### Elena Panfilova

Department of Management Organization in Engineering, State University of Management, Ryazanskiy Prospekt 99, 109542, Moscow, Russian Federation, el\_panfilova@rambler.ru

### Natalia Vasina

Department of Finance and Accounting, Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation, Omsk Branch, Partizanskaja 6, 644099, Omsk, Russian Federation, vasina nat23@rambler.ru

### **Oleg Volodin**

Department of Organization and Traffic Safety, Penza State University of Architecture and Construction, Ulitsa Titova 28, 440028, Penza, Russian Federation, oleg\_volodin123@rambler.ru

*Keywords:* logistics, strategy, national economy, transportation, traffic management.

Abstract: The study aims to analyse problems associated with the legal regulation of the transport system. The study is based on the international and domestic ranking of logistics performance. It also takes into account the economic consequences of world internationalisation to optimise logistics performance (this includes the transportation and legal aspects) under the Transport Development Strategy of the Russian Federation until 2030. The study relies on a systematic approach to systematise legislative, economic and social information and thus create an integral system of transport communication. The review of the legal regulation issues surrounding the transport system showed the following supply chain problems: weak policy coordination and a low level of digitalisation. These problems result in low-quality service and low transparency in legal matters. According to the results of this study, the integration of the world's best practices into transport communications will improve economic efficiency. The scientific novelty of the study is a practical tool to improve transport system efficiency in the context of globalisation, considering the characteristics of the national economy.

#### **1** Introduction

Global supply chains are complex and involve multiple stakeholders, most of whom are in different countries and sometimes on different continents. This makes chains vulnerable to disruptions, as was well demonstrated during the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak in 2020 and the nationwide blockages that followed it around the world. According to the Supply Chain Vulnerability Index [1], the U.S. and U.K. rank first and second most vulnerable to supply chain disruptions. Australia, France and Russia come next. The index also shows that Germany's supply chains are the least vulnerable in 2021, with China, South Korea, Ireland and the Netherlands in the top five, indicating that their supply chains remain secure. Tang, 2022 notes that supply chain management is an integral part of coordinating operations that focus on all elements: from creating a product or service to providing that product or service at the best price and in the best time. As market conditions have changed, many shippers and transportation providers have been forced to rethink their supply chain strategies within national jurisdictions [2].

#### 1.1 Literature review

Transport communications link companies around the world and represent a necessary precondition for a country's integrity and its integration into the global economy through external economic activity, focusing on new opportunities to overcome the effects of the coronavirus pandemic. In this regard, the transport system relates directly to the economy and the social sphere [3, 4]. The transport system is a network of freight carriers and shippers, government transport agencies, metropolitan planning organisations, freight advisory councils and other organisations interested in establishing a sustainable and reliable shipping system [5]. Any state's transport policy is characterised by national priorities at the micro and at the macro-level [6]. A competitive transport system must have following characteristics: be the economically, environmentally and socially sustainable; be able to effectively recover from natural disasters; have a developed and reliable IT-infrastructure [7]. Driven by innovation, socially-oriented economies shift towards service logistics [8]. Logistics refers to the storage and transportation of goods within the economic system. Logistics is closely connected with management as proper



management influences positively on logistics. As for supply chains management, it is the process of realising the flow of products from just materials to complete production with minimal expenses. In general, supply chain management includes demand planning, supply planning, production planning, stock management and logistics [9]. In this regard, transport is a service that serves the supply chain. There are four primary ways of transportation: sea, rail, road, and air. They can be used either individually or in combination with each other. This requires companies to possess key factors: a skilled workforce, a permanent talent pool and a proper employee retention policy by investing in internal resources [1].

A post-pandemic coronavirus country-by-country audit of the transportation industry (Australia, Great Britain, Germany, Russia, Panama, Peru) [10] showed that as the global movement of goods and people resumes, the situation of the transportation system stabilises in the long term. Russia, among the countries analysed, is the largest country in the world with an area of 17.1 million km<sup>2</sup> [11] and by population - ninth largest country out of 245 countries in the world [12]. Consequently, the country requires a high level of trade and a developed transport industry in order to remain prosperous in the global community. The crisis of 2014 caused an economic downturn and, consequently, a decrease in imports and exports, which negatively influenced on freight traffic. After the crisis the transport sector began to slowly recover in 2015. In 2019, it amounted to 102.8% versus 99.1% in 2014 [11]. The transport and logistics industry accounts for approximately 6.3% of Russia's GDP. In comparison with the EU countries, this figure constitutes 2.7% on average [13, 14]. Hence, one can argue that the Russian economy launched a growth regime. Freight transportation in a supply chain becomes a high priority. At the same time, ecommerce creates additional opportunities for logistics services. One of them is the increasing volume of freight traffic. The main way to deliver goods in Russia is road transportation [15]. It accounts for 70% of the total freight turnover. Railroad transportation ranks second. Moreover, Russia relies on airways and seaways to move freight across borders. For instance, seaway transport accounts for nearly 60% of international freight traffic, mainly because of the geographical location of the country. It is bounded by the Pacific Ocean and three seas - the Baltic Sea, the Black Sea and the Caspian Sea [13]. The share of the Russian e-commerce market in 2019 was 22%. According to experts, it will tend to expand. At the same time, the largest share in digital retail sales belongs to the European Union countries (65%) and China (48%) [13]. In this regard, some issues become of high importance. These include the policy environment of the freight transportation in a supply chain regulated by the national legislation [3].

The rule of law of transport legislation is declared in the Russian Federation Constitution [16: 71]. Analysing the legal framework for the transport sector in Russia, Aristov [17] underlined the three primary regulatory documents:

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 131-139 ISSN 1339-5629

- The Decree of the President of the Russian Federation on the National Security Strategy of the Russian Federation;

- Federal Law on Road Safety;

- Federal Law on Transport Safety [17].

Thus, economic security at the national level is presented in the Russian Federation Strategy [18]. The safety of transport activities is regulated by the Federal Law on Transport Safety [19]. The Federal Law on Road Safety regulates the issues concerning the interaction of vehicles and transport process participants are regulated by the State Duma [20].

The policy environment includes the ordering of all subjects' relations without exceptions through the usage of legal instruments [21]. Because the world is becoming internalised in the context of globalisation, developing the transport system within the country and adjusting national legislation to global changes become a priority. The main task of the transport infrastructure sector in Russia is to achieve maximum growth of the transport market. It should meet the needs of the national economy. One way to reach this goal to establish an effective internal logistics environment. The Ministry of the Transport of the Russian Federation is the executive body responsible for implementing government policy and legal regulation in the field of transportation under the Transport Development Strategy for the Period until 2030 [22, 23].

In recent years, the freight transportation sector in Russia comprises of five directions. These are road (67.6%) and rail shipping (16.7%), pipelines transport (14.3%), seaways transportation (1.8%) and air (0.1%) [13].

Taking into account the above, it can be stated that studies on legal regulation concerning transportation do not consider the practice-related issues, and in most cases resolve theoretical issues. The identified research gap is filled in this study by applying systematisation to the political aspects of forming a state position to create conditions for transport system development and determining how to improve the legal regulation of freight transportation to enable efficient supply chain management.

### 1.2 Problem statement

Any country has a strategic document establishing a model of actions with the view to achieve a global developmental goal. To be competitive, a country must have a viable economy. Nowadays, Russia's transport sector is in transition and needs a policy behind it that will improve the general approach to transportation of goods in a supply chain and align it with the global trends.

Transport policy should avoid mobility limitations. It must cover a range of social and economic issues. Transportation is an underlying sector of the national economy. A competitive transport infrastructure is needed



both for the internal market to ensure economic and social unification and for the external one, especially in the field of commerce.

The purpose of the study is to analyse the problems of the legislative framework for the freight transportation in a competitive global supply chain.

Research objectives:

1) monitoring international logistics effectiveness in different counties;

2) analysing the effectiveness of internal logistics and legislative stability in the Russian Federation;

3) identifying strategic objectives of the Transport Strategy within the national economy.

### 2 Methodology

In this study, the transport system is considered from the perspective of the regulatory framework of logistics. The theoretical part is built on the concepts of Aristov [17], Platzer [6], and Tang [24]. Initial empirical base - data of the World Bank, 2020 and reports from the official website of the Ministry of Transport of the Russian Federation, 2021. The study relies on the following methods: monitoring, analytical analysis, comparative analysis, normative method, and systematic approach. The latter is a core research method in this study. It helped systematise the legislative, economic and social information to create an integral system of transport communication.

Initially, this study monitors the current state of the logistics system of countries around the world [25], which consists of six evaluation criteria: customs administration, transport infrastructure, international transport, logistics quality and competence, tracking of cargo transportation in the supply chain, timeliness of cargo delivery. A summary assessment of the six criteria constitutes a logistics performance index (LPI), using the geometric mean method:  $G=\sqrt{(x\&X_1 X_2X_3)..X}$  n, where  $X_i \ge 0$  for i=1,2,...n. LPI inde covers 160 countries of the world with different levels of economic development according to the World Bank classification (Atlas method). The frequency of the study is once every two years. The result is a ranking table of logistics systems development of the countries on an international scale as of 2021. The ranking table includes countries' scores and ranks broken down into three positions:

- I position - ranking leaders (LPI index corresponds to the highest value of this index equal to 100);

- II position - countries with average positions in the rating (LPI index is within average values, 45-55), which indicates the opportunities for advanced development in comparison with other countries of the world;

- III last positions in the rating - the countries with the lowest scores on the LPI index.

The second stage is a detailed analysis of the logistics constraints within the regulatory framework between the

country with the most stable indicators of the internal logistics environment (Russia) and a benchmark country in this industry with high indicators (Germany). Logistics performance was measured against four main criteria for assessing internal logistics performance (LPI) [25]: border procedures; infrastructure; services; process efficiency and time; implementations and developments, which increase supply chain reliability. The ranking of the results is identical to the LPI composite index. The result of this stage is a comparative table of the characteristics of domestic logistics systems in Russia and the leader in this industry (Germany), which allows one to work through the identified logistics constraints through the study and use of best practices.

At the third stage, given the data of monitoring and comparative analysis, a structural-logistics scheme (SLS) is formed, aimed at improving the approach to organising a transport system at the macro level in the context of globalisation. The information base for the SLS is the Transport Development Strategy to 2030 of Russia [3]. The structure of the scheme includes two stages of change: fundamental factors affecting the national economy and fundamental changes in the context of globalisation. Together, the stages systematise the economic, social and legal regulation of the transport system into a single graphical model, which allows one to present transport system development at the macro level in a holistic and accessible way.

Limitation of the study. The study is focused on a detailed analysis of the national economy and transport system of Russia, which narrows the study subject and makes it limited.

### 3 Result and discussion

An analytical review of case studies has shown that transport logistics is a driving force behind the competitiveness of countries and companies and is fundamental to job creation and economic growth. Table 1 shows the ranking of logistics systems' efficiency among 160 countries according to the composite LPI index, in which the leaders of the ranking correspond to the highest values of this indicator, and the countries occupying the last positions - the lowest ones. The middle positions in the ranking are occupied by countries with averages from 0 to 100. The analysis of the data in Table 1 shows that high logistics performance is accompanied by high income of the country's economy. Thus, the leader in efficient logistics according to the LPI composite index rating as of 2021 is Germany. The middle positions in the ranking belong to transition economies - Armenia and Russia. The last positions are taken by developing countries - Burundi, Angola and Afghanistan, respectively.



	1000010	0111111100		11100				11001 107	Subtree .	1. 10.11011110	66 <b>6</b> 66 p	0. 2021		
Rank	Country	n the leader	Custor	ns	Infrast	ructure	Intern shipm	ational ents	Logist compe	ics etence	Tracki tracing	ng &	Timeli	ness
		% fron	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score
Top per	rformers													
1	Germany	100	1	4.09	1	4.37	4	3.86	1	4.31	2	4.24	3	4.39
2	Sweden	95.4	2	4.05	3	4.24	2	3.92	10	3.98	17	3.88	7	4.28
3	Belgium	94.9	14	3.66	14	3.98	1	3.99	2	4.13	9	4.05	1	4.41
Modera	ate performers													
70	Latvia	56.5	49	2.80	49	2.98	81	2.74	81	2.69	77	2.79	113	2.88
75	Russia	54.9	97	2.42	61	2.78	96	2.64	71	2.75	97	2.65	66	3.31
92	Armenia	50.2	81	2.57	86	2.48	95	2.65	97	2.50	113	2.51	111	2.90
Bottom	performers													
160	Burundi	33.2	159	1.69	146	1.95	139	2.21	117	2.33	156	2.01	158	2.17
160	Angola	32.6	160	1.57	153	1.86	143	2.20	155	2.00	157	2.00	140	2.59
160	Afghanistan	29.6	158	1.73	158	1.81	152	2.10	158	1.92	159	1.70	153	2.38

Table 1 Countries with the highest, moderate, and the lowest logistics 'friendliness' as per 2021

Source: Adapted from The World Bank [25].

As shown in Table 1, developing countries retain the ability to move goods and link companies and consumers to international markets, but the logistics system requires comprehensive changes in a number of policy aspects: infrastructure, trade facilitation, and improved services. The current situation in countries with economies in transition also requires increasing the current level of available resources and intensifying interaction and cooperation between countries, as evidenced by the low efficiency of customs and border controls; traceability and the formation of international transport corridors. For a detailed study of the logistical constraints identified in Table 1, it is advisable to conduct an internal efficiency analysis of logistics LPI in the context of the regulatory framework of Russia, as an example of a country in transition, which demonstrates the positive dynamics in transport logistics, and the international leader in the composite LPI index - Germany (Table 2). Assessment of the internal logistics environment is based on four main criteria that determine the effectiveness of logistics at the macro level of the country: border procedures; infrastructure; services; process efficiency and time; implementation and development, which increases the reliability of the supply chain.

As the analysis of Table 2 shows, Germany is a country with a high quality of transport infrastructure, service and regulatory transparency in the field of transport communications. In Russia, the basic criteria of the internal logistics environment are at a low level, resulting in a gap in the form of low organisation of logistics chains from the position of state regulation and unpreparedness for the mandatory digitalisation of public institutions, which is a catalyst in logistics. This management style leads to nontransparency and inefficiency in the practice of regulatory support.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 131-139 ISSN 1339-5629

The strategic goals of the government policy in the field of transportation are defined in the Transport Development Strategy until 2030 [3], using the normative approach. This allowed identifying the fundamental factors affecting the national economy and determining the fundamental changes required to prioritise the transport policy at the national level in the context of global competition (Figure 1).

The SLS (Figure 1) provides a step-by-step statement of issues on logistics management at the macro level, which is recommended to implement to reduce the logistical constraints through improving the state transport law in accordance with the stated objectives of the strategy. The presentation of changes in the SLS is divided into two stages, which reflect the consensus on the implementation of the national transport strategy and the accumulated experience of developed countries. The first stage focuses on the factors affecting the national economy. The second phase focuses on the necessary practical implementations to improve competitiveness in the global marketplace. Taken together, the two stages rely on the achievement of goals in terms of social, economic and transport results:

- 1) expansion of transport service in the context of global competition;
- 2) social inclusion in relation to transportation services;
- 3) environmental safety of transport infrastructure;
- 4) creation of a unified base of the transportation system;
- 5) improving the safety of the transportation system by attracting a workforce with technological skills and analytical abilities;
- 6) availability of digital technologies and services in the transport service.



### Table 2 International LPI data as per 2021: Russia vs Germany

Level of Fees and ChargesPercent of respondents ans	Basic criteria of logistics performance	Russia Germany				
- Por charges     25%     47%       - Airport charges     33%     58%       - Road transport rates     50%     25%       - Ruil transport rates     50%     25%       - Agent fees     9%     41%       - Quality of Infrastructure     Percent of respondents answring low/very low       - Airports     50%     0%       - Airports     50%     0%       - Rail     50%     0%       - Raid     0%     9%       - Raid     0%     95%       - Air transpott     25%     100%       - Raid     0%     95%       - Air transpott     25%     100%       - Customs agencies     50%     63%       - Customs agencies     50%     63%       - Customs agencies     50%     53%       - Transparency of other border agencies     50%     63%       - Transparency of other border agencies     50%     63%       - Transparency of other border agencies     50%     53%	Level of Fees and Charges	Percent of respondents answering high/very high				
- Airport charges 33% 58%	- Port charges	25%	47%			
- Road transport rates       25%       27%         - Rail transport rates       50%       25%         - Agent fees       25%       10%         - Quality of Infrastructure       Percent of respondents answering low/very low         - Argort fees       50%       0%         - Argort fees       50%       0%         - Argorts       50%       0%         - Argorts       50%       0%         - Roads       75%       14%         - Roads       50%       0%         - Telecommunications and TT       50%       0%         - Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       95%         - Rail       0%       65%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Customs agencies       50%       50%         - Customs agencies       50%       5%         - Customs agencies       50%       83%         - Customs agencies       50%       80%         - Trade and transport associations       25.50%       80%         - Customs apprest       27%       50%       80% <td>- Airport charges</td> <td>33%</td> <td>58%</td>	- Airport charges	33%	58%			
- Rail transport rates       50%       25%         - Agent fees       0%       41%         - Agent fees       10%         Quality of Infrastructure       Percent of respondents answering low/very low         - Ports       50%       0%         - Roads       50%       0%         - Radas       75%       14%         - Rail       50%       0%         - Reads       75%       14%         - Rail       50%       0%         - Telecommunications and TT       50%       95%         - Raid       0%       95%         - Raid       0%       62%         - Maritime transport       25%       95%         - Warehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       95%         - Road       0%       65%         - Ruin/stands inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Chearance and delivery of imports/exports       25       50%       53%         - Transparency of outbork clearance       50%       80%       25%       53%         - Transparency of outher border agencies       50%	- Road transport rates	25%	27%			
- Warehousing/transloading charges 25% 10% 41% - Agent fees 25% 10% 0% - Autports 50% 0% 0% - Roads 75% 14% - Road 75% 0% 0% - Telecommunications and IT 0% 95% - Road 0% 95% - Road 0% 95% - Road 0% 95% - Aution of negative set 100% - Road 0% 95% - Aution of negative set 10% - Customs spector agencies 50% 75% - Customs prokers 25% 63% - Customs prokers 25% 83% - Crastoms prokers 25% - Transport 90% - Customs denotes answering high/very high - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports 25% - Transparency of customs clearance 50% - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory - Pro-shipment inspection = 25% - Transparency of other border agencies 50% - Transparency of customs clearance 50% - Process of Major Delays 9% - Process of Major Delays 9% - Transparency of other border agencies 50% - Expedited customs clearance 50% - Expedited customs clearance 50% - Expedited customs clearance 50% - Expedited customs clearance 50% - Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015 - Process of Major Delays 9% - Transparency of other border agencies 50% - Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015 - Customs clearance 75% - Trade and transport infrastructure 25% - Solicitation of informal payments 25% - Solicitation of informal payments 25% - Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015 - Customs clearance procedures 50% - Solicitation of informal payments 25% - Customs clearance 50% - Regulation related to logistics 50% - Solicitation of informal payments 25% - Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Customs clearance procedures 5	- Rail transport rates	50%	25%			
- Agent fees     25%     10%       Quality of Infrastructure     Percent of respondents answering low/very low       - Ports     50%     0%       - Roads     75%     14%       - Raid     50%     0%       - Warehousing/transloading facilities     0%     50%       - Telecommunications and IT     50%     23%       - Road     0%     95%       - Road     0%     62%       - Air transport     25%     95%       - Air transport     50%     80%       - Preight forwarders     50%     80%       - Customs agencies     50%     63%       - Quality/standards inspection agencies     50%     63%       - Customs brokers     50%     63%       - Customs brokers     25%     53%       - Transparency of customs clearance     50%     80%       - Transparency of other border agencies     50%     80%       - Transparency of other border agencies     50%     80%       - Sould customs clearance     50%     50%       - Sould customs clearance for traders with high compliance     50%     50%       - Sould customs clearance for traders with high compliance     50%     50%       - Sould customs clearance for traders with high compliance     50%     50% </td <td>- Warehousing/transloading charges</td> <td>0%</td> <td>41%</td>	- Warehousing/transloading charges	0%	41%			
Quality of Infrastructure         Percent of respondents aswering low/very low           - Ports         50%         0%           - Airports         50%         0%           - Raid         75%         14%           - Raid         50%         0%           - Reads         75%         14%           Competence and Quality of Services         Percent of respondents aswering high/very high           - Road         0%         62%           - Air transport         25%         95%           - Air transport         25%         95%           - Maritime transport         25%         95%           - Warehousing/transloading and distribution         25%         100%           - Freight forwarders         50%         63%           - Quality/standards inspection agencies         50%         63%           - Customs brokers         50%         63%           - Consignees or shippers         25%         53%           - Transparency of outs brokers         25 - 50%         90%           - Transparency of outstoms clearance         50%         80%           - Transparency of outstoms clearance         50%         80%           - Sources of Major Delays         Percent of respondents answering often	- Agent fees	25%	10%			
Quality of Infrastructure         Percent of respondents answering low/very low           - Airports         50%         0%           - Airports         50%         0%           - Roads         75%         14%           - Rail         50%         0%           - Warehousing/transloading facilities         0%         0%           - Warehousing/transloading facilities         0%         0%           - Road         0%         95%           - Road         0%         55%           - Air transport         25%         95%           - Maritime transport         50%         80%           - Warehousing/transloading and distribution         25%         100%           - Freight forwarders         50%         63%           - Quality/standards inspection agencies         50%         63%           - Customs brokers         25%         73%           - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports         25         50%         3%           - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports         25%         50%         5%           - Transparency of outer border agencies         50%         80%         5%           - Sources of Major Delays         25%         5%         5%						
- Ports       50%       0%         - Airports       50%       0%         - Rads       75%       14%         - Rail       50%       0%         - Warehousing/transloading facilities       0%       0%         - Warehousing/transloading facilities       0%       0%         - Road       0%       0%         Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       0%         - Rail       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       9%         - Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Freight forwarders       50%       50%         - Prostors brokers       50%       79%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       53%         - Customs brokers       25%       53%         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25       50%         - Transparency of other border agencies       50%       53%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       50%         - Solicitation of informal payments       25%       5%	Quality of Infrastructure	Percent of respondents ans	wering low/very low			
- Airports       50%       0%         - Roads       75%       14%         - Rail       50%       23%         - Warehousing/transloading facilities       0%       0%         - Telecommunications and TT       50%       14%         Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Maritime transport       50%       80%         - Warehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       100%         - Freight forwarders       50%       63%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Consignees or shippers       25%       53%         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25       50%       80%         - Transparency of outher border agencies       50%       80%       9%         - Transparency of outher border agencies       50%       80%       9%         - Transparency of outher border agencies       50%       80%       9%         - Transparency of outher border agencies       50%       80%       9%       5%       5%	- Ports	50%	0%			
- Roads       75%       14%         - Rail       50%       23%         - Warehousing/transloading facilities       0%       0%         - Telecommunications and TT       50%       14%         Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       95%         - Rail       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Freight forwarders       50%       80%         - Customs agencies       25%       79%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       75%         - Trade and transport associations       25%       53%         - Consignees or shippers       25%       53%         - Transparency of outoms clearance       50%       89%         - Transparency of outoms clearance       50%       80%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       53%         - Sources of Major Delays       Percent of respondents answering often or nearly always         - Expeditied customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels       5% <tr< td=""><td>- Airports</td><td>50%</td><td>0%</td></tr<>	- Airports	50%	0%			
- Rail       50%       23%         - Warehousing/transloading facilities       0%       0%         - Telecommunications and IT       50%       14%         Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       62%         - Rail       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Warehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       100%         - Freight forwarders       25%       79%         - Customs agencies       25%       63%         - Customs agencies       50%       63%         - Customs agencies       25%       63%         - Customs agencies       50%       79%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       25%       63%         - Customs brokers       25%       63%         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25       50%       89%         - Transparency of other border agencies       50%       80%       25%       90%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       90%	- Roads	75%	14%			
- Warehousing/ransloading facilities       0%       0%         - Telecommunications and IT       50%       14%         Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Varehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       80%         - Freight forwarders       50%       80%         - Customs agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       25%       53%         - Track and transport associations       25%       53%         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25 - 50%       90 - 95%         - Transparency of oustoms clearance       50%       86%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       80%         - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels           Souces of Major Delays       Percent of responden	- Rail	50%	23%			
- Telecommunications and IT       50%       14%         Competence and Quality of Services       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Road       0%       62%         - Rail       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       95%         Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Warehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       100%         - Freight forwarders       50%       80%         - Customs agencies       25%       79%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Costoms brokers       50%       63%         - Costoms brokers       25%       63%         - Costoms of processes       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25 - 50%       90         - Transparency of other border agencies       50%       86%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       80%         - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance       25%       5%         - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high	- Warehousing/transloading facilities	0%	0%			
Competence and Quality of ServicesPercent of respondents answering high/very high- Road0%95%- Rail0%62%- Air transport25%95%- Maritime transport25%95%- Warehousing/transloading and distribution25%100%- Freight forwarders50%80%- Customs agencies50%63%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%63%- Customs brokers50%63%- Consignees or shippers25%63%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports2550%- Transparency of customs clearance50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%5%- Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Private logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%45%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Private logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents interming much increased- Private logistics services75%50% <td>- Telecommunications and IT</td> <td>50%</td> <td>14%</td>	- Telecommunications and IT	50%	14%			
- Road       0%       95%         - Rail       0%       62%         - Air transport       25%       95%         - Maritime transport       50%       95%         - Warehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       100%         - Freight forwarders       50%       80%         - Customs agencies       25%       79%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       25%       63%         - Customs brokers       25%       53%         - Trade and transport associations       25%       53%         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25 - 50%       90 - 95%         - Transparency of outboms clearance       50%       86%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       90%         - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance       10%       10%         ewels       -       25%       5%       5%         Sources of Major Delays       Percent of respondents answering often or nearly always       10%       5%         - Pres-shipment i	Competence and Quality of Services	Percent of respondents ans	swering high/very high			
- Rail0%62%- Air transport25%95%- Maritime transport50%95%- Warehousing/transloading and distribution25%100%- Freight forwarders50%80%- Customs agencies25%79%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%63%- Trade and transport associations25%63%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25%53%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports2550%8%- Transparency of customs clearance50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%5%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Trade an	- Road	0%	95%			
- Air transport25%95%- Maritime transport50%95%- Warehousing/transloading and distribution25%100%- Freight forwarders50%80%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%63%- Consignese or shippers25%63%- Consignese or shippers25%63%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25 - 50%90 - 95%- Transparency of outoms clearance50%86%- Transparency of outoms clearance50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%5%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Prevent logistics services75%70%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Prevent for respondents indicating much increased or increased25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increa	- Rail	0%	62%			
- Maritime transport50%95%- Warehousing/transloading and distribution25%100%- Freight forwarders50%80%- Customs agencies25%79%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%63%- Customs brokers50%63%- Crosignees or shippers25%63%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports2550%- Transparency of customs clearance50%80%- Transparency of other border agencies50%80%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%- Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Telecommunications and IT7%50%- Private logistics envices50%25%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Private logistics envices50%20%- Private logistics envices50%20%- Private logistics envices50%20%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%1%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%1%- Demand for traditional freight	- Air transport	25%	95%			
- Warehousing/transloading and distribution       25%       100%         - Freight forwarders       50%       80%         - Customs agencies       25%       79%         - Quality/standards inspection agencies       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       50%       63%         - Customs brokers       25%       53%         - Casignees or shippers       25%       53%         Efficiency of Processes       Percent of respondents answering high/very high         - Clearance and delivery of imports/exports       25       50%       80%         - Transparency of customs clearance       50%       80%       80%         - Transparency of other border agencies       50%       80%       80%         - Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory       25%       80%       90%         - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels       Percent of respondents answering often or nearly always         - Pre-shipment inspection       0%       5%       5%         - Solicitation of informal payments       25%       5%       5%         - Clastoms clearance procedures       50%       56%       56%       10%         - Trade and tr	- Maritime transport	50%	95%			
- Freight forwarders50%80%- Customs agencies25%79%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%75%- Trade and transport associations25%63%- Consignees or shippers25%53%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports2550%- Transparency of customs clearance50%89%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%90%- Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%5%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%5%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Private logistics services75%50%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%25%- Solicitation of informal payments25%25%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%25%- Private logistics services75%70%- Negulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%- Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increase	- Warehousing/transloading and distribution	25%	100%			
- Customs agencies25%79%- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%75%- Trade and transport associations25%63%- Consignees or shippers25%53%Efficiency of ProcessesPercent of respondents answering high/very high- Clearance and delivery of inports/exports2550%- Transparency of outsoms clearance50%86%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%- Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Clustoms clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%25%- Telecommunication on al IT75%50%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Solicitation on informal payments25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%<	- Freight forwarders	50%	80%			
- Quality/standards inspection agencies50%63%- Customs brokers50%75%- Trade and transport associations25%53%- Consignees or shippers25%53%Efficiency of ProcessesPercent of respondents answering high/very high- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports2550%- Transparency of customs clearance50%80%- Transparency of other border agencies50%80%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance25%80%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance25%5%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%45%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%18%- Decommunications and IT75%50%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%- Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Solycitation of informal payments25%18%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Sybersecurity threats in logistics </td <td>- Customs agencies</td> <td>25%</td> <td>79%</td>	- Customs agencies	25%	79%			
- Customs brokers50%75%- Trade and transport associations25%63%- Crade and transport associations25%63%- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25 - 50%90 - 95%- Transparency of customs clearance50%89%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance25%80%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance25%80%- Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%20%- Customs clearance procedures50%20%- Solicitation related to logistics50%20%- Private logistics services75%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents inductions and IT- Private logistics services75%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Deman	- Quality/standards inspection agencies	50%	63%			
- Trade and transport associations25%63%- Consignees or shippers25%53%Efficiency of ProcessesPercent of respondents answring high/very high- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25 - 50%90 - 95%- Transparency of customs clearance50%89%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answring often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answring improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Private logistics services75%20%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%20%- Private logistics services75%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents intigmuch increased or increased- Private logistics75%70%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11% <td>- Customs brokers</td> <td>50%</td> <td>75%</td>	- Customs brokers	50%	75%			
- Consignees or shippers25%53%Efficiency of ProcessesPercent of respondents answering high/very high- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25 - 50%90 - 95%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%- Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Private logistics services75%50%- Private logistics services75%50%- Solicitation of informal payments25%80%- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased- Trade and transport infrastructure25%18%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%18%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics <td>- Trade and transport associations</td> <td>25%</td> <td>63%</td>	- Trade and transport associations	25%	63%			
Efficiency of ProcessesPercent of respondents answering high/very high- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25 - 50%90 - 95%- Transparency of customs clearance50%89%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%25%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Preivale logistics services50%20%- Private logistics services50%20%- Net of informal payments25%18%- Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Consignees or shippers	25%	53%			
- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports25 - 50%90 - 95%- Transparency of customs clearance50%89%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Teale and transport infrastructure25%56%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Net logistics services50%20%- Net logistics services50%20%- Net logistics services50%20%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%15%	Efficiency of Processes	Percent of respondents ans	swering high/very high			
- Transparency of customs clearance50%89%- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levelsPercent of respondents arwring often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents arwring improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Teade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Private logistics services75%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents intra much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Clearance and delivery of imports/exports	25 - 50%	90 - 95%			
- Transparency of other border agencies50%86%- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes25%90%- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%50%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%- Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased20%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics25%15%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%11%	- Transparency of customs clearance	50%	89%			
- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory changes - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%90%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answring often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection - Solicitation of informal payments0%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures - Trade and transport infrastructure - Telecommunications and IT - Private logistics services - Solicitation of informal payments50%50% - Solicitation of informal payments50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure - Telecommunications and IT - Private logistics services - Solicitation of informal payments50%20%- Prevale logistics services - Solicitation of informal payments50%20%20%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics - Firms preparedness for cyber threats25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics 	- Transparency of other border agencies	50%	86%			
changes - Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levels25%80%Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Spire Curity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Provision of adequate and timely information on regulatory	25%	90%			
- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance levelsPercent of respondents answering often or nearly alwaysSources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents ing much increased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Spire Cuptor threats0%5%	changes	25%	80%			
levelsPercent of respondents answering often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%5%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents intreased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Expedited customs clearance for traders with high compliance					
Sources of Major DelaysPercent of respondents answring often or nearly always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answring improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	levels					
always- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	Sources of Major Delays	Percent of respondents and	swering often or nearly			
- Pre-shipment inspection0%5%- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%		always				
- Solicitation of informal payments25%5%Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents increased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Pre-shipment inspection	0%	5%			
Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015Percent of respondents answering improved or much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents intereased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Solicitation of informal payments	25%	5%			
much improved- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	Changes in the Logistics Environment Since 2015	Percent of respondents a	nswering improved or			
- Customs clearance procedures50%56%- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents intereased or increasedor increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%		much improved				
- Trade and transport infrastructure25%45%- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Customs clearance procedures	50%	56%			
- Telecommunications and IT75%50%- Private logistics services75%70%- Regulation related to logistics50%20%- Solicitation of informal payments25%18%Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased15%- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Trade and transport infrastructure	25%	45%			
<ul> <li>Private logistics services 75% 70%</li> <li>Regulation related to logistics 50% 20%</li> <li>Solicitation of informal payments 25% 18%</li> <li>Developments since 2015 Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased</li> <li>Demand for traditional freight forwarding</li> <li>Cybersecurity threats in logistics 0% 11%</li> <li>Firms preparedness for cyber threats</li> <li>O% 5%</li> </ul>	- Telecommunications and IT	75%	50%			
- Regulation related to logistics       50%       20%         - Solicitation of informal payments       25%       18%         Developments since 2015       Percent of respondents inducting much increased or increased         - Demand for traditional freight forwarding       25%       15%         - Cybersecurity threats in logistics       0%       11%         - Firms preparedness for cyber threats       0%       5%	- Private logistics services	75%	70%			
- Solicitation of informal payments       25%       18%         Developments since 2015       Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased         - Demand for traditional freight forwarding       25%       15%         - Cybersecurity threats in logistics       0%       11%         - Firms preparedness for cyber threats       0%       5%	- Regulation related to logistics	50%	20%			
Developments since 2015Percent of respondents indicating much increased or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding - Cybersecurity threats in logistics25%15%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%11%- S%	- Solicitation of informal payments	25%	18%			
or increased- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	Developments since 2015	Percent of respondents ind	icating much increased			
- Demand for traditional freight forwarding25%15%- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%		or increased	C			
- Cybersecurity threats in logistics0%11%- Firms preparedness for cyber threats0%5%	- Demand for traditional freight forwarding	25%	15%			
- Firms preparedness for cyber threats 0% 5%	- Cybersecurity threats in logistics	0%	11%			
	- Firms preparedness for cyber threats	0%	5%			

Source: Adopted from World Bank [25].



Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 131-139 ISSN 1339-5629



Figure 1 The structural-logistics schematic representation of the Russia's transport system development in the context of globalisation Source: Developed using data from the Ministry of Transport of the Russian Federation [3].

The results obtained in this study show the high unevenness in the transport logistics system between developed and developing countries and the significant potential for transition economies. Analysis of the monitoring data found that high LPI composite index scores correspond to a high income level of the economy, which is consistent with the results of Hofman [26]. At the same time, increased economic integration of transition countries that have opportunities for development (Armenia, Russia) will help to overcome the logistical limitations in their development. Dunaev et al. [27] argue that logistics is a technology of supply chain management, integration, cooperation and coordination of networking of business processes, which plays a key role in bridging the gap in transport communications and organisation of value chains in the context of globalisation trends. Consequently, supply chain disruptions can have serious consequences for both government agencies and private companies [28]. Significant delays in delivery can lead to more problems in the public sector as well. They also distort the country's image on the international arena. National policy should assess the potential impacts of negative events on its transport system, economy, society and resources. It should improve a supply chain approach that includes a mix of regulatory, information and physical infrastructure

actions, as well as coordination between jurisdictional boundaries and between transport service providers, and their clients [29]. Thus, the problems of legal regulation in the field of freight transportation within a supply chain depend mainly on how much the rules of law meet the realities of economic activity. Affecting the logistics environment with policy instruments will give a positive feedback if the impact meets modern market relations and aims at the regulation of economic ties [30]. A comparative analysis of the structure of internal logistics environment in Russia, which occupies an average position in the international LPI rating and has the potential to develop and Germany, which is currently the benchmark in the industry, showed the advantages of effective organisation of transport logistics, which is significant for the improvement of the transport system in Russia. Issues of transport logistics optimisation have been studied by Sidorenko and Makhina [31], Burov [32]. Researchers revealed the lack of consistency when it comes to ensuring security in transport communications, and proposed to optimise transport communication in the direction of coherence of different transport modes using mandatory digitalisation and simplification of regulatory and customs procedures, which is consistent with the results of this study. Currently, Russia has unresolved problems



concerning customs and border management clearance. Customs use traditional approaches to process organisation, which do not meet the rapidly changing globalised reality. Boyko [33] examined the experience of foreign countries and found that customs services could be efficient with informatisation. The author suggests establishing a service customs system where goods are tacked at all stages of a supply chain. Dmitriev [34] investigated the regulatory framework for freight transportation in a digital economy. He concluded that transport infrastructure had become more digitalised. Consequently, the legal regulation became more transparent. The review of the strategic development priorities in the transportation sector of Russia, using the normative approach, made it possible to group the national transport policy priorities of Russia in the context of global competition [3]. The European Commission also emphasises the importance of strategic objectives. The main aim of those is to develop the transport sector. Kolik et al. [35] argue that the strategic infrastructure package should include: national policy frameworks, commercial business models, strategic planning, assured financing, sufficient gateway capacity, international and domestic communications, and a green economy. Serieva [36] notes that in the context of global competition, the development of the transport system in all sectors of the economy is far ahead of state regulation. Within this framework, the researcher found that no matter that transport activities are regulated by laws and by-laws, in Russia, there is no unified framework for the legal regulation of supply chains as a set of subjects, products and transportation-related economic activities [37,38]. Regarding the problem of practice, this article focuses on the implementation and use of the experience gained in the logistics system of developed countries, in particular the leader in international logistics (Germany), which is reflected through SLS.

### 4 Conclusions

The review of legal regulation in the field of freight transportation within a supply chain unveiled the following problems of transport communication: non-transparent regulation within the customs system, the low quality of services, and reluctance to expand digitalisation. These weaknesses slow down the economic development of Russia and lowers its level of competitiveness. The World Bank [39] ranks Russia 75th among 160 countries in term of logistics performance. The country has three domains that need attention: customs and border management clearance, tracking and international shipment. Strict prioritisation is essential to maintain and modernise the existing infrastructure. The study suggests improving the national approach to organising domestic logistics. It should be done in accordance with the strategic goals established in the Transport Development Strategy of the Russian Federation until 2030 taking into account the global experience. In this regard, it is necessary to address

the shortcomings of legal regulations as they may slow down market development. This study is can be considered timely and relevant as transport communications and system sustainability are of high priority in the national transport policy of the Russian Federation.

Results can be applied by managers in the public and private sector working in the field of transport logistics, as the study offers a practical tool to improve transport system efficiency based on the accumulated best practices of leaders in this field.

The further work is recommended to connect with the study of macroeconomic indicators of transport logistics within the national economy from two perspectives: effective supply planning and demand forecasting to correct transport failures in practice.

### References

- STRACHAN, R.: Who will be the supply chain winners and losers in 2022? Investment monitor, [Online], Available: https://www.investmentmonitor.a i/analysis/supply-chain-winners-and-losers-2022 [20 Sep 2021], 2022.
- [2] BERGHOEFER, P.: Logistics and supply chain trends for 2022, RSA Global, [Online], Available: https://www.rsa.global/blog/logistics-and-supplychain-trends-2022 [20 Sep 2021], 2022.
- [3] Transport Development Strategy to 2030 with a forecast to 2035, Ministry of Transport of the Russian Federation, [Online], Available: https://mintrans.gov.r u/ministry/targets/187/191/documents [20 Sep 2021], 2021.
- [4] Climate-centered mobility for a sustainable recovery, Live, All-Virtual Conference, February 16-17, 2022, World Bank & World Resources Institute, [Online], Available: https://www.transformingtransportation.org [20 Sep 2021], 2022.
- [5] MEYER, M., MCLEOD, S., FIDELL, T., GAJJAR, H., FREIGHT, D., KAMALI, M., WINGATE, R., WILLAUER, D., SOUTHWORTH, F.: Freight transportation resilience in response to supply chain disruptions, NCFRP Research Report 39, 2019.
- [6] PLATZER, K.: Sustainable transport, sustainable development, Interagency Report — Second Global Sustainable Transport Conference, United Nations, USA, [Online], Available: https://sdgs.un.org/sites/def ault/files/2021-

10/Transportation%20Report%202021\_FullReport\_Di gital.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2021.

- [7] WANG, W., GAO, Y., ANACONA, P.I., LEI, Y., XIANG, Y., ZHANG, G., LI, S., LU, A.: Integrated hazard assessment of Cirenmaco glacial lake in Zhangzangbo valley, Central Himalayas, *Geomorphology*, Vol. 306, pp. 292-305, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2015.08.013
- [8] ABRAMOVA, E.R.: *The Concept of Logistics Service Management in Supply Chains*, Sputnik, Moscow, 2016.



- [9] DANIEL, D.: Supply chain management (SCM), TechTarget, [Online], Available: https://searcherp.tech target.com/definition/supply-chain-management-SCM [20 Sep 2021], 2020.
- [10] Transportation in the context of Covid-19, Digest. Department of International and Regional Cooperation of the Russian Federation, [Online], Available: https://ach.gov.ru/upload/pdf/Covid-19transport.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2020.
- [11] State Statistics Federal Service: Russia in figures 2019, Rosstat, [Online], Available: https://gks.ru/sea rch?q=%C2%AB%D0%A0%D0%BE%D1%81%D1%81%D0%B8%D1%8F%2C+2019%C2%BB
  [20 Sep 2021], 2019.
- [12] Central Intelligence Agency: The World Factbook, [Online], Available: https://www.cia.gov/library/pub lications/the-worldfactbook/rankorder/2119rank.html [20 Sep 2021], 2019.
- [13] TransRussia/TransLogistica: Transport & Logistics in Russia: Returning to Growth, [Online], Available: http://www.transportexhibitions.com/TransportShows/media/TransportLi brary/Downloadable%20files/Transport-Logisticsin-Russia-Returning-to-Growth.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2019.
- [14] European Commission: Transport in the European Union Current Trends and Issues, [Online], Available: https://ec.europa.eu/transport/sites/transp ort/files/2019-transport-in-the-eu-current-trendsand-issues.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2019.
- [15] Sidorko, T.N., Sarybaeva, G.K., Kapanova, G.Zh., Zhusupov, B.S.: Questionnaire survey as a method to improve organisation of nutrition in a school café, *Voprosy Detskoi Dietologii*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp.66-69, 2018.
- https://doi.org/10.20953/1727-5784-2018-2-66-69 [16] The Russian Federation Constitution: Constitutionrf,
- [Online], Available: http://constitutionrf.ru/rzd-1/gl-3/st-71-krf [20 Sep 2021], 2021.
- [17] ARISTOV, V.M.: The policy environment analysis of the freight transportation in supply chains, *The Journal of Law and Economics*, Vol. 2, pp. 128-131, 2017.
- [18] President of the Russian Federation: Decree No. 683 of the President of the Russian Federation "On the National Security Strategy of the Russian Federation", dated December 31, 2015, Pravo, [Online], Available: http://pravo.gov.ru/proxy/ips/?d ocbody=&nd=102129631 [20 Sep 2021], 2015.
- [19] The State Duma: Federal Law No. 16-FL 'On Transport Safety', dated 09.02.2007 (amended on 18.07.2011), [Online], Available: https://zakonbase.r u/zakony/16-fz-ot-2011-07-18-o-transportnoj/ [20 Sep 2021], 2011.
- [20] The State Duma: Federal Law No. 196-FL 'On Transport Safety', dated 10.12.1995 (amended on

26.04.2013 with changes that came into force on 07.05.2013), [Online], Available: https://zakonbase.r u/zakony/196-fz-ot-2011-04-21-o-bezopasnosti/ [20 Sep 2021], 2013.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 131-139 ISSN 1339-5629

- [21] MUKHAMETOV, A., SNEGIREV, D., PETUNINA, I.: Selecting an indicator system to assess the adequacy level of agricultural technologies, *International Review of Mechanical Engineering*, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 209-218, 2021. https://doi.org/10.15866/ireme.v15i4.21023
- [22] The Russian Federation Government Order No. 3336 of 27 November 2021 – "On the Russian Federation Transport Development Strategy to 2030 with a forecast to 2035", Ministry of Transport of the Russian Federation, Moscow, [Online], Available at: https://mintrans.gov.ru/ministry/targets/187/191/doc uments [20 Sep 2021], 2021.
- [23] ZABELINA, D.: Transport as a sphere of legal regulation in Russia and the USA, *Law and Modern States*, Vol. 1, pp. 36-40, 2017.
- [24] TANG, Ch.: Supply chain resilience, in *Springer Series in Supply Chain Management*, Springer, Cham, 2022.
- [25] World Bank: Domestic LPI, [Online], Available: https://lpi.worldbank.org/domestic/environment\_inst itutions/2018/C/DEU#chartarea [20 Sep 2021], 2018.
- [26] HOFMAN, B.: Performance and prospects of global logistics: keynote speech at the CaiNiao global smart logistics conference, The World Bank, [Online], Available: www.worldbank.org/en/news/speech/201 7/05/22/performance-and-prospects-of-globallogistics [20 Sep 2021], 2017.
- [27] DUNAEV, O., EZHOV, D., PAMUKHIN, V., PERAPECHKA, S., RUBIN, G., TIMOFEEV, A., VOLKOV, M.: Logistics in Russia: New Ways to Tap Potential, Boston Consulting Group Publications, Moscow, 2014.
- [28] BARYKIN, S., KAPUSTINA, I., KORCHAGINA, E., MIKHAILOVICH SERGEEV, S., YADYKIN, V., ABDIMOMYNOVA, A., STEPANOVA, D.: Digital logistics platforms in the BRICS countries: comparative analysis and development prospects, *Sustainability*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 1-19, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132011228
- [29] VADALI, S.: Transportation Research Circular E-C259, International Transportation and Economic Development Conference 2018, Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC, pp. 3-90, 2018, [Online], Available: http://onlinepubs.trb.org/online pubs/circulars/ec259.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2018.
- [30] GALIMOVA, A., DORDZHIEVA, O.: International legal regulation of multimodal freight transportation, *International Law*, Vol. 1, pp. 16-87, 2018.
- [31] SIDORENKO, A.V., MAKHINA, S.N.: Provision of the transport security in the modern sense, *Law Enforcement Problems*, Vol. 4, No. 18, pp. 70-73, 2018.



- [32] BUROV, V.I.: The main problems and solutions to them arising from the multimodal transportation of bulky and heavy cargo from the near and far abroad to the regions of the Russian Federation, *Transport Business in Russia*, Vol. 4, pp. 106-108, 2017.
- [33] BOYKO, M.V.: Foreign experience of customs administration. RIO Russian Customs Academy, [Online], Available: http://rta.customs.ru/nrta/attach ments/3756\_978-5-9590-0935-9.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2017.
- [34] DMITRIEV, A.V.: Digital technologies of transportation and logistics systems visibility, *Strategic Decisions: Risk Management*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 20-26, 2019.
- [35] KOLIK, A., RADZIWILL, A., TURDYEVA, N.: *Improving transport infrastructure in Russia*, Working Papers No. 1193, OECD Economics Department, Paris, 2015.
- [36] SERIEVA, H.: Actual problems of freight traffic legal regulations, *Russian Science and Education*

*Today: Problems and Prospects*, Vol. 5, No. 30, pp. 50-52, 2019.

- [37] The LPI methodology: Trade logistics in the global economy, [Online], Available: https://wb-lpimedia.s3.amazonaws.com/LPI%20Methodology.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2014.
- [38] OECD: Strategic Transport Infrastructure Needs to 2030, Main Findings, International Futures Programme, OECD, Paris, [Online], Available: https://www.oecd.org/futures/infrastructureto2030/4 9094448.pdf [20 Sep 2021], 2011.
- [39] The World Bank: [Online], Available: https://lpi.worldbank.org/domestic/performance/201 8/C/RUS#chartarea [20 Sep 2021], 2020.

### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.

Acta logistica



Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 141-149 ISSN 1339-5629



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY

Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.284

Received: 02 Jan. 2022; Revised: 31 Jan. 2022; Accepted: 17 Feb. 2022

### THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY

### **Ibrahim Assabane**

MIKS Laboratory, Competitive Intelligence, Analysis and Strategy Team, School of Information Sciences, Avenue Allal El Fassi, Rabat, 10100, Morocco, iassabane@esi.ac.ma

### **Ouail El imrani**

Logistics management, strategies and economic development Research Group, FSJESTé, Abdelmalek Essaadi University, Avenue Palestine, Tétouan, 93000, Morocco, oelimrani@uae.ac.ma (corresponding author)

*Keywords:* logistics capacities, customer satisfaction, logistics performance, international trade, logistics skills. *Abstract:* This paper has a dual objective, to specify the logistical capacities of Moroccan Logistics Service Providers (LSPs) and to understand the process by which these capacities contribute to the logistical performance of LSPs. Methodologically, we used the qualitative approach based on a sample of sixteen LSP. The results of this research show that the main logistical capacities of Moroccan LSPs are flexibility and innovation, which respectively abound in reactivity/proactivity and technological innovation / administrative innovation. Similarly, "customer response" appears to be a purpose that overlaps with logistics performance. Thus, this variable mediates between flexibility and logistics performance. This study also tries to analyse the emergence of new moderating variables, particularly "logistics skills," which strengthen the relationship between innovation and customer response, and "communication with employees" as a support for maintaining performance logistics.

### 1 Introduction

Over the past decade, the actors of the Moroccan logistics community have undergone a strong change in terms of the services offered to compete with the demands of the ordering companies. Thus, the use of Logistics Service Providers (LSP) constitutes an important lever of competitiveness. To this end, logistics service providers (LSP) are placed at the center of public guidelines in order to support the actors of the Moroccan logistics community in the development of their service offer and to provide them with the skills and capacities to serve supply chains better and meet customer requirements in terms of flexibility and innovation.

Consequently, the logistics market has undergone considerable development marked not only by the multiplication of logistics operators but also by the variety of the range of offerings ranging from basic transport services to full management and management of the customer's logistics and supply chain function. However, the pace of development of the logistics service sector in Morocco is considered low and well characterised by its youth, as evidenced by the timid warehousing outsourcing rate of 14%, which leaves many challenges to be overcome by companies. Moroccan logistics operators in order to capture more business and increase their performance.

In this context, determining the logistical capacities of Moroccan LSPs and analysing their contributions to the performance of LSPs are at the center of the concerns of the academic community in order to support them in the development of their service offer and to equip them with skills and capabilities that enable them to serve supply chains better and meet customer demands in terms of flexibility and innovation. In this perspective, the following problem arises: how are logistics capacities reflected on the performance of LSPs? The breakdown of our problem allows us to identify two research questions to which we will seek to provide answers in this paper: What are the logistical capacities of the field of activity of Moroccan LSPs? How would these capacities have contributed to strengthening logistics performance?

### 2 Literature review

The analysis of the literature aims to identify and analyse the importance that researchers attach to logistics capabilities and the impact that these have on the logistics performance of companies in general and LSPs in particular. Concerning the impact of logistics capacities on the logistics performance of LSPs, we were able to identify 3 levels relating to state of the art: innovation and logistics performance, flexibility and logistics performance, customer response and logistics performance.

### 2.1 Innovation and logistics performance

Logistics innovation capability can be defined as a new and useful idea, procedure or practice in logistics practices that differ from the current practices of the company and competing companies. This capability is of crucial importance for the success and survival of LSPs in a dynamic environment [1,2]. In this sense, Wagner [3] point out that LSPs can take advantage and opportunities that arise in the market, generating innovations in logistics. It concerns the practice of renovating business processes as well as the creation of new markets to meet untapped needs.

The literature highlights two dimensions of innovation capacity: technological innovation and administrative



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

innovation. Technological innovation is the ability to adopt the technology by introducing technological changes related to the nature of the company's main activity to offer a new service [4,5]. It is also designed by d other researchers as a managerial innovation [6]. On the other hand, while administrative innovation includes the organisational structure and administrative processes, it is indirectly linked to the basic activities of the organisation and more directly to its management [7].

The capacity for innovation impacts the logistics service of the LSPs by strengthening the long-term relationships with the customers, which makes it possible to make the customer loyal, which in turn generates the acquisition of the advantage of competitiveness and maintaining logistics performance [8]. Moreover, the capacity for innovation, which aims to research and integrate customer expectations into the service provided, is the first step towards logistics performance for LSPs [9].

Indeed, the capacity for innovation is considered by many researchers to be a decisive determinant of the logistics performance of LSPs [2,10,11]. Similarly, Grawe and Kandampully [12,13] asserted that the capacity for innovation, which relies on the use of technology and other resources, fully contributes to achieving logistics performance.

### 2.2 Flexibility and logistics performance

Flexibility is defined as the capacity of a logistics system to adapt in a proactive and reactive way its configuration, the objective of which is to eliminate the market fluctuations [14]; it corresponds to the ability of LSP to respond effectively to market fluctuations and customer requirements [15]. Logistical flexibility is intended by Judge [16] as the capacity for organisational change, which conditions the effectiveness with regard to the implementation of a permanent change.

Indeed, in a supply-chain context, flexibility has two dimensions, reactive and proactive [17]. Responsiveness consists of responding to the uncertainties generated by the supply chain, the notion of uncertainty is linked to the lack of environmental information, making it difficult to predict the impact of decision-making on the organisation [18].

Flexibility significantly impacts logistics performance as it supports the logistics performance of LSPs in terms of customer response, efficiency and quality of service [5]. Moreover, it is often retained in the literature as being a fundamental variable for maintaining competitive advantage [19]; it thus serves to improve the competitiveness of the LSPs.

In the same vein, Anand [20] claims that logistics service flexibility is considered to be a predictor for logistics performance. Moreover, LSPs that hold the logistics flexibility capability can gain a competitive advantage and are often able to achieve logistics performance [21,22]. Logistics flexibility is, therefore, a determining variable for the achievement of logistics performance for LSPs. Especially in a dynamic environment, it depends on the speed of response to customer requests at the best prices [23-25].

## 2.3 Customer response and logistics performance

In the service sector, the customer is the central element, and his satisfaction determines the success of LSP [26]. Satisfaction is linked to very particular attention, such as an expectation, a product/service or an experience. LSPs that develop customer responsiveness are better prepared to meet the diverse needs of customers, offering them varied services accordingly. Therefore, to hold a competitive advantage, the development of customer response capacity is achieved by increasing the time, quality, and price of the services offered [27,28].

Customer satisfaction capability is positively related to performance. LSPs that maintain this capability are often able to maintain the existing customer base and attract new customers, so they will be able to meet the particular needs of the market [29]. According to Lai [30], LSPs with better service capability are better established to cope with customers' diverse service needs and achieve better service performance. The ability to satisfy the customer is, therefore, the ability of LSPs to create and allocate resources to satisfy the logistics needs of their customers and consequently ensure better logistics performance.

In the same sense, Zhao [29] concludes that the ability to satisfy the customer is significantly linked to performance. These conclusions are supported by Ching-Chiao Yang [31], stating that meeting customer expectations in the service sector positively impact logistics performance and encourages customer loyalty.

In this sense, we can synthesise that several authors have mentioned the problem of evaluating the contribution of logistics capacities to logistics performance. Logistics capabilities are essential for achieving logistics performance and creating added value for LSP customers. Admittedly, research work confirms that logistical capacities, in this case, flexibility, innovation and customer response, contribute to the performance of LSPs, only the modes of influence that differ from one researcher to another.

However, the interest of companies for this issue and the need to deepen it still remain valid, which leads us to identify these capacities empirically and evaluate their impact in the context of Moroccan LSPs.

### 3 Methodology and sampling

The research methodology used is purely related to the object of study. While the size of the sample, the procedures for processing analysing the data, and the device the researcher should use are intended to ensure the quality of his results.



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN **EMPIRICAL STUDY** 

Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

#### 3.1 Methodological approach and data processing techniques

We adopted a qualitative study by induction approach and positioning in an interpretive paradigm. It is about the determination of the "how" relationship between logistics capacity and performance of LSP.

As for the data collection method, we used the semistructured interview, which constitutes a privileged instrument in qualitative research since it allows obtaining a good quality of information. Our research questions guide the data analysis. However, although the research objectives initially influence the analysis, the results come directly from the analysis of the raw data and not from "desired answers"[32].

The data collected by our case studies are thus coded and categorised "manually", making a clean sweep of any prejudices. We thus proceeded successively to an initial coding, then to multiple coding and finally to a thematic coding [33]. The subjects identified in these studies allowed us to return to theory and literature review. This back and forth between the field and the theory allowed us to generate proposals and to conceptualise our conceptual model.

#### 3.2 Sampling

Several sampling techniques constituting widely varying sample sizes are used in the qualitative study. Thus, we refer to the guidelines of Gumucio [34,35], according to which two criteria must be highlighted to justify the sample: the size of the sample and the context of the study.

The sample size corresponds to a gradual construction to know when the researcher should stop [36]. The number of cases studied will stop when there is saturation. This semantic saturation is reached when the new cases only repeat what has been said by the others [37]. Thus, we were satisfied with a sample of 16 cases allowing us to meet this saturation criterion.

The choice of study cases was made in a nonarbitrary and impartial manner to ensure that the selected study cases responded to several criteria. Our convenience sample is for LSPs in the logistics services industry operating nationally and internationally to procure various information. In addition, the use of actors of different qualities is considered, on the one hand, as sources of information to understand the logic and sectoral trend of the LSP studied. Twenty-two LSPs, of which we selected only sixteen given the saturation criterion, agreed to participate in the survey by expressing their interest in sharing their experiences with us. We have assigned codes to the different analysis units to guarantee the anonymity of the interviewed actors.

Code	Activity area	Creation	Quality of interviewees	Experience
LSP1	Logistics service provision	2007	Park manager	7 years
LSP2	Logistics service provision	1937	Tryears port manager	11 years
LSP3	Logistics service provision	1997	Tryears it import/export	5 years
LSP4	Logistics service provision	2011	Tryears port manager	6 years
LSP5	Logistics service provision	2012	Tryears port coordinator	4 years
LSP6	Logistics service provision	1982	Operation manager	9 years
LSP7	Logistics service provision	2009	Operations manager	2 years
LSP8	Logistics service provision	2007	Tryears it and tryears port agent	7 years
LSP9	Logistics service provision	1996	Tangier agency manager	5 years
LSP10	Logistics service provision	2011	Warehouse manager	5 years
LSP11	Logistics service provision	2009	Internal freight forwarder	2 years
LSP12	Logistics service provision	1994	International tryears port manager	9 years
LSP13	Logistics service provision	1999	Tryears port manager	2 years
LSP14	Logistics service provision	2001	Customs declarant	9 years
LSP15	Logistics service provision	1980	Tangier warehouse manager	4 years
LSP16	Logistics service provision	2003	Planner	8 years

Table 1 Characteristics of the ISP sampled and of the interviewees

#### Data processing and analysis 4

#### 4.1 Thematic coding

We conducted triple coding, initial coding, grouping, and thematic coding. The thematic codification, through which we affiliate a synthetic concept to each grouping [33], represents the results of our coding. The following table lists a summary of our triple coding.

According to this grid, the grouping set is granted thematic codes representing the results of our coding. There are four-axis: "Flexibility", "Innovation", "Customer response" and "Logistics performance".

Indeed, flexibility refers to proactivity and reactivity; Innovation combines administrative innovation and technological innovation. Customer Response includes three categories such as service quality, service time,





THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

service price, Logistics Performance. On the other side, by identifying three-axis categories, namely differentiation, effectiveness and efficiency.

Table 2 Summary of Thematic coding							
Verbatim	Codes	Grouping	Thematic coding				
You don't just adapt to environmental changes these days, but sometimes you have to create that change.	Proactivity	Adoptation	Flovibility				
Sometimes customers change their delivery plan, and our business has to adapt in return.	Reactivity	Adaptation	Flexibility				
We adopt the capacity for innovation to offer and benefit from certain technologies' gains.	Technological innovation	Crootivity	Innovation				
Reconfigure operations so that they are adapted to the new criteria.	Administrative innovation	Creativity	minovation				
The quality of delivery is also very important.	Quality of service						
The delivery time is a fundamental factor in responding to the customer.	Service time	Customer satisfaction	Customer response				
Price has always been an element of performance for companies.	Service price						
This differentiation allows us to achieve and capture a competitive advantage in the market.	Differentiation		Logistics				
Achieve our logistics objectives, and be efficient.	Efficacity	Performance	performance				
It is with efficiency, and this is the result of our service.	Efficiency						

### 4.2 Inductive

After the data processing and the coding of the verbatim of the studied cases, we present the inductive ones taken from LSP. Inductive information will allow us to bring out other variables and identify the relationships between the different axes.

Table	3	Inductive	lessons

•	Codes	Emerging relations	Examples	Observations
	Flexib	Reactivity / Customer response	Our company's behaviour may turn out to be in some reactive cases and other proactive cases. Flexibility consists of	The two dimensions of the "flexibility" capacity are intended to meet a diversified demand from customers. Therefore, customer response is a goal of LSP insofar as logistics
	ility	Proactivity / Customer response	reconfiguring the logistics function to meet market demands	capacities impact customer satisfaction. Customer response is a mediating variable between flexibility and logistics performance.
	Administrative innovation Customer response		Also, the information system that we are putting in place helps us comply with customer instructions regarding delivery times and delivery quality and, therefore, helps us improve our performance.	The two dimensions of innovation impact customer response, especially in terms of
	vation	Technological innovation / Customer response	We are seeing the effects of technology that allows us to reduce the costs of services and offer them to the market at a competitive price. Which positively influences our logistics performance	response is, therefore, a mediating variable between innovation and performance.
	Logistics skills	Logistics skills / Innovation / Customer response	The use of technology provides the user has the necessary skill, reduces costs and helps achieve goals () Technological skill is necessary so that the technology can be used for logistics performance	Logistics skills facilitate the handling of innovative tools for customer satisfaction. Therefore, logistics skills is a moderating variable that strengthens the relationship between innovation" and "customer response.



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

Many additional lessons were identified, enabled by the inductive approach adopted in this research work. Indeed, in several cases, "customer response" appears as a purpose that overlaps with logistics performance. Thus, this axe is a mediating variable between flexibility and logistics performance.

Analysis of what the interviewees said allowed us to deviate from the role of some variables and identify other variables that have not yet been highlighted in the literature. Thus, the inductive approach of LSPs can be summarised as follows:

Regarding the change in the role of some variables, the customer response is no longer a logistical capacity in our study context. It is rather a mediating variable located between, on the one side, flexibility and logistical performance and, on the other side, between innovation and logistics performance.

For the new emerging variables, it is linked to "logistics skills" which has a moderating role between innovation and customer response and, and to "communication with employees as a support for maintaining logistics performance which is, here, a moderating variable that reinforces the relationship between logistics performance and the other variables, the "customer response".

### **5** Discussion of the results

#### 5.1 Logistics capacities

The logistical capacities of our sample are three in number. Again, it is about flexibility, innovation and customer response.

**Flexibility:** Flexibility is a capacity that the company has to adapt to changes in the competitive environment and also to customer requirements in terms of delivery times. Through this ability, the company acts, as the case may be, reactivated or proactively in the face of any change. In this framework, the leader of an LSP assures us that "The behaviour of company can prove to be positive in some reactive cases and negative in other proactive cases (...). Flexibility consists of reconfiguring the logistics function to meet the market's demands" (LSP1).

According to the literature, flexibility is defined as the ability of a logistics system to proactively and reactively adapt its configuration, the objective of which is to cope with market fluctuations [14-37]. It corresponds to LSP's ability to respond effectively to market fluctuations and customer demands [15].

Consequently, the way they are perceived, the two dimensions of flexibility, in this case, responsiveness and proactivity, and their purposes among the LSPs in our sample, corroborate the definitions and objectives noted in the literature.

**Innovation:** Innovation among the LSPs in our sample revolves around two poles, the administrative pole and the technological pole. According to one respondent, "The innovation concerns the innovation of the service offered, the innovation of the logistics strategy, even innovation in

terms of logistics means (...) company has invested many years in technological solutions, and especially RFID for the management of the inputs and outputs of the "LSP3" warehouse (LSP3). Through these two dimensions, in this case, administrative innovation and technological innovation, innovation concerns the whole company; this is confirmed by a leader who states that "these innovations affect almost all departments of the company. The materials and procedures are good examples" (LSP4).

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 141-149 ISSN 1339-5629

The two dimensions of innovation are highlighted by returning to the literature, given their importance. For technological innovation, Daft [4] considers it to be the introduction of technological changes linked to the nature of the firm's main activity. Therefore, according to Yang and [5-38], it is the ability to adopt a technology to offer a new service. As for administrative innovation, it encompasses the organisational structure and administrative processes. It is indirectly linked to the basic activities of the organisation and more directly linked to its management [7-39]; this is also called managerial innovation [6].

Thus, LSPs have opted for changes in the way managers' work is done and have introduced technological changes to adapt to the sector's dynamism.

**Customer response:** Considered an important capability in the context of Moroccan LSPs, customer response is a company's ability to meet customer requirements in terms of three attributes, quality, price and lead time. An interviewee announces to us this prospect "The response to the customer is quite an important logistical capacity. The purpose of all LSPs is to respond to the customer, in terms of price, quality and also deadlines. "(LSP3). Customer response is assessed in terms of customer expectations. The response to their expectations confirms the level of satisfaction. This is why, according to the interviewees' answers, the customer response refers to their satisfaction.

The mobilisation of a set of parameters to satisfy customers, the parameters are thus antecedents to the customer response, this corroborates the words of another LSP who affirms that "we take into account all the parameters to meet the customer whether in terms of quality of service, time or even price." (LSP5). Therefore, customer response, although it is considered a logistical capacity, other parameters are crucial to achieving it; this is the reason why it is considered a finality in our sample.

Regarding the literature, by focusing on the service sector, the customer represents the central element and his satisfaction conditions the success of LSP [26]. So customer satisfaction is an answer, and it is always linked to very specific attention, such as an expectation of a product/service. This response occurs after service use [39].

Therefore, the customer response even refers to customer satisfaction in terms of price, quality and time. It metamorphoses our sample and corroborates the theoretical contributions of the concept.



Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

### 5.2 The contribution of logistics capacities in Moroccan LSP

### 5.2.1 Flexibility and customer response

Flexibility largely affects customer satisfaction, in the context of Moroccan LSPs, in terms of customer response. Thus, to respond to unforeseen requests, the urgency requiring a rapid reaction, flexibility allows the company to respond quickly, which allows it to avoid the delay, although the latter could arise from people outside the company, the customer or the sender. Having said that, according to one executive, "We get very special requests from our clients, but we try to meet them by dealing with different clients with specific needs."(LSP7)

Through its flexibility, the LSPs demonstrate the ability to manage the emergency situation often encountered. This results in customer satisfaction and therefore demonstrates the improvement of the offer to customer response. This corroborates the words of another interviewee who states: "if we can adapt quickly, this will also allow us to meet the needs of customers in an efficient manner" (LSP3)

Flexibility stimulates customer response in terms of delivery time, price and quality of service, which refers to the testimony of the manager who sees that "This adaptation consists in making the service capable of meeting the specific need of the customer" (LSP4)

Regarding the literature, Wright [40] argues that flexibility is dependent on LSP's ability to reorganise its resources and activities to meet customer demand quickly. Hence the following first proposition:

## P1: LSP flexibility has a positive and significant impact on customer response.

## 5.2.2 Innovation, customer response and the moderating role of logistics skills

As highlighted by Moroccan LSPs, technological innovation and administrative innovation are decisive capacities for the expectation of an objective that is transforming the response of customers. Customer response, which is dictated by the establishment of innovative capacities that are mobilised for previously defined objectives, appears to be a purpose that overlaps with logistics performance. An interviewee said this framework: "We do not miss the opportunity to implement such an innovative procedure that can promote and improve customer service and meet their expectations. For example, innovation in terms of work procedure, innovation in terms of control procedure" (LSP1). Therefore, innovation is considered an external element to the extent that it consists of better serving the customer (principal).

The analysis of the comments of the respondents, taken from our sample, allowed us to deviate from the role of "customer response" and to identify other variables that have not, so far, been highlighted in the literature. Regarding the change in the role of the variable "customer response", although some authors, in this case, have considered it as a capacity [29,30], customer response is a goal of other logistical capacities (flexibility and innovation) in our context.

For the new emerging variables, this is "logistics competence", a moderating variable that strengthens the relationship between innovation and "customer response" in the case of our study context. We bring this perspective to life in the words of one respondent who said that "if you don't have the capable and competent people to use this technology, it will be a failed investment or rather a divestment" (LSP16).

Logistics skills facilitate the handling of innovative tools for customer satisfaction. This corroborates the statements of the interviewees who state that "The use of technology provided that the user has the necessary skill, reduces burdens and help achieve objectives (...) Technological competence is necessary for the technology to be used to logistics performance" (LSP13).

Moreover, the effects on customer satisfaction are greater if these so-called skills are well mastered. "I think it will be wide if our staff and especially the technicians know how to handle it quickly" (LSP14). Moreover, for the proper handling of technology, training must be provided on the best method, which is confirmed in case 16: "to use it and sometimes you have to write for each user the detailed steps to follow to carry out these activities". (LSP16)

According to the literature, the capacity for innovation is of critical importance to the survival of LSP in a dynamic environment [1]. By treating its contributions, highlights the customer's place as a finality[9], the customer is the central element and his satisfaction conditions the success of LSP in the service sector. To meet its expectations, Yang [5] has shown that logistics innovation is positively linked to operational efficiency and quality of operational service. Grawe [12] argues that innovation in logistics relies on technology and other related resources to meet customer demands.

As a result of the analysis of the spreading remarks and the theoretical foundations, the capacity for logistics innovation reflects the ability of LSPs to develop and offer new logistics solutions to meet the needs and wishes of customers in an environment of more in addition to dynamic, logistics skills play a moderating role in this relationship. Hence our second following proposition:

# P2: Logistics innovation has a positive impact on customer response, logistics skills play a moderating role during this relationship.

# 5.2.3 Customer response, logistics performance and the moderating role of customer communication

Customer response inspires confidence and enables long-term customer engagement because, according to one

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

leader, "Responding effectively to special requests increases the confidence of our customers and solicits us for all their operations and most importantly. make a longterm commitment with us" (LSP1). As a result, when trust is built, and customer engagement is sustained over the long term, LSPs achieve a goal of total logistics service performance. This corroborates the words of another leader who says that "when customers trust us and engage with us, we are very likely to meet our goals of performing and growing afterwards. (LSP13).

Thus, achieving logistics performance is a linear process that goes from customer response, trust and commitment, and consequently, the service's overall performance. This performance is reflected in the return of satisfaction in terms of customer engagement and the building of strong customer trust. What is approved by one respondent: "Logistics performance is measured by the degree of customer satisfaction and by the degree of achievement of the objectives of each department" (LSP15).

The literature has highlighted the expected return of the customer in terms of his satisfaction. In the service sector, customer satisfaction is recognised as a decisive factor in maintaining and consolidating long-term business relationships [29]. The customer is thus the central element, and his satisfaction conditions the success and performance of LSP [26]. Therefore, customer satisfaction is achieved when logistics service performance meets or exceeds customer expectations [30]. Ching-Chiao [31] support this idea by arguing that one of the most important elements is the service sector and the maintenance and development of the long term relationship with the customer.

The theoretical foundations which corroborate the elements drawn from the respondents' comments make it possible to identify the contributions of the customer response on logistics performance. In this perspective, we find that customer response impacts logistics performance.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 141-149 ISSN 1339-5629

However, maintaining performance requires the maintenance of communication to ensure any volatility related to the effectiveness of the service to the customer. According to one interviewee, "The fact that there is an exchange of information with customers that we can know what they need and respond in return, this is how we can achieve performance" (LSP15). This observation is also confirmed by other respondents who tell us that "it takes information for it to contribute to our performance" (LSP16).

Therefore, maintaining communication with customers is decisive in ensuring an overall performance that meets all of their expectations. It even ensures the sustainability of the relationship according to the perception of the leader of the LSP15 who sees that "Maintain a communication with the customer service customers to try to work with them as long as possible" (LSP15). Thus, customer communication plays a moderating role by strengthening the relationship between customer response and logistics performance.

The study demonstrates the existence of a clear twoway relationship between customer response and the logistics performance of Moroccan LSPs. Furthermore, customer communication helps maintain this relationship. Therefore and after this discussion, we put forward the following proposition:

P3: There is a significant and positive relationship between customer response and logistics performance, customer communication has a moderating role during this relationship.

By way of conclusion and conjugation of our proposals, we put forward our following conceptual model:



Figure 1 Conceptual model of research

## 6 Conclusion, limits and perspectives of the research

The purpose of this research is to understand the phenomenon, or even look for the "How", as mentioned in our problem, of the contribution of LSP's logistics capacities to logistics performance. This requires an indepth qualitative approach.

The results of this research show that the main logistical capacities of Moroccan LSPs are flexibility and innovation, which respectively abound in reactivity/proactivity and technological



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY

Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

innovation/administrative innovation. Similarly, "customer response" appears to be a purpose that overlaps with logistics performance. Thus, this variable mediates between flexibility and logistics performance.

This study also highlights the emergence of new moderating variables; on the one side, "logistics skills" strengthen the relationship between innovation and customer response and, on the other side, "communication with employees" as a support for maintaining performance logistics.

By this recourse to a qualitative study, we can accept that the main limitation is relative to the size of the LSP sample which. Moreover, the research to understand this new phenomenon could be put forward as a strong argument for resorting to the qualitative approach. In addition, the second heavy limit on such a research strategy is a bias of subjectivity. Admitting this posture indeed requires thinking about a palliative methodology.

The research is based on a relatively limited number of LBPs. Therefore, although the sixteen cases are chosen, although selected to meet certain basic criteria, the perception of logistics capacities as well as their linkage with logistics performance differ from one company to another. It is, therefore, possible that the selected LSPs exhibit some biases.

Given the framework of the results of this work, it is essential to identify the way for future research which would apprehend the contribution of the logistics capacities of LSP with regard to the theoretical models relating to different contexts. It, therefore, seems essential to broaden the context of the process beyond the multiple case studies. The objective would therefore be generalisation allowing a real gain in objectivity.

### References

- [1] ROGERS, E.: *Diffusion of Innovations*, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, New York, Free Press, 1995.
- [2] PANAYIDES, P.M.: Enhancing innovation capability through relationship management and implications for performance, *European Journal of Innovation Management*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 466-483, 2006.
- [3] WAGNER, S.M.: Innovation Management in the German Transportation Industry, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 215-231, 2008.
- [4] DAFT, R.L.: A dual-core of organisational innovation, Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 193-210, 1978.
- [5] YANG, C.C.: Assessing the moderating effect of innovation capability on the relationship between logistics service capability and firm performance for ocean freight forwarders, *International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications*, Vol. 15, No 1, pp. 53-69, 2012.
- [6] EL IMRANI, O., BEN MESSAOUD LAYTI, M., BOUREKKADI, S., BOULAKSILI, A., KABBASSI, I.: Optimisation of the International Trade Activities in the Period of COVID-19 by Proposing an Algorithm,

Studies in Systems, Decision and Control, Vol. 358, pp. 187-193, 2021.

- [7] KNIGHT, K.E.: A descriptive model of the intra-firm innovation process, *Journal of Business*, Vol. 40, No. 4, pp. 478-96, 1967.
- [8] WAGNER, S.M., SUTTER, R.: A qualitative investigation of innovation between third-party logistics providers and customers, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 140, No. 2, pp. 944-958, 2012.
- [9] KALOGERAKIS, K., WAGENSTETTER, N.: A general framework for open service innovation in logistics, *Innovative Methods in Logistics and Supply Chain Management: Current Issues and Emerging Practices*, Berlin: epubli GmbH, Vol. 18, pp. 27-47, 2014.
- [10] HULT, G.TOMAS M., HURLEY, R.F., KNIGHT, G.A.: Innovativeness: Its antecedents and impact on business performance, *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol. 33, No. 5, pp. 429-438, 2004.
- [11] SHER, P.J., YANG, P.Y.: The Effects of Innovative Capabilities and R&D Clustering on Firm Performance: the evidence of Taiwan's semiconductor industry, *Technovation*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 33-43, 2005.
- [12] GRAWE, S.J.: Logistics innovation: a literaturebased conceptual framework, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 20, No. 3, pp. 360-377, 2009.
- [13] KANDAMPULLY, J.: Innovation as the Core Competency of a Service Organisation: The Role of Technology, Knowledge and Networks, *European Journal of Innovation Management*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 18-26, 2002.
- [14] WINKLER, H.: How to improve supply chain flexibility using strategic supply chain networks, *Logistics Research*, Vol. 1, pp. 15-25, 2009.
- [15] NAIM, M., ARYEE, G., POTTER, A.: Determining a logistics provider's flexibility capability, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 127, No. 1, pp. 39-45, 2010.
- [16] JUDGE, W.Q., NAOUMOVA, I., DOUGLAS, T.: Organisational capacity for change and firm performance in a transition economy, *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, Vol. 20, No. 8, pp. 1737-1752, 2009.
- [17] SAWHNEY, R.: Interplay between uncertainty and flexibility across the value chain: towards a transformation model of manufacturing flexibility, *Journal of Operations Management*, Vol. 24, No. 5, pp. 476-493, 2006.
- [18] ASSABANE, I., MSSASSI, S., LOUARDY, H.: Moroccan Smes Exporters To Sub-Saharan Africa: An Abstract On Export Risks Source, *Palarch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt/Egyptology*, Vol. 17, No. 6, pp. 8115-8129, 2020.



THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS CAPACITIES ON THE LOGISTICS PERFORMANCE OF LSPS: RESULTS OF AN EMPIRICAL STUDY Ibrahim Assabane; Ouail El imrani

- [19] FAWCETT, S., STANLEY, S., SMITH, S.: Developing logistics capabilities to improve the performance of international operations, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 101-127, 1997.
- [20] ANAND, G., WARD, P.T.: Fit, flexibility and performance in manufacturing: coping with dynamic environments, *Production and Operations Management*, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 369-385, 2004.
- [21] QURESHI, M.N., KUMAR, D., KUMAR, P.: An integrated model to identify and classify the key criteria and their role in the assessment of 3PL services providers, *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 227-249, 2008.
- [22] STEVENSON, M., SPRING, M.: Flexibility from a supply chain perspective: definition and review, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 27, No. 7, pp. 685-713, 2007.
- [23] LUMMUS, R. DUCLOS, L.K., VOKURKA, R.: Supply chain flexibility: building a new model, *Global Journal of Flexible Systems management*, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 1-13, 2003.
- [24] APRILE, D. GARAVELLI, A.C., GIANNOCCARO, I.: Operations planning and flexibility in a supply chain, *Production Planning & Control*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 21-31, 2005.
- [25] ESPER, T.L., FUGATE, B.S., DAVIS-SRAMEK, B.: Logistics learning capability: Sustaining the competitive advantage through logistics leverage, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 28, No. 2, pp. 57-81, 2007.
- [26] PANAYIDES P.M.: The impact of organisational learning on relationship orientation, logistics service effectiveness and performance, *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 68-80, 2007.
- [27] MORGAN, R.E., STRONG, C.A.: Business Performance and Dimensions of Strategic Orientation, *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 56, No. 3, pp. 163-176, 2003.
- [28] MENTZER, J.T., SOONHONG M., BOBBITT, L.M.: Toward a Unified Theory of Logistics, *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, Vol. 34, No. 8, pp. 606-627, 2004.
- [29] ZHAO, M., DRÖGE, C., STANK, T.P.: The effects of logistics capabilities on firm performance: Customerfocused versus information-focus capabilities, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 91-107, 2001.
- [30] LAI, K.H.: Service capability and performance of logistics service providers, *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, Vol. 40, No. 5, pp. 385-399, 2004.
- [31] YANG, Ch.-Ch., MARLOW, P.B., LU, Ch.-S.: Assessing resources, logistics service capabilities, innovation capabilities and the performance of

container shipping services in Taiwan, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 122, pp. 4-20, 2009.

- [32] ASSABANE, I., MSSASSI, S.: Les risques perçus à l'internationalisation des PME marocaines vers l'Afrique et le rôle actif de la veille stratégique: enseignements inductifs et implications théoriques, *Journal of Information Systems Management and Innovation*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 22-32, 2019.
- [33] PAILLE, P.: L'analyse par théorisation ancrée, *Cahiers de recherche sociologique*, No. 23, pp. 147-181, 1994. (Original in French)
- [34] GUMUCIO, S., COLL.: *Collecte de données: Méthodes quantitatives*, Coll. médecins du monde, Cahier de recherche, 2011. (Original in French)
- [35] BOUREKKADI, S., EL IMRANI, O., EL KANDILI, M., SLIMANI, K., KHOULJI, S., BABOUNIA, A.: Intelligent solution based on information technologies - The correct value of the business in economic organisation is intangible asset, Proceedings of the 33<sup>rd</sup> International Business Information Management Association Conference, IBIMA 2019: Education Excellence and Innovation Management through Vision 2020, pp. 6310-6317, 2019.
- [36] ASSABANE, I., MSSASSI, S.: Les risques en PME exportatrices incitatifs à la veille stratégique : une étude exploratoire auprès des PME marocaines exportatrices vers l'Afrique, *Revue Internationale du Marketing et Management Stratégique*, Vol. 1, No. 4, pp. 20-40, 2019. (Original in French)
- [37] EL IMRANI, O.: Study to Reduce the Costs of International Trade Operations Through Container Traffic in a Smart Port, In: Ben Ahmed M., Rakıp Karaş İ., Santos D., Sergeyeva O., Boudhir A.A. (eds) Innovations in Smart Cities Applications Vol. 4, SCA 2020, Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems, Vol. 183, Springer, Cham.
- [38] BIRKINSHAW, J., HAMEL, G., MOL, M.J.: Management innovation, *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 825-845, 2008.
- [39] EL IMRANI, O.: Prediction of international trade evolution through the support vector machine: The case of a port complex, ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, No. 15, pp. 1-5, 2021.
- [40] WRIGHT, P.M., SNELL, S.A.: Toward a unifying framework for exploring fit and flexibility in strategic human resource management, *The Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 756-773, 1997.

### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.


- International Scientific Journal about Logistics



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.290

Received: 14 Jan. 2022; Revised: 18 Mar. 2022; Accepted: 02 Apr. 2022

## DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR

#### Younes Fakhradine El Bahi

Mechanical and Integrated Engineering, Industrial department, 15290 ENSAM, Meknes 50500, ENSAM School, Marocco, elbahiyounesfakhradine@gmail.com

#### Latifa Ezzine

Mechanical and Integrated Engineering, Industrial department, 15290 ENSAM, Meknes 50500, ENSAM School, Marocco, latifae@yahoo.com

#### Zineb Aman

Mechanical and Integrated Engineering, Industrial department, 15290 ENSAM, Meknes 50500, ENSAM School,

Marocco, zineb.aman@gmail.com (corresponding author)

#### Haj El Moussami

Mechanical and Integrated Engineering, Mechanical department, 15290 ENSAM, Meknes 50500, ENSAM School, Marocco, hajelmoussami@yahoo.com

*Keywords:* liberalization, forecast, time series model, dynamic harmonic regression, decision making. *Abstract:* The liberalization of the petroleum sector in Morocco has a significant effect for petroleum product distributors. Since the beginning of December 2015, fuel prices are freely determined. This event presents many constraints affecting the balance of the sector plus the competition among its economic players. As all fuel products are imported, we will be interested in the evolution by making forecasts of the price of fuels in the Moroccan market. In this context, our paper aims mainly to study the time series of diesel and gasoline in order to provide precise forecasts to the company and to respect the permissible error margin of 3%. To this end, the harmonic dynamic regression model through the proposed process approach yielded excellent forecasting results for the first quarter of 2017 with an average error margin of 1.617%. Compared to ARIMA model, the harmonic dynamic regression proves its strength manifested in the low rate of error. In addition, the assumption that the residuals are a Gaussian white noise has always been verified. The forecasts obtained are very crucial for managers to take good decisions at the strategic level.

#### 1 Introduction

Oil is an important sector given the increasingly competitive nature of the industry today. Large companies and oil suppliers want the most economical and reliable forecasting mechanism to evaluate the market. For this reason fuel price forecasting is one of the most important problems beyond all strategic and planning decisions in any company [1], but difficult in the research areas of the analysis and prediction of because of the uncertain interactive factors that determine the oil market. On the one hand, oil is directly associated with various uncertain market factors, such as supply and demand, competition among suppliers, substitution for other forms of energy, economic development, population growth, and technical development [2]. On the other hand, as crude oil is a dominant resource for energy security, the oil market is highly sensitive to various uncertain external factors, such as political instability, war and conflict [3,4]. Since 01 December 2015, fuel prices are freely fixed. This event presents a lot of constraints impacting the balance of the sector and the competition among its economic actors. The lack of support measures by the state makes it vulnerable. With the cessation of the activity of the only Moroccan refinery, distributors must, from their part, build up large

stocks. As all fuel products are imported, we will be interested in the evolution by making forecasts of the price of fuels on the Moroccan market. In order to remain competitive on the market, distributors must be able to source fuel at the optimal price while maintaining a significant profit margin. In order to achieve their objectives, oil companies must rely on very specific forecast mechanisms. The overall mechanism by which the price of oil affects most countries or national economic factors are generally well understood, and thus the forecast of the price of oil has been perceived as an important research topic. One of the most commonly used approaches for oil price prediction is the statistical time series method [5,6], characterizing the price of oil as a time trend, a seasonal factor, a cyclical element and a term of error. Many techniques are available to break a series of oil prices in these components. They include the Akarca and Andrianacos model medium autoregressive movement (ARIMA) [7], Lanza et al.'S (ECM) error correction model [8], and the vectorial regression of Mirmirani and Li (VAR) model [9]. Other types of approaches assume that stochastic quantification, the relationship between oil prices and the latent economy are factors that can provide



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

a more relevant prediction than attempting to discover the underlying structure of the series itself.

Our article studies the price forecast of the Moroccan oil market, which is an important area for the determination of future value, from the point of view of oil distribution companies, considering global variables. We will develop a new numerical model of dynamic harmonic regression that aims to determine the price of fuel in the forecasting process.

#### 2 Literature review

Several articles have been published in the literature, aiming at comparing and improving the prediction capabilities of dynamic harmonic regression and ARIMA models more precisely. Church and Curram (1996) [10] have attempted to predict the decline in the growth rate of Consumer spending in the late 1980s using a network of artificial neurons and a model ARIMA. They suggest that neural network models describe decline as well as, but not better, econometric specifications. Finally, they suggest that the selection of the methodology used to make predictions should be based solely on the variables available. Prybutok et al. (2000) [11] develop a neural network model for predicting daily maximum ozone levels and compare with two conventional statistical models, regression and ARIMA Box-Jenkins models. The results show that the neural network is superior to the other two models tested. Gutierrez-Estrada et al. (2004) [12] use linear multiple regression, univariate time series models (ARIMA models), and neural network computations to predict the average daily ammonia concentration in waterrecirculating ponds. The results show that the non-linear ANN model approach provides better prediction of ammonia concentration than the multiple linear regression and univariate time series analysis, when the correlation between the data series is weak and when models are forced to predict in a situation for which they have not been specifically calibrated. Ho et al. (2002) [13] present a comparative study of integrated self-regulating movement Box-Jenkins models of medium and two artificial neural networks with a different architecture (multilayer power supply and recurrent network) in the prediction of failures in computer networks. The study showed that the recurrent network architecture significantly outperforms the results produced by the other two methodologies. In many scientific or technical applications, the data is generated in the form of a time series. As a result, time series analysis is one of the main tools for research and development (Cryer 1986, Chatfield 1991) [14-15]. Modelling of univariate and multivariate time series and structural time series methods have been useful for describing and forecasting (Prybutok et al., 2000, Tsitsika et al., 2007) [11,16].

#### **3** Elaboration of the new methodology

In our study, we will develop a new numerical model of dynamic harmonic regression that aims to ameliorate the forecast of the price of fuel in the forecasting process.

In our previous work, El Bahi et al. (2018) [17] demonstrates the utility of ARIMA model in the forecasting field, we found that the ARIMA model (1,1,1) gave accurate forecasts to the price of gasoline near the margin to be met for the first quarter of the current year with an average error margin of 2,855% respecting thus the margin permissible given by the company. However, in this paper, we will present a new model of dynamic harmonic regression through a proposed new process approach.

#### 3.1 Dynamic harmonic regression

We have developed the basics of the new harmonic dynamic regression model, while performing various tests to validate the proposed model. Our study has focused on the price of diesel fuel in Morocco.

The classic model of additive time series with hidden components is shown in (1).

$$Y_t = T_t + C_t + S_t + f(u_t) + N_t + e_t; e_t \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
 (1)

- $Y_t$ : the observed time series
- $T_t$ : the trend
- C<sub>t</sub>: the cyclical component
- $S_t$ : the seasonal component
- f: the influence of an exogenous vector with variables  $u_t$
- N<sub>t</sub> :stochastic disturbance
- $e_t$ : Gaussian white noise:  $e_t \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ [18].

Nevertheless, we worked only with the following model:

$$\begin{aligned} S_t &= \sum_{i=1}^n A_i cos(\omega_i t + \varphi_i) & (2) \\ C_t &= \sum_{j=1}^m B_i cos(\omega_j t + \varphi_j) & (3) \end{aligned}$$

The  $\omega_i$  and  $\omega_j$  are the Fourier frequencies determined from the discrete Fourier transform through a spectral analysis. This study in the frequency and non-temporal domain allows a consequent gain in parameters [19].

It is interesting to separate the cyclical and seasonal components because even if they are written in the same way, the cycles have relatively large periods compared to the observations and are therefore hardly detectable. In our work, we consider the cyclical component equal to zero because the observations relate only to one year (24 observations / fortnight in all). The parameters n and m depend on the number of observations p. We will see later that:

$$\boldsymbol{n} = \frac{p}{3} - \boldsymbol{1} \tag{4}$$



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

For the trend, we will see that the regression line can be a good approximation. The most important thing is that we will detail later that everything is calculated at the same time [20]! In this study, we will work on the prices of diesel fuel for the development of the model. The points cloud and regression line are presented in figure 1.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629



Figure 1 Gas price excluding taxes and trend

# 3.2 Determination of Fourier frequencies3.2.1 Methodology

To determine the frequencies of Fourier, we will present two methods: the direct method of the periodogram and the indirect method of Blackman-Tuckey.

Under the assumptions of stationary and ergodic signals, the autocorrelation function and the power spectral density are defined by:

$$r_{xx}(m) = E\{x^*(n)x(n+m)\} = r^*_{xx}(-m)$$
 (5)

$$S_{x}(f) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{+\infty} r_{xx}(m) e^{-2j\pi mf} = \lim_{N \to \infty} E\left\{\frac{1}{N} \left|\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} x(n) e^{-2j\pi nf}\right|^{2}\right\}$$
(6)

It is assumed to have N samples  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{N-1}$  of the signal to be analyzed and we, therefore, try to estimate the power spectral density from these data. There are two major classes of non-parametric spectrum estimation, each of which is related to one of the equalities in the spectral density equation.

#### **Periodogram method:**

It is a method that uses the signal directly. The spectrum is estimated by (7).

$$\widehat{S}_{PER}(f) = \frac{1}{N} \left| \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} x(n) e^{-2j\pi nf} \right|^2 \tag{7}$$

Because of the truncation of the signal, the periodogram is in fact the convolution of the spectrum by a cardinal sinus window. Truncating the signal induces two main phenomena:

- Widening of the main lobe which leads to a decrease of the resolution.
- Appearance of secondary lobes.
- The resolution of the periodogram is 1/N.

To remedy truncation problems, windows are generally used to either reduce the main lobe or attenuate the sidelobes. Also, the periodogram is a biased estimator.

$$E\{\widehat{S}_{PER}(f)\} = \int_{-1/2}^{1/2} W_b(f-u)S_x(u)du \qquad (8)$$

Where  $W_b(f) = \frac{1}{N} \left[ \frac{\sin(\pi N f)}{\sin(\pi f)} \right]$  is the Fourier transform of the triangular window.

The periodogram is therefore on average the convolution of the true spectrum with the Fourier transform of the triangular window. Nevertheless, when  $N \rightarrow \infty$ , the bias becomes zero. It can also be shown that the variance is virtually independent of N and proportional to the spectrum.

$$\operatorname{var}\left\{\widehat{\boldsymbol{S}}_{PER}(\boldsymbol{f})\right\} \cong \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{x}}(\boldsymbol{f})^2 \tag{9}$$

Thus, the periodogram is therefore not a consistent estimator of the Spectral Power Density. In order to reduce the variance of this estimator, an averaged periodogram can be used.

This consists of separating the signal into K slices (of length N / K), calculating the periodogram on each slice and averaging. Due to the average K, the variance is almost divided by K: nevertheless, with the slices being shorter, the resolution decreases.

#### Indirect method: Blackman-Tuckey:

Another approach is to use the definition of the spectrum from the correlation function. The spectrum is then estimated as in (10).

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{S}}_{BT} = \sum_{m=-M}^{M} \widehat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{xx}(m) \boldsymbol{e}^{-2j\pi m f}$$
(10)

Where  $\hat{r}_{xx}$  is an estimator of the correlation function, given by (11).

$$\hat{r}_{xx} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=0}^{N-m-1} x^*(k) x(k+m)$$
(11)



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629

**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

It is a biased estimator. The following estimator is unbiased:

$$\hat{r}_{xx} = \frac{1}{N-m} \sum_{k=0}^{N-m-1} x^*(k) x(k+m)$$
 (12)

Blackman-Tuckey suggested taking M of the order of 10% N. The application of a window is possible to reduce the variance on the estimate of the correlation function. Indeed, we have:

$$\widehat{S}_{PER} = \sum_{m=-(N-1)}^{N-1} \widehat{r}_{xx}(m) e^{-2j\pi m f}$$
(13)

However, the variance over  $\hat{r}_{xx}(m)$  increases as m approaches N, this explains why only M correlation points are used. Nevertheless, when M decreases, the bias increases.

=> bias-variance dilemma.

Disadvantages:

- Resolution in 1 / N which implies a certain difficulty in finding two very close lines for short duration signals.
- Difficulty in finding weak signals compared to strong signals.
- Secondary lobes and negative spectra (BT) due to windowing.
- Inconsistent estimate of the PSD.

Advantages

- Very fast and inexpensive computing algorithms (FFT).
- Estimated spectrum proportional to the power.
- Robust behavior on a wide range of signals.

The choice of a window results essentially from the compromise between the width of the main lobe and the height of the secondary lobes. In our study, we will work with Hannig's window because it allows a good compromise.

#### 3.2.2 Spectral analysis

This analysis will allow us to bring out the most significant frequencies (which allow a maximum information gain: signal processing theory).

We will classify the frequencies of the most important (spectral density of the largest to the smallest). Here is the result on Table 1.

Using the SPSS software, we will calculate the other parameters by a non-linear regression. The first idea that comes to mind is to take all Fourier frequencies and build the forecast model for these frequencies. Figure 2 shows the result obtained. The results seem satisfactory, but the strong oscillations push us to study them more closely.

#### 3.3 Oscillation study

To be able to do this study, we have to map the model exactly. But we only have 27 observations. Shannon's theorem states that the sampling frequency (observations) must be greater than or equal to twice the maximum frequency. All calculations done, the theoretical sampling frequency must be greater than 50. We propose to complete our samples to make a polynomial interpolation between each two consecutive points so as to keep a line that passes through two consecutive points and the middle point created. The result obtained is shown in Figure 3. We notice a very strong oscillation among the values which pushes us to consider the application of a filter.

#### 3.4 Static filter proposed

The idea is to build a band pass filter that filters high and low frequencies as shown in figure 4.

New constraints are then added to our model. Recall that the model exclaims as in (14).

Table 1 Fourier frequencies					
Frequency	Period	Periodogram	Spectral density		
0.2327	27.0000	3705812.5981	294899.1966		
0.4654	13.5000	2004167.0706	159486.5480		
0.9308	6.7500	307353.1302	24458.3850		
1.3963	4.5000	171525.5708	13649.5712		
0.6981	9.0000	162633.9992	12942.0024		
1.6290	3.8571	159402.0988	12684.8160		
1.8617	3.3750	85748.8769	6823.6788		
2.3271	2.7000	72878.7657	5799.5079		
3.0252	2.0769	62642.4908	4984.9310		
1.1636	5.4000	57555.0920	4580.0887		
2.7925	2.2500	47251.8233	3760.1806		
2.0944	3.0000	26826.4541	2134.7814		
2.5598	2.4545	20257.9969	1612.0802		
0.0000		0.0000	0.0000		



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami





Figure 3 Oscillatory study of the model of all the frequencies



$$Y_t = a + bt + \sum_{i=1}^{p-2} A_i \cos(\omega_i t + \varphi_i) + e_t e_t \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$
(14)

 $S_t = \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A_i \cos(\omega_i t + \varphi_i)$ (15)

To achieve the filter, we took the bandwidth so that all the elements of the series are between the minimum and the maximum of this one. So each A\_i must be less than or equal to a constant (450 in our case). So we will have:

Similarly, we will do an oscillatory study of the signal or the time series. The result is in figure 5.



~ 155 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu





**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

The observed overruns are justified by the fact that we have made a naive assumption that the amplitudes must not exceed one constant sequentially. However, the damping effect of the other amplitudes must be considered. We must therefore consider the sum. Despite this, this filter already demonstrates excellent forecasting qualities. First, let's check the hypothesis that  $e_t \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ .

We perform tests on XLSTAT. For normality, we performed two tests, that are Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Khi<sup>2</sup>. Results are grouped in Table 2 [21]:

H<sub>0</sub>: The sample follows a Normal law.

H<sub>1</sub>: The sample does not follow a Normal law.

racte 2 normanly tests of the state finer						
Test		Kolmogorov-		Khi <sup>2</sup> D	egree of	
			Smirnov		Freedom =6	
Parameter	Value	D	0.1178	Observed	12.3801	
				value		
μ	-0.0762	P-value	0.8239	Critical	12.5916	
				value		
Sigma	42.1218	Alpha	0.05	P-value	0.0540	

#### Table 2 Normality tests of the static filter

#### Interpretations:

Kolmogorov-Smirnov:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 82.39%.

#### • *Khi*<sup>2</sup>:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$ 

cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 5.40%.

The last test to be performed is the heteroskedasticity test [22]:

• White's test:

Table 3 White's Test	
LM (Observed value)	0.6505
LM (Critical value)	5.9915
Degree of Freedom	2
P-value (bilateral)	0.7224
Alpha	0.05

Also, two hypotheses are formulated:

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H1: The residues are heteroscedastic

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 72.24%.

Although this static filter seems to provide very good results, it prompts us to think of a new filter that takes into account the aspect of amplitude attenuation: the birth of the dynamic filter.

#### 3.5 Dynamic filter proposed

The idea of the filter is simple: to be able to get as close as possible to the time series with the minimum of oscillations. The figure 6 give us explanation of all this.



We will consider a parameter  $\alpha$  so that the minimum and maximum are closest to the time series. The new seasonal component becomes:

$$S_t = \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{3}-1} A_i \cos(\beta_i \omega_i t + \varphi_i)$$
(16)

Because we will have new constraints: First:  $-1 < \beta_i \le 1$  (for all i ranging from 1 to n)

This parameter is inspired by the wavelet theory, notably the Morlet wavelet.

The exponential form is set aside expressly so that there is no exponential envelope (reverse funnel effect) because the series is stationary around the trend.

Two other constraints are added to attenuate the signal or the time series.

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i + \alpha \le \max\left(y_t\right) \tag{17}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i - \alpha \ge \min(y_t) \tag{18}$$

According to these new constraints the number of allowed sinusoids becomes:  $n = \frac{p}{3}$ -1.

**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

The first remark is that this filter is greedy and it should only be used in case of significant observations! Secondly, this filter creates a compromise between the loss of information and the attenuation of oscillations. So we have to make sure that  $e_t \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ . Results after applying this filter are presented in Figure 7. The test results are grouped in Table 4.



Estimated p	arameters	Kolmogorov-Smirnov		khi <sup>2</sup> Degree of Freedo	om=2
Parameter	Value	D	0.0994	Observed value	0.5926
μ	0.2795	P-value	0.9410	Critical value	3.8415
Sigma	86.3681	Alpha	0.05	P-value	0.4414

#### Interpretations:

H<sub>0</sub>: The sample follows a Normal law.

H<sub>1</sub>: The sample does not follow a Normal law.

Kolmogorov-Smirnov:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 94.04%.

#### • $Khi^2$ :

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 44.14%.

• White's test (Table 5)

Table 5 White's Test				
LM (Observed value)	3.3172			
LM (Critical value)	5.9915			
Degree of Freedom	2			
P-value (bilateral)	0.1904			
Alpha	0.05			

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H1: The residues are heteroscedastic

Given that the calculated p-value is greater than the threshold level of significance alpha = 0.05, we cannot reject the null hypothesis  $H_0$ . The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 19.04%.

We note that the dynamic filter makes it possible to normalize the residues with a very good power (94% for the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test), but there is a risk that these residues are heteroscedastic opposite to the static filter.

# 3.6 Comparison between the static filter and the dynamic filter

#### 3.6.1 Oscillation study

Similarly, through Shannon's theorem and interpolation we obtain the result presented in figure 8. It is clear that the oscillations are much better attenuated by the dynamic filter which makes the curve much smoother.



~ 157 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

#### 3.6.2 Forecast Horizon

Since both models are stationary around the trend, we can broaden the forecast horizon until a new cycle appears. The figure 9 shows the result of the two filters. The two

filters give asymptotically equal series for the first two years then there is a shift! The new harmonic dynamic regression model is under the form of an optimization problem. The proposed new model is in (19).

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{Min } Y_t = a + bt + \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A_i \cos(\beta_i \omega_i t + \varphi_i) + e_t e_t \sim N(\mathbf{0}, \sigma^2 \\ (\text{Under Constraints}) \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A_i \cos(\beta_i \omega_i t + \varphi_i) + \alpha \leq \max(y_t) \\ \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{2}-1} A_i \cos(\beta_i \omega_i t + \varphi_i) - \alpha \geq \min(y_t) \\ -\mathbf{1} \leq \beta_i \leq \mathbf{1} \end{cases}$$



Figure 9 Forecast horizon for both filters

Since it is difficult to implement this model, we propose to work using the numerical model in (20).

$$Min \ Y_{t} = a + b * t + \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{3}-1} A_{i} * cos(\beta_{i} * \omega_{i} * t + \varphi_{i}) + e_{t}e_{t} \sim N(0, \sigma^{2})$$

$$(Under \ Constraints) \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{3}-1} A_{i} + \alpha \leq max(y_{t}) \\ \sum_{i=1}^{\frac{p}{3}-1} A_{i} - \alpha \geq min(y_{t}) \\ -1 \leq \beta_{i} \leq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(20)$$

In this section, we have developed the basics of the new harmonic dynamic regression model, while performing various tests to validate the proposed model. This study has focused on the price of diesel fuel duty free and the conclusive results push us to test it on the price of SSP " Super Sans Plomb" all taxes included.

#### 4 Case study

In this section, we will focus on in-depth SSP prices to determine the best possible DHR-based forecasting model.

We will be constrained by the total permissible margin of the order of 3% which corresponds to our tolerance interval.

#### 4.1 General model

In this first part, we will model, through the HDR, the prices of the last four years. The result found is presented in figure 10.



$\sim$	158	$\sim$
--------	-----	--------

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

We will test the hypothesis of normality of errors through Khi<sup>2</sup>and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests:

H<sub>0</sub>: The sample follows a Normal law.

H<sub>1</sub>: The sample does not follow a Normal law.

Table 6 Normality test							
Test	Kolmogorov-Smirnov		Khi <sup>2</sup> Degree of Freedom $=2$				
Parameter	Value	D	0.1104	Observed value	0.7108		
μ	0.0012	P-value	0.7009	Critical value	5.9915		
Sigma	0.4782	Alpha	0.05	P-value	0.1805		

Table 7 White's Test	
LM (Observed value)	2.2118
LM (Critical value)	5.9915
Degree of Freedom	2
P-value (bilateral)	0.3309
Alpha	0.05

Interpretations

• Kolmogorov-Smirnov test:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 70.09%.

• Khi<sup>2</sup> test:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 18.05%.

• Heteroskedasticity test:

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H1: The residues are heteroscedastic

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 33.09%.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629

The next step will be to make price projections for the SSP based on this general model.

#### 4.2 Forecasts from the general model One-time forecasts

From the data of the last four years, we have been able to calculate the following RDH model shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11 Predictions from the general model

Here are the results of the first quarter forecast summarized in Table 8.

Table 8 Forecast Results					
Fortnight	Real Price	Model	% Error		
1Q January	1072	1101.89	2.788246		
2Q January	1074	1137.86	5.945996		
1Q February	1072	1138.83	6.234142		
2Q February	1082	1162.02	7.395564		
1Q March	1084	1193.62	10.11255		
2Q March	1064	1156.71	8.713346		

The results obtained were not satisfactory compared to the tolerated margin of at least 3%. This is mainly due to data from the last three years before 2016 where the price was set by the state. Also, the compensation fund played a major role in covering the excessive increases in the price of a barrel on an international scale.

We therefore have only one year's data to make the predictions, i.e. 24 observations.

#### Forecast by confidence interval

Current forecasts are built for a 95% confidence interval.

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami



## Model reduced

To be able to work with data from a single year, we must choose between two approaches:

• Static filtering

4.3

• Dynamic filtering We decided to compare between the two approaches.

#### 4.3.1 Static filtering

Figure 13 reflects the results found.



H<sub>0</sub>: The sample follows a Normal law

H<sub>1</sub>: The sample does not follow a Normal law

#### Table 9 Normality test results

Test Kolmogorov-Smirne		nov	Khi <sup>2</sup> Degree of Free	edom =2	
Parameter	Value	D	0.1251	Observed value	2.0978
μ	-0.0004	P-value	0.3503	Critical value	5.9915
Sigma	0.3962	Alpha	0.05	P-value	0.825

• Kolmogorov-Smirnov test:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis H0 cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 82.5%.

• Khi<sup>2</sup> test:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 35.03%.

• Heteroskedasticity test:

Table 10 White's Test

LM (Observed value)	1.1608
LM (Critical value)	5.9915
Degree ofFreedom	2
P-value (bilateral)	0.5597
Alpha	0.05

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H<sub>1</sub>: The residues are heteroscedastic





**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 55.97%.

#### Predictions from the static model

One-time forecasts

The forecast results for the first quarter are summarized in Table 11.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629



Figure 14 Static filter predictions

Fortnight	Real Price	Model	% Error
1Q January	1072	1180.96	10.16433323
2Q January	1074	1196.05	11.36442522
1Q February	1072	1180.91	10.16710017
2Q February	1082	1194.66	10.41225348
1Q March	1084	1187.98	9.592779328
2Q March	1064	1206.78	13.41920589

Table 11 Static filter prediction results

These results are not at all satisfactory and the percentage of error large enough is explained by the fact

that the variables are overestimated and therefore there is a fairly large oscillation between two observations.Forecast by confidence interval



Figure 15 Forecast by confidence interval of the static model

#### 4.3.2 Dynamic filtering

The found results are shown in Figure 16.

**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami



H<sub>0</sub>: The sample follows a Normal law

H<sub>1</sub>: The sample does not follow a Normal law

Table 12 Normality test results						
Test Kolmogorov-Smirnov		nov	Khi <sup>2</sup> Degree of Free	edom =2		
Parameter	Value	D	0.1458	Observed value	2.7145	
μ	-0.0189	P-value	0.2574	Critical value	5.9915	
Sigma	1.4038	Alpha	0.05	P-value	0.6526	

• Kolmogorov-Smirnov test:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis H0 cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 65.26%.

• Khi<sup>2</sup> test:

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 25.74%.

Heteroskedasticity test:

Table 13 White's Test			
LM (Observed value)	9.6522		
LM (Critical value)	5.9915		
Degree ofFreedom	2		
P-value (bilateral)	0.0080		
Alpha	0.05		

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H<sub>1</sub>: The residues are heteroscedastic

Interpretations:

Since the calculated p-value is less than the significance level alpha = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  must be rejected, and the alternative hypothesis  $H_1$  must be accepted. The risk of rejecting the hypothesis  $H_1$  when it is true is less than 0.80%.

#### Predictions from the dynamic model

#### • One-time forecasts

The results of the first quarter forecast are summarized in Table 14.



Figure 17 Dynamic Model Forecasts

~ 162 ~



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

Table 14 Dynamic filter prediction results				
Fortnight	Real Price	Model	% Error	
1Q January	1072	1000.899217	-6.632535701	
2Q January	1074	999.5125295	-6.935518669	
1Q February	1072	1008.11424	-5.959492561	
2Q February	1082	1026.784783	-5.103069996	
1Q March	1084	1052.821886	-2.876209805	
2Q March	1064	1081.646185	1.658476047	

These results are still far from the margin of 3% fixed. This leads us to review our method to make changes. • Forecast by confidence interval



#### 4.4 Process approach

We have seen in the previous section the importance of a good data analysis. In addition, we found that the static and dynamic models do not give the same results. Also, we notice that the assumed linear trend of the model no longer follows the real regression line of the data. On these three points in addition to the fixed margin of 3%, we will try to build a process approach for DHR.

#### 4.4.1 Data analysis

In the previous section, we assumed that the company adapted to the withdrawal of the compensation fund from the outset, but it took a gradual adaptation time of about 6 months. So we can only work with the data of the last 6 months or 12 observations. We will work with the static model.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629

# **4.4.2 Local Dynamic Harmonic Regression Model** Figure 19 shows the results found.



Kolmogorov-Smirnov test:	Table 15 Normality test results					
H <sub>0</sub> : The sample follows a Normal law	Test		Kolmogorov-Smirnov			
H <sub>1</sub> : The sample does not follow a Normal law	Parameter	Value	D	0.1288		
	μ	-0.0005	P-value	0.9818		
	Sigma	0.1812	Alpha	0.05		

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis H0 cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 98.18%.

• Heteroskedasticity: White test:

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H<sub>1</sub>: The residues are heteroscedastic

Table 16 White's Test

LM (Observed value)	0.6213
LM (Critical value)	5.9915
Degree of Freedom	2
P-value (bilateral)	0.7330
Alpha	0.05

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 73.30%. We can move to the forecasts now.

Table 17 Local Model Forecast Results

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629

Fortnight	Real Price	Model	% Error
1Q January	1072	1000.899217	0.717024748
2Q January	1074	999.5125295	1.251208536
1Q February	1072	1008.11424	-4.004232553
2Q February	1082	1026.784783	-4.363472259
1Q March	1084	1052.821886	-2.873636521
2Q March	1064	1081.646185	-1.617299405

The new process approach is to adjust the model as forecasts are made by adjusting the parameters a and b. Indeed, we will readjust the trend of the model to each forecast so that it is as close as possible to the regression line of the quantitative variable. At each step, we must ensure that the predictions remain within the pre-defined tolerance interval (plus at least 3% in our case); otherwise we will have to recalculate the updated RDH model. If no update has been made after one-third of the observations (two months in our case), update the data.

Here is an explanatory diagram for this new approach shown in Figure 20.



~ 164 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

#### 4.5 Results of the process approach

In Table 18, we will list the values of the parameters a and b after each forecast. At t = 0, we modeled our data and did not make any predictions until then.

Table 18 First evolution of parameters a and b					
t	0	1	2		
a	991.813	993	995		
b	3.802	3.55	3.2		





Figure 21 Prediction Using the Initial Model



Figure 22 Forecast Using the Adjusted Model



Figure 23 Forecast Using the Adjusted Model 2





**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

Table 19 Forecast results					
Fortnight	Real Price	Model	% Error		
1Q January	1072	1079.686505	0.717024748		
2Q January	1074	1085.09698	1.033238331		
1Q February	1072	1023.231627	-4.549288523		

It is now necessary to recalculate the model before making the forecasts of the next fortnights. To do this, we will integrate the last three measured values and therefore we will have 15 observations.

Here is the new DHR model shown in Figure 24.



• Kolmogorov-Smirnov test:

H<sub>0</sub>: The sample follows a Normal law

H<sub>1</sub>: The sample does not follow a Normal law

Table 20 Normality test results					
Test		Kolmogorov-Smirnov			
Parameter	Value	D	0.1420		
μ	0.0428	P-value	0.9002		
Sigma	1.0609	Alpha	0.05		

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis H0 cannot be rejected.

The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 90.02%.

• Heteroskedasticity: White test:

H<sub>0</sub>: The residues are homoscedastic

H<sub>1</sub>: The residues are heteroscedastic

Table 21 White's Test	
LM (Observed value)	1.1290
LM (Critical value)	5.9915
Degree of Freedom	2
P-value (bilateral)	0.5686
Alpha	0.05

Since the calculated p-value is greater than the alpha threshold significance level = 0.05, the null hypothesis  $H_0$  cannot be rejected. The risk of rejecting the null hypothesis  $H_0$  when it is true is 56.86%.

The table 22 summarizes the evolution of the parameters a and b.

	Table 22:	Second	evolution	of	parameters	а	and	b
--	-----------	--------	-----------	----	------------	---	-----	---

t	0	1	2
а	1005.622	1005.622	1004
b	2.809	2.809	3.08

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

#### **Forecast results**



Figure 25 Prediction Using the Initial Updated Model



Figure 26 Forecast Using the Updated Updated Model 1



Figure 27 Forecast Using the Updated Updated Model



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

Table 23 Forecast results				
Fortnight	Real Price	Model	% Error	
2Q February	1072	1080.850305	-0.106256505	
1Q March	1074	1072.436995	-1.342066846	
2Q March	1072	1043.173202	-1.957405788	

We have seen in this section that the DHR model does not only require the choice between the dynamic filter and the static filter, it must also make a rigorous analysis of the data and ensure that the objectives are achieved. This allowed us to put in place a process approach that proved to be very relevant for price analysis and forecasting of the SSP and thus, enable managers to take strategic decisions based on these accurate forecasts.

#### 5 Conclusions

In this context, our work mainly aimed at studying the time series of diesel and SSP fuel in order to provide accurate forecasts and to respect the permissible margin of error of 3% setted by the company. For this purpose, we developed a new numerical method of harmonic dynamic regression. This new harmonic dynamic regression model through the proposed process approach yielded excellent forecast results for the first quarter of 2017 with an average margin error of 1.617%. We can therefore retain our model to make future forecasts, but each time we must feed our database to improve the results obtained. In this, the predicted performance can be evaluated, the best methodology and approach can be selected, and projections can be made. The increased predictions thus made will allow the managers to manage the business well in order to increase the income.

#### References

[1] ZHAO, X., XIE, J., LAU, R.S.M.: Improving the supply chain performance: use of forecasting models versus early order commitments, *International Journal* of *Production Research*, Vol. 39, No. 17, pp. 3923-3939, 2001.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540110072236

- [2] YU, L., ZHAO, Y., TANG, L.: A compressed sensingbased AI learning paradigm for crude oil price forecasting, *Energy Economics*, Vol. 46, pp. 236-245, 2014.
- [3] YU, L., XU, H., TANG, L.: LSSVR ensemble learning with uncertain parameters for crude oil price forecasting, *Applied Soft Computing*, Vol. 56, pp. 692-701, 2017.
- [4] NASER, H.: Estimating and forecasting the real prices of crude oil: A data rich model using a dynamic model averaging (DMA) approach, *Energy Economics*, Vol. 56, pp. 75-87, 2016.
- [5] KNETSCH, T.A.: Forecasting the price of crude oil via convenience yield predictions, *Journal of Forecasting*, Vol. 26, pp. 527-549, 2007.

[6] GHOSH, S.: Import demand of crude oil and economic growth: evidence from India, *Energy Policy*, Vol. 37, No. 2, pp. 699-702, 2009.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629

- [7] AKARCA, A.T., ANDRIANACOS D.: Detecting break in oil price series using the Box–Tiao method, *International Advances in Economic Research*, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 217-224, 1997.
- [8] LANZA, A., MANERA, M., GIOVANNINI, M.: Modeling and forecasting cointegrated relationships among heavy oil and product prices, *Energy Economics*, Vol. 27, No. 6, pp. 831-848. 2005.
- [9] MIRMIRANI, S., LI H.C.: A comparison of VAR and neural networks with genetic algorithm in forecasting price of oil, *Applications of Artificial Intelligence in Finance and Economics*, Vol. 19, pp. 203-223, 2004.
- [10] CHURCH, K.B., CURRAM, S.P.: Forecasting Consumers' Expenditure: A Comparison between Econometric and Neural Network Models, *International Journal of Forecasting*, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 255-267, 1996.
- [11] PRYBUTOK, V.R., YI, J., MITCHELL, D.: Comparison of neural network models with ARIMA and regression models for prediction of Houston's daily maximum ozone concentrations, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 122, No. 1, pp. 31-40, 2000.
- [12] GUTIÉRREZ-ESTRADA, J.C., DE PEDRO-SANZ, E., LÓPEZ-LUQUE, R., PULIDO-CALVO, I.: Comparison between traditional methods and artificial neural networks for ammonia concentration forecasting in an eel (Anguilla Anguilla L.) intensive rearing system, *Aquacultural Engineering*, Vol. 31, No. 3-4, pp. 183-203, 2004.
- [13] HO, D.C., AU, K.F., NEWTON, E.: Empirical research on supply chain management: a critical review and recommendations, *International Journal* of *Production Research*, Vol. 40, No. 17, pp. 4415-4430, 2002.
- [14] CRYER, J.D.: Analyse des séries chronologiques, Boston, Duxbury Press, 1986.
- [15] CHATFIELD, C.: Avoiding statistical pitfalls, *Statistical Science*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 240-252, 1991.
- [16] TSITSIKA, A., CRITSELIS, E., KORMAS, G., FILIPPOPOULOU, A., TOUNISSIDOU, D., FRESKOU, A., SPILIOPOULOU, T., LOUIZOU, A., KONSTANTOULAKI, E., KAFETZIS, D.: Internet use and misuse: a multivariate regression analysis of the predictive factors of internet use among Greek adolescents, *European Journal of Pediatrics*, Vol. 168, No. 6, pp. 655-665, 2009.



- International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 151-169 ISSN 1339-5629



**DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW NUMERICAL MODEL OF DYNAMIC HARMONIC REGRESSION FOR THE FORECAST OF SELLING FUEL PRICE IN THE MOROCCAN PETROLEUM SECTOR** Younes Fakhradine El Bahi; Latifa Ezzine; Zineb Aman; Haj El Moussami

- [17] EL BAHI, Y.F., EZZINE, L., AMAN, Z., EL MOUSSAMI, H.: Modeling and Forecasting of Fuel Selling Price Using Time Series Approach: Case Study, Proceedings of the International Conference on Control, Decision and Information Technologies, Thessaloniki, Greece, pp. 283-288, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1109/CoDIT.2018.8394835
- [18] YOUNG, P., PEDREGAL, D., TYCH, W.: Dynamic harmonic regression, *Journal of Forecasting*, Vol. 18, pp. 369-394, 1999.
- [19] TRAPERO, J.R., PEDREGAL, D.J.: Frequency domain methods applied to forecasting electricity markets, *Energy Economics*, Vol. 31, No. 5, pp. 727-735, 2009.
- [20] PEDREGAL, D.J., TRAPERO, J.R.: Electricity prices forecasting by automatic dynamic harmonic regression models, *Energy Conversion and Management*, Vol. 48, pp. 1710-1719, 2007.
- [21] SAPORTA, G.: *Probabilités, analyse des données et statistique*, Paris, Editions Technip, 2006.
- [22] BREUSCH, T.S., PAGAN, A.R.: A simple test for heteroscedasticity and random coefficient variation, *Econometrica*, Vol. 47, No. 5, pp. 1287-1294, 1979.

#### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.

Acta logistica

- International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 171-181 ISSN 1339-5629



TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®

Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.291

Received: 17 Jan. 2022; Revised: 12 Mar. 2022; Accepted: 05 Apr. 2022

### TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®

#### Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas

Institución Universitaria CEIPA, Calle 77 Sur # 40-165, 055450, Sabaneta, Colombia https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0915-4087 jose.baena@ceipa.edu.co (corresponding author)

Jose Alejandro Cano

Universidad de Medellín, Carrera 87 # 30-65, 050026, Medellín, Colombia https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2638-5581 jacano@udemedellin.edu.co

Keywords: Settlement prices, settlement costs, Incoterms®, SMEs, international sale of goods.

*Abstract:* The settlement of costs and prices in international business is an essential aspect of the competitiveness of internationalized companies. In this way, the "International Commercial Terms" (Incoterms)® as rules for the involved parties to a contract of international sale of goods become strategic, not only to define the conditions of delivery of the goods but also to define the value of an export according to the point of delivery within the international physical distribution chain. This study presents a detailed example of the costs derived from an international sale and purchase process, considering different databases published on the Internet, and provides a technique to simulate the value of each Incoterm 2020 rule. The results indicate the estimated prices for an export case from Colombia to the United States for containerized cargo. It is concluded that this technique facilitates the planning of the international sale and purchase, allowing to know the export values for each Incoterm, besides presenting an innovative model adaptable for other goods.

#### 1 Introduction

In the last decades, the behaviour in the traffic of goods shipped around the world by type of cargo has had sustained growth, including the case of transport of goods by container. In this sense, cargo traffic has tripled from 3,304 million tons in 1974 to 11,076 million tons until the end of 2019. Similarly, in the last year, the world commercial fleet by type of vessel (tankers, bulk carriers, general cargo, container ships, among others) grew by 81 million deadweight tons (DWT) between January 2019 and January 2020 [1].

However, despite the impressive statistics of international trade in recent years, globalization is facing new challenges that intensify the panorama of uncertainty. Therefore, it is necessary to consider trade tensions such as those that occurred with the trade war between the United States and China and the challenges of geopolitics arising from differences in the foreign policy strategies of countries [2]. Likewise, problems such as the global public health difficulties arising from the recent pandemic, among many other aspects that impact the evolution of world trade and the international transport of goods [3-4].

Thus, considering all the previous challenges, digital technologies and information technologies take a significant role in improving productivity within organizations, favoring exchange processes and the signing of contracts with companies in other countries [5-7]. Likewise, the OECD [8] indicates that technologies and the internet can mitigate problems related to the environment, encourage the inclusion of societies and promote social

development, especially in developing countries such as Latin America.

Thus, internationalized companies, including SMEs, should seek tools that facilitate the development of their logistics processes to effectively direct their goods to different markets in other countries [9]. For this reason, the objective of this document focuses on a technique for estimating costs and prices based on the "International Commercial Terms" (Incoterms)® version 2020, which is also applicable to international merchandise sales contracts. This technique also facilitates the determination of the export value of exclusively containerized goods according to their delivery point within the international logistics chain. This study addresses an export case of synthetic polymer paints due to the ease of grouping on pallets and the versatility of containers to transport them.

The case of containerized goods is considered because Incoterms® has been focused on adapting to contemporary commercial practices subject to the use of containers [10-11], and because of the current relevance of the container ships since sending goods through "Twenty-Foot Equivalent Units" (TEUs) and "Forty-Foot Equivalent Units" (FEUs) reach the second place of the total cargo of the world commercial fleet [1]. In this way, conclusions of the document constitute fundamental knowledge for further decisions in the management of cost and price settlement operations within international businesses.



TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®

Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

#### 2 Literature review

#### 2.1 Incoterms and the logistics chain for settlement of costs and prices in the international sale of goods

International Commercial Terms (Incoterms®) have been since their creation in the mid-19th century in the 1930s, i.e., for almost a century of existence, an important issue and a recurring theme for the facilitation and regulation of the exchange of goods between companies of different nationalities involved in trade operations on a global scale. Thus, Incoterms® have allowed clarifying mainly the international logistic costs, among other essential commitments of the parties, delimiting then the responsibilities of both the seller and the buyer, thus reflecting the current practice in the transport of goods within the international physical distribution [12].

According to Cavaller [13], the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC), founded in France in 1919, has been in charge of Incoterms® since 1936. Then, different versions of the Incoterms® have been published in 1945, 1953, 1967, 1976, 1976, 1980, 1980, 1990, 2000, 2010, and 2020. Although it is necessary to point out, in any case, that the updating in all the versions of these terms, which seek to adapt to the changes that international trade is experiencing, does not mean invalidation of the previous versions since Incoterms® are retroactive. Hence, if the exporter and the seller by mutual agreement decide to use a version before the most recent one, they may do so since the rules do not repeal in time.

Thus, this set of uniform and complementary rules plays an essential role in the contract's configuration for the international sale of goods. Through these voluntarily accepted rules, the exporter and the importer can identify the commitments to fulfill according to their responsibilities related to logistics costs, documents, and physical risk to be assumed [14]. According to Anaya [15], Incoterms® represent an essential tool for commercial exchange planning in internalized enterprises by selling their products and buying raw materials within foreign markets. Therefore, Incoterms® manage to reduce uncertainty by clearly defining each party's role according to the point of delivery within the international logistics chain.

Incoterms® play such an essential role in the drafting of export and import contracts that the 1988 United Nations

Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods is still in force today. It provides the following statement in Part III, Sale of goods, section D, Passing of risk: "(...) the parties may regulate the issue in their contract either by an express provision or by the use of a trade term such as, for example, an Incoterm". It undoubtedly implies that these rules or terms of negotiation complement the contracts in anticipation of possible scenarios that could pose significant problems for the parties regarding the transfer of risk and liabilities [16].

For this reason, these rules can avoid interpretation differences that subsequently lead to complex commercial disputes in which the parties may lose money and time, hindering the international trade of goods. In other words, the essential function of Incoterms® is to establish a set of terms that act as a discretionary regulatory framework, which through its rules complements the international sales contract, thus allowing agree on some rights and obligations in different circumstances according to the capabilities of the parties [17].

Similarly, Incoterms® are considered an element of significant importance in settling both the cost and price of the goods to be traded. Therefore, the understanding of these negotiation terms depends on the international logistic chain itself since it represents the transport stages, from origin to destination, delimiting the risk transfer from the seller to the buyer [18]. According to Long [19], the international logistics chain generally groups the internal and external movements of an international sale and purchase of goods (see Table 1). Therefore, the management of this process represents a key factor for effective planning within the operations of internationalized companies, which seek to meet the demand in globalized markets and achieve the best possible results at affordable costs.

Therefore, each Incoterm 2020 version (see Table 2) will always be subordinated from their theoretical definition, which determines the place of transfer for the cargo within the international physical distribution process. It means that each of these rules offers a concrete alternative where the seller must leave the goods and where the buyer must receive them, which will end up defining the exact place to transfer risks, change goods' ownership and add logistics costs to the ex-factory price in the international logistics chain [27].

AL

**TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®** Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

N.	Node	Description	Related costs	Consultation web page
1	Exporter (EXP)	It is the company or natural person registered before the chamber of commerce in the country of origin to carry out commercial activities, including export operations from the Colombian customs territory to foreign countries. This is also often referred to within the commercial invoice as the shipper [20].	A. Packing, crating and leaving the goods ready for pickup.	https://bit.ly/3c9ebOq
2	Internal Transport of Origin (ITO)	It is the foreign trade company or operator, contracted by the exporter or importer according to the Incoterm, to move the container with the cargo from the exporter's facilities to the port of origin [21].	B.       Loading of the merchandise in ITO.         C.       ITO loading insurance         D.       Cost of ITO (Medellin - Cartagena).         E.       ITO insurance.         F.       ITO unloading in POD with insurance included.	https://bit.ly/30l6wqJ
3	Customs of Origin (CUO)	It is a public organism located at strategic points in the exporter's country and its function is to supervise the outbound traffic of goods through the request of requirements and documents established by the customs legal system in force [22].	G. Hiring of the customs broker (processing of approvals and other documents).	https://bit.ly/3kUV9iL
4	Port of Origin (POR)	It is the physical space where both foreign trade operators and governmental institutions converge; all this, just before the goods are dispatched in international transport to another country. This place can be not only a seaport but also an airport or a land transport terminal [23].	<ul><li>H. POD costs (warehousing, handling, port taxes, etc.).</li><li>I. Loading of goods at the INT and loading insurance.</li></ul>	https://bit.ly/3caoxgT
5	International Transport (INT)*	This is the process of moving the merchandise by the shipping line, airline or land carrier that moves the merchandise from the exporter's country to the importer's country. This activity can generate other costs such as insurance, fuel costs, issuance of documents and other associated costs [24].	J. Cost of the INT "Ocean Freight". K. All risk insurance and/or full coverage of the INT.	https://bit.ly/3egW3EU
6	Port of Destiny (POD)	It is the physical space in the destination country where both foreign trade operators and governmental institutions converge. This is the place where the merchandise arrives and where the process of nationalization and importation of the cargo begins, and it can be either a seaport, an airport or a land transport terminal [23].	L.     TRI unloading in the       POD.	https://bit.ly/2OcYM7N
7	Customs of Destiny (CUD)	It is a public agency located in the importer's country whose function is to supervise the incoming traffic of goods through the request of requirements and documents established by the customs legal system in force. The customs also collect the tariffs that apply according to the type of merchandise and according to the existing international trade agreements [22, 25- 26].	O.Hiring of the customsbroker at destination.P.Ad-valoremTariffs"Preferential tariffs must beconsidered according to the FreeTradeAgreement(FTA)inforce".	https://bit.ly/3kQS7Mu https://bit.ly/2PCEwwx
8	Internal Transport of Destiny (ITD)	It is the foreign trade company or operator, contracted by the exporter or importer according to the Incoterm, to move the container with the cargo from the port of destiny to the importer's facilities [21].	Q.     Loading of goods in       ITD.     ITD cargo insurance       S.     ITD cost (Port Miami       - final delivery point).     T.       T.     ITD insurance.	https://bit.ly/3ecl306
9	Importer (IMP)	It is the company or natural person registered with the chamber of commerce in the country of destination of the merchandise to carry out commercial activities, including import operations. This is also usually known within the commercial invoice as the consignee [20].	U. Unloading of the goods at the final delivery point. V. Insurance of unloading of the goods at the final point.	https://bit.ly/3kRMOMG

#### Table 1 Links and costs of the international logistics chain

\*In this case, the technique for estimating costs and prices in contracts based on Incoterms® will be used for containerized cargo and will only apply to maritime transportation through shipping lines.

Source: Authors



TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®

Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

#### Table 2 Definition of Incoterms® for 2020 version

N.	Incoterm	Brief definition
1	Ex Works (EXW)	The EXP will finish with its delivery responsibilities just when the goods have been placed in the warehouses of its own company packed and packed at the IMP disposal. Thus, the buyer will be responsible for loading the goods in the ITO and perform all other logistical operations in order to bring the goods to the facilities of his own company. This Incoterm places most of the responsibilities on the buyer who picks up the goods from the seller's warehouse and takes them to his facilities in the country of destination.
2	Free Carrier (FCA)	The EXP must leave the goods in its warehouse. Similarly, he must carry out the documentary procedures with the CUO, in addition to assuming the costs and risk involved in loading the product in the ITO, which in this case will always be contracted by IMP, which in turn will be responsible for continuing with all the relevant processes until all the links in the international logistics chain have been overcome.
3	Free Alongside (FAS)	The EXP must load the goods at the ITO in addition to hiring him directly. Then, he must move goods from his company to the POR and unload the merchandise at that place next to the vessel. On the other hand, the IMP will receive the cargo at the POR, and the IMP must also load the cargo on the vessel, which acts as the INT, and later carry out the necessary operations to take the goods to his own company in the country of destination.
4	Free On Board (FOB)	The EXP is responsible not only for taking the goods to the POR but also for loading them at the INT, which in this term will be a motor vessel or ship, where its commitments end. Thus, the IMP must assume the responsibility of transporting the goods exclusively by sea, from the POR to the POD, and continue with the other stages of the international logistics chain.
5	Cost and Freight (CFR)	The EXP must carry out the necessary processes to take and load the merchandise in the INT, in addition to assuming the costs generated by the transport operation, which in this term will be exclusively by maritime means. Similarly, the IMP will be responsible for acquiring international insurance to cover the journey from the POR to the POD. Likewise, IMP will have to carry out the rest of the operations until the merchandise arrives at its own company's facilities.
6	Insurance and Freight (CIF)	The EXP will carry out all the necessary procedures to load the merchandise in the INT and pay this freight, which will always be with a shipping line since this rule must be used exclusively by maritime means. Likewise, the EXP must contract insurance for the INT to cover the merchandise in case of unforeseen events; despite the beneficiary of the insurance will be the IMP, who will also complete all the other necessary processes to take the merchandise to its facilities.
7	Carriage Paid To (CPT)	This term has the same characteristics as the CFR Incoterm; therefore, the EXP must carry out all the necessary processes to take the goods to the POR and charge the goods to the INT, in addition to assuming the costs generated by the transport operation. Then, the IMP will be responsible for acquiring international insurance to cover the merchandise from the POR to the POD and subsequently take the goods to its own company's facilities. In any case, it is necessary to emphasize that this term, unlike the CFR used only through seagoing mode, can be used in the INT to move the goods by land, air, or sea.
8	Carriage and Insurance Paid (CIP)	This term has the same characteristics as the CIF Incoterm; therefore, the EXP will carry out all the necessary procedures to load the merchandise at INT and pay this freight with its corresponding insurance covering the merchandise, making the beneficiary IMP. Likewise, the IMP will complete all the other processes to finalize the international logistic chain stages. However, it is necessary to emphasize that this term, unlike the CIF used only through seagoing mode, can be used in the INT to move the goods by land, air, or sea.
9	Delivered At Place (DAP)	The EXP must take the goods to the POD or pointed agreed place in the IMP country; the above, with the INT's insurance, included where the beneficiary will be the same seller. Thus, the goods must be prepared for unloading at the POD so that the buyer is in charge from this point to take it to its own facilities.
10	Delivered At Place Unloaded (DPU)	This international negotiation term is the only rule inserted in the latest 2020 version. In this Incoterm, the seller is responsible for carrying out all the necessary operations from his company's facilities to unloading the goods at the POD in the buyer's country. There the goods must be unloaded from the arriving means of transport by EXP. Then the IMP will nationalize the goods with the CUD and take them to its warehouses by contracting the ITD.
11	Delivered Duty Paid (DDP)	The EXP will finish with its delivery responsibilities when the merchandise has been taken to the country of destination, likewise, nationalized with the CUD paying the corresponding tariffs and finally contracting the ITD, leaving the merchandise at the disposal of the IMP in its facilities ready to be unloaded. Unlike EXW, this Incoterm places most of the sales contract's responsibilities over the seller, who takes the goods to the buyer's facilities, completing all the international logistic chain's nodes.

Source: Authors based on ICC [28]

In this regard, this article focuses on the Incoterms® 2020, considering that this version is the last one published by the ICC, adopting the present rules to the commercial practices of the current international trade [29]. Thus, the liquidation of the goods' prices for foreign markets will always follow the related costs derived from the different nodes of the international logistics chain. Therefore, these logistics costs determine the cargo's value reflected in the international sales contract and the commercial invoice [30]. Similarly, the inclusion of logistics costs that impact the final price of the export merchandise is the result of considering all those processes that must be performed and contracted with foreign trade operators to complete the international sale and purchase. In this sense, proper

planning of international physical distribution and the negotiation of the Incoterms® will favor the competitiveness of the exported product's price [31].

#### 3 Methodology

It is necessary to consider a scheme of the international physical distribution chain to develop a standardized technique to estimate costs and prices for international sales contracts, as described in Table 1. As shown in Figure 1, the scheme of the stages for an international sale and purchase process will facilitate the discrimination of the merchandise value according to the delivery point defined by the Incoterm agreed between the parties.



TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS  $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{B}}$ 

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 171-181 ISSN 1339-5629

Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano



\*Cost settlement and CFR and CPT price are the same.

\*\* Cost settlement and CIF, CIP and DAP price are the same. Figure 1 Representation of Incoterms® within the international logistic chain according to the standard costs of an export or an import

Figure 1 shows that the number of related costs in the international logistics chain determines each Incoterm. Then, the first term, known as EXW, entails the lowest responsibility in terms of costs for the seller and the highest responsibility for the buyer. However, as the international physical distribution chain progresses, costs, and prices of merchandise increase; therefore, the last of these rules, known as DDP, entails the most significant responsibility for the seller and the lower responsibilities for the buyer. Therefore, the cost incurred by the EXP term from the manufacturing cost and the cost incurred in international trade in each Incoterm must be defined. The cost variables incurred by the EXP to calculate the cost of the merchandise are defined as follows:

#### **Cost variables for EXP**

 $C_{MP}$ : Merchandise raw material costs

 $C_{MO}$ : Merchandise labor costs

*C<sub>CIF</sub>*: Manufacturing indirect costs

 $C_{MU}$ : Profit margin of the merchandise

Likewise, the cost variables incurred in international trade to calculate the settlement of the merchandise price in the different Incoterms is expressed below:

#### Cost variables to settle Incoterms®

 $C_B$ : Cost of loading the merchandise in ITO

- $C_C$ : ITO cargo insurance
- $C_D$ : ITO cost
- $C_E$ : ITO insurance
- $C_F$ : ITO download cost in POD, insurance included
- $C_G$ : Contracting costs of the Customs Agent at Origin (approvals and others) "0,5% EXW value"
- $C_H$ : Costs in POR (warehousing, handling, port fees, etc.)
- $C_l$ : Cost of loading freight at INT and cargo insurance
- $C_J$ : INT costs
- $C_K$ : All risk insurance and / or total INT coverage



TECHNIOUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE **OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®** 

Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

- $C_L$ : Cost of unloading the INT in the POD
- $C_M$ : Download insurance in POD
- $C_N$ : POD costs (warehousing, handling, port fees, etc.)
- $C_0$ : Hiring the Customs Agent at Destination (Custom broker)
- $C_P$ : Ad-valorem Tariffs
- $C_0$ : Cost of loading the merchandise in ITD
- $C_R$ : ITD cargo insurance
- $C_S$ : ITD cost (Port Miami - final delivery point)
- $C_T$ : ITD insurance

In order to distinguish the settlement values from the merchandise price in the different Incoterms®, the following settlement variables are used:

#### Price variables to settle de Incoterms®

$V_{EXW}$ :	Merchandise value in EXW
$V_{FCA}$ :	Merchandise value in FCA
$V_{FAS}$ :	Merchandise value in FAS
$V_{FOB}$ :	Merchandise value in FOB
$V_{CFR}$ :	Merchandise value in CFR
$V_{CIF}$ :	Merchandise value in CIF
$V_{CPT}$ :	Merchandise value in CPT
$V_{CIP}$ :	Merchandise value in CIP
$V_{DAP}$ :	Merchandise value in DAP
$V_{DPU}$ :	Merchandise value in DPU
$V_{DDP}$ :	Merchandise value in DDP

Therefore, the settlement value  $V_{EXW}$  is calculated using Equation (1), representing the value of the merchandise to be exported, including the costs of raw materials, labor, indirect manufacturing costs, and profit margin per unit.

$$V_{EXW} = C_{MP} + C_{MO} + C_{CIF} + C_{MU}$$
(1)

Once the settlement value V<sub>EXW</sub> has been calculated, the basis for calculating the settlement value of the other Incoterms® is obtained, which successively will incur different cost variables related to foreign trade. Consequently, the settlement value V<sub>FCA</sub> is calculated through Equation (2).

$$V_{FCA} = V_{EXW} + C_B + C_C + C_G \tag{2}$$

Equation (3) is used to calculate the  $V_{FAS}$  settlement value, which can take the  $V_{\mbox{\scriptsize FCA}}$  value as a reference and add the ITO cost, ITO insurance cost and ITO download cost in POD with insurance included.

$$V_{FAS} = V_{FCA} + C_D + C_E + C_F \tag{3}$$

The settlement value  $V_{FOB}$  can be based on the value  $V_{FAS}$ , to which the costs in POR and the costs of loading the merchandise in the INT and cargo insurance are added, as shown in Equation (4).

$$V_{FOB} = V_{FAS} + C_H + C_I \tag{4}$$

For the settlement values  $V_{CFR}$  and  $V_{CPT}$ ,  $V_{FOB}$  is taken as a base to add the INT cost as shown in Equation (5) and Equation (6) respectively. The difference between  $V_{CFR}$ and  $V_{\mbox{\scriptsize CPT}}$  is that  $V_{\mbox{\scriptsize CFR}}$  exclusively considers international maritime transport, while V<sub>CPT</sub> considers transportation by land, air, or sea.

$$V_{CFR} = V_{FOB} + C_I \tag{5}$$

$$V_{CPT} = V_{FOB} + C_J \tag{6}$$

In the case of the settlement values  $V_{CIF}$ ,  $V_{CIP}$ , and  $V_{DAP}$ , the  $V_{CFR}$  value can be taken as a base when exclusively international maritime transport is considered, and the V<sub>CPT</sub> value will be taken as a base when the transport mode is used independently. To these base values the cost of the all-risk insurance and/or total INT coverage is added, in such a way that the settlement value V<sub>CIF</sub>, V<sub>CIP</sub>, and V<sub>DAP</sub> are calculated respectively with Equation (7), Equation (8), and Equation (9). The difference between  $V_{CIF}$  and  $V_{CIP}$  lies in the fact that the  $V_{CIF}$  is versatile while the  $V_{CIP}$  refers exclusively to transport by ship, whether maritime and/or fluvial. Similarly,  $V_{CIF}$  differs from  $V_{DAP}$  in that the insurance beneficiary is the buyer for the first case, and in the second case, the insurance beneficiary is the seller.

$$V_{CIF} = V_{CPT} + C_K \tag{7}$$

$$V_{CIP} = V_{CFR} + C_K \tag{8}$$

$$V_{DAP} = V_{CPT} + C_K \tag{9}$$

According to the aspects negotiated in the stages of international trade related to the settlement costs V<sub>CIF</sub>, V<sub>CIP</sub> and  $V_{DAP}$ , the settlement cost  $V_{DPU}$  can be calculated through Equation (10) by adding the INT download cost on POD and download insurance cost on POD.

$$V_{DPU} = \begin{cases} V_{CIF} + C_L + C_M \text{ if the INT is polyvalent} \\ V_{CIP} + C_L + C_M \text{ if the INT is polyvalent} \\ V_{DAP} + C_L + C_M \text{ if the buyer is the beneficiary of INT's insurance} \end{cases}$$
(10)

Equation (11) is used to calculate the settlement value  $V_{DDP}$ , which take as a reference the  $V_{DPU}$  value and add the



POD costs, costs of hiring the customs broker, ad-valorem tariffs, costs of loading merchandise in ITD, loading insurance ITD, cost of ITD and insurance of ITD.

$$V_{DDP} = V_{DPU} + C_N + C_O + C_P + C_O + C_R + C_S + C_T$$
(11)

On the other hand, identifying the stages in the international physical distribution process is essential for the proposed estimation technique (see Figure 2). The product to be exported in this study is "paints based on synthetic polymers dispersed or dissolved in an aqueous

medium with tariff nomenclature 32.09.90". This product was identified as its general presentation, including packaging, packing, and certain physical-technical specifications related to the stowage on half pallets and the subsequent cubing in a forty-foot equivalent unit (FEU). The abovementioned allow planning the international physical distribution of the merchandise considered in this study. Within this technique, it is necessary to define the port of origin (POR) and the port of destiny (POD) according to the export circumstances, which in this case are represented by Cartagena Colombia (POR) and to Miami USA (POD).



Figure 2 Stages for estimation of costs and prices in contracts for the international sale of goods

#### 4 Result and discussion

The stowage process is performed according to the information of the export product, assigning products to pallets to facilitate their handling and transport in the international physical distribution chain. For this, Figure 3

shows the distribution of products in half Euro-pallets with measures of  $0.8m \ge 0.6m \ge 0.14m$  in length, width, and height respectively, assigning six units per pallet level, and allowing to stow three layers of products, for a total of 18 units per pallet.





TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS  $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{B}}$ 

Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano



Figure 3 Buckets stowed per pallet

In order to optimize the available space in a 40ft container, which includes internal dimensions of  $12.03m \times 2.35m \times 2.69m$  in length, width, and height respectively,

a total of 55 pallets are assigned per level, and two stowage levels, for a total of 110 pallets, which allow the transport of 1.980 buckets, representing a net weight of 27.75 tons.



~ 178 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE **OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®** Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

In this way, the container occupancy is maximized to reduce the unit price in each Incoterm, which results from dividing the total settlement price by the number of export units. Therefore, it is possible to settle the price of each Incoterm considering the values of the cost variables shown in Table 3, which represent the input for Equations (1-11).

Variable	ble Description	
C <sub>MP</sub>	Merchandise raw material costs	\$ 9,72
С <sub>мо</sub>	Merchandise labor costs	\$ 4,17
C <sub>CIF</sub>	Manufacturing indirect costs	\$ 5,56
C <sub>MU</sub>	Profit margin of the merchandise	\$ 5,56
$C_B$	Cost of loading the merchandise in ITO	\$ 55,6
C <sub>C</sub>	ITO cargo insurance	\$ 13,9
C <sub>D</sub>	ITO cost	\$ 1.000,1
$C_E$	ITO insurance	\$ 27,8
$C_F$	ITO download cost in POD, insurance included	\$ 55,6
C <sub>G</sub>	Contracting costs of the Customs Agent at Origin (approvals and others) "0,5% EXW value"	\$ 247,5
C <sub>H</sub>	Costs in POR (warehousing, handling, port fees, etc.)	\$ 222,2
C <sub>I</sub>	Cost of loading freight at INT and cargo insurance	\$ 69,4
$C_J$	INT costs	\$ 1.942,0
C <sub>K</sub>	All risk insurance and / or total INT coverage	\$ 97,2
$C_L$	Cost of unloading the INT in the POD	\$ 83,3
См	Download insurance in POD	\$ 27,8
C <sub>N</sub>	POD costs (warehousing, handling, port fees, etc.)	\$ 208,3
Co	Hiring the Customs Agent at Destination (Custom broker)	\$ 222,2
C <sub>P</sub>	Ad-valorem Tariffs (if FTA agreements apply, then 0%, else 5,90%)	\$ 3.140,6
$C_Q$	Cost of loading the merchandise in ITD	\$ 27,8
$C_R$	ITD cargo insurance	\$ 13,9
Cs	ITD cost (Miami Port - final delivery point)	\$ 861,1
$C_T$	ITD insurance	\$ 8,3

Consequently, Table 4 presents both the total price settlement and the unit price settlement for each Incoterm. Likewise, Table 4 shows the variation of the total price and unit price in each Incoterm compared to the base value of the EXW Incoterm, which is calculated using Equation 12. The results show that DDP receives the maximum variation with an increase of 16,82% on the merchandise price concerning the EXW, including there the main costs within the international logistics chain.

$$\%\Delta = \frac{V_{Incoterm} - V_{EXW}}{V_{EXW}} \tag{12}$$

Table 4 Price variables for Incoterms® settlement				
Variable	Description	Total Price	Unit price	% Variation*
$V_{EXW}$	Merchandise value in EXW	\$ 49.500	\$ 25,00	0,00%
V <sub>FCA</sub>	Merchandise value in FCA	\$ 49.817	\$ 25,16	0,64%
V <sub>FAS</sub>	Merchandise value in FAS	\$ 50.900	\$ 25,71	2,83%
V <sub>FOB</sub>	Merchandise value in FOB	\$ 51.192	\$ 25,85	3,42%
V <sub>CFR</sub>	Merchandise value in CFR	\$ 53.134	\$ 26,84	7,34%
V <sub>CPT</sub>	Merchandise value in CPT	\$ 53.134	\$ 26,84	7,34%
V <sub>CIF</sub>	Merchandise value in CIF	\$ 53.231	\$ 26,88	7,54%
V <sub>CIP</sub>	Merchandise value in CIP	\$ 53.231	\$ 26,88	7,54%
$V_{DAP}$	Merchandise value in DAP	\$ 53.231	\$ 26,88	7,54%
V <sub>DPU</sub>	Merchandise value in DPU	\$ 53.342	\$ 26,94	7,76%
V <sub>DDP</sub>	Merchandise value in DDP	\$ 57.825	\$ 29,20	16,82%

\*Percentage of variation compared to EXW

Therefore, the settlement formulations for Incoterms® proposed in this study allow us to calculate the total and unit prices to be assumed according to the responsibility and risk agreed upon, which depend on the buyer's ability to perform logistics activities. For the case study, the main increases in settlement prices correspond when changing from the Incoterm DPU to DDP, implying an increase of 8,4% in the merchandise price, represented in costs in POD, contracting the custom broker, Ad-valorem duties, loading merchandise in ITD, insurance of load in ITD, the expense of ITD, and insurance of ITD. Similarly, significant increases in merchandise settlement values of 3,8% correspond when moving from FOB Incoterm to CFR or CPT by incurring INT costs.

#### 5 Conclusions

The technique developed in this article for the cost and price estimation in contracts for international trade can be used both for goods in containers and oversized goods that exceed the dimensions of standard containers used in international maritime transport. Likewise, the proposed technique can settle the price of goods transported by different means of international transport according to the values of each specific process within the global logistics chain and according to the nature of the Incoterm agreed between the exporter and the importer. Therefore, this study offers an easy-to-use tool to guide decision-making within the international logistics chain, providing information sources from the internet to obtain the cost variables to settle Incoterms. Similarly, this research establishes the settlement values for each Incoterm, considering the level of risks and responsibilities that the involved parties wish to assume.



TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS® Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

Future works should apply the proposed formulations for different types of goods, points of origin, and destinations to establish the value variation generated between each Incoterms® according to the responsibilities assumed by each party. It is entirely feasible to reproduce the present technique with previous Incoterms® considering that these rules created by the ICC are retroactive, and if the parties to the contract agree, they can use versions before 2020; such as the 2010 version and the 2000 version, both still widely used in international trade operations.

#### References

- UNCTAD, www.unctad.org: 2020 Handbook of statistics, [Online], Available: https://unctad.org/syste m/files/official-document/tdstat45\_en.pdf
   Jan 2022], 2020.
- [2] UNCTAD, www.unctad.org: Review of Maritime Transport 2019, [Online], Available: https://unctad.org/system/files/officialdocument/rmt2019\_en.pdf [13 Jan 2022], 2019.
- [3] GRUSZCZYNSKI, L.: The COVID-19 Pandemic and InternationalTrade: Temporary Turbulence or Paradigm Shift?, *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 337-342, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1017/err.2020.29
- [4] ECLAC, caribbean.eclac.org: The effects of the coronavirus disease (Covid-19) pandemic on international trade logistics, [Online], Available: https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/4 5878/1/S2000496\_en.pdf [13 Jan 2022], 2020.
- [5] CANO, J.A., BAENA, J.J: Impact of information and communication technologies in international negotiation performance, *Review of Business Management*, Vol. 17, No. 54, pp. 751-768, 2015. https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v17i54.1901
- [6] CANO, J.A., BAENA, J.J.: Appropriating ICT for International Business Negotiations Performance: A Case Study of the Pacific Alliance, *Revista La Sallista de Investigación*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 102-112, 2018. https://doi.org/10.22507/rli.v15n1a11
- [7] BAENA, J.J., CANO, J.A., CAMPO, E.A.: Metodología para la Selección de Mercados Internacionales: Un Análisis de Caso para la Exportación de Bebidas Carbonatadas, *Dirección y Organización*, Vol. 66, No. 1, pp. 5-16, 2018. https://doi.org/10.37610/DYO.V0I66.532 (Original in Spain)
- [8] OECD, www.oecd.org: Latin America economic outlook, [Online], Available: http://www.oecd.org/pub lications/latin-american-economic-outlook-20725140.htm [13 Jan 2022], 2020.
- [9] KIRBY, C., BORSA, N.: Logistics as a competitiveness factor for small and medium enterprises in latin america and the caribbean, [Online], Available: https://publications.iadb.org/en/logisticscompetitiveness-factor-small-and-medium-

enterprises-latin-america-and-caribbean [13 Jan 2022], 2011.

- [10] BRODIE, P.: *Commercial Shipping Handbook*, New York, Routledge, 2015.
- [11] BEDIA, E.: La importancia de los Incoterms y el seguro de la mercancía en la compraventa internacional con Far East, [Online], Available: https://repositorio.comillas.edu/rest/bitstreams/2975 75/retrieve [13 Jan 2022], 2019. (Original in Spain)
- [12] DJAKHONGIR, S.: Research Handbook on International and Comparative Sale of Goods Law, Cheltenham, Edward Elgar Publishing, 2019.
- [13] CAVALLER, M: El valor jurídico de los Incoterms© en el contrato de compraventa internacional de mercancías: ley aplicable y competencia judicial internacional, [Online], Available: http://diposit.ub.e du/dspace/bitstream/2445/146424/1/MCV\_TESIS.p df [13 Jan 2022], 2020. (Original in Spain)
- [14] CABRERA, A.: Manual de uso de las reglas Incoterms 2020, Barcelona, Marge Books, 2020. (Original in Spain)
- [15] ANAYA, J.: *Logística integral: La gestión operativa de la empresa*, Madrid, Esic Editorial, 2017. (Original in Spain)
- [16] UNCITRAL, www.uncitral.un.org: United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods, [Online], Available: https://uncitral.un.org/si tes/uncitral.un.org/files/mediadocuments/uncitral/en/19-09951\_e\_ebook.pdf [13 Jan 2022], 2010.
- [17] CHOW D., SCHOENBAUM, T.: International Business Transactions: Problems, Cases, and Materials, New York, Wolter Kluwer, 2020.
- [18] HUAMÁN, M.A.: Principales cambios en los Incoterms® 2020, LEX-Revista de la Facultad de Derecho y Ciencias Políticas, Vol. 18, No. 26, pp. 103-138, 2020. https://doi.org/10.21503/lex.v18i26.2174 (Original in Spain)
- [19] LONG, D.: *Logística internacional: administración de la cadena de abastecimiento global*, Ciudad de México, Editorial Limusa, 2006. (Original in Spain)
- [20] BRANCH, A.: *Global Supply Chain Management and International Logistics*, New York, Taylor and Francis Group, 2009.
- [21] PENG, Z., WANG, H. WANG, W., JIANG, Y.: Intermodal transportation of full and empty containers in harbor-inland regions based on revenue management, *European Transport Research Review*, Vol. 11, No. 7, pp. 1-18, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-018-0342-4
- [22] PARTHASARATHI, S.: Customs in international relations: the Indian context, *World Customs Journal*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 55-70, 2013. https://worldcustomsjournal.org/archive/volume-7number-1-march-2013/



**TECHNIQUE FOR ESTIMATION OF COSTS AND PRICES IN CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS BASED ON INCOTERMS®** Jose Jaime Baena-Rojas; Jose Alejandro Cano

- [23] BLONIGEN, B., WILSON, W.: Handbook of International Trade and Transportation, Massachusetts, Edward Elgar Publishing Inc., 2018.
- [24] VILLA, J.C., BOILE, M., THEOFANIS, S.: International Trade and Transportation Infrastructure Development: Experiences in North America and Europe, Amsterdam, Elsevier, 2020.
- [25] BAENA. J.J.: Las restricciones y los aranceles a las exportaciones de mercancías en el Derecho de la OMC ¿barreras tradicionales o neoproteccionismo?, [Online], Available: http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bits tream/2445/103722/3/JJBR\_TESIS.pdf [13 Jan 2022], 2016. (Original in Spain)
- [26] BAENA, J.J., LONDOÑO, A.: Tariff barriers and non-tariff barriers: appraising Colombia's protectionism, *World Customs Journal*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 71-94, 2020.
- [27] ÁLVAREZ, J.: Transporte internacional de mercancías, Madrid, Ediciones Paraninfo, 2016. (Original in Spain)

[28] ICC, www.iccwbo.org: International Chamber of Commerce (ICC), [Online], Available: https://iccwbo.org/publication/incoterms-2020practical-free-wallchart/ [13 Jan 2022], 2021.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 171-181 ISSN 1339-5629

- [29] CCI, www.iccspain.org: Cámara de Comercio Internacional (CCI), [Online], Available: https://www.iccspain.org/?s=INCOTERM [13 Jan 2022], 2021. (Original in Spain)
- [30] MONCZKA, R. HANDFIELD, R. GIUNIPERO, L. PATTERSON, J.: *Purchasing & Supply Chain Management*, Boston, Cengage, 2020.
- [31] CERAN, Y., ALAGOZ, A., ORTAKARPUZ, M.: INCOTERMS® Costs in International Marketing and their Effects on Product Pricing, Proceedings of 8<sup>th</sup> Annual London Business Research, 8-9 July, London, pp. 1-12, 2013.

#### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.



- International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 183-193 ISSN 1339-5629

IMPROVING THE LEVEL OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE MATURITY MATRIX IN INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISE Jana Mesarosova; Klaudia Martinovicova; Helena Fidlerova; Henrieta Hrablik Chovanova; Dagmar Babcanova; Jana Samakova

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.292

Received: 18 Jan. 2022; Revised: 17 Feb. 2022; Accepted: 14 Apr. 2022

## IMPROVING THE LEVEL OF PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE MATURITY MATRIX IN INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISE

#### Jana Mesarosova

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 2781/25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, jana.mesarosova@stuba.sk

#### Klaudia Martinovicova

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 2781/25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU martinovicova.k@gmail.com

#### Helena Fidlerova

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 2781/25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, helena.fidlerova@stuba.sk (corresponding author)

#### Henrieta Hrablik Chovanova

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 2781/25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, henrieta.chovanova@stuba.sk

#### **Dagmar Babcanova**

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 2781/25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, dagmar.babcanova@stuba.sk

#### Jana Samakova

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 2781/25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, jana.samakova@stuba.sk

*Keywords*: predictive maintenance, Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix, Industry 4.0, Logistics 4.0, case study. *Abstract:* Predictive maintenance is a maintenance strategy that applies advanced statistical methods and artificial intelligence to determine the appropriate maintenance time. The article focuses on future recommendations for industry and logistics to achieve a higher level of predictive maintenance maturity, which requires real-time monitoring of the state of the company's machinery and equipment. The article's main objective is to propose recommendations to increase effectiveness by improving the predictive maintenance maturity matrix from the current level to a higher level in the industrial enterprise. The current state of maturity has been indicated using the modified model of predictive maintenance and following recommendations from the document Manual for companies for the introduction of artificial intelligence. Simultaneously within the analysis, a predictive maintenance simulation was performed on a selected production line, including essential machines and equipment. The study also identified the individual assumptions (processes, data, infrastructure, personnel, applications, organization) necessary to implement predictive maintenance successfully. The presented case study results contribute to understanding how individual assumptions can be obtained for predictive maintenance improvement and how innovative solutions in the context of Industry 4.0 and Logistics 4.0 can be achieved in enterprises.

#### 1 Introduction

One of the critical tasks in industrial production and logistics is to reduce costs and eliminate waste. One of the identified wastes are often downtimes, which are related to not optimal set maintenance cycles. Reasons are that two extreme cases might occur: either service interventions are too frequent, which increases maintenance costs or maintenance is neglected, which can lead to irreversible damage to the machine. The purpose of any machine or equipment maintenance is to reduce or eliminate losses caused by applying an unsuitable production method or often also as a result of a human factor. However, maintenance is to take care of machines and equipment and plan the costs associated with equipment operation and manage the range and number of spare parts [1,2]. According to [3], it is a matter of ensuring that machines can produce products in the required quality and quantity, at the lowest possible cost and in the shortest possible time. The types and methods of maintenance by which these goals are met have undergone significant changes. From



the first corrective maintenance, which means the maintenance performed after a machine failure, which began to be applied in the distant past, we have gradually moved on to preventive strategies as presented in this article in the case study.

As part of the predictive maintenance approaches using machine condition diagnostics and prediction are dominated and desired.

#### 2 Predictive maintenance

Predictive maintenance (PdM) seeks to determine the right moment for maintenance based on advanced statistical methods and artificial intelligence [4-7]. Unlike preventive maintenance, the maintenance of each device is assessed and planned based on the current state of the device while using various models to reveal the time and date of the failure. Subsequently, it is possible to extend or shorten maintenance cycles according to the actual state of the device. A well-functioning predictive maintenance system is closely linked to a well-designed diagnostics and prediction system that uses advanced statistical methods and artificial intelligence. With the help of predictive maintenance, it is possible to optimise operating conditions, improve the quality of products and services and thus make the most of the investment [8-10].

Predictive maintenance is one of the maintenance strategies, which may be understood as a set of rules based on which the maintenance schedule is prepared and the performance of individual maintenance activities. Usually, several strategies are applied together on the machinery. The choice of an appropriate strategy depends on several factors: state of the machines, the possibilities of implementing the chosen strategy, or the economic advantage of prevention [3]. Three terms are known within the maintenance strategy - corrective, preventive, and predictive maintenance (Figure 1). Corrective maintenance is the oldest maintenance strategy performed after a machine failure and can be found in the literature as reactive maintenance. The purpose of corrective maintenance is to put the machine into operation immediately after failures in the shortest possible time and with the lowest losses [3,11].

To reduce the inefficiency of corrective maintenance, manufacturing companies have switched to a preventive maintenance model. Preventive maintenance works on the principle of planning regular service of machines, whether it is repaired, replacement of parts, oil change, lubrication, and so on. The aim is to prevent machine failures before they occur, which eliminates the possibility of unexpected production downtime. Preventive maintenance is currently the dominant company maintenance strategy, but it is still far from optimal because machines often fail at the end of their service life. Companies must create maintenance plan based on actual information about the asset's condition to achieve optimal maintenance activity and not only on theoretical considerations. Predictive maintenance means that companies can plan maintenance activities based on accurate predictions of the device's life [12].



Figure 1 Maintenance strategy overview [11]

Predictive maintenance can solve the following problems: predict device failure in the future, identify unusual behaviour of the device, estimate the remaining life of the device, warn of incorrect setting of operating parameters [4]. Predictive maintenance thus brings innovations to the company, which improve the current



maintenance system. For several years now, a set of OECD manuals has been used as a guide in science, research and innovation. The "Oslo Manual" [13] focuses on defining the concepts of innovation and innovation activity, and its definitions are currently used by 80 countries around the world. The Oslo manual defines an innovation as [13]: "a new or improved product or process (or combination thereof) that differs significantly from the unit's previous products or processes and that has been made available to potential users (product) or brought into use by the unit (process)". This definition uses the generic term "unit" to describe the actor responsible for innovations (companies, households or associations).

The latest edition of the Oslo manual reduces the previous list-based definition of four types of innovations (product, process, organisational and marketing), to two main types: product innovations and business process innovations. Predictive maintenance is key to optimizing internal processes, boosting service levels and ultimately increasing customer satisfaction. The benefits that PdM brings can be classified as business process innovation, which are defined as [13]: "a new or improved business process for one or more business functions that differs significantly from the firm's previous business process and that has been brought into use by the firm". Business process innovation include: production, distribution and logistics, information and communication systems [13].

Although PdM is a fundamental pillar of the Fourth Industrial Revolution - PdM 4.0 [5,14,15], very few companies can still predict the future failure of machines with sufficient accuracy and immediately apply the most effective preventive measures to the detected deviation. In most companies, predictions are made without smart sensors and artificial intelligence. They use diagnostic tools for measurement (vibration, temperature, or oil quality) to create short-term predictions. Predictive maintenance is at different levels in different companies and this influence significantly logistics and manufacturing processes. The authors Mulders and Haarma describe four levels of the company's Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix (Figure 2). The individual levels are defined as follows [16,17]:

*Level 1 – Visual inspections*: periodic physical inspections. The conclusions are based solely on inspector's expertise.

*Level 2 – Instrument inspections*: include expanding technical expertise and instrument inspections at periodic intervals, which provide more specific and objective information about machines. The conclusions are based on a combination of the 'inspector's expertise and instrument read-outs.

*Level 3 – Real-time condition monitoring:* continuous realtime monitoring of assets, with alerts based on preestablished rules or critical levels. The machines are constantly monitored by sensors that provide up-to-date data representing the state of the machine.

Level 4 – Predictive maintenance 4.0: continuous real-time monitoring of assets, alerts sent based on predictive

techniques, such as regression analysis. It is about predicting future machine failures and the immediate application of the most effective preventive measures.



Figure 2 Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix [16]

When implementing predictive maintenance in the company, it is essential to know which individual types of failures can be identified from the available data and which parameters need to be collected. In the case of a large number of machines and devices in the company, it is not necessary to install sensors on all of them. First, it is required to focus on critical machines, the failure of which would directly affect production or stop it. Predictive maintenance research has a lot of attention in industry and academia due to its potential benefits in reliability, safety, and maintenance costs, among many other benefits. Predictive maintenance might [11]:

- reduce maintenance costs by 25%–35%,
- eliminate breakdowns by 70%–75%,
- reduce breakdown time by 35%–45%,
- and increase production from 25%–35%.

Predictive maintenance also requires less staffing of the maintenance department. Machine learning excels precisely in the tasks that consist of analysing a large amount of data. In practice, it is not realistic to accept a top expert for each machine, who will analyse hundreds of measurements a day. However, this is not a problem for artificial intelligence [4]. Despite the many benefits of PdM introduction, companies also have to deal with the risks during its implementation. The risks of PdM include [4]:

- *Early termination of the PdM project* a longer time is needed to find hidden failures in the machine learning model.
- *It is impossible to predict the collected data* at first, it is essential to analyse the types of failures (FMEA analysis) and then implement the Proof-of-Concept phase.
- Overconfidence in the power of machine learning -PdM cannot completely replace preventive



maintenance and diagnostics. However, it can reduce its need and extend inspection intervals.

- *Risk of later return on investment* data scientists can wait weeks or even months for the data they need to analyse and make suitable predictive models.
- *Reprogram of machine learning models* sometimes machine learning models need to be reprogrammed, which is more time consuming.
- *Missing professional employees* not enough specialists and data scientists.

#### 3 Methodology

Following the goal of the presented paper, we focused on increasing the PdM maturity matrix to a higher level in a selected industrial enterprise. The modified preventive maintenance model was used to identify the current state of the level of maturity and perform the analysis following the recommendations of the strategic document Manual for companies for the introduction of artificial intelligence [4]. The conducted model of preventive maintenance contains six steps for the implementation of predictive maintenance

in the company: identification of critical equipment and its parts; identification of degradable mechanisms and key parameters; implementation of equipment monitoring, montage of detectors, data analysis and trend identification, evaluation of results/project. In addition to implementing these six measures, companies must also ensure that they comply with the following six predictive maintenance assumptions: People, Applications, Infrastructure, Process, Data, and Organisation. We would like to emphasise that the implementation process fails if the company plans predictive maintenance but does not have enough specialists with specific comprehensive knowledge about the equipment and the technology. It is also necessary for success of project to create an infrastructure for collecting the specific data for prediction analysis. This innovation might include a transformation of the whole organisation, its corporate culture and thinking towards change from "traditional" to "digital" maintenance. The described model of preventive maintenance is presented in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3 Modified model for implementation of predictive maintenance

The FMEA (Failure Mode and Effect Analysis) was used to identify the main causes of the failures. FMEA analysis was used to identify and assess the risk of potential mistakes, as well as their consequences [18-21]. Each threat was assessed according to its probability of occurrence (P), severity (S) and detection (D). The risk priority number (RPN) was calculated according to the formula

 $RPN = P \times S \times D$ 

• P - probability coefficient, specifying the frequency of occurrence of the machine failure associated with

Where [18]:

a given risk, on a scale from one to ten, where one means no occurrence, and ten is for occurrence in each production cycle.

- S severity coefficient, which determines how severe the given risk of the machine failure is, on a scale from one to ten, where one means negligible importance, and ten very high.
- D detection coefficient, which determines the degree of difficulty in counteracting a given type of structural failure (early detection of the cause), is very difficult on a scale from one to ten, where one is an easy possibility to counteract, and ten is very difficult.

(1)





The risk priority number (RPN) may vary from one to 1000. The higher the RPN value is, the greater the risk associated with the threat is.

#### 4 Results and discussion

This part of the paper focuses on applying the introduced modified model to implement predictive maintenance in the selected enterprise as a case study. The analysed industrial enterprise focuses on producing rubbermetal and plastic parts for the automotive industry, rail vehicles, ships, and aircraft. According to analysis, several types of maintenance are performed in the enterprise (autonomous, operative, preventive).

The technical diagnostics helps to avoid costly maintenance interventions, especially for critical machines. The enterprise has 354 machines and equipment, while technical diagnostics focuses on the following three areas: tribodiagnostics, thermodiagnostics and vibrodiagnostics.

- Tribodiagnostics is a method of diagnostics to detect, evaluate, and report foreign substances in the lubricant and its change from a quantitative and qualitative point of view. The oil level monitoring is performed on 130 machines in the analysed enterprise.
- Thermodiagnostics as a non-contact temperature measurement can be used wherever the diagnosed parameter is heat radiation. The aim of thermodiagnostics is to locate a possible problem on the machine caused by excessive overheating of its parts and to eliminate it in time. For measuring surface temperatures, such motors, heating coils and pumps are used by a handheld thermal imager. Thermodiagnostics determines whether the measured temperature exceeds the limit value (temperatures on the hydraulic circuit must not exceed 60 °C when the hydraulic oil loses its properties and degrades rapidly) or whether the measured temperature of the equipment during tempering does not deviate from reality. Another type of technical diagnostics that is performed in the enterprise on 120 machines is thermodiagnostics.
- The vibrodiagnostics aims at the smooth and reliable operation of the device. The service life of bearings can be affected by several factors, such as speed, dirt, working temperature, lubrication efficiency, bearing stress. Vibrodiagnostics locates the fault and determines the current state of the machine using a vibration sensor. It is non-disassembly diagnostics without the need to stop production. In the presented case study in the mentioned enterprise, there are 143 rotary machines on which vibrodiagnostics is performed. Competent employees who perform this type of technical diagnostics try to determine when the bearing is coming the end of its life.

The analysed enterprise is indicated on the second level PdM maturity matrix (Figure 2). Monitoring of the technical condition of machinery is performed at specified intervals, which are shortened and archived if necessary. Exceeded limit values are monitored. In the case of limit values, the evaluation is subjective, performed by technologists without sufficient theoretical knowledge about predictive maintenance and statistical data processing.

# 4.1 The procedure of introducing predictive maintenance on a production line in an industrial enterprise

The transition of an industrial enterprise to the third level of Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix requires real-time monitoring of machine condition, where sensors continuously collect data on the state of individual machines and equipment. Sensors send alerts based on predetermined rules or when critical levels are exceeded. According to the Manual for companies for introducing artificial intelligence [4], the introduction of Level 3 of the Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix was implemented online L in the following six steps.

#### 1. <u>Identification of the critical equipment and its parts</u>

Simultaneously with the analysis, a simulation of predictive maintenance on a selected production line was carried out to identify problems and shortcomings that would not be revealed themselves. The selection of a specific production line was based on the ABC categorisation of machines as follows: Group A are strategic machines considered critical because a failure on the machines of this group causes partial or complete shutdown of production. Malfunctions on these machines result in high financial losses and the possible occurrence of a dangerous accident. Group B includes machinery with high priority, but in the case of failure, there will not be such severe consequences for the enterprise's production activity as for machines from the group A. The group C consists of other auxiliary devices that are not included in groups A and B. Based on the above classification of machines, machines from the group A have the highest priority, and it is essential to make predictions of possible failures. The mentioned group in the enterprise includes the production line with the working name Line L as the subject of the analysis. The L-line includes vulcanised parts for damping vibrations and vibrations in cars, the socalled silent blocks.

As already mentioned, the Line L belongs within the ABC categorisation among the equipment of the group A, the failure of which can cause a partial or complete shutdown of production. Based on the failure analysis (FMEA), two rivet heads in series were identified as critical for operating a given production line. The production and service of rivet heads are carried out exclusively in the country of the manufacturer, in the area outside the European Union. The logistical activities



associated with the service take two weeks, and complications due to the customs procedure are several weeks longer. For this reason, it is essential to correctly predict the wear of the rivet heads, as their unexpected damage would cause undesirable production downtime.

#### 2. <u>Identification of degradation mechanisms and key</u> <u>parameters</u>

First, the main parts of the rivet head were identified. The rivet head consists of the following functional elements: hydraulic, mechanical, pneumatic, and electrical. Based on FMEA analysis, critical parameters and degradation mechanisms were identified for individual components of the rivet head: the type of failure (error) that can occur on the component (equipment), the cause of the fault and the consequences of the fault. The FMEA analysis showed that all failures with the most significant impact on the functionality of the rivet head are indicated by an increased operating temperature, which is well measurable, distinguishable from the usual operating temperature. If the fault persists, the temperature usually rises. Early detection of disorders helps to prevent them easily because most disorders begin as an abnormality.

#### 3. Implementation of machine monitoring

The implementation of condition monitoring for the critical equipment includes installing the necessary sensors, a system for collecting and storing this data and subsequent monitoring [16]. Based on the previous analysis and experience, it was found that the most failures on the rivet head are indicated before by an increase in operating temperature. For this reason, a temperature sensor was placed for condition monitoring.

#### 4. Installation of sensors

In order to monitor the temperature of the machine, it was necessary to map the surface temperatures of the device during production. Surface temperatures were measured using a thermal camera applied in the enterprise for the thermodiagnostics. The highest temperatures were measured at the tip of the tool that forms the semi-finished product. A temperature sensor with a set alarm temperature of 60 °C, which is the upper limit of the operating temperature of the hydraulic oil, was then installed at the identified location. After several experiments, the sensing temperature period was set at ten minutes. The optimal time for measurement might be set so that the temperature is not sensed too often, causing an amount of unnecessary data, but sensing at long intervals is not recommended so as not to detect abnormalities in the operation of the rivet head.

#### 5. Data and trend analysis

Data analysis is a necessary assumption for the correct implementation of predictive maintenance. A cloud application already provides the basic visualisation of data (temperatures over time). However, this data was exported to a spreadsheet processor Microsoft Excel to work with the measured data. The production was interrupted when it was necessary to wait for the parts to cool down after vulcanisation or a failure occurred and due to production interruption during the corona crisis (Figure 4a). Temperature values were excluded from the data set for further data analysis when the rivet heads were not in operation (Figure 4b). The next issue was the identification of the presumed temperature trends from the measured values. The values of the temperatures of the rivet heads during the production process are considerably fluctuating, and it is not easy to identify trends. The function of linear trendline in the Microsoft Excel program was used to indicate the possible trend of temperature values, ordering onedimensional data in a straight line towards the future.

#### 6. <u>Assuming the case study</u>

The assumed trend of the temperatures of both rivet heads indicates an increasing character of temperatures from the beginning of the measurement (Figure 5). The more reliable long-term prediction will require longer-term measurement and a more extensive data set. However, the presented procedure and scope of the conducted analysis, when diagnostic sensors were mounted on the rivet head, was sufficient for base recommendations to improve the level of Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix in an enterprise. A primary trend visualisation has been introduced into the enterprise, which is also well usable in processing scanned data in vibrodiagnostics and is easy to understand by workers responsible for technical diagnostics without special training. In this solution, the knowledge of employees trained at Six Sigma was used, representing a good base of statistical knowledge for future prediction needs. Implementing the Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES) system is planned to start in the enterprise.








Figure 4 Temperature profile of rivet heads a) during production time and non-production time b) during production time



Figure 5 Temperature profile of rivet heads with linear trend curve

# 4.2 Prerequisites for improving the level of Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix in an industrial enterprise

The next part of the paper describes the key assumptions (Process, Infrastructure, Applications, Data, People and Organisation) that an industrial enterprise should analyse to improve the Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix [4]. The individual assumptions are closely related to the steps based on which the proposal to introduce predictive maintenance on Line L was implemented (Figure 3).

**Process:** The first prerequisite for the correct operation of predictive maintenance is familiarity with the whole process. The company should map its technology well, identify diagnostic methods on its equipment, know the types of failures and, above all, the causes, and conditions under which the failure occurs. A thorough analysis of the maintenance department was performed in the analysed



enterprise. Machines were divided according to the ABC categorisation, and individual types of technical diagnostics were identified. Realised technical diagnostics were performed on the machines using specialised diagnostic devices.

It is necessary to perform a comprehensive analysis of machinery and equipment throughout the enterprise for the analysed industrial enterprise to move to the third level of Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix. Consideration should be given to the use of Predictive Maintenance 4.0 tools in terms of return on investment and safety and health, property, environment, or legislation under the supervision of an entity with experience in implementing such projects. The analysis must include identifying critical and less critical parts of the equipment, understanding their function, and identifying safe operating conditions. The FMEA method [21] is suitable for determining degradation mechanisms and their detection, which has also proved successful in the analysis of Line L.

Proper mapping of the whole process is a key part of the individual assumptions. If the company correctly identifies individual processes, it can determine which need to be optimised or transformed.

**Data:** If a company plans to predict, a collected data database is needed - measured values from sensors just before the fault and under different operating conditions. However, it is not necessary to focus only on the negative data that arises in the case of a failure. It is needed to have a sufficient database from a standard operation, during which the failure did not occur. Data collection must be preceded by a correct definition of the individual processes, so the data is collected only from devices on which predictive maintenance makes sense [4].

The analysed enterprise collects data unsystematically. The amount of collected data is not suitable for possible prediction, and at the same time, the data collection is realised in long time intervals. In this case, it is important to analyse current data [22] and select just those data on which the actual state of the equipment can be determined as accurately as possible.

*Applications:* For each plant, it is possible to assume different equipment for machines, and information systems may also be different for predictive maintenance, MES (Manufacturing Execution System), PLM (Product Lifecycle Management), ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) will most often be used. An industrial enterprise can have all applications available or only selected applications, even from different manufacturers. Data collection systems such as MES., SCADA (Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition) are often enriched with additional data from ERP, CMMS (Computerized Maintenance Management System), EAM (Enterprise Asset Management) systems. Many EAM, CMMS systems today provide predictive maintenance as a package (from data collection to maintenance scheduling) [4].

For the analysis of the L-line, a freely available mobile application (EasyLog Cloud) for smartphones with the Android operating system was used. The application offers a basic overview table of the device, which ich named "Mote1". The application provides graphical processing of measured data. The visual output of the measured data (Figure 6) shows the course of temperatures on the rivet heads over time. The blue curve represents the measured temperature on the rivet head U205 and the red curve on the rivet head U215. The measured data were exported to Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.



Figure 6 Display of measured operating temperatures of rivet heads over time

The selection of suitable applications for data collection, processing and display always depends on a specific enterprise, unique in its capabilities and current needs. However, the EasyLog Cloud application is used, and it is insufficient to implement enterprise-wide predictive maintenance. Currently, the analysed enterprise is working on introducing the MES approach [23], which is used to monitor production in real time. In this phase, the system is focused on production data from machines, which are then processed, evaluated, and visualised. According to the available information, the infrastructure is ready for data transmission for predictive maintenance.

**Infrastructure:** At present, traditional informational technologies (IT) in enterprises is replaced by cloud solutions, where the customer buys the service of a software solution and does not deal with the technical infrastructure on which this solution runs. As part of data



transmission, basic processing, visualisation, and availability, the analysed enterprise was proposed to use the IoT sensor infrastructure (Figure 7), in which sensors mounted in machines send data directly to the cloud via a wireless Internet connection [24]. The main benefits when changing from traditional systems are the raise of flexibility, robustness, efficiency and also the chance for mastering the actual complexity [25].

The acquired data as part of logistics information flow can be monitored using a mobile application, and, if necessary, it can be exported to a corporate spreadsheet.



Figure 7 Diagram of IoT sensor infrastructure [24]

**People:** Although the gradual transition to predictive maintenance in the context of Industry 4.0 and Logistics 4.0 presupposes more maintenance staff, experts are required to analyse the moments in which artificial intelligence fails. According to Bronislav Balga [26], a specialist in business performance improvement, maintenance has been struggling for several years with the scarcity and quality of maintenance workers, which in recent years has shown very little or no progress towards Industry 4.0.

The analyzed enterprise has 41 employees in the maintenance department (from total of 850 employees). The main factor for implementing the proposed measures is the targeted training of maintenance department staff in prediction. Even under the influence of new modern technologies beyond the current understanding of predictive maintenance, the enterprise must continue to educate its employees. Predictive maintenance workers at Level 2 are experts in their field with extensive practical experience, but training in predictive maintenance is still necessary. Top employees should also understand the creation of predictions of failures and residual life of the equipment or its critical part. They should not passively rely on ready-made solutions provided by the technology supplier but also actively engage in improving predictions.

The enterprise must focus on improving the qualifications of employees in this area and, if necessary, cover some positions with representatives of third parties - external consultants. These are mainly professional functions, namely [4]:

- Data engineers who manage the data and the relevant data platform to make it fully functional for analysis;
- Data scientists who prepare, study, visualise, and model data on a data science platform;
- IT architects manage the basic infrastructure needed to support data science;
- Application developers deploy models to applications to create data-based products;

• Experts for data visualisation and interpretation.

**Organisation:** As in the presented case study, managers in the companies are often not fully aware of predictive maintenance benefits. The transition of an enterprise to predictive maintenance in the context of Industry 4.0 is more than just IT issue. It requires the transformation of the whole organisation, its corporate culture, which will change from "traditional" to "digital". It is a culture that prioritises employee engagement, stimulates experimentation with new technologies, and new ways of working. The culture will need to stimulate cross-functional cooperation and is comfortable with data-driven decision-making, even if decision-making goes against managerial and employee experiences and introduces a new way of thinking [10,27].

A prerequisite for successfully implementing maintenance using Industry 4.0 and Logistics 4.0 tools is support from the enterprise's top management, which will provide resources (finance, people, infrastructure, software, time, training) for its implementation, further development. maintenance, and When implementing the solution, it is appropriate to create expert working groups, within which there will be cooperation between maintenance technicians and data analysts who know the predictive model and its possibilities. The process of implementation requires a considerable amount of documented information [28,29]. In this step it is important to raise awareness of the various benefits of prediction across the enterprise [30,31].

# 5 Conclusions

Maintenance is necessary for the proper functioning of logistics in any industrial enterprise. Choosing the right strategy of maintenance can be saved a lot of work, time, and money. Predictive maintenance can manage maintenance more efficiently. Industry 4.0 and Logistics 4.0 concept opened a new horizon of possibilities using the most modern intelligent technologies streamlining maintenance in their company. Predictive maintenance is a key activator and impetus for Industry 4.0 and Logistics 4.0, while still facing several challenges in practical implementation from a technical and commercial point of view. Managers need to be aware of the main challenges to prepare for the digital transformation of production and the transition to the Industry 4.0 revolution.

The aim of this paper was to present and describe the steps and assumptions needed to improve the current state of the Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix in an industrial enterprise. Based on the analysis results, the enterprise can move to the third Level of PdM maturity matrix. Then following benefits will be achieved: reduced failure rates, reduced unplanned downtime and extended maintenance cycles, increased production, reduced spare parts, extended equipment life, increasing safety and reducing maintenance costs. Quality improvement in predictive maintenance will influence positive return on



investment in approximately 3-5 years. Several studies confirm that predictive maintenance management benefits overall operations in both manufacturing and process plants [32]. However, with all the benefits of predictive maintenance, the risks and obstacles to its implementation should not be forgotten [33]. The real challenge is not in sensor technology, data processing, condition monitoring or correct diagnostics. These solutions are highly advanced and their implementation requires extensive knowledge and understanding. Thus, the implementation of contemporary solutions in the field of Industry 4.0 and Logistics 4.0 requires that the organization first improve the absorption of knowledge [34]. This concept, introducing revolutionary changes in manufacturing and logistics, will fundamentally change society and economy [35]. Businesses now need to focus on the predictive skills of their employees and support processes and opportunities that will support the creation of a new predictive-oriented business model.

# Acknowledgement

This publication has been published with the support of the Operational Program Integrated Infrastructure within project Výskum v sieti SANET a možnosti jej ďalšieho využitia a rozvoja, code ITMS 313011W988, co-financed by the ERDF and is based on partial results of the national project KEGA No. 021STU- 4/2021 by the Cultural and Educational Grant Agency of the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Slovak Republic.

# References

- LEGÁT, V.: Management a inženýrství údržby, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Praha, Kamil Mařík - Professional Publishing, 2016. (Original in Czech)
- [2] TOLNAY, M., BACHRATÝ, M.: Prevádzka a údržba výrobných systémov, Bratislava: STU, 2012. (Original in Slovak)
- [3] ČERVEŇAN, A: (ed.) *Systém údržby*, Bratislava, CKV Consult s r.o., 2015. (Original in Slovak)
- [4] Ministerstvo investícií, regionálneho rozvoja a informatizácie Slovenskej republiky, www.mirii.gov.sk: Analýza a návrh možností výskumu, vývoja a aplikácie umelej inteligencie na Slovensku, Dielo č. 2 – Manuál pre firmy na zavedenie umelej inteligencie, [Online], Available: https://www.mirri.gov.sk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/Dielo2-Manual.pdf [10 Aug 2021], 2019.
- [5] ZONTA, T., DA COSTA, C.A., DA ROSA RIGI, R., DE LIMA, M.J., DA TRINDADE, E.S., LI, G.P.: Predictive maintenance in the Industry 4.0: A systematic literature review, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 150, pp. 106889, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2020.106889
- [6] DALZOCHIO, J., KUNST, R., PIGNATON, E., BINOTTO, A., SANYAL, S., FAVILLA, J., BARBOSA, J.: Machine learning and reasoning for

predictive maintenance in Industry 4.0: Current status and challenges, *Computers in Industry*, Vol. 123, pp. 1-17, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2020.103298

- [7] PECH, M., VRCHOTA, J., BEDNÁŘ, J.: Predictive Maintenance and Intelligent Sensors in Smart Factory: Review, *Sensors*, Vol. 21, No. 4, pp. 1-40, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21041470
- [8] CUONG, S. V., SHCHERBAKOV, M.: 'PdM: A predictive maintenance modeling tool implemented as R-package and web-application', SoICT 2019: Proceedings of the Tenth International Symposium on Information and Communication Technology, Hanoi Ha Long Bay Viet Nam, pp. 433-440, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1145/3368926.3369693
- [9] SAKIB, N., WUEST, T.: 'Challenges and opportunities of condition-based predictive maintenance: A review, 6<sup>th</sup> CIRP Global Web Conference – Envisaging the future manufacturing, design, technologies and systems in innovation era, pp. 267-272, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2018.08.318

- [10] Roland Berger, www.rolandberger.com: Predictive maintenance – From data collection to value creation, [Online], Available: https://www.rolandberger.com/ en/Insights/Publications/Predictive-maintenancefrom-data-collection-to-value-creation.html [8 Aug 2021], 2019.
- [11] JIMENEZ, J.J.M., SCHWARTZ, S., VINGERHOEDS, R., GRABOT, B., SALAÜN, M.: Towards multi-model approaches to predictive maintenance: A systematic literature survey on diagnostics and prognostics, *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, Vol. 56, pp. 539-557, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.07.008
- [12] BOOTHMAN, P.: Why we need predictive maintenance in industry 4.0, [Online], Available: https://www.iotforall.com/why-we-needpredictivemaintenance-in-industry-4-0 [24 Aug 2021], 2021.
- [13] OECD, www.oecd.org: Oslo manual. Guidelines for Collecting, Reporting and Using Data on Innovation, 4th Edition, [Online], Available: https://www.oecd.org/sti/oslo-manual-2018-9789264304604-en.htm [7 Feb 2022], 2018.
- [14] YAN, J., MENG, Y., L.U., L.: Industrial Big Data in an Industry 4.0 Environment: Challenges, Schemes, and Applications for Predictive Maintenance, *IEEE Access*, Vol. 5, pp. 23484-23491, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2017.2765544
- [15] COMPARE, M., BARALDI, P., Z.I.O., E.: Challenges to IoT-Enabled Predictive Maintenance for Industry 4.0, *IEEE Internet of things journal*, Vol. 7, No. 5, pp. 4585-4597, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1109/JIOT.2019.2957029
- [16] MULDERS, M., HAARMAN, M.: Predictive maintenance 4.0: Predict the unpredictable.



Mainnovation, [Online], Available: https://www.pwc.be/en/documents/20171016predictive-maintenance-4-0.pdf [10 May 2021], 2017.

- [17] JASIULEWICZ-KACZMAREK, M., GOLA, A.: Maintenance 4.0 Technologies for Sustainable Manufacturing - an Overview, *IFAC PapersOnLine*, Vol. 52, No. 10, pp. 91-96, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2019.10.005
- [18] CZAJKOWSKA, A., INGALDI, M.: Structural failures risk analysis as a tool supporting corporate responsibility, *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, Vol. 14, pp. 1-20, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14040187
- [19] DOSHI, J., DESAI, D.: Application of failure mode & effect analysis (FMEA) for continuous quality improvement – Multiple case studies in automobile S.M.E.s, *International Journal for Quality Research*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 345-360, 2017. https://doi.org/10.18421/IJQR11.02-07
- [20] BHATTACHARJEE, P., DEY, V., MANDAL, U.K.: Risk assessment by failure mode and effects analysis (FMEA) using an interval number based logistic regression model, Safety Science, Vol. 132, pp. 1-10, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2020.104967
- [21] BLOKDYK, G.: FMEA Failure Modes Effects Analysis A Complete Guide - 2020 Edition, London, Emereo Pty Limited, 2019. (Original in English)
- [22] ZHANG, W., YANG, D., WANG, H.: Data-Driven Methods for Predictive Maintenance of Industrial Equipment: A Survey, *IEEE Systems Journal*, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 2213-2227, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSYST.2019.2905565
- [23] CHEN, X., VOIGT, T.: Implementation of the Manufacturing Execution System in the food and beverage industry, *Journal of Food Engineering*, Vol. 278, No. August, pp. 1-14, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2020.109932
- [24] QuicSolv, www.quicsolv.com: How IoT works with Real Life IoT Examples, [Online], Available: https://www.quicsolv.com/internet-of-things/howiot-works/ [3 Mar 2021], 2021.
- [25] PRASSE, C., NETTSTRAETER, A., HOMPEL, M.T.: *How IoT will change the design and operation of logistics systems*, 2014 International Conference on the Internet of Things (IOT), 2014, pp. 55-60, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1109/IOT.2014.7030115
- [26] IPA Slovakia, www.ipaslovakia.sk: A najväčším "plytvačom" v údržbe sa stáva..., [Online], Available: https://www.ipaslovakia.sk/clanok/najvacsimplytvacom-v-udrzbe-sa-stava [8 May 2021], 2020. (Original in Slovak)

[27] BOUSDEKIS, A., APOSTOLOU, D., MENTZAS, G.: Predictive Maintenance in the 4<sup>th</sup> Industrial Revolution: Benefits, Business Opportunities, and Managerial Implications, *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, Vol. 48, No. 1, pp. 57-62, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1109/E.M.R.2019.2958037

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 183-193 ISSN 1339-5629

- [28] PAULIKOVÁ, A.; LESTYÁNSZKA ŠKURKOVÁ, K.: KOPILČÁKOVÁ, L.; ZHELYAZKOVA-STOYANOVA, A.; KIRECHEV, D. Innovative Approaches to Model Visualization for Integrated Management Systems, *Sustainability*, Vol. 13, pp. 1-26, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13168812
- [29] MASLARIĆ, M., NIKOLIČIĆ, S., MIRČETIĆ, D.: Logistics Response to the Industry 4.0: The Physical Internet, *Open Engineering*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 511-517, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1515/eng-2016-0073
- [30] HUSÁR, J., KNAPČÍKOVÁ, L.: Possibilities of using augmented reality in warehouse management: A study, *Acta Logistica*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 133-139, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i2.212
- [31] STAREČEK, A., BACHÁR, M., HORŇÁKOVÁ, N., CAGÁŇOVÁ, D., MAKYŠOVÁ, H.: Trends in automatic logistic systems and logistic market in Slovakia, Acta Logistica, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 7-14, 2018. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v5i1.84
- [32] SCHLEICHERT, O.P., BRINGMANN, B., KREME R, H.: Predictive Maintenance: Taking pro-active measures based on advanced data analytics to predict and avoid machine failure [Online], Available: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/de/ Documents/deloitte-analytics/Deloitte\_Predictive-Maintenance\_PositionPaper.pdf [20 Aug 2021], 2017.
- [33] TON, B., BASTEN, R., BOLTE, J.: PrimaVera: Synergising Predictive Maintenance, *Applied Sciences*, Vol. 10, No. 23, pp. 1-19, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10238348
- [34] STACHOWIAK, A., ADAMCZAK, M., HADAS, L., DOMAŃSKI, R., CYPLIK, P.: Knowledge Absorption Capacity as a Factor for Increasing Logistics 4.0 Maturity, *Applied Sciences*, Vol. 9, No. 24, pp. 1-11, 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/app9245365
- [35] RICHNÁK, P., ČAMBALÍKOVÁ, A.: Using Industry 4.0 Concept in Slovak Chemical Industry, *International Scientific Journal Industry* 4.0, Vol. 6, No.3, pp.106-109, 2021.

## **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.





Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 195-205 ISSN 1339-5629

AN EMPIRICAL COMPARISON OF DRP AND DEMAND-DRIVEN DRP Yassine Erraoui; Abdelkabir Charkaoui

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.294

Received: 22 Jan. 2022; Revised: 05 Mar. 2022; Accepted: 18 Apr. 2022

# AN EMPIRICAL COMPARISON OF DRP AND DEMAND-DRIVEN DRP

# **Yassine Erraoui**

The Laboratory of Engineering, Industrial Management and Innovation, Faculty of Science and Techniques, University Hassan 1<sup>st</sup>, Zip Code 577, 26000 Settat, Morocco, y.erraoui@uhp.ac.ma (corresponding author)

# Abdelkabir Charkaoui

The Laboratory of Engineering, Industrial Management and Innovation, Faculty of Science and Techniques, University Hassan 1<sup>st</sup>, Zip Code 577, 26000 Settat, Morocco, abdelkabir.charkaoui@uhp.ac.ma

*Keywords:* supply chain, distribution networks, Distribution Resource Planning, Demand Driven Distribution Resource Planning, demand variability.

Abstract: Companies are nowadays challenged to offer high service levels while minimising inventory costs in an everincreasing competitive market. One of the keys is to manage and improve the product flow in the distribution network continuously. In this paper, Demand Driven Distribution Resource Planning (DDDRP) is a proposed model for product flow management in distribution networks. It allows to optimise the flow by managing customer demand fluctuations. A literature review about flow management policies is presented, and then a case study is provided to make a comparison of the DDDRP concept with conventional management methods such as Distribution Resource Planning (DRP). To achieve this comparison, a discrete event simulation (DES) is adopted to measure the effectiveness of each model regarding the demand fluctuations, using key performance indicators. The simulation gives empirical results and illustrates the interests and benefits of the DDDRP approach in terms of inventory costs and service levels. The originality of this document concerns the assessment of Demand-Driven Distribution as a new approach of management and opens up new opportunities for optimising inventory and product flow in distribution networks.

## 1 Introduction

Companies are now required to appropriately manage products and information flows through supply chain distribution networks. As a definition, flow management entails coordinating all of the operations carried out during the product's distribution. It is critical since it directly influences inventory levels in each distribution unit and, consequently, the overall working capital and service levels. Bad flow management can result in a discrepancy between the quantity sold to the buyer and the amount produced by the manufacturer [1]. Many authors declare that optimising flow must take into account the important factor of demand variability management [2-4].

In this regard, Distribution Resource Planning (DRP) is a well-known push system that uses demand forecasting to determine when and how much the product should be replenished in downstream sites [5,6]. Moreover, pull systems have been developed as part of concepts such as LEAN, Theory of Constraints, and Just-In-Time. They offer real-time ways to deliver the product after the justification of the consumer demand [7,8].

On the other hand, Demand Driven Distribution Resource Planning (DDDRP) is a concept that combines the best of both systems by putting buffers in strategic points of the distribution network and pulling flow between them. Thus, it integrates the main axes, which are Lean distribution [7], Theory of constraints [9], and DRP logic [10].

The literature dedicated to evaluating the efficiency of flow is scarce. However, it has been proven that a good flow must contribute to a good service rate and an optimal inventory cost [11]. In this article, the efficiency of adopting a demanddriven strategy in distribution networks is evaluated by using an empirical analysis based on a real industrial situation. For this, we simulate the models through a multitude of demand variability scenarios and examine the effects on inventory and service levels.

The paper starts with a literature review on flow management models, describing the differences between the pull and push-flow approaches. Secondly, we give DDDRP model drivers, steps and formulas. The case study details and model implementation are then presented. Finally, we analyse the scenarios and the results of the simulation.

This paper is one of the first contributions to offer a new perspective on distribution management based on real consumer demands. We structured the work by proposing the axes, describing the model, and testing it empirically.

# 2 Flow management models: literature review

## 2.1 Push flow models in distribution

A push flow system is a strategy that involves pushing products through distribution networks in order to build up an inventory that can meet customer demand. Since 1970, Distribution Resources Planning (DRP) has been used to control inventory in a multiproduct, multi-echelon physical distribution environment. Since its appearance, the implementations of the DRP paradigm in distribution systems have reported several benefits. DRP is based on demand forecasting and replenishment generation, and it determines the time and quantities of all downstream



Distribution

AN EMPIRICAL COMPARISON OF DRP AND DEMAND-DRIVEN DRP Yassine Erraoui; Abdelkabir Charkaoui

replenishments. It was first proposed as an extension to Material Requirement Planning (MRP), moving the same logic from production to distribution. To perform a DRP grid, inputs data include sales forecasts, customer orde available inventory and stock security policy. Then, D method gives a calculation of resource requirement related to the quantity of needed products, time, transp and stock investment needs [6]. Many recent works stud the implementation of DRP model in various industri sectors. In fact, some researchers focus on finding the b lotting techniques for the distributed items using the D method [12]. A study uses DRP technique to determine appropriate quantity and replenishment time in inventor decisions in the food industry [13]. Otherwise, autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) mod has been used since the DRP requires precise forecast d [14]. This study concerned a company of mining and tra of oil and gas. Some works try to find the best forecasti approach based on the time series of each Distributi Centre (DC) using the DRP method to avoid inventor shortage problems [15]. Moreover, based on the case of oil fuels industry, some authors studied the need for die oil for companies using DRP approach [16].

#### 2.2 Pull flow models in distribution 2.2.1 Lean distribution

To reduce waste and boost productivity, Le principles can be applied to any distribution function [17]. Lean distribution is defined as a technique that replaces traditional ways focused on inventory and rescheduling to cope with the changing customer demand. It has recently gotten considerable attention from academics and industries. It focuses on avoiding waste in the downstream supply chain with the goal of putting the right product in the right place. In other words, it presents the ability to sustain a high level of customer service by reducing waste and movements in distribution centres [18].

Well-known companies such as Wall Mart, Tesco, and IKEA have all employed lean distribution. They adhere to a philosophy of adapting inventory movement to customer demand in order to improve operational product flows and respond quickly to demand changes from the supplier to the sales location [7].

There is much evidence in the literature about the economic benefits of implementing Lean distribution. In fact, they are related to the decrease of finished items stock, as well as shortening delivery lead times and change-over times [19]. Table 1 summarises the differences between traditional distribution management and lean distribution. Similarly, based on a case study in a Serbian company, table 2 shows some quantitative benefits of implementing lean concepts in distribution units.

ers, RP	elements	distribution management	Lean distribution
nts ort ied ial est	Systems variations	Variations cause continuous resetting for plans	Isolation of variations and take them in consideration in all lean practices
RP the ory the del ata	Forecasts	The constraint of being more accurate in long-term and short-term planning	Used only for long-term and aggregate planning
ing ion ory the sel	Inventory	The inventory should not be close to customer orders	The inventory should be close to the source and redirected according to the replenishment needs
ean	Transportations	It is forecast- driven	It is demand- driven and takes in consideration delivery

Table 1 Comparison between Lean distribution and traditional management tools

Traditional

Table 2 Quantified improvements after LEAN distribution implementation [20]

conditions

1					
Area of improvement	Improvement quantity				
Area of improvement	Before	After			
Inventory accuracy	9.29%	5.97%			
Reducing lost-time	15 20 dava	7 10 days			
accidents	15-20 days	7-10 uays			
Reducing picking error	0.17%	0.01%			
Inventory levels	Decrease	of 76%			
Required storage space	Decrease	of 51%			
Warehouse productivity	Improvemen	nt of 9.43%			
Warehouse productivity	Improveme	ent by 5%			

Tables 1 and 2 demonstrate the relevance of implementing Lean techniques in distribution contexts. They show that the management does not rely on forecasts but actual customer demand, except for long-term and aggregate planning.

#### 2.2.2 **Theory of Constraints**

The Theory of Constraints (TOC) offers a wide range of applications, including reducing material flow costs throughout the supply chain [21]. It provides a demandpull approach, as opposed to typical replenishment models, which result in inventory accumulation and/or shortages, and eventually an inability to meet customer demand [22]. The core concept of TOC is that every firm can have a





constraint that should be used to improve the system's performance [10]. Constraints are described as an element that prevents a system from fulfilling its intended objectives. The weakest link in an organisation appears to be the source of problems, which is physical in the form of bottleneck resource, with a capacity that is less than or equal to the demand imposed on it [23].

TOC is used in various industries, including production, finance, project management, marketing, supply chains, management, and commerce, with distribution being one of them. In reality, TOC allows for a shift in the distribution network from a push to a pull model, with goods being delivered according to market demand.

The use of TOC in distribution systems attempts to reduce inventory investment, lead time, and transportation costs while also improving customer service levels.

Multiple evidence are stated in the literature about implementing TOC in distribution, such as GM's Cadillac Division's aborted introduction of Custom Xpress delivery (CXD). P&G's reported an inventory reduction of US\$600 million, and makers of Crayola crayons' reported improvements in customer service levels and inventory reduction [5]. Authors in recent works used processing tools of TOC to focus on transportation constraints in the supply chain [24], while others contributed to transforming management systems in warehouses using TOC [25]. The application of TOC tools in distribution elements such as inventory, supplier liability and planning of sales is also discussed and evaluated [10].

We conclude from the literature that DRP, Lean, and TOC are pure push and pull flow systems in distribution. However, demand-driven distribution resource planning (DDDRP) has recently emerged, using all these principles. It relies on real demand and implements buffer at strategic places in the network, drawing flow from market demand to feed those Buffers. In DDDRP concept, Buffers are sized in a way to protect the flow from the consequences of demand fluctuations.

# 3 Concept of demand-driven distribution

# 3.1 Model drivers

Demand Driven DRP is a multi-echelon inventory planning and execution system for effective distribution network flow management. The purpose of the concept is to reduce variability propagating in distribution networks – due to demand fluctuations - by strategically placing Buffers. These buffers are separated into three continuously sized zones (Figure 1): Red (300 units), which is responsible for the safety stock. Yellow (500 units), which is responsible for demand coverage, and Green (250 units), which is responsible for determining the frequency and number of orders.



Figure 1 Sized Buffer

The Buffer zones are sized using a set of parameters and equations based on the DDMRP technique (equations 1 to 5) [26]. The concept of buffering, which is inspired by Lean distribution and TOC techniques, provides a solution to the amplification of variability in complex networks, which is often prone to cause inventory problems at network locations, either in the form of 'too little' causing miss sales and lack of components, or 'too much' resulting in excess cash and more needed space for stocking, known as the Bimodal effect (Figure 2).

To avoid the 'too much' or 'too little' issues, the target is to have the most of articles in an optimal range of inventory at all times (Figure 3) [26].



Figure 3 Optimal Situation of inventory

# 3.2 Parameters, steps and formulas

The Demand Driven DRP model is grouped into five parts, starting with buffer placement and ending with material replenishment execution. Figure 4 depicts a buffered random distribution network. Being physically in the form of decoupling 'hubs', Buffers are essential for reducing lead times and preventing amplified variability in the network. Due to the decoupling of 'Hubs,' the planning horizons will be shortened (Figure 4).

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 195-205 ISSN 1339-5629

AN EMPIRICAL COMPARISON OF DRP AND DEMAND-DRIVEN DRP Yassine Erraoui; Abdelkabir Charkaoui



Figure 4 Distribution network with Buffers

After Buffer placement in the network, Profile and Sizes (step 2) refers to specific calculating methods; each buffer is colour-coded (figure 1). The buffer levels are determined using the distribution parameters, which include the lead time (LT) from a supplier centre to a receiver centre. In the context of distribution, LT refers to the time it takes to launch a product, prepare an order, load, transit, unload, and stock it. Otherwise, the longest cumulative non-buffered sequence in the distribution network is used to estimate decoupling lead time (DLT) for each reference. Buffer profile assignments are also included in the calculations (related to variability and lead time assignments). Furthermore, the calculation takes into account the average daily usage (ADU), product selling price, and demand adjustment parameters (DAF). The buffer profile and levels exploit the following DDMRP equations (1 to 5).

Red Base =  $ADU \times DLT \times lead time factor$  (1)

 $Red Safety = Red base \times variability factor$  (2)

 $Total red zone = Red Base + Red Safety \quad (3)$ 

 $Yellow Zone = ADU \times DLT$ (4)

 $Green Zone = ADU \times DLT \times Lead Time factor (5)$ 

The classic DRP incorporates the safety stock in a static way, allowing for the generation of a supply or replenishment order once the safety stock is surpassed. However, Demand Driven DRP, on the other hand, considers market changes as well as fluctuations in operating factors such as ADU to adjust Buffers continually. This variable character ensures a dynamic adjustment for the buffer (step 3), in which the level of protection flexes up and down depending on the condition of those parameters, implying that the buffer situation is constantly updated.

The level of adjustment prepares for the supply order generation phase (Step 4). The position of the net flow

(NFP) in the buffer in relation to each article is crucial for generating those orders. The net flow equation is used to calculate this position, which takes into account Qualified sales (not forecasted sales), On-Hand Quantity, and Open Supply Quantity (equation 6). Based on the priority of every article, the last phase (step 5) is to execute or not the planned orders.

$$OH + OS - QS = net flow position$$
 (6)

- OH: On Hand Quantity, considering the available physical stock.
- OS: Open Supply Quantity, considering the ordered but not received stock.
- QS: Qualified Sales, considering Sales orders past due, sales orders due today, and qualified spikes.

#### 3.3 Proposed Approach for DDDRP validation

For the study, a case of a three echelon network is proposed, with all relevant data valid, including distribution network, historical customer demand, lead times, initial inventory situations, and Holding/Manufacturing costs.

To perform this research, ARENA SIMULATION SOFTWARE was used to create a discrete event simulation (DES). With a replication length of one year, we can reproduce one year of distribution on a daily basis. The simulation will help to compare DRP and DDDRP models, by which we perform some relevant performance measures. They are working capital (WC) and on-time shipping (OTS) rates, which represent respectively inventory cost and service levels. Furthermore, simulation provides additional precise indicators for the models under consideration, such as the level of safety stock and Buffer sizes. Several different demand scenarios are studied in order to provide dependable and consistent results.

This approach was used on the DDDRP and DRP models in order to conduct an empirical comparison between forecasted and demand-driven concepts, as well as syntheses on each model's strengths and drawbacks.

~ 198 ~



# 4 Empirical study

# 4.1 Case Study data

A distribution network of a Moroccan structure specialising in the dairy products industry is the subject

of the case study. Urban Distribution Centers (UDC), Regional Distribution Centers (RDC), and Factory are the three echelons of the distribution network (Figure 5).



Figure 5 Distribution network of the case study

To conduct the study, the input parameters for all the UDCs and RDCs are initial On hand inventory, forecasted average daily usage (ADU) for every buffered location, and the Decoupling Lead time (DLT). Furthermore, the lead time (LT) (from RDCs to UDCs is 3 days, as is the Lead Time from Factory to RDCs), inventory holding costs, and selling prices are all provided.

Table 3 Some input data for three UDCs

Distribution	Initial On Hand		IT factor	Variability
Unit	inventory	ADU	L1 factor	Factor
UDC1	2000	400	50%	20%
UDC2	15000	3100	50%	20%
UDC3	15000	3500	50%	20%

Table 3 shows an example of input data for the first three UDCs. ADU refers to the first month. Moreover, the duration of the LT and the amount of the demand variability are used to establish LT and variability factors.

# 4.2 Models' implementation4.2.1 DRP implementation

Every UDC builds a DRP grid based on forecasted demand that is developed locally. Then it communicates the replenishment orders to the RDC supplier, which elaborates in the same way as its own DRP grid. In addition, every location takes into account its unique security requirements. Table 4 shows an elaborated DRP for UDC1 during the first 10 days of the year, with variable forecasted demand.

Security	550	Week	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
stock	550	Demand	550	550	550	550	550	2200	2200	550	550	550
On Hand Start	8000	End Inventory	8000	7450	6900	6350	5800	5250	3050	850	2300	1750
Supply Quantity	2000	Projected On- Hand	8000	7450	6900	6350	5800	5250	3050	2850	2300	1750
Lead time	2	Schedule Receipt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2000	0	0
(days)	3	Schedule Start	0	0	0	0	2000	0	0	2000	0	2000

After the elaboration of DRP grids, the final push decision of the flow concerns the timing and quantity of all downstream locations' replenishments.

# 4.2.2 DDDRP implementation

The choice of strategic Buffer Positioning is referred in the Demand Driven DRP implementation to the 'Hub and Spoke' Configuration [26], which consists of installing an 'Inventory Hub' in the source unit and small stock locations on the warehouses (Figure 6). Consequently, all of our UDCs and RDCs are buffered in the case study. RDCs are thought to have sufficient capacity to meet the demands of UDCs. Table 5 depicts the second step of buffer sizing, showing a portion of the first month's findings for all UDCs units.



Figure 6 Hub and Spoke configuration

These calculated Buffer levels serve as the basis for the demand-driven planning process (Table 6). The real customer demand is represented in column 1, and future spikes are checked for a three-day horizon. Following that, the daily net flow position (NFP) in the buffer is stated in order to determine the order amount that has to be supplied.



The request day is the anticipated arrival date of the order amount. The NFP position in relation to the buffer sizes is shown in the planning priority. A supply is planned if the position is below the Top of Yellow (TOY), and the order amount is Top of Green (TOG) minus the NFP.

	Table 5 Buffer sizing															
			UDCs													
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
S	ADU	400	3100	3500	600	1200	1000	1000	2300	3500	800	3200	2400	2100	1200	2400
ster	DLT	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
ume	Variability	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/	500/
are	Factor	3070	30 70	30 70	30 70	30 70	3070	30 70	3070	30 70	30 70	3070	3070	30 76	3070	30 70
F	LT Factor	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%
	Red	0.50		0.400		• • • •	• • • • •	• • • • •		0.400	10.00	- (00		-0.40	• • • •	
s	Safety	960	7440	8400	1440	2880	2400	2400	5520	8400	1920	7680	5760	5040	2880	5760
vel	Red	0	74	04	14	20	24	24	==	04	10	76	- 7	50	20	- 7
Le	Security	9	/4	84	14	28	24	24	22	84	19	/0	57	50	28	5/
fer	Yellow	1200	0200	10500	1900	2600	2000	2000	6000	10500	2400	0600	7200	6300	2600	7200
3uf	zone	1200	9300	10300	1000	3000	3000	3000	0900	10300	2400	9000	7200	0300	3000	7200
н	Green	060	7440	8400	1440	2000	2400	2400	5520	8400	1020	7690	5760	5040	2000	5760
	zone	900	/440	0400	1440	2000	2400	2400	3320	0400	1920	/080	3700	3040	2000	3700

				Τc	able 6 Deman	d Driven Plan	ning			
Day	Sales	Total	On-	On-	Showing-	Qualified	NFP	Order	Request	Planning
	Order	Future	Hand	Order	Up Order	Demand		amount	Date	Priority
	Due	Spike								
	Today									
1	34604	16749	80000	0	0	51353	28647	23461	4	54.98%
2	0	16749	45396	23461	0	16749	52108	0	-	100.00%
3	16749	0	45396	23461	0	16749	52108	0	-	100.00%
4	13029	0	28647	23461	23461	13029	39079	13029	7	75.00%
5	0	0	39079	13029	0	0	52108	0	-	100.00%
6	0	0	39079	13029	0	0	52108	0	-	100.00%
7	913	21648	39079	13029	13029	22561	29547	22561	10	56.70%
8	0	21648	51195	22561	0	21648	52108	0	-	100.00%
9	0	21648	51195	22561	0	21648	52108	0	-	100.00%
10	21648	0	51195	22561	22561	21648	52108	0	-	100.00%
11	9535	0	52108	0	0	9535	42573	0	-	81.70%
12	764	0	42573	0	0	764	41809	0	-	80.24%
13	0	0	41809	0	0	0	41809	0	-	80.24%
14	5581	14838	41809	0	0	20419	21390	30718	17	41.05%
15	0	14838	36228	30718	0	14838	52108	0	-	100.00%
16	0	14838	36228	30718	0	14838	52108	0	-	100.00%
17	14838	0	36228	30718	30718	14838	52108	0	-	100.00%
18	10815	0	52108	0	0	10815	41293	0	-	79.25%
19	3666	0	41293	0	0	3666	37627	14481	22	72.21%
20	776	0	37627	14481	0	776	51332	0	-	98.51%
21	5566	0	36851	14481	0	5566	45766	0	-	87.83%
22	0	23301	31285	14481	14481	23301	22465	29643	25	43.11%
23	0	23301	45766	29643	0	23301	52108	0	-	100.00%
24	1133	23301	45766	29643	0	24434	50975	0	-	97.83%
25	23301	0	44633	29643	29643	23301	50975	0	-	97.83%
26	0	18096	50975	0	0	18096	32879	19229	29	63.10%
27	12189	18096	50975	19229	0	30285	39919	0	-	76.61%
28	0	41036	38786	19229	0	41036	16979	35129	31	32.58%



The final stage is to execute the planned orders. It is based on the Buffer status, which is calculated by dividing the On-Hand Status by the Top of the red zone (TOR). It allows making a decision about when to execute the detailed planning elaborated in the previous phase. The item with the smallest status creates an execution emergency. We didn't give much interest to this section because we were just interested in one product flow.

# 4.3 Models' comparison

# 4.3.1 Scenarios of Simulation

This study proceeds to challenge the Demand Driven DRP under several demand scenarios and compare it with a traditional DRP concept. The method entails employing three circumstances, which are listed in table 7.

Table 7 Scenarios of the simulation							
Particularity							
Stable demand along 12 months.							
Variable demand characterised with 2 spikes every week. Each spike is 5							
time the ordinary demand (Figure 7).							
Monthly Seasonality, and the demand is fix along one month (Figure 8).							



Figure 7 Demand with spikes



Figure 8 Seasonal demand

# 4.3.2 Results of simulation

Good flow management leads certainly to the minimum inventory cost and the best service level. That is why we generated key performance indicators (KPI) for service and inventory levels with ARENA SOFTWARE. We considered the same amount of annual demand in the three scenarios. The total amount of inventory cost represents working Capital during the simulated year, and the On-

Table 8 ARENA Simulation Results



time Shipping rate is calculated by dividing the delivered on-time orders by the total number of orders. Table 8

summarises the findings for all the situations examined while using a deterministic lead time.

Scenario		Stable			Seaso	nal		Spikes						
Model	DI	RP	DDI	DRP	DF	RP	DD	DRP	D	RP	DDDRP			
KPI	WC (DH)	OTS	WC	OTS	WC	OTS	WC	OTS	WC	OTS	WC	OTS		
RDC1	5437.7		1173		7594		1702		5126		2393			
UDC1		00 530/		1000/		00 029/		80 770/		05 50%		06 270/		
UDC2	1637.54	<b>77.</b> 3370	1302	100 /0	1483.46	<b>99.0</b> 2/0	1615	07.11/0	1895	93.39 /0	3278	<b>30.</b> 3770		
UDC3														
RDC2	3324		346		3505		1143		3574		1619			
UDC4		08 25%		1000/		01 58%		00 000/		100 000/		05 38%		
UDC5	1389.72	<b>70.4</b> 3 /0	551	100 /0	1075.91	<b>71.30</b> /0	1125	90.00 /0	954	100.00 /0	1581	<b>33.30</b> /0		
UDC6														
RDC3	5375.2		1064		7897		1612		5276		2919			
UDC7		100.00%	100.00%	100 00%		1000/		02 280/		07 600/		00 200/		07 020/
UDC8	2258.05			1319	100 /0	808.18	74.40 /0	1940	97.0970	1556	<b>77.</b> 30 /0	2879	91.0370	
UDC9														
RDC4	5329.2		<b>978</b>		5091		2720		5861		3439			
UDC10		100 000/		1000/		85 610/		01 750/		0/ 200/		04 720/		
UDC11	1963.59	100.00 /0	1234	100 /0	694.23	03.01 /0	2486	<b>71.</b> /3/0	1478.44	74.37 /0	3323	<b>34.</b> 74/0		
UDC12														
RDC5	4939.9		882		5416		2006		4321		2296			
UDC13		100.000/		1000/		00 30%		07 36%		100 000/		00 010/		
UDC14	2180.49	100.00 /0	1153	100 /0	1583.93	<b>33.30</b> 70	2015	97.5070	1427.33	100.00 /0	2681	<b>33.01</b> /0		
UDC15														
				-			-	-			-			
Total KPI	33835.39	99.56%	10002	100%	35148.71	93.56%	18364	93.31%	31468.77	97.86%	26408	96.50%		

The results in the table above are represented in the graphics in figure 9 and figure 10.



Figure 9 WC comparison between DRP and DDDRP models



Figure 10 OTS comparison between DRP and DDDRP models

## 4.3.3 Interpretations and discussion

Table 8, figure 9, and figure 10 show the consumed inventory capital in each distribution unit and The OTS indicator that has been done for every three UDCs with their supplier RDC separately.

Both models present an ideal OTS for stable demand, but the significant difference is in the amount of stock required to ensure this rate. The DRP model's safety stock remains constant throughout the year. Aside from that, the DDDRP model's factors (LT factor = 0.5, variability factor = 0.2) represent the low degree of variability and the threeday of the LT. In terms of Working Capital, the end outcome demonstrates the advantage of demand-driven distribution.

On the other hand, the seasonal element has slightly altered the results. In fact, both models had a rise in inventory levels. It is valued at 4% for the DRP model and 83% for the DDDRP model. Concerning the DDDRP model, the LT factor remained unchanged, but the variability factor must be increased to accommodate demand fluctuations from month to month. As regards DRP, the safety stock policy remains unchanged, but the DDDRP buffer levels are adjusted monthly.

For the third scenario, inventory levels are reduced for DRP and augmented for DDDRP under the variable demand scenario (Spikes). These fluctuations are due to the imprecise estimation of LT and variability factors. The high level of precision used for forecasted demand also contributed to the stability of DRP inventory levels.

To summarise, the DDDRP model has the highest increasing amount of WC when demand shifts from stable to variable and seasonal. However, DDDRP outperforms DRP in terms of required WC to maintain an acceptable service rate in all circumstances.

# 5 Conclusion

The assessment of DDDRP model and the comparison of flow management policies in distribution networks are the main topics of this article. The purpose is to test how efficient these models are in terms of inventory and service levels under three different demand scenarios. A case study was used to compare the traditional DRP with the DDDRP technique. To accomplish so, a model based on real demand (Demand Driven DRP) was designed, with theoretical aspects described and procedures for implementation specified. Furthermore, for each model, a discrete event simulation revealed significant outcomes. In fact, demand driven DRP had high responsiveness to demand variability. Moreover, conventional DRP necessitates high forecasting accuracy. Finally, WC level in DDDRP is always higher than in DRP. The DDDRP model has demonstrated – at the first point – its benefits in this work. However, it can be challenging at certain levels of modelling.

In reality, the chosen LT and variability factors are critical, as they determine the Buffer levels and, consequently, the overall inventory level. So, works should be performed using heuristics to find the best factors choice in this situation. Otherwise, the study used a buffering approach which consists of putting a buffer in all the echelon's components (UDCs and RDCs). The optimal choice of strategic points for setting up buffers remains a challenge, especially for distribution networks with more than three levels.

As a perspective, the study of the process variability could consider a stochastic processing time in order to lead to more optimality in DDDRP policy.



# References

- [1] LEE, H.: Taming the Bullwhip, Journal of Supply Chain Management, Vol. 46, No. 1, pp. 7-7, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493x.2009.03180.x
- [2] RAGHUNATHAN, S., TANG, C., YUE, X.: Analysis of the Bullwhip Effect in a Multiproduct Setting with Interdependent Demands, *Operations Research*, Vol. 65, No. 2, pp. 424-432, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1287/opre.2016.1571
- [3] VICENTE, J., RELVAS, S., BARBOSA-PÓVOA, A.: Effective bullwhip metrics for multi-echelon distribution systems under order batching policies with cyclic demand, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 56, No. 4, pp. 1593-1619, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1367105
- [4] WANG, X., DISNEY, S.: The bullwhip effect: Progress, trends and directions, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 250, No. 3, pp. 691-701, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2015.07.022
- [5] WATSON, K., POLITO, T.: Comparison of DRP and TOC financial performance within a multi-product, multi-echelon physical distribution environment, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 41, No. 4, pp. 741-765, 2003.
- https://doi.org/10.1080/0020754031000065511
- [6] MARTIN, A.: *DRP*, New York: Wiley, 1995.
- [7] JACA, C., SANTOS, J., ERRASTI, A., VILES, E.: Lean thinking with improvement teams in retail distribution: a case study, *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, Vol. 23, No. 3-4, pp. 449-465, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2011.593907
- [8] IKEZIRI, L., SOUZA, F., GUPTA, M., DE CAMARGO FIORINI, P.: Theory of constraints: review and bibliometric analysis, *International Journal* of Production Research, Vol. 57, No. 15-16, pp. 5068-5102, 2018.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1518602
- [9] ŠUKALOVÁ, V., CENIGA, P.: Application of the Theory of Constraints Instrument in the Enterprise Distribution System, *Procedia Economics and Finance*, Vol. 23, pp. 134-139, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2212-5671(15)00445-1
- [10] MICLO, R., FONTANILI, F., LAURAS, M., LAMOTHE, J., MILIAN, B.: An empirical comparison of MRPII and Demand-Driven MRP, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, Vol. 49, No. 12, pp. 1725-1730, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/jiifecgl.2016.07.821

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2016.07.831

- [11] MIRANDA, P., GARRIDO, R.: Inventory servicelevel optimisation within distribution network design problem, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 122, No. 1, pp. 276-285, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.06.010
- [12] HANDAYANI, N., NADYA, Y., MAULANA, D.: Implementation of the Distribution Requirement Planning Method in Optimising the Distribution of Packaged Drinking Water Products, *PROZIMA*

(Productivity, Optimization and Manufacturing System Engineering), Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 13-23, 2022.

[13] NGATILAH, Y., RAHMAWATI, N., PUJIASTUTI, C., PORWATI, I., HUTAGALUNG, A.: Inventory Control System Using Distribution Requirement Planning (DRP) (Case Study: Food Company), *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, Vol. 1569, No. 3, pp. 1-5, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1569/3/032005

- [14] PRAMONO, S.N., ULKHAQ, M.M., NAUFAL, M.: An application of distribution requirements planning in inventory management: a case study, *Asian Journal of Advances in Research*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 283-290, 2021.
- [15] MAGDALENA, R., SULI, T.: Forecasting Methods and Implementation of DRP (Distribution Requirement Planning) Methods in Determining the Master Production Schedule, *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, Vol. 528, No. 1, pp. 1-10, 2019.
  - https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/528/1/012049
- [16] WAHYUNINGSIH, D., PRADANA, H.A., HAMIDAH: Prediction of The Needs of Industrial Oil Fuels with The Implementation of Distribution Requirement Planning (DRP), 2018 3<sup>rd</sup> International Conference on Information Technology, Information System and Electrical Engineering (ICITISEE), 2018. https://doi.org/10.1109/icitisee.2018.8721002
- [17] DANESE, P., MANFÈ, V., ROMANO, P.: A Systematic Literature Review on Recent Lean Research: State-of-the-art and Future Directions, *International Journal of Management Reviews*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 579-605, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12156
- [18] REICHHART, A., HOLWEG, M.: Lean distribution: concepts, contributions, conflicts, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 45, No. 16, pp. 3699-3722, 2007.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540701223576

- [19] LUKIĆ, R.: The effects of application kaizen concept in food retail, *Ekonomski pogledi*, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 19-34, 2013. https://doi.org/10.5937/ekopog1302019l
- [20] ANDELKOVIĆ, A., RADOSAVLJEVIĆ, M., STOŠIĆ, D.: Effects of Lean Tools in Achieving Lean Warehousing, *Economic Themes*, Vol. 54, No. 4, pp. 517-534, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.1515/ethemes-2016-0026 [21] CYPLIK, P., DOMAŃSKI, R.: Implementation of the

theory of constraints in the area of stock management within the supply chain-a case study, *LogForum*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 1-12, 2009.

http://www.logforum.net/vol5/issue3/no6

[22] ZHENG, K., TSAI, C, LI, R., CHEN, C., TSAI, S.: The Development of the Distribution/VMI Game Based on Theory of Constraints, *Asian Journal on* 



*Quality*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 53-76, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1108/15982680980000627

- [23] RADOVILSKY, Z.: A quantitative approach to estimate the size of the time buffer in the theory of constraints, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 55, No. 2, pp. 113-119, 1998. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0925-5273(97)00131-x
- [24] AL AMIN, M., RAHMAN, A., SHAHRIA, A.: Application of Theory of Constraints in Supply Chain Management, *Journal of Engineering*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 67-76, 2019.
- [25] LEWANDOWSKA-CISZEK, A.: Theory of Constraints as a stimulus towards warehouse transformation process on the example of the Distribution Center, *Management and Production Engineering Review*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 96-105, 2018. https://doi.org/10.24425/119550
- [26] PTAK, C., SMITH, C., ORLICKY, J.: Orlicky's material requirements planning, New York, McGraw-Hill, 2013.

## **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.



International Scientific Journal about Logistics



Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 207–221 ISSN 1339–5629 SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE EVALUATION MODELS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

Imadeddine Oubrahim; Naoufal Sefiani; Ari Happonen

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.298

Received: 10 Feb. 2022; Revised: 20 Apr. 2022; Accepted: 08 May 2022

# SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE EVALUATION MODELS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

# **Imadeddine Oubrahim**

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Research Laboratory in Engineering, Innovation, and Management of Industrial Systems, Faculty of Sciences and Techniques, Abdelmalek Essaadi University, Old Airport Road, Km 10, Ziaten. BP: 416, 90000 Tangier, Morocco, imadeddine.oubrahim@etu.uae.ac.ma (corresponding author)

#### **Naoufal Sefiani**

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Research Laboratory in Engineering, Innovation, and Management of Industrial Systems, Faculty of Sciences and Techniques, Abdelmalek Essaadi University, Old Airport Road, Km 10, Ziaten. BP: 416, 90000 Tangier, Morocco, nsefiani@uae.ac.ma

# Ari Happonen

Department of Software Engineering, LUT School of Engineering Science, LUT University, Yliopistonkatu 34, 53850, Lappeenranta, Finland, EU, ari.happonen@lut.fi

*Keywords:* supply chain performance, supply chain performance evaluation models, overall supply chain, performance evaluation, literature review.

*Abstract:* Our structured literature review reveals the current state-of-the-art supply chain performance evaluation models (SCPEMs) from the last 21 years of research. Seventy related papers from the 2000 to 2021 time period were found to contribute by using ISI and SCOPUS databases. This paper has classified SCPEMs in terms of focus area and the perspective considered (financial and non-financial). With the analysis, these models' applicability in today's business environment pinpointed the most usable models and their current shortcomings. Findings disclose current SCPEMs limitations and misalignments with the emerging disruptive technologies observed in today's supply chains. Given the findings, this study has highlighted the lack of overall supply chain performance evaluation and the failure to underline the underperforming decision criteria in the SC network. Therefore, to tackle these gaps, the authors have suggested visibility, leagility, collaboration, digitalization, sustainability, and integration as SCM characteristics to be considered in the future when developing a novel SCPEM. Finally, this study can be used as guidance for future studies.

# 1 Introduction

Due to the constantly increasing competition in global logistics and globalization, a new level of pressure is being applied to logistics service providers, originating from stakeholder groups, variations in customer demand patterns, and new legislation in sustainability-related requirements [1,2]. Given the recent developments in globalization, digitalization, and customers' knowledge base, supply chain management (SCM) has become an even more challenging task to excel in than it was just a few years ago [3,4]. Therefore, practitioners have been frantically seeking solutions to managerial issues and have been able to find them, at least in part, from the emergence of disruptive innovations such as digitalization and industry 4.0, which have significantly impacted current SC processes [5-7]. This challenge has led academics and practitioners to recognize the need for real-time level measuring, tracking, and optimization of supply chain performance to help firms cope with continuous pressures and achieve strategic goals while providing long-term value to ecosystems [8-10]. For companies, SC excellence is a key focus as it is their competitive advantage and business performance core element [11,12]. Correspondingly, performance measures, data, and metrics are required to reflect business objectives, assess current performance levels, and enhance the overall supply chain (SC) through efficiency and effectiveness, and more recently, sustainability [13]. Appropriate performance measures allow decision-makers to embrace a sustainable perspective and allocate firm resources toward the most efficient improvement activities [14]. On the other hand, inadequate key performance indicators fail to reflect an organization's crucial state [15,16]. Becoming a fundamental management tool, performance evaluation models are designed to assist SC managers in real-time measuring the impact of strategic, tactical, and operational decisions on the SC performance [9,17-19]. In addition, an effective SC performance evaluation model (SCPEM) requires suitable metrics adoption for SC process essence and enhancement point capturing needs [20,21].

There are several performance evaluation models, including Balanced Scorecard (BSC), Activity-based Costing, Economic Value Added (EVA), Supply Chain Operations Reference Model (SCOR), and Global Supply Chain Forum (GSCF). Each of these models could be used to evaluate SC performance depending on the organization's status and strategies [16,22]. Furthermore, the performance measurement outcomes reflect the effect of strategies and possible opportunities in SCM [23,24]. There are several purposes for developing performance evaluation models in SC, such as maximizing corporate performance, including profit and internal process



effectiveness by cutting operating costs and increasing service quality, identifying customer needs fulfillment, having a comprehensive overview of business processes, ensuring and tracking progress, identifying bottlenecks waste, problems, and improvement opportunities, plus different SC new idea innovation and novel solution development requirements [7,11,25,26]. Accordingly, considering the overall SC is essential in developing a SCPEM.

Many literature reviews and papers on SC performance evaluation systems have been done in the last couple of decades. For example, Gunasekeran et al. [27] have provided an overview of different performance measures and metrics across SCs and have categorized them into strategic, tactical, and operational levels. Chan et al. [23] have classified performance measures into quantitative and qualitative criteria, and they have captured the key issues in SC. In other work, Akyuz and Erkan [28] have reviewed the papers in the field of SC, information technology, and performance measurement to establish a broad perspective covering different aspects, including people, technology, and processes. Subsequently, Hasan Balfaqih et al. [18] and Reddy et al. [10] have categorized the articles based on the approaches and techniques in the context of SC. To provide a clear definition of SCPMS, Maestrini et al. [17] and Guersola et al. [9] have conducted a systematic literature review in this field. They have, however, classified the literature by journal and discipline. Similarly, Elgazzar et al. [14] have conducted a literature review to provide a comprehensive overview of SCPMS development between 1995 and 2015. The authors have proposed a conceptual framework for the design and implementation of an SCPMS. More recently, Khan et al. [29] have reviewed the existing SCPMS in today's business environment. They have used a qualitative review methodology to determine whether existing SCPMSs are consistent with the current emerging supply chain performance management and measurement trends.

Although the issue of supply chain performance evaluation has been broadly debated in the literature during the last few decades, further research still needs to give more awareness to the functions and shortcomings of existing SCPEMs. Through a structured overview of the previous literature, SCPEMs are significant because they are the core managerial mechanisms for effective and efficient SCM. They are looked at as an appropriate way to improve SC governance by making it more timely, conscious, and more valuable decisions [30,31].

The proposed paper aims to conduct a literature survey to provide a comprehensive overview and better understand existing supply chain performance evaluation models (SCPEMs) applicability in today's business environment, highlighting several SCPEMs drawbacks and suggesting new characteristics of the supply chain management to be considered in the performance measures. Moreover, this work is relevant to academics and practitioners in the area of supply chain management as it enriches the knowledge of current overall supply chain performance evaluation. The following research questions have been established for this study:

*RQ1*. What are the existing supply chain performance evaluation models (SCPEMs)?

*RQ2*. What are the SCPEMs' drawbacks and the gap between existing SCPEMs and the current trend of SCM? Our contribution to SC performance literature is as follows:

- 1. Determine existing SCPEMs and their functions
- 2. Identify the knowledge gap in existing SCPEMs
- 3. Propose new SCM trends to consider when designing a SCPEM in the future.

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows. Section 2 goes into the methodology employed to carry out this study. Section 3 includes a literature review on existing SC performance evaluation models. This section seeks to provide a response to the first research question. The discussion and findings are presented in Section 4. This section responds to the second research question. Finally, the summarized conclusion is discussed in Section 5.

# 2 Research methodology

The scope of the paper is limited to existing supply chain performance evaluation models (SCPEMs) applicability, functions, and drawbacks. A structured literature survey has been undertaken using ISI Web of Knowledge and Scopus online databases to select the relevant articles to cover this scope. These two databases are the most extensive and widely used search tools in academia [9]. The search focused on studies that investigated SCPE systems, models, or frameworks between 2000 and 2021, as the majority of the research was done over this period. The search was restricted to peerreviewed journal papers in English within the areas of industrial and manufacturing engineering, accounting, business management, and decision sciences. Supply chain performance, supply chain evaluation, supply chain performance evaluation, supply chain performance performance evaluation systems, supply chain measurement. measurement. and performance performance measurement systems were all utilized as keywords in the study. The selection was made based on the articles' titles, abstracts, and keywords.

From databases, a total of 281 articles (122 in Scopus and 159 in ISI Web of Knowledge) were identified. All abstracts were analyzed to exclude works not relevant to the research. By excluding duplicate papers, The final review resulted in a total of 70 articles for inclusion in the main analysis.

Figure 1 shows the literature search process, which is quite similar to the one conducted by Balfaqih et al. [18]. Other information, such as the distribution of articles regarding journals, is presented in Table 1.



SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE EVALUATION MODELS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

Imadeddine Oubrahim; Naoufal Sefiani; Ari Happonen



Figure 1 Research methodology

Academic Journal	Publications
International Journal of Production Economics	9
International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management	8
Production and planning control	7
Benchmarking	6
Journal of Cleaner Production	6
International Journal of Production Research	5
International Journal of Logistics Systems and Management	4
Computers and Industrial Engineering	4
Annals of Operations Research	4
Supply Chain Management: An International Journal	3
Sustainability	3
Computer in Industry	3
Uncertain Supply Chain Management	3
International Journal of Supply Chain Management	3
International Journal of Mechanical and Production Engineering Research and Development	1
International Journal of Industrial and Systems Engineering	1
Total	70

Table 1	Amount	of	publications	per	main	journals

#### 3 Literature review

In recent years, performance evaluation has become essential for any supply chain [32,33]. As global manufacturing has expanded, today's competition centers on supply chains rather than companies [33,34]. In other words, evaluating supply chain performance is critical to



establishing and maintaining a competitive advantage in the marketplace [35,36]. According to Neely et al. [37], performance evaluation is a process, metric, or set of metrics aimed at quantifying activities' efficiency and efficacy. This shows how well-desired supply chain goals are achieved, including quality, time, cost, etc. [31,32]. Moreover, it helps decision-makers identify areas for improvement [35,38,40]. Additionally, a system for performance valuations can be defined as a system that merges information from multiple measures for efficiency and effectiveness qualification [23,37]. As it is clear, supply chain performance evaluation is essential for efficient SCM at both inter-organizational and crossborder processes [31]. Therefore, many researchers have tried to consider SCPEMs from different perspectives in the last couple of decades. Initially, works focused on developing an integrated framework, categorizing measures along with decision-making levels, and based on their nature (financial, non-financial) using Balanced Scorecard (BSC). Following that, attention has switched to other areas, most notably the identification of KPIs, adopting measures and metrics for SC resilience, green SC, and, more recently, considering digitalization aspects in SCP [18.39-42].

Based on the selected papers, this section has answered the first research question by presenting existing supply chain performance evaluation models.

# 3.1 Existing supply chain performance evaluation models

The significant amount of research and extensive published literature on SC performance emphasized the relevance of SCPEMs in the context of overall organizations' performance. Scholars and practitioners have discussed supply chain performance evaluation systems from several perspectives, including cost and non-cost perspectives, business process perspectives, strategic, tactical, and operational perspectives, and financial perspectives [28,43]. Executive management requires financial measures for management-level decisions, but bottom management needs operational standards for day-to-day operations [9,14]. This shows the importance of considering financial and operational measures to assess overall SC performance. Therefore, the authors have classified SCPEMs into two groups: financial and nonfinancial, and eleven sub-categories of non-financial categories, as shown in Table 2.

# 3.1.1 Financial Performance Evaluation Systems (FPES)

Although previous studies have widely considered supply chain performance evaluation [8,18,19,29], only a few research studies on supply chain financial performance evaluation have been undertaken [32,44]. Financial performance evaluation systems (FPES) have been defined as classical accounting methods for assessing SC performance. However, they have only focused on financial-based metrics and have been regarded as inadequate. They have failed to include vital strategic nonfinancial measures that affected its overall performance [29,32,43]. FPES are no longer useful for providing critical information to firms in today's dynamic market [44]. This is because the classical approach which emphasizes financial indicators lacks to adjust to competitive advancements and technology, resulting in internal financial data that is usually erroneous and misleading. Several papers have categorized FPES into various categories [29,43]. Nevertheless, the authors have considered ABC and EVA as the most well-known financial performance evaluation systems.

Table 2 Supply Chain Performance Evaluation	n models
Classification	

	erassification
Financial	Activity-Based Costing (ABC)
Performance Evaluation Systems/Models	Economic Value Added (EVA)
Systems/Models Non-Financial Performance Evaluation Systems/Models	Supply Chain Operations Reference Model (SCOR)         Supply Chain Balanced Scorecard (SCBSC)         Global Supply Chain Forum (GSCF)         Interface-Based Performance Evaluation system (IBPMS)         Perspective-Based Performance Evaluation system (PBMS)         Efficiency-Based Performance Evaluation System (EBPMS)         Hierarchical-Based Performance Evaluation Systems (HBMS)         Dimension-Based Performance Evaluation System (DBPMS)         Process-Based Performance Evaluation System (PBPMS)         Knowledge-Based Performance Evaluation System (RBPMS)         Knowledge-Based Performance Evaluation system (KBPMS)         Performance pyramid and prism-
	based model

# 3.1.1.1 Activity-Based Costing (ABC)

In an attempt to join operational performance and financial measures, Harvard Business School introduced Activity-based Costing in 1987. It constitutes estimating the resources regarding cost while the activities are being broken down into single tasks and cost drivers. The model is widely utilized for margin analysis and cost. ABC is implemented in five phases [45-47]: i) Identifying the firm's operations and various products to map processes. ii) Assignment of workloads and working hours to the various operations. iii) Development of a performance indicators system for assessing the output of cost-generating activities. iv) Identifying the number of resources utilized per product and, as a result, the related expenses. v)





Determining the product cost detailed by activity. The ABC method enables an accurate assessment of supply chain processes productivity and costs [29,45-47].

# 3.1.1.2 Economic Value Added (EVA)

The Economic Value Added approach was built by Stern in 1995 with the purpose of predicting the return on capital (ROC) of firms in terms of value-added and thus correcting the shortcoming in classical accounting methods, which focus solely on short-term financial outcomes that are unable to provide long-term value-added to companies and their shareholders [48,49]. This approach was founded on the principle that when a firm earns more than its cost of capital, the shareholder value increases. EVA seeks to measure an organization's value, focusing on operating profits over capital employed (through debt and equity). Therefore, it is beneficial in determining long-term shareholder value and high-level executive contributions [29,48,49].

# 3.1.2 Non-Financial Performance Evaluation Systems (NFPES)

The non-financial performance measures have been introduced to provide extra information which the conventional approach could not offer [9,14]. Although financial indicators are the most used in top-level management where strategic decisions are made, they are not relevant in daily operations because they are only available after SC operations have been completed. This shows the importance of non-financial measures in organizational performance since they assist low-level management with day-to-day operations. Non-financial SCPEMs have been developed so far upon reviewing the literature in the field of SCPM [8,18,22,29,43,50,51]. The authors have classified NFPES into eleven sub-categories.

Following is the description of NFPMS:

# 3.1.2.1 Supply Chain Operations Reference Model (SCOR Model)

The SC Council formed the first version of the SCOR model in 1996. This model was developed to describe the management process related to all phases involved in meeting customer demand. Therefore, it allows companies to boost both the efficiency and effectiveness of their SC [9,18,22,52,53]. The SCOR model has two dimensions: SCOR processes (plan, source, make, deliver, return, and enable) performance criteria and (reliability, responsiveness, agility, cost, asset management efficiency). Thus, it is arranged in a 5x6 matrix [54]. The SCOR model has been regarded as a supply chain assessment framework, as it defines and categorizes the processes that construct the chain, allocates metrics to such processes, and reviews similar benchmarks [18,28,53,55]. The latest version of the SCOR model (SCOR 12.0) was released by ASCM in 2017 and is currently used in many manufacturing industries [53,54,56]. Nowadays, there are

over 250 SCOR metrics in the framework drawn from board members' experience and contributions [54,56].

# 3.1.2.2 Balanced Scorecard Model (BSC Model)

The BSC model has been recognized as a leading tool to evaluate long-term corporate performance from multi perspectives, including financial perspective, internal business process, learning and growth perspective, and customer perspective [15,36,57]. The BSC concept was coined by Kaplan and Norton in 1992 to better reflect the real performance of the company and select and combine performance metrics from a balanced view. The BSC model includes traditional financial measures reflecting past performance and operational (non-financial) representing future performance drivers. It also helps decision-makers rapidly improve their activities and operations and aims to enhance internal and external corporate functions [15,18,36,51]. Metrics within the BSC perspectives are chosen based on the firm's strategic objectives. As a result, decision-makers can convert strategies into a set of metrics that can be used to track a strategy's overall effect on the business [15,36,57].

# 3.1.2.3 Global Supply Chain Forum (GSCF)

The GSCF framework was established by Ohio State University in 1994. The primary purpose was to describe the standards of supply chain processes at different decision-making levels [22,58,59]. This model has focused on the SC network structure, SCM components, and SCM processes. The Global Supply Chain Forum has identified eight key processes that construct the core of SCM, namely, customer service management, customer relationship management, demand management, managing manufacturing flows, order fulfillment, product development and marketing, supplier relationship management, and returns management [22,58,59].

## 3.1.2.4 Interface-Based Performance Evaluation System (IBPMS)

IBMS was introduced by Ohio State University in 2001. In this framework, the performance of each phase is related to the SC network [29,43,50]. It aimed to keep track of how customer relationship management (CRM) and supplier relationship management (SRM) systems interacted at each stage of the supply chain [29]. The IBMS framework aimed to develop supply chain metrics that translate performance into shareholder value to maximize shareholders' value for the overall SC along with each company [29,43].

## 3.1.2.5 Perspective-Based Performance Evaluation System (PBPMS)

PBPMS was conceptualized by Otto and Kotzab (2003) as an inter-functional measurement system [60]. It looks at SC all potential perspectives and provide measures and metrics to assess each perspective. They have defined perspective as a unique vision of what SCM is about





[18,29,60]. These perspectives are system dynamics, logistics, operations research/IT, marketing, organization, and strategy. However, some of the proposed metrics are not used in business practice. Furthermore, a trade-off between one perspective measure and another perspective measure may exist. Previous studies have classified it into two sub-categories, the BSC and SCOR models [18,29,61].

# 3.1.2.6 Efficiency-Based Performance Evaluation System (EBPMS)

EBPMS are systems that quantify SCP in terms of efficiency [29,43]. Several approaches and frameworks have been developed in this context (Negi et al. [11], Sharma and Bhagwa [62], Rodríguez et al. [61], Izadikhah et al. [63], and Hahn et al. [64]). These systems are able to measure and evaluate the various units' SC efficiency linked to each other but not beside the target value or benchmarking [29]. Most of these approaches are based on data envelopment analysis (DEA), measuring internal SCP related to efficiency [29,63].

# 3.1.2.7 Hierarchical-Based Performance Evaluation System (HBPMS)

In 2004, HBPMS was developed by Gunasekaran et al. [31]. It has been used in three aspects: metrics, criteria, and processes. Metrics have been categorized at strategic, tactical, and operational levels, which mirror the relevant amount of management authority, control, and influence for the performance [30,33,65]. These metrics have also been divided into financial and non-financial [18,29,43]. The purpose of the model was to make fast and fitting decisions. Generally, This model links the performance measures with firms' objectives [30,43,66]. Many hierarchical frameworks have been developed. For example, Bhagwat and Sharma [62] have classified the metrics related to the three hierarchical levels. Moreover, they focus on metrics in the global competitive environment so that managers can make suitable decisions. Luthra et al. [66] have suggested an integrated framework to select and assess sustainable suppliers using AHP (Analytical Hierarchy Process). In other work, Venkatesh et al. [67] have developed a framework based on fuzzy AHP-TOPSIS (Technique for Order Performance by Similarity to Ideal Solution) to solve partner selection problems.

# 3.1.2.8 Dimension-Based Performance Evaluation System (DBPMS)

DBPMS concept is founded on the principle that any SCP can be evaluated in terms of dimensions [29,50]. Beamon has identified three criteria to assess SCP, namely, flexibility, resources, and output [29,43,68]. These measures are needed in SCPE. In other words, supply chain performance evaluation systems must take these measures into account as they are key success factors for the overall supply chain performance [14,29,69]. Examples of resource performance measures include manufacturing cost, inventory cost, and return on investment (ROI). Output measures comprise total sales, fill rate, and on-time deliveries, whereas flexibility parameters measure in terms of volume changes and new product introduction. Otherwise, various works have suggested other dimensions to evaluate SCP. For example, Ferreira and Silva [70] have integrated sustainability metrics In SCPMS. Similarly, Kafa et al. [13] have suggested green supply chain performance measurement metrics. More recently, Neri et al. [71] have proposed a set of metrics based on BSC dimensions and TBL (Triple Bottom Line) criteria (Social and Environmental). Their framework addressed different decision-making levels. In another work, Zekhnini et al. [72] have suggested a model for supply chain performance based on metrics related to digitalization and sustainability. Rasool et al. [73] have addressed the digital supply chain, suggesting metrics based on BSC dimensions.

# 3.1.2.9 Process-Based Performance Evaluation System (PBPMS)

SCM refers to processes and activities integration from supplier to end customer. Due to this fact, it is vital to understand key SC processes and activities to develop an efficient performance measurement and evaluation system [14,18,74,75]. Many researchers have used PBPMS to evaluate SCP. For example, Lin and Li [76] and Charkha and Jaju [77] have used six-sigma metrics to assess the overall supply chain performance. In another paper, Chan and Qi [75] have studied the feasibility of SCPMS based on process-based metrics. They have considered five processes (supplying, inbound logistics, core manufacturing, outbound logistics, and marketing and sales). Gunasekaran et al. [31] have considered four supply chain processes (plan, source, make, and deliver) in their framework using a process-based approach. Persson and Olhager [78] have defined the SC as a set of processes to evaluate SC entities. Their case study was conducted in the mobile communication industry. Lima-Junior and Carpinetti [79] have used SCOR metrics to predict supply chain performance. Their framework is based on Artificial neural networks (ANN) as they allow a suitable adaptation to the dynamic environment by employing historical performance data. Ikatrinasari et al. [53] have conducted a framework based on SCOR metrics to improve supply chain performance. Their research has focused on printing services companies. Hence, they have recommended four performance criteria to consider; namely, Reliability metric: Perfect Order Fulfillment (POF), Responsiveness metric: Order Fulfillment Cycle Time (OFCT), cost metric: Cost of Goods Sold (COGS), and assets metric: Cash to Cash Cycle Time (CTCCT).

# 3.1.2.10 Knowledge-Based Performance Evaluation System (KBPMS)

Recently, knowledge has become one of the key factors in providing competitive advantage and continued development and success for supply chain partners [35,38].



Every decision is vital for SC performance and impacts directly and indirectly on overall supply chain performance. Therefore, the knowledge of decisionmakers is needed in assessing supply chain performance [29]. KBPMS have been developed due to digitalization and Industry 4.0 requirements and have been considered smart SCPMS [29,35]. Previous works have focused on using knowledge to evaluate overall supply chain performance. For example, Khan et al. [35] did produce a knowledge-based system (KBS), which gave them the possibility to establish the relationship between short-term and long timeframe based decisions and the decision criteria performance of related supply chain, as well as incorporate knowledge between SC partners for accurate overall supply chain performance evaluation. They have used fuzzy AHP to implement their framework. In another work, Khurshid Khan and Wibisono [80] have considered five SCP perspectives: a business perspective, customer perspective, manufacturing competitive priorities perspective, internal process perspective and resource, and method availability perspective using KBPMS based on AHP. As a result, their model has looked suitable to assist decision-makers using PMS and offers relevant and thorough prioritized outcomes for actions and improvement.

# 3.1.2.11 Performance pyramid and prism-based model

As a top-down approach, the performance pyramid integrates corporate strategy with its operations by converting upper objectives (based on consumer priorities) and underside metrics. [22,29,81]. However, this model

fails to provide an instrument to identify key performance indicators [29,81].

The performance prism is a framework for five performance measures evaluation (stakeholder satisfaction, strategies, processes, capabilities, and stakeholder contributions). The performance prism provides a far more full view of various stakeholders (e.g., investors, consumers, workers, regulators, and suppliers) than other frameworks. However, although the performance prism extends further than classical performance evaluation, it provides little about how the performance measures will be achieved [29,81].

# 4 Result and discussion

Based on the found and mapped foregoing body of knowledge in academics, it is argued that numerous models and frameworks for monitoring and analyzing supply chain performance have been established. Both qualitative and quantitative metrics of financial and non-financial nature have been included in performance evaluation models across the supply chain. However, due to the competitive environment and the emergence of disruptive technologies such as digitalization and industry 4.0, and new legislation in sustainability-related requirements, the reviewed existing models and frameworks of SCP evaluation still face utilization drawbacks and practical applicability limitations. Below, Table 3 highlights several limitations of existing models and frameworks of SCP evaluation and their focus area.

SCPEM	Sub-categories	Focus area	Limitations	Reference
Financial Performance Evaluation Systems/Models	Activity-Based Costing (ABC)	Cost and margin analysis	<ul> <li>Focusing solely on financial measures and metrics.</li> <li>Time-consuming and costly to sustain.</li> <li>Difficult to implement in small companies.</li> </ul>	[29,45,46,82]
	Economic Value Added (EVA)	Financial indicator: Return on capital	<ul> <li>Focusing solely on financial measures and metrics.</li> <li>Inadequacy of EVA for small companies and certain industries such as the technology sector.</li> <li>difficult to determine the exact cost of equity.</li> </ul>	[29,43,48]
Non-Financial Performance Evaluation Systems/Models	Supply Chain Operations Reference Model (SCOR Model)	Address, improve and communicate SCM decisions among SC partners	<ul> <li>Heavy focus on flows of information without including all related SC activities.</li> <li>The lack of a learning technique allows quantification of cause-effect relationships among metrics in a specific application environment.</li> <li>Overall performance evaluation is rather complex.</li> <li>Not flexible if there is a change in the assessment.</li> <li>Corporate sustainability issues are not included within the scope of SCOR.</li> <li>There are over 250 SCOR metrics, so selecting and monitoring all these metrics is time-consuming.</li> <li>It does not take into account the global perspectives on market uncertainty.</li> </ul>	[18,22,43,52,53, 55,79]
	Balanced Scorecard Model (BSC Model)	Evaluate long- term corporate performance from multi perspectives, including financial	<ul> <li>It cannot evaluate the overall performance and highlight the under-performed KPI criteria.</li> <li>Lack of coordination along with the SC network.</li> <li>The relationship between short-term and long-term decisions and SC performance measures (short-term</li> </ul>	[15,36,43,51,57, 61,83]

Table 3 SC performance evaluation systems/models: focus area and limitations



SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE EVALUATION MODELS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

Imadeddine Oubrahim; Naoufal Sefiani; Ari Happonen

		perspective, internal business process, learning and growth perspective, and customer perspective.	<ul> <li>and long-term) for accurate overall SC performance evaluation is lacking.</li> <li>BSC is designed as a control tool rather than an improvement tool that emphasizes guidance at the strategic level rather than the functional or operational level.</li> <li>It does not enable quick decision-making, highlights under-performed criteria, and fails to assess overall SC performance.</li> <li>It doesn't cover sustainability and digitalization perspectives.</li> </ul>	
Glot Cha (	bal Supply ain Forum (GSCF)	Describe supply chain process standards at different decision levels.	<ul> <li>How the processes are carried out and handled is unclear.</li> <li>It does not cover all SC functions.</li> <li>It does not consider financial flow.</li> <li>External benchmarking is missing.</li> <li>It does not include sustainability issues and quality impacts.</li> </ul>	[22,58,59]
Inter Per Ev S (I	rface-Based rformance valuation System IBPMS)	Linked performance of each SC network member.	- Requiring complete transparency and information openness in all stages can be a challenge to implement.	[29,43,50]
Per Per Ev Syste	rspective- Based rformance valuation em (PBMS)	Evaluate SC performance in terms of six main perspectives: system dynamics, operations research, logistics, marketing, organization, and strategy.	- A trade-off between one perspective measure and another perspective measure is possible.	[18,29,43]
Eff Per Ev S (E	fficiency- Based rformance valuation System EBPMS) erarchical-	Evaluate SC performance in terms of efficiency. Assess SC	<ul> <li>It does not provide any link between supply chain functions.</li> <li>Requirement of accurate measurement for both the inputs and outputs.</li> <li>Most EBPMS are solely based on the DEA technique and ignore the other MCDM tools.</li> <li>Uncertainty is produced in the decision-making process.</li> </ul>	[9,35,43,64]
Per Ev S (H	Based rformance valuation System HBPMS)	performance at various stages of decision-making (strategic, tactical, and operational).	- There are no specific guidelines for reducing different levels of conflict throughout the whole SC network.	[18,29,43,62]
Din Per Ev S (D	Imension- Based rformance valuation System DBPMS)	Assess SC performance with regards to dimensions.	<ul> <li>It is not considered physical flow.</li> <li>It only focused on strategic measures.</li> <li>It cannot highlight the under-performed KPI criteria at any decision-making level in the whole SC network.</li> </ul>	[22,35,43,51]
Proc Per Ev S (F	cess-Based rformance valuation System PBPMS)	Evaluate SCP considering the key operational process of SC.	<ul> <li>Time-consuming when integrating all processes and activities within the PMS.</li> <li>It is difficult to decide which process should be improved to achieve a specific performance goal.</li> <li>Not flexible if there is a change in the assessment.</li> </ul>	[14,18,75]



SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE EVALUATION MODELS: A LITERATURE REVIEW

Imadeddine Oubrahim; Naoufal Sefiani; Ari Happonen

Knowledge- Based Evaluate SCP Performance based on the Evaluation decision-makers System knowledge. (KBPMS)	<ul> <li>A survey of various firms should be conducted to verify the required short-term and long-term criteria to be included in the KBS.</li> <li>A KBPMS conducted by Khan et al. is only implemented in the automotive sector and should be carried out in other sectors.</li> <li>The suggested KBPMS by Khan et al. is not executed by establishing links between distinct SC functions.</li> </ul>	[29,35,38]
--	---	------------

Subsequently, the authors have discussed the current trends in monitoring and managing SC and highlighted the impact of technological advancements in business performance. Based on the literature analysis, it is argued that traditional SCPEMs fail to deal with the complexity of SC. Therefore, the authors have identified some gaps in existing supply chain performance evaluation models, which are as follows:

- Existing SC performance evaluation systems have a poor financial and non-financial measurement balance.
- Previous SCPE frameworks have not captured both the digitalization and sustainability aspects.
- Lacking in assessing overall supply chain performance.
- Fuzzy information and data are used in assessing overall supply chain performance.
- Existing SCPEMs are unable to integrate short-term and long-term decisions and decision criteria.
- Lack of underlining of underperforming decision criteria in the SC network.

Based on the gaps mentioned above in current SCPEMs, it is stated that to make fast decisions for monitoring SCP effectively and efficiently and achieve a high degree of satisfaction for decision-makers, SCPEMs must keep up with new trends in SCM.

Below, the authors have summarized the anticipated trends in need of efficient supply chain performance evaluation:

## > Visibility

Supply chain visibility helps to improve inventory levels, decrease uncertainty, risk, and bottlenecks, and optimize SC operations. Meanwhile, the visibility aspect is a major challenge in traditional SC operations because when problems occur in SC functions, they can worsen and further propagate down the chain. Therefore, it is challenging to manage and track these issues due to the complexity of the supply chain. This shows the importance of visibility in SC, and companies must be transparent in their order processing and provide ongoing feedback and order status to their consumers. Correspondingly, the emergence of disruptive technologies has increased the transparency of the overall value creation process [5]. This leads the decision-making process more collaborative and efficient. To cope with this trend, it is required to implement a SCPEM that will deal with the following challenging trends in SCM.

# > Leagility

Supply chain leagility is a blend of agility (fast reaction and service) and leanness (total cost optimization) within the whole SC strategy [7]. Previously, lean and agile were thought to be two distinct types of supply chain operations [84]. These two terms have a high impact on efficiency, cost, service, and speed. Generally, leagility is more suitable in supply chains where end-customer demand is volatile and unexpected, but ultimate customers are also price-sensitive. Despite the importance of this trend in SCM, it is revealed that supply chain performance evaluation models also need to use the Internet, IoT, and cloud computing to timely identify, monitor, track, and analyze the changes in all supply chain links [7]. By implementing leagility in the whole SC network, the service quality will be assured, as well as low inventory cost downstream, the stability and efficiency of upstream manufacturing and operations [7].

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 207-221 ISSN 1339-5629

# > Collaboration

Collaboration and proper trust between various SC functions are needed to improve supply chain performance [85]. Therefore, decision-makers need to collaborate to understand their needs, expectations, and each other's responsibilities. This will help eliminate repetitive tasks and improve each function's performance and the quality and efficiency of customer deliveries [29,38]. The reviewed existing supply chain performance evaluation models lack strong collaboration among SC functions and lack suitable methods to improve overall supply chain performance. As a result, SCPEMs need to collaborate with different SC functions and boost overall SC performance.

## > Digitalization

Digitalization helps companies create transparency, improve the quality and efficiency of supply chain processes, modernize business models as well as track and monitor all activities, assets, and operations electronically [86]. This will provide decision-makers with a holistic view of the whole supply chain and help them make fast decisions related to SC functions [5,42]. Unfortunately, the reviewed SCPEMs are not suitable for capitalizing on the benefits of digitalization measures and improving overall supply chain performance. To cope with this trend, it is required to design supply chain performance evaluation systems that include digitalization measures and enhance overall SC performance.



# > Sustainability

Unlike classical SCM, sustainable SCM helps companies increase profitability and, at the same time, it helps to minimize negative environmental effects and increase social welfare [87]. On the other hand, sustainable SCM requires companies to take financial feasibility into account when considering the sustainable part of their SCs [88]. This highlights the importance of changing the focus of supply chain performance management from operational excellence to social and environmental responsibility [9,69]. Therefore, integrating the issue of sustainability into supply chains will improve the environmental, social, and financial performance of supply chains [71]. Meanwhile, this will give decision-makers a comprehensive view of the overall supply chain based on triple bottom line factors (environmental, social, and economic) and help them make accurate and rapid decisions related to SC functions. The reviewed SCPEMs lack the introduction of measures and metrics to evaluate the sustainability performance of supply chains, given the complexity of the decision-making processes. To deal with the sustainability trend, it is required to design supply chain performance evaluation models that consider the sustainability performance and track the indicators that support decision-making and improve the whole SC performance.

## > Integrated SC

An integrated supply chain is an association of customers and suppliers that collaborate to improve their collective performance in creating, distributing, and supporting a final product utilizing management approaches. Integration among SC functions has become vital for efficient SC [29,89]. Therefore, it reduces bullwhip effects and enhances overall SC performance. Each SC process and its related measuring criteria impact the whole SC performance. Integration within SC is also important to provide relationships between long-term (strategic and tactical) and short-time (operational) decisions and decision measures [29,38]. This will help decision-makers make suitable decisions and understand their impact on overall supply chain performance. To align existing SCPEMs with this trend, an integrated supply chain performance evaluation system that encompasses all SC activities, provides relationships between decisions and decision measures, and assesses overall SC performance is required.

# 5 Conclusion

The value of the study is connected to the comprehensive review of existing supply chain performance evaluation models over a time span of 21 years (2000-2021) by reviewing academic research published in relevant peer-reviewed journals using ISI and SCOPUS databases. This study was focused on answering two set research questions:

*RQ1*. What are the existing supply chain performance evaluation models (SCPEMs)?

Before answering the RQ1, the authors have provided background knowledge on previous works and studies related to supply chain performance evaluation. Therefore, they have emphasized the development of this field over the past two decades. The review indicates that a substantial number of papers have been contributed to the field of supply chain performance.

In response to RQ1, the authors have conducted a literature survey based on 70 selected articles. They have classified SCPEMs in terms of focus area and the perspective considered (financial and non-financial) and found out their applicability in today's business environment. The review revealed that the SCOR model and BSC are the most widely applied supply chain performance evaluation frameworks. Meanwhile, they have several limitations, as mentioned in table 4.

RQ2.What are the SCPEMs' drawbacks and the gap between existing SCPEMs and the current trend of SCM? To answer the RQ2, the proposed work discusses various limitations and drawbacks of each SCPEM in Section 4. This leads to identifying the knowledge gap in existing SCPEMs, as indicated in Section 4. Findings reveal that existing supply chain performance evaluation models are not aligned with the emergence of disruptive technologies observed in SCM. Therefore, the authors have recommended some SCM trends to be considered in the future when designing a SCPEM. For example, integration between each SC function will help improve productivity, quality, and customer satisfaction effectively and efficiently because disruptive technologies have made SCM complicated nowadays. This shows the importance of designing an integrated model that enables the traceability and transparency of all supply chain activities, incorporates all SC functions, and provides relationships between long-term (strategic and tactical) and short-time (operational) decisions and decision measures and evaluates overall SC performance. Moreover, given the competitive environment and the emergence of disruptive technologies such as digitalization and industry 4.0, and the importance of environmental and social criteria as key elements for business success, developing supply chain performance evaluation systems that include digitalization, sustainability measures and sustainability reporting capabilities [90] to improve overall SC performance are recommended as future research. This work illustrates the main characteristics that should be considered when designing and developing a SCPEM in a new business environment. Therefore, the suggested study is a solid basis for both academics and decision-makers in the field of supply chain management.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors gratefully acknowledge the support from the Research laboratory in Engineering, Innovation, and Management of Industrial Systems (IIMSI) of Abdelmalek



Essaadi University and the LUT University international collaboration MEC project.

## References

[1] ČECH, M., LENORT, R.: Modelling of financial resource allocation for increasing the supply chain resilience using markov chains, Acta Logistica, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 141-151, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i2.213

- [2] HENNELLY, P.A., SRAI, J.S., GRAHAM, G., FOSSO WAMBA, S.: Rethinking supply chains in the age of digitalization. Production Planning & Control, pp. Vol. 31. No. 2-3, 93-95. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2019.1631469
- [3] DUMITRASCU, O., DUMITRASCU, М., DOBROTA, D.: Performance Evaluation for a Sustainable Supply Chain Management System in the Automotive Industry Using Artificial Intelligence, Processes, Vol. 8, No. 11, pp. 1-20, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8111384
- [4] YADAV, G., LUTHRA, S., JAKHAR, S.K., MANGLA, S.K., RAI, D.P.: A framework to overcome sustainable supply chain challenges through solution measures of industry 4.0 and circular economy: An automotive case, Journal of Cleaner Production, Vol. 254. No. May, 120112. 2020 p. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120112
- [5] AGERON, B., BENTAHAR, O., GUNASEKARAN, A.: Digital supply chain: challenges and future directions, Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal, Vol. 21, No. 3, pp. 133-138, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/16258312.2020.1816361
- [6] BÜYÜKÖZKAN, G., GÖÇER, F.: Digital Supply Chain: Literature review and a proposed framework for future research, Computers in Industry, Vol. 97, No. May, pp. 157-177, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2018.02.010
- [7] XIE, Y., YIN, Y., XUE, W., SHI, H., CHONG, D.: Intelligent supply chain performance measurement in Industry 4.0, Systems Research and Behavioral Science, Vol. 37, No. 4, pp. 711-718, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2712
- [8] RAMEZANKHANI, M., TORABI, S.A., VAHIDI, F.: Supply chain performance measurement and evaluation: A mixed sustainability and resilience approach, Computers & Industrial Engineering, Vol. 531-548, 126. December, No. pp. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2018.09.054
- [9] GUERSOLA, M., DE LIMA, E.P., STEINER, M.T.A.: Supply chain performance measurement: a systematic literature review, International Journal of Logistics Systems and Management, Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 109-131, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJLSM.2018.10015227
- [10] REDDY, J.M.K., RAO, N., KRISHNANAD, L.: A review on supply chain performance measurement systems, Procedia Manufacturing, Vol. 30, pp. 40-47, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2019.02.007

[11] NEGI, S.: Supply chain efficiency framework to improve business performance in a competitive era, Management Research Review, Vol. 44, No. 3, pp. 477-508, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-05-2020-0272

- [12] SALEHZADEH, R., TABAEEIAN, R.A., ESTEKI, F.: Exploring the consequences of judgmental and quantitative forecasting on firms' competitive performance in supply chains, Benchmarking: An International Journal, Vol. 27, No. 5, pp. 1717-1737, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-08-2019-0382
- [13] KAFA, N., HANI, Y., EL MHAMEDI, A.: Sustainability Performance Measurement for Green Supply Chain Management, IFAC Proceedings Volumes, Vol. 46, No. 24, pp. 71-78, 2013. https://doi.org/10.3182/20130911-3-BR-3021.00050
- [14] ELGAZZAR, S., TIPI, N., JONES, G.: Key characteristics for designing a supply chain performance measurement system, International of Productivity and Journal Performance Management, Vol. 68, No. 2, pp. 296-318, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-04-2018-0147
- [15] BHAGWAT, R., SHARMA, M.K.: Performance measurement of supply chain management: A balanced scorecard approach, Computers Industrial Engineering, Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 43-62, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2007.04.001
- [16] KARAMOUZ, S.S., AHMADI KAHNALI, R., GHAFOURNIA, M.: Supply chain quality management performance measurement: systematic review, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, Vol. 38, No. 2, pp. 484-504, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-03-2019-0073
- [17] MAESTRINI, V., LUZZINI, D., MACCARRONE, P., CANIATO, F.: Supply chain performance measurement systems: A systematic review and research agenda, International Journal of Production Economics, Vol. 183, No. PART A, pp. 299-315, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.11.005
- [18] BALFAQIH, H., NOPIAH, Z.M., SAIBANI, N., AL-NORY, M.T.: Review of supply chain performance measurement systems: 1998-2015, Computers in Industry, Vol. 82, No. October, pp. 135-150, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2016.07.002
- [19] LEMGHARI, R., SARSRI, D., OKAR, C., ES-SATTY, A.: Supply chain performance measurement in the automotive sector: A structured content analysis, Uncertain Supply Chain Management, Vol. 7, 4. 567-588. 2019. No. pp. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2019.6.002
- [20] BIGLIARDI, B., BOTTANI, E.: Supply chain performance measurement: a literature review and pilot study among Italian manufacturing companies, International Journal of Engineering, Science and Technology, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 1-16, 2014. https://doi.org/10.4314/ijest.v6i3.1S



- [21] SOMAPA, S., COOLS, M., DULLAERT, W.: Characterizing supply chain visibility - a literature review, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 29, No. 1, pp. 308-339, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-06-2016-0150
- [22] ESTAMPE, D., LAMOURI, S., PARIS, J., BRAHIM-DJELLOUL, S.: A framework for analysing supply chain performance evaluation models, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 142, No. 2, pp. 247-258, 2013.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2010.11.024
  [23] CHAN, F.: Performance Measurement in a Supply Chain, *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 21, No. 7, pp. 534-548, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001700300063
- [24] HRISTOV, I., APPOLLONI, A., CHIRICO, A., CHENG, W.: The role of the environmental dimension in the performance management system: A systematic review and conceptual framework, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 293, No. April, p. 126075, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126075

- [25] SALMELA, E., SANTOS, C., HAPPONEN, A.: Formalisation of front end innovation in supply network collaboration, *International Journal of Innovation and Regional Development*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 91-111, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJIRD.2013.052510
- [26] GUNASEKARAN, A., KOBU, B.: Performance measures and metrics in logistics and supply chain management: a review of recent literature (1995-2004) for research and applications, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 45, No. 12, pp. 2819-2840, 2007.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540600806513

[27] GUNASEKARAN, A., PATEL, C., TIRTIROGLU, E.: Performance measures and metrics in a supply chain environment, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 21, No. 2-3, pp. 71-87, 2001.

https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570110358468

- [28] ARZU AKYUZ, G., ERMAN ERKAN, T.: Supply chain performance measurement: a literature review, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 48, No. 17, pp. 5137-5155, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540903089536
- [29] KHAN, S.A., CHAABANE, A., DWEIRI, F.: Supply chain performance measurement systems: a qualitative review and proposed conceptual framework, *International Journal of Industrial and Systems Engineering*, Vol. 34, No. 1, pp. 43-64, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJISE.2020.104315
- [30] HALD, K.S., MOURITSEN, J.: The evolution of performance measurement systems in a supply chain: A longitudinal case study on the role of interorganisational factors, *International Journal of*

*Production Economics*, Vol. 205, No. November, pp. 256-271, 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2018.09.021

- [31] GUNASEKARAN, A., PATEL, C., MCGAUGHEY, R.E.: A framework for supply chain performance measurement, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 87, No. 3, pp. 333-347, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2003.08.003
- [32] RAHIMINEZHAD GALANKASHI, M., MOKHATAB RAFIEI, F.: Financial performance measurement of supply chains: a review, *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, Vol. ahead-of-print, No. ahead-of-print, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-11-2019-0533

[33] LU, D., ASIAN, S., ERTEK, G., SEVINC, M.: Mind the perception gap: An integrative performance management framework for service supply chains, *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 33-51, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-09-2017-0302

[34] HALD, K.S., MOURITSEN, J.: The evolution of performance measurement systems in a supply chain: A longitudinal case study on the role of interorganisational factors, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 205, No. November, pp. 256-271, 2018.

https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijpe.2018.09.021

- [35] KHAN, S.A., CHAABANE, A., DWEIRI, F.: A knowledge-based system for overall supply chain performance evaluation: a multi-criteria decision making approach, *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, Vol. 24, No. 3, pp. 377-396, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-06-2017-0197
- [36] FREDERICO, G.F., GARZA-REYES, J.A., KUMAR, KUMAR, А., V.: Performance measurement for supply chains in the Industry 4.0 era: a balanced scorecard approach, International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, Vol. 70, No. 4, pp. 789-807, 2020. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/IJPPM-08-2019-0400
- [37] A NEELY, A., GREGORY, M., PLATTS, K.: Performance measurement system design: A literature review and research agenda, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 80-116, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443579510083622
- [38] KHAN, S.A., NAIM, I., KUSI-SARPONG, S., GUPTA, H., IDRISI, A.R.: A knowledge-based experts' system for evaluation of digital supply chain readiness, *Knowledge-Based Systems*, Vol. 228, No. September, p. 107262, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knosys.2021.107262
- [39] AZFAR, K.R.W., KHAN, N., GABRIEL, H.F.: Performance Measurement: A Conceptual Framework for Supply Chain Practices, *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 150, No.



September, pp. 803-812, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.089

- [40] MISHRA, D., GUNASEKARAN, A., PAPADOPOULOS, T., HAZEN, B.: Green supply chain performance measures: A review and bibliometric analysis, *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, Vol. 10, No. April, pp. 85-99, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2017.01.003
- [41] MAESTRINI, V., LUZZINI, D., CANIATO, F., MACCARRONE, P., RONCHI, S.: Measuring supply chain performance: a lifecycle framework and a case study, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 38, No. 4, pp. 934-956, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-07-2015-0455

[42] QUEIROZ, M.M., PEREIRA, S.C.F., TELLES, R., MACHADO, M.C.: Industry 4.0 and digital supply chain capabilities: A framework for understanding digitalisation challenges and opportunities, *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, Vol. 28, No. 5, pp. 1761-1782, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-12-2018-0435

- [43] SALEHEEN, F., HABIB, M.M., HANAFI, Z.: Supply Chain Performance Measurement Model: A Literature Review, *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 70-78, 2018.
- [44] CHEN, H.L.: Supply chain risk's impact on corporate financial performance, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 38, No. 3, pp. 713-731, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-02-2016-0060
- [45] SCHULZE, M., SEURING, S., EWERING, C.: Applying activity-based costing in a supply chain environment, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 135, No. 2, pp. 716-725, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.10.005
- [46] KOMALASARI, A.: Activity Based Costing for the better Supply Chain Management: An Integrated Approach for the Business Performance, *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 7, No. 5, pp. 343-352, 2018.
- [47] FRI, M., FEDOUAKI, F., DOUAIOUI, K., MABROUKI, C., SEMMA, E.A.: Supply Chain Performance Evaluation Models, State-of-the-Art and Future Directions, *International Journal of Engineering and Advanced Technology*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 6336-6347, 2019. https://doi.org/10.25040/iject.42040.100110
- https://doi.org/10.35940/ijeat.A2049.109119 [48] HAHN, G., KUHN, H.: Value-based performance and
- risk management in supply chains: A robust optimization approach, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 139, No. 1, pp. 135-144, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.04.002
- [49] HOFMANN, E., LOCKER, A.: Value-based performance measurement in supply chains: a case study from the packaging industry, *Production*

*Planning & Control*, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 68-81, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537280802685272

- [50] RAMAA, A., RANGASWAMY, T.M., SUBRAMANYA, K.N.: A Review of Literature on Performance Measurement of Supply Chain Network, 2009 Second International Conference on Emerging Trends in Engineering & Technology, ICETET 2009, pp. 802-807, 2009. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/ICETET.2009.18
- [51] BARATA, F.A.: Performance measurement of supply chains and distribution industry using balanced scorecard and fuzzy analysis network process, *Decision Science Letters*, Vol. 10, No. 3, pp. 401-414, 2021. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.dsl.2021.1.004
- [52] SELLITTO, M.A., PEREIRA, G.M., BORCHARDT, M., DA SILVA, R.I., VIEGAS, C.V.: A SCOR-based model for supply chain performance measurement: application in the footwear industry, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 53, No. 16, pp. 4917-4926, 2015.
- https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2015.1005251
- [53] IKATRINASARI, Z.F., HARIANTO, N., YUSLISTYARI, E.I.: Improvement of supply chain performance of printing services company based on supply chain operation references (SCOR) model, *Uncertain Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 8, No.4, pp. 845-856, 2020.

https://doi.org/ 10.5267/j.uscm.2020.6.001

- [54] APICS, Supply Chain Operations Reference (SCOR) Version 12.0, 2017.
- [55] SAFARI, H., ETEZADI, S., MOGHADAM, M.M., FATHI, M.R.: Maturity evaluation of supply chain procedures by combining SCOR and PST models, *International Journal of Process Management and Benchmarking*, Vol. 11, No. 5, pp. 707-724, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPMB.2021.117283
- [56] SHOLEH, M.N., NURDIANA, A., DHARMO, B., SUHARJONO: Implementation of construction supply chain flow based on SCOR 12.0 performance standards, *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, Vol. 1833, No. 1, pp. 1-8, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1833/1/012012
- [57] KHALEELI, M., FAISAL, R., ANWAR, S.: The effect of green marketing, green supply chain and green human resources on business performance: Balanced scorecard approach, *Uncertain Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 133-138, 2021. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2020.11.001
- [58] LAMBERT, D.M., GARCÍA-DASTUGUE, S.J., CROXTON, K.L.: An evaluation of process-oriented supply chain management frameworks, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 26, No. 1, pp. 25-51, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2005.tb00193.x
- [59] MARCHESINI, M.M.P., ALCÂNTARA, R.L.C.: Logistics activities in supply chain business process: A conceptual framework to guide their implementation, *The International Journal of*



Logistics Management, Vol. 27, No. 1, pp. 6-30, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-04-2014-0068

- [60] OTTO, A., KOTZAB, H.: Does supply chain management really pay? Six perspectives to measure the performance of managing a supply chain, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 144, No. 2, pp. 306-320, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-2217(02)00396-X
- [61] RODRÍGUEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, R., ALFARO-SAIZ, J., CAROT, J.M.: A dynamic supply chain BSCbased methodology to improve operations efficiency, *Computers in Industry*, Vol. 122, No. November, p. 103294, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2020.103294

- [62] BHAGWAT, R., SHARMA, M.K.: Performance measurement of supply chain management using the analytical hierarchy process, *Production Planning & Control*, Vol. 18, No. 8, pp. 666-680, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537280701614407
- [64] IZADIKHAH, M., AZADI, E., AZADI, M., FARZIPOOR SAEN, R., TOLOO, M.: Developing a new chance constrained NDEA model to measure performance of sustainable supply chains, *Annals of Operations Research*, pp. 1-29, Vol. 1, No. 1, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-020-03765-8
- [65] HAHN, G., BRANDENBURG, M., BECKER, J.: Valuing supply chain performance within and across manufacturing industries: A DEA-based approach, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 240, No. October, p. 108203, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108203
- [65] XIA, D., YU, Q., GAO, Q., CHENG, G.: Sustainable technology selection decision-making model for enterprise in supply chain: Based on a modified strategic balanced scorecard, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 141, No. January, pp. 1337-1348, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.083
- [66] LUTHRA, S., GOVINDAN, K., KANNAN, D., MANGLA, S.K., GARG, C.P.: An integrated framework for sustainable supplier selection and evaluation in supply chains, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 140, No. January, pp. 1686-1698, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.078
- [67] VENKATESH, V.G., ZHANG, A., DEAKINS, E., LUTHRA, S., MANGLA, S.: A fuzzy AHP-TOPSIS approach to supply partner selection in continuous aid humanitarian supply chains, *Annals of Operations Research*, Vol. 283, No. 1-2, pp. 1517-1550, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-018-2981-1
- [68] BEAMON, B.M.: Measuring supply chain performance, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 275-292, 1999.

https://doi.org/10.1108/01443579910249714

[69] CAGNO, E., NERI, A., HOWARD, M., BRENNA, G., TRIANNI, A.: Industrial sustainability performance measurement systems: A novel framework, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 230, No. September, pp. 1354-1375, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.05.021

- [70] FERREIRA, L.M.D.F., SILVA, C.: Integrating Sustainability Metrics in the Supply Chain Performance Measurement System, *Multiple Helix Ecosystems for Sustainable Competitiveness*, pp. 113-132, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-29677-7\_8
- [71] NERI, A., CAGNO, E., LEPRI, M., TRIANNI, A.: A triple bottom line balanced set of key performance indicators to measure the sustainability performance of industrial supply chains, *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, Vol. 26, No. April, pp. 648-691, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.12.018
- [72] ZEKHNINI, K., CHERRAFI, A., BOUHADDOU, I., CHAOUNI BENABDELLAH, A., BAG, S.: A model integrating lean and green practices for viable, sustainable, and digital supply chain performance, *International Journal of Production Research*, pp. 1-27, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2021.1994164
- [73] RASOOL, F., GRECO, M., GRIMALDI, M.: Digital supply chain performance metrics: a literature review, *Measuring Business Excellence*, Vol. ahead-of-print, No. ahead-of-print, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1108/MBE-11-2020-0147

- [74] NEELY, A., MILLS, J., PLATTS, K., RICHARDS, H., GREGORY, M., BOURNE, M., KENNERLEY, M.: Performance measurement system design: developing and testing a process-based approach, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 20, No. 10, pp. 1119-1145, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570010343708
- [75] CHAN, F.T., QI, H.: Feasibility of performance measurement system for supply chain: a processbased approach and measures, *Integrated Manufacturing Systems*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 179-190, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1108/09576060310463145
- [76] LIN, L., LI, T.: An integrated framework for supply chain performance measurement using six-sigma metrics, *Software Quality Journal*, Vol. 18, No. 3, pp. 387-406, 2010. doi: 10.1007/s11219-010-9099-2
- [77] CHARKHA, P.G., JAJU, S.B.: Supply chain performance measurement system: an overview, *International Journal of Business Performance and Supply Chain Modelling*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 40-60, 2014.

https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBPSCM.2014.058892

[78] PERSSON, F., OLHAGER, J.: Performance simulation of supply chain designs, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 77, No. 3, pp. 231-245, 2002.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-5273(00)00088-8

[79] LIMA-JUNIOR, F.R., CARPINETTI, L.C.R.: Predicting supply chain performance based on SCOR® metrics and multilayer perceptron neural



networks, International Journal of Production Economics, Vol. 212, No. June, pp. 19-38, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.02.001

[80] KHURSHID KHAN, M., WIBISONO, D.: A hybrid knowledge-based performance measurement system, *Business Process Management Journal*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 129-146, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1108/14627150810864800

https://doi.org/10.1108/14637150810864899

- [81] TANGEN, S.: Performance measurement: from philosophy to practice, *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, Vol. 53, No. 8, pp. 726-737, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410400410569134
- [82] STAPLETON, D., PATI, S., BEACH, E., JULMANICHOTI, P.: Activity-based costing for logistics and marketing, *Business Process Management Journal*, Vol. 10, No. 5, pp. 584-597, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1108/14637150410559243
- [83] ALIAKBARI NOURI, F., SHAFIEI NIKABADI, M., OLFAT, L.: Developing the framework of sustainable service supply chain balanced scorecard (SSSC BSC), *International Journal of Productivity* and Performance Management, Vol. 68, No. 1, pp. 148-170, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-04-2018-0149
- [84] RAHIMNIA, F., MOGHADASIAN, M.: Supply chain leagility in professional services: how to apply decoupling point concept in healthcare delivery system, *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 80-91, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541011018148
- [85] HAPPONEN, A., SILJANDER, V.: Gainsharing in logistics outsourcing: trust leads to success in the digital era, *International Journal of Collaborative Enterprise*, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 150-175, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijcent.2020.110221

[86] KORTELAINEN, H., HAPPONEN, A., KINNUNEN, S.: Fleet Service Generation— Challenges in Corporate Asset Management, Proceedings of the 10th World Congress on Engineering Asset Management (WCEAM 2015), pp. 373-380, 2016.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 207-221 ISSN 1339-5629

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27064-7\_35

- [87] BAPPY, M.M., ALI, S.M., KABIR, G., PAUL, S.K.: Supply chain sustainability assessment with Dempster-Shafer evidence theory: Implications in cleaner production, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 237, No. November, p. 117771, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117771
- [88] HAPPONEN, A., LAPLAZA OSTA, I., POTDAT, A., GARCIA-ALCARAZ, J.L.: Financially Feasible and Sustainable - Reviewing Academic Literature on Sustainability related Investment Studies, 1st edition, Book publisher International, pp. 1-43, 2021. https://doi.org/10.9734/bpi/mono/978-93-5547-032-4
- [89] AMALNICK, M.S., SAFFAR, M.M.: An integrated approach for supply chain assessment from resilience engineering and ergonomics perspectives, *Uncertain Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 159-168, 2017.

https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2017.2.001

[90] MINASHKINA, D., HAPPONEN, A.: Decarbonizing warehousing activities through digitalization and automatization with WMS integration for sustainability supporting operations, E3S Web of Conferences, Vol. 158, Article: 03002, pp. 1-7, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202015803002

## **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.



- International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 223-235 ISSN 1339-5629



CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY Ghazi M. Magableh; Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.299

Received: 14 Feb. 2022; Revised: 12 Mar. 2022; Accepted: 10 Apr. 2022

# CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY

Ghazi M. Magableh

Industrial Engineering Department -Yarmouk University, Irbid-Jordan, P.O. Box 21163, ghazi.magableh@yu.edu.jo (corresponding author)

Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi

Industrial Engineering Department -Yarmouk University, Irbid-Jordan, P.O. Box 21163, mahmoud.m@yu.edu.jo

Keywords: supply chain, nervousness, MENA, AHP, framework.

*Abstract:* As part of the global supply chain (SC), Middle East and North Africa (MENA) SC is subject to many disruptions and instability resulting in an unpredicted interference among decisions causing SC nervousness (SCN). Nervousness reduces the efficiency and negatively impact the overall SC performance. Nervousness greatly effect supply chain stability and resilience leading to an increase in costs and fluctuation of the relationships with suppliers as well as customers. This research explores the supply chain nervousness (SCN) in MENA region. An investigation of the existing literature and interviews with the experts used to identify factors related to nervousness in the SC. This study was prompted by a lack of research depth to identify and investigate the main causes, effects, and measures, of SCN. A survey is used to analyze and asses the SCN in the region. A comprehensive framework of SCN in MENA region is presented and analyzed. The results identify the major sources, causes, and impact of SCN, and then arrange causes based on their impact. Also, the relative criticality of nervousness factors and response strategies to mitigate the nervousness sources. Finally, a list of measures is proposed to reduce the SCN and improve competitiveness, effectiveness, and responsiveness. Identification and assessment of nervousness factors enables professionals to take appropriate mitigation strategies, help companies decide plans to reduce nervousness in their SCs, and lead to better decisions on future resilient supply chains.

## 1 Introduction

The MENA region suffers from special conditions and exceptional circumstances, which have had a great impact on the supply chain and its performance, particularly, in light of the fact that the region is the center of attention by most countries of the world as consumers of their goods and products. There are several factors that affect the supply chain in the region, including political, social, economic conditions, and wars that almost never end in the region. As well as the supply chain of defense equipment, which is almost endless, and the region is one of the largest consumers of weapons and defense equipment as a result of the circumstances and surrounding crises. These conditions, in addition to the large number of partners, intense competition, sudden change in demand, lack of environment concerns, delay in response or delay in financial transactions, and the lack of interest of logistic companies in the region in exchanging information with their partners in the chain led to instability and SCN, which had negative repercussions on prices, times, and the level of services between consumers and suppliers. In general, MENA-SC is greatly affected by the SC nervousness.

Nervousness leads to a number of problems, including an increase in inventory, delays, costs, and the occurrence of mistrust between organizations and their suppliers on the one hand, and with customers on the other hand. It causes ineffectiveness of the supply chain in general, especially since most of the instability in this supply chain is caused by external events outside the company control. To the best of our knowledge, there is no previous study or research that considers nervousness in the MENA supply chain and analyzes it in terms of causes and their effect. Especially with the disruptions caused by Pandemics like COVID19, which has special and exceptional impact that have led to a lot of instability in the supply chain and an increase in the costs of sustaining the supply chain and relationships with suppliers and customers. In this paper, an analytical study is presented showing the sources, causes of SC nervousness and their impact. Factors responsible for SCN are examined and prioritize using Delphi-AHP technique. Furthermore, response strategies to mitigate the nervousness sources are investigated. Because of the scarcity of research that deals with SCN, especially in MENA region, this study is unique and unprecedented in terms of analyzing the SCN in the region's supply chains. This research will help practitioners, executives, and managers understand and explore their SCN.

As shown in Figure 1, the methodology of this research includes a review of previous studies, data collection using a survey to identify the main reasons of nervousness and its impact on decision-making process, arranging the sources of SCN based on the expertise opinion, and identifying the characteristics and components including the main sources, causes that may lead to SCN and their expected impact. After that, a framework will be presented to describe the nervousness of the supply chain in the



CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY Ghazi M. Magableh; Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi

region and analyze its impact on the effectiveness and efficiency of the supply chain. This is followed by the proposed list of measures to reduce the SCN and improve future efficiency and resilience. Furthermore, the criticality of nervousness factors is assessed using the Delphi based AHP method. Finally, an approach for dealing with nervousness and the findings and recommendations for future research is presented.



# 2 Literature review

Disruption in the supply chain cause post instability as a result of order delay and inventory accumulation. Shift of the residuals into post disruption cause a further delay and instability in the normal operations. To mitigate the instability effect there should be coordinated contingency procedure to prevent disruption [1]. Due to supply disruptions, demand instability, and government initiatives to combat the problem, the COVID19 pandemic had an impact on SC activities, operations, procedures, and management. The stress and panic caused by nervous decisions has an impact on SC operations and performance [2]. Political issue greatly effect supply chain management and it is implementation [3]. The change at one end of the supply chain greatly increases the shift from the steady state at the other end [4]. International crises taking into consideration financial instability effect the reaction of SC [5].

Nervousness results from time to time variability of orders given to the suppliers and resulted in a forecast error. Normal and proportional policy will reduce the bullwhip influence, SC inventory cost, and instability [5]. Systems nervousness results from the frequent review of the replenishment decisions because of the stochastic demand when coordinating the SC inventories [6]. Demand and supply are greatly affected by the rapid change in the market and the product variation. Demand planning accuracy vary among the SC partners and planning nervousness cause the bullwhip effect as the variation in demand amplified when sharing the information with the SC parties [7]. Globalization of the SC supporting the agglomeration and spreading and become healthier due efficient use of developing countries low cost labor but became less stable [8]. Currently with the growing of virtual SCs, companies not any more compete but the supply chains and the vertical integration is outdated. There is a need to visible the whole supply chain effectively to compete with others in the SC [9].

The integration of the dynamic SC functions can respond quickly and effectively to SC interruptions and changes and provides unique ability to current SC decision support systems [10]. The dynamic replenishment system can react successfully and efficiently to normal and disruptive supply chain operations [11]. Integration of supply chain segments with dynamic replenishments can improve partnerships, cost reduction and SCM efficiency [12,13].

SC nervousness associated with instability such as changes in task, source and SC uncertainties. These Uncertainties can be transformed into information processing which should be at the SC level. Sustainable SCM needs to turn into an organization's daily business to shape the SC of the future [14]. Supplier innovativeness and information sharing expedite collaborations in the global SC [15]. Sustainable SCM can improve economic, social, environment in global supply chains [16].

Performance of today SC relies on the accuracy, quality, and timing of the shared data between partners. Many companies used electronic data gathering systems, cloud computing based SC, and software applications to support collaboration among all SC segments to develop new innovative products [17]. Suppliers' innovation is



CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY Ghazi M. Magableh; Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi

necessary for the process of development of new products and there is clear relationship between supplier integration and performance [18].

Nervousness can be understood of as "*a source of* confusion or instability in the SC system caused by unexpected interference between decisions" [19]. There is a connection between SC nervousness and demand planning and the bullwhip effect leading to a tangible difference in planning accuracy among SC partners [20]. The joint consideration of MRP nervousness and bullwhip effect in multi echelon SC reveals the system nervousness at various stages of SCs [21]. Planning nervousness should consider the relevant attributes of SC performance as there is a strong relationship between SCN planning and other SC segmentations [22].

While (23) discuss nervousness in the environment of current MRP strategy revisions, published research on nervousness in either modern GSC system or their impact framework are rarely exists. Nervousness is considered a major source of instability in the current and future SC resulting from unexpected interventions among decisions. Furthermore, there is no previous research investigates the supply chain nervousness in terms of causes and rank the SC nervousness sources based on their impact. This study was prompted by a lack of research depth to identify and investigate the main causes, effects, and measures, of supply chain nervousness. This research proposes an analytical framework for investigating nervous supply chains in MENA region, rank the causes using AHP method based on their criticality, and suggests a set of measures to mitigate SCN.

# 3 Causes of SCN

To identify the sources of SCN, a survey was developed and distributed to thirty leading organizations in MENA region. The survey consists of three major sections where each section aims to explore a side of the SCN causes: the first part ask about the SCN sources and causes and asked the respondent to rank order SCN causes based on their impact on their SCs, the second section concern about the impacts and effects of SCN sources and the sequences of the specified cause, the third part require the respondents to suggest measures to reduce the SCN. The survey consist of several questions including: the main sources of supply nervousness, causes of each type of source of nervousness, noise factors that are uncontrollable by SCs and contribute to the increase of the impact of nervousness, the risks associated with each cause of nervousness, the expected impact of nervousness on the supply chain operations and process, and the measures and metrics taken to reduce nervousness. Twenty four respondents answer the survey questions.

The literature review is utilized to list the available sources, causes, factors, and the impact of nervousness, as well as the measures mentioned in the reviewed articles. The data driven from the literature review, which represent the current nervousness factors worldwide, were made available to the experts to consider them in their decisions. A group of experts are used to identify the major sources and causes of SCN, study their impact, and cluster the causes in main and sub groups. It was also the role of the experts to rewrite and shorten the causes and effects, as they were given in different wordings and phrasing by the responses to the questionnaire.

Based on the literature, survey results, and the experts' opinion, Table 1 shows the main causes of SCN. The first column shows the sources of supply chain nervousness. The second column shows the causes of each source on the supply chain performance and operations. While the third/ frequency column indicates the number of respondents who included the reason specified in the cause column. For example, the first block in the frequency column specify that 23 respondent consider the "change in customers' need" as a source of SCN. The source reasons are arranged in descending order according to the number of times mentioned in the responses. Similarly, the causes for each source were arranged in descending order depending on the results of the questionnaire analysis.

All responses are summarized in ten main sources and their related causes. The largest number is for the variations in customer needs flowed by the crisis and disasters, while the smallest number is for the lack of integrations.

Based on the respondent answers to the third part of the questionnaire, the rank order of SCN sources based on their impact on their SCs are shown in Figure 2. The values were calculated using the following equation (1):

$$R_i = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^n r_{ij}}{n} \tag{1}$$



Logi

**CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY** Ghazi M. Magableh; Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi

## Table 1 Causes of SCN

No.	Source	Cause	Frequency
1	Changes in customers' needs	Fluctuation in demand, change in production plan, change in inventory and stock policy, error in demand forecast, change in market place, change in products, competitor's advantages, and prices change	23
2	Disasters and crisis	Natural disasters such as earthquakes, dust storms, volcanos, storms, heat wave, diseases and its effect. Manmade disasters like ethnic and religious violence, Terror attacks, income equality, industrial accidents, refugees, migrations. Technological disasters like nuclear radiation, chemical accidents, biological propagation, power outages, climate change, natural gas explosions, and unplanned urbanizations.	20
3	Risk of supply continuity	Sporadic supply of raw material, unavailability of supply, instability in prices, shortage of resources, delivery conditions, political instability, fluctuation of quality and quantity, geographical instability, climate deviations, water shortages, and store nationalism	19
4	Safety and Security concerns	Security of the SC activities like transportation, shipping and handling, and all logistics practices, cyber security, risks, safety issues, the challenges of e- commerce, smuggling, piracy, cloud risk, devices interferences, poor quality hardware, local security on the facility itself, physical security to transportation for example, fraud, cargo theft, and virtual security.	18
5	Geopolitical instability	Change in state policies, regional conflicts, rapid changes of allies, crisis or wars, terrorism, UN resolutions, economic sanctions, and governmental lockdown.	17
6	Social unrest	Unemployment, inequality, financial crises, government failures, marginalized, disease epidemics, the anarchy of the sects, political instability, energy, food, discrimination, strikes, demonstration, objections to some products, high prices, and change in purchasing behavior and power.	17
7	Keeping pace with developments	Emerging trends, new technology, new product design, increased demand for quick responsiveness, low price, adopt new systems, new business trends, shorter products life cycle, and shorter product development cycle.	15
8	Environment concerns	Heat waves, flood, wildfire, and global warming, air pollution, toxics emissions, temperature changes, the seasons shifting, water shortage, oppressive land use, water pollution, energy usage, and contaminated waste, oil and chemical pills, and remediation and land reclamations.	11
9	Economic context	Risk of government decisions, tariffs, administrative and operations weaknesses, natural disasters, Bankruptcy, currency fluctuation, adequacy in SC infrastructure, outsourcing, redundancy systems, investment in wrong business, conflict of interests, global growth, international monetary system, shipping routes, sanctions, volatility in the international oil market, populism by country leader, trade competition between countries, political influences, socioeconomic causes, inflation, tariffs on trade, global financial system, and environmental considerations	9
10	Lack of integration	Objectives mismatch, difference in planning accuracy between partners, variance in decision-making process, overlapping interests, and lack of trust, commitment, transparency, IP protection, collaboration, partnerships, alliances, of information sharing, planning coordination, and operation flexibility.	7

Where  $r_{ij}$ : rank of source *i* by respondent *j*, *n* represent the total number of respondent and  $R_i$  represent the rank of nervousness source *i*.

Internati



#### CAUSES AND EFFECTS OF SUPPLY CHAIN NERVOUSNESS: MENA CASE STUDY Ghazi M. Magableh; Mahmoud Z. Mistarihi



Figure 2 Rank of SCN sources based on respondents' answers

# 4 Framework for SCN in MENA region

In this section, a framework is developed to understand and analyze the supply chain nervousness in MENA region. MENA supply chain is part and strongly connected to the global SC. It effects and affected by the changes in the global supply chain like what happened during COVID19 pandemic crises. MENA SC chain has it is own conditions and is greatly affected by the never ended crisis in the region. The region is in the center of attention for many countries along with the political and social unrests which affect the SC performance and efficiency in the region. Therefore, MENA-SC is greatly affected by the SC nervousness. Nervousness in the MENA SC has some kind of unique characteristics due to the economic conditions, terrorists, piracy as well as the defense SC. The region is one of the largest consumers of weapons and defense equipment and the large weapon companies compete heavily in the Middle East market. In addition to the high number of partners, fierce competition, quick changes in demand, and a lack of environmental considerations, the lack of interest of logistic businesses in the region in sharing information with their chain partners, as well as delays in response and financial transactions, contributed to supply chain instability. This has a negative impact on costs, delivery times, and service quality between suppliers and consumers.

Figure 3 shows a framework of the nervousness in the supply chain of the MENA region. The framework consists of five major parts including nervousness sources and main causes, nervousness impact on the SC efficiency, and the noise factors that effect and affected by the SC nervousness, risk of uncertainty, and the suggested measures to deal with SC nervousness. The components of the framework are interconnected and interrelated, and are necessary to learn, explore, and understand the SC nervousness.

The sources of nervousness in the supply chain are classified into two main categories: the external sources of nervousness like natural disasters and manmade disasters and technological crisis, and the internal sources of nervousness like inside the organization and the global supply chain. Internal sources are considered the sources of nervousness within the global supply chain of the organization.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 223-235 ISSN 1339-5629

Nervousness causes could be internal like change in production plan, MRP system, change in requirements, BOM, inventory policy. The external causes of nervousness are out of the company control including the natural disasters or pandemic diseases. Based on the analytical study, the following summarize the main sources and causes of nervousness in the SC:

- Changes in customers' needs and requirements. Customer demand is subject to change due to different reasons like change in market place, change in products, introduction of new technology, competitor's advantages (high quality, new tech, prices, advertisements), and prices change. This fluctuation in customer demand result in order deletion, decease or increase in order quantity. Customer demand change (new orders, order deletions, change in quantity, product return) make order decisions subjected to more frequent revisions affecting the systems throughout the SC. Also, error in demand forecast leads to frequent schedule change resulting in nervousness.
- 2. The necessity to cope up with emerging trends. Sometimes companies need to adopt new technology, software or hardware, to alter the product or add new features to stay competitive. Due to the introduction of new business trends, new technologies, shorter products life cycle, shorter product development cycle, environmental, and climate considerations, companies may need to respond quickly to survive which require change in their strategies, plans and decisions.
- 3. Supply continuity. The erratic and irregularity in the supply lead to decisions nervousness make it essential to ensure the continuity of supply and the availability of constituents/ components from suppliers. The sporadic supply of raw material, ingredients, components, parts, and subsystems from vendors interrupt the production schedule and require more frequent decisions. For example the supplies of agricultural crops are greatly affected by the season,


disease, international demand, and global prices. The majority of MENA countries rely on the imported wheat form different sources resulted in a fluctuation of quality, quantity, and prices. Any disruptions can greatly affect the SC especially in the current complex, interrelated, and global SC. One of the most problems in MENA-SC is to stable network of vendors and supplier to assure the continuous supply. Sometimes suppliers change their processes which negatively affect customers. Supplier selection and partnerships is one of the essential factors for supply chain stability.

- 4. Geopolitical instability. MENA-SC is greatly affected by the political issues between countries both regionally and internationally. The countries in the region have no chance but to change their supply chain relationships and allies rapidly and directly once there is contrast between their policies, regardless of the obstacles and consequences, as what happened between many of the Gulf countries and Qatar in 2017. In addition, the region almost has a continuous presence of conflicts so that it is hardly to have a year without crisis or wars. Examples include what happened since 2010 and beyond of what's known as "Arab Spring" and the consequence disruptions of the supply chain in the region, where the need to search for new supply chains and new partners emerged as a result of the interruption of production and import and export limitations and stoppage in many countries such as Syria. Syria was one of the main sources of many goods and agricultural products to the region. For example, 60% of the volume of Jordanian trade exchange comes from or through Syria [24]. In addition to the terrorism that has prevailed the region and the world for a long period of time which has led to great challenges in dealing with some countries, companies and people.
- 5. Social instability. Arab spring is an example of how social issues and instability affect the market and was resulted from the protest of unemployed youth. The demographic and population dispersion effect the distribution of the products to the end-users. Social instability directly affects state economies, which are directly reflected in the supply chain, causing changes in plans and decisions. The social impact can be triggered at any moment as a result of a situation, high prices, violation of social customs, religious abuse, economic matters, unemployment, or political changes which negatively affect the performance and efficacy of the supply chain.
- 6. Economic context. Unexpected economic uncertainty impact the business, so it vital to keep updated of

economic situation globally. This is because the changes in one country impact other countries like currency deflation and debt concerns. This assures the globalism of the SC. Changes like the increase in production, prices, taxes, customs, trade tariffs between countries, and border control restrictions complicate the trade and travel between countries. Inadequacy in SC infrastructure, outsourcing, efforts duplications, redundancy systems, and investment in wrong business are also cause economic instability. Today economy control the politics of the countries resulted in what so called trade war. Like what is going on between USA and China.

- 7. Disasters and crises. Disasters and crises are a major cause of internal and external changes, and the cause can be over the power of people (out of control or even prediction), of their making, or of things that humans have made, but controlling them outpaces their capabilities or requires enormous potential. Whatever the type of emergency, crises and disasters, it ultimately leads to an impact on the supply chain locally and internationally, causing a state of instability and contraction. There are some disasters that do not happen in the region and others that occur more frequently, such as dust storms. However, the region is characterized by many crises resulting from wars, displacement, refugees, famines, diseases and epidemics, terrorism, and political, social and economic instability, which directly affecting the supply chain, causing nervousness to MENA-SC.
- 8. Environmental concerns. Climate changes affect supply chain operations and activities like costs, performance, speed, transportation, responsiveness, shipping and handling, and quality resulting in major interruptions. Weather and climate like disasters are unpredictable which increase the difficulty of SCM and its processes. Heat waves, flood, cyclones, storms, extra rainfall, weather change, drought, decreasing snowfall, wildfire, and worming are resulting from climate change. These changes cause damage to the SC infrastructure, warehouses, streets, bridges, power generation plants, crops, etc. climate change cause a damage to raw material and natural resources like wild fire which destroy the forests and agricultural crops caused by heat waves and drought. This requires a quick reaction from the supply chain to changes in environmental requirements just like a change in user requirements.





Figure 3 MENA-SCN framework

- 9. Lack of Integration. Partnerships and alliances are part of the SC competition; some make decisions regardless of their impact on others. The difference in planning accuracy between partners, decision-making process, lack of integration and overlapping interests, and how they handle risks lead to fluctuations and differences in plans and decisions. Lack of collaborations leads to lack of transparency in the SC decision-making system which adversely affect the trust among partners. Lack of desire to share data and knowledge leads to continuous change in partner plans and decisions causing the SC nervousness.
- 10. Security and safety concerns. The main threats include criminal statistics usage, production shrinkage, theft, terrorism, smuggling, piracy, IP loss, and intercepting of money transfer, competitor penetration, and goods imitating. Safety and security of the supply chain, including its physical and virtual risks affect all parts of the supply chain, including transportation, inventory, transported goods, common data, and the equipment used. Therefore, any security problem in the supply chain results in a change in the supply chain procedures, causing a kind of nervousness in the plans and decisions of the companies involved in the chain.



There are several noise factors that are effect the SC nervousness like SC instability, disruptions, uncertainties, risk, changes and unrest. These factors require regular rescheduling of orders in terms of setup and quantity to constantly respond to varying demand requests, where a necessary trade off among responsiveness, cost, and instability occurs. They results in change and frequent rescheduling of orders in terms of timing and quantity requiring frequent rescheduling activities. Instability is present even with stable demand. Undesirable effects of noise factors iclude increased production and inventory costs, increased in throughput times, reduced productivity, decrease in capacity utilization, lower customer service levels, confusion on the decision making system, loss of confidence to planning system, low morale, etc.

The risk of uncertainity is considered the one of the main root and sources of supply chain nevousness. The principal risk of SC uncertainity come from the uncertain demand, cost, supply. Therefore special attention should be paid to these factors in the SC strategies, policies, and planning.

SC managers should take several measures to reduce the impact of SCN. These measures may include new strategies, plans, and decisions, strategies for suppliers' selection, partnerships with SC partners, developed decision support systems to mitigate nervousness, smooth financial flow, build SC resilience and responsiveness, utilize emerging technology and smart SC techniques, consider environmental factors, and seek the governments support to minimize the impact of their decisions.

Organization should seek the continuity of their SC in case of crises such as the wake of COVID19 pandemic. It is important to know when and where the disruption will occur and how countries will react. The most important thing is the guarantee the continuity of the SC during and beyond crisis. Therefore, organizations and their SCs partners need to constantly reviewing the politics, regulations, and technological changes to avoid the risk of inability to supply products. SC partners are required to share information to increase visibility and resulted in unity SC decisions. For success business, enterprises need to integrate SC and business, technologies, employees, and the decision making systems.

SC-Security should be a high priority to firms and should cover all SC activities and functions like transportation, shipping and handling, and all logistics practices to eliminate any disrupt of the operations. The main objectives of SC security should be to recognize, evaluate, prioritize, and provide solutions to SC risks and nervousness. There should be a balance in relationship between human, environment, and industrial revolution to face the dramatic increase in the earth population, and the high rate of consumption and reduction in natural resources.

## 5 Delphi-AHP tool

The Delphi method is used to obtain data from a panel of experts sequentially through structured questionnaires. It is a very practical way to achieve a convergence of opinions. To obtain generally reliable results, studies have shown that at least ten experts are sufficient [24]. A total of eleven experts were used in this study to obtain reliable results. All experts have more than 15 years of experience in supply chain areas. To identify the most prominent SCN causes, a Delphi technique was performed in three rounds. The experts were asked to confirm the main source causes, sub- causes, and sub- causes at three levels in the hierarchy. The experts were asked to add or eliminate SCN causes in the model presented to them.

Once selecting the causes of SCN, AHP is used to prioritize the causes. AHP is a widely used and practical method of pairwise [25] and is suitable for ranking variables and modularizes a problem [26]. AHP approach was used to evaluate different variables [27], asses SC risk drivers [28], and to calculate the decisions of outsourcing location on SC resilience [29]. The AHP methodology used in this study include the following steps:

- 1. Outline the research objective. The research objective is to study the MENA region SCN factors including sources and causes.
- 2. Form the hierarchical structure. The hierarchical structure created was shown to and confirmed by experts using the Delphi method.
- 3. Develop the pairwise comparison matrices. Pairwise comparison matrices are built for all levels of causes. A questionnaire was formed using 1 to 9 scale to collect data from experts on paired comparison matrices for all SCN sources and causes.
- 4. Determine the priority weights. The eigenvalues and the eigenvector are calculated for the pairwise comparison matrices developed for SCN causes and sub-courses.
- 5. Examine the consistency ratio. Check the consistency of the pairwise comparison matrix using the following equations:  $\lambda_{max} = average (AxX/X)$ , where X is the priority vector and a pairwise comparison matrix, consistency index  $CI = \lambda_{max} n/n 1$ , the consistency ratio CR = CI/RI, RI is a random index based on matrix different sizes.

In this study, a framework for the SCN Assessment was proposed and SCs from the MENA region were selected to provide a case application of this tool. Thus, it is imperative to identify the SCN causes. The Delphi-based AHP approach has certain advantages over AHP-based interviews as it is free from prejudice and data acquisition through iterations improves data quality and stops when data saturation is reached. The hierarchical model of SCN causes is as described in Figure 3.



#### Discussion of Case Application and 6 results

Twenty four enterprises from MENA region were taken for this study. As a result, significant organizations from two different continents (Asia and Africa) expressed a strong desire to use the SCN tool. Consequently, eleven senior experts agreed to participate in the research study. The experts were selected based on their experience and knowledge. These eleven executives and managers provided decision-making hierarchy data to refine the SCN tool, and we then collected data in paired comparison matrices from these experts. The executives' above responses are then converted into sharp scores according to the AHP scale to calculate the weights per AHP [30].

A three-stage research methodology was used for data collection and analysis. In stage one, a list of SCN causes were identified and selected from the literature search and survey results; Stage two, determined the most relevant causes with the help of business experts. The experts refined the causes into a three-level hierarchical level model. This goal was achieved through a Delphi method. In Delphi, three iterations were enough to achieve the data stability in responses; Phase three, SCN causes were classified using the AHP method. In level one five main source causes of SCN in MENA region were identified, level two determine the ten secondary causes, and level three conclude the fifty causes at the lowest level. Figure 3 shows the hierarchical SCN model after three rounds of iteration.

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 223-235 ISSN 1339-5629

After that, we calculate the priority vector for each level SCN causes using the AHP method. The pairwise comparison matrix for the main causes is shown in Table 2. The calculations of the consistency index and ration,  $\lambda_{max}$  = 5.270; CI= 0.22; CR=0.06 <0.1, indicate the consistency of the matrix. The paired comparison matrix for causes was structured similarly. The priority vector was calculated for each matched comparison matrix and the consistency ration is acceptable as CR<0.1.

Table 2 Pairwise Comparison matrix for main SCN sources					
Goal	Natural	Manmade	Technological	Internal	Normalized principal eigenvector
Natural	1	2	3	5	36.24%
Manmade	1/2	1	2	4	25.16%
Technological	1/3	1/2	1	1	9.03%
Organizational	1/5	1/4	1	1	6.07%
GSC	1/2	1/2	3	7	23.49%

· . .

The overall weight of each subcauses was calculated as shown in Table 3. Diseases and its effect have the highest weight (0.081) when presenting the classification of the selected causes. Violence, terror attacks, income inequality, industrial accidents ranked the second highest with a weight of (0.065); refugees and migrations ranked third (0.055); Regional conflicts, wars and terrorism ranked fourth (0.054), and Governmental intervention and political instability ranked the fifth (0.054). This means that these subcauses are the major driving forces to the SCN in MENA regions. The first three with the highest ranks are part of the disasters and crises while the fourth and fifth subcauses are part of the geopolitical instability. Adopt new systems ranked the lowest (0.0008). This suggests that decision makers should pay more attention to SC external factors when assessing MENA-SCN systems.

The priority vector for the SCN causes at level 3 the relative importance of the SCN sub-causes was obtained. These partial drivers can be mitigated in practice using proper solutions. SCN measures are practical solutions that can be used directly to reduce the impact of partial SCN sources.

The results are helpful for supply chain professionals to get a well advice of the nervousness of their SC and provide information to understand which factor plays a larger role in nervousness. The results explore the factors increase risk if the unknown occurs, and how sensitively SCs react to such interruptions. Research results on the SCN business causes rankings show that most of external causes are in the top twenty in the SCN involvedness category.

The results of the analysis described above should be considered by both SC managers and executives in the current Covid-19 consequence to implement mitigation strategies and close the missing links in SCs. Identifying the root causes of the SC weakness would help strengthen the SC. Nervousness can be controlled by reducing the complexity of the supply chain. This could be achieved by improving the transparency and integration with new SC strategies, utilizing emerging technologies, government support and building new SC resilience.



#### Table 3 Ranking of SCN sources in MENA-SCs

Level I	Weight	Level II	Weight	Level III	Weight	Global Weight	Global Ranking
		ри		Earthquakes, storms, volcanos	0.14	0.03652992	7
		s ar s	- `	Diseases	0.31	0.08088768	1
		ters	.72	Violence, terror attacks, inequality	0.25	0.065232	2
	sas ci	0	Refugees and migrations	0.21	0.05479488	3	
ura	62	Di		WMS propagation	0.09	0.02348352	17
Vatı	0.3	nt		Heat waves, flood, wildfire	0.24	0.02435328	14
~		me rns	~	Water shortage and pollution	0.27	0.02739744	11
		ronce	.28	Air pollution, toxics emissions	0.3	0.0304416	9
			)	Energy usage, contaminated waste	0.15	0.0152208	24
		Eı		Oppressive land use	0.04	0.00405888	44
		olitical ability		Change in state policies	0.14	0.02360008	15
			4	Conflicts, wars and terrorism	0.32	0.05394304	4
			0.67	Rapid changes of allies	0.08	0.01348576	29
de		eoj nst		UN resolutions and sanctions	0.14	0.02360008	16
ma	252	9 :-		Governmental intervention	0.32	0.05394304	5
ani	0.2	sst		Unemployment and food shortage	0.27	0.02241756	18
Σ		inre	3	Inequality and discrimination	0.17	0.01411476	28
		al u	).3	Financial crises and high prices,	0.18	0.01494504	26
		oci	)	Government failures and political instability	0.12	0.00996336	35
		Š		Change in purchasing behavior and power	0.26	0.02158728	19
		9	0.58	Risk of government decisions	0.29	0.01518846	25
		an ity rns		Bankruptcy and currency fluctuation	0.09	0.00471366	42
~		ety cui nce		Outsourcing and redundancy	0.27	0.01414098	27
ogy		Saf Se co		Global growth and system	0.15	0.0078561	38
lol	<u> </u>	•1		Trade competition	0.2	0.0104/48	33
chi	0.0	c		Security of the SC activities	0.27	0.01024002	34
Te		ext	5	Cyber and virtual security	0.34	0.01289484	30
		Econc	0.4	Challenges of e-commerce	0.08	0.00503408	40
				Directly amuggling and array thaft	0.17	0.00044742	
		Changes in customers' needs	11	Change in demand	0.14	0.00330904	41
				Change in Production plan	0.41	0.02013847	40
	ganization 0.061			Change in Inventory policy	0.12	0.00344169	40
u			0.8	Change in Competitor's advantages	0.07	0.01081674	32
atic				Change in prices	0.22	0.00885006	32
niz				New technology and product design	0.10	0.00426721	43
ga		Keeping pace with developments		Demand for quick responsiveness	0.25	0.00288325	47
ō			0.19	Adopt new systems	0.23	0.00080731	50
				New business trends	0.17	0.00196061	48
				Shorter products life cycle	0.14	0.00161462	49
		Lack of integration	supply integration continuity 0.38 0.62	Difference in objectives	0.22	0.03204036	8
				Difference in DM process	0.26	0.03786588	6
				Difference in planning accuracy	0.14	0.02038932	21
				Lack of trust and commitment	0.2	0.0291276	10
(۲	c) vo			Lack of Collaboration and alliances	0.18	0.02621484	12
3SC	.23			Shortage of resources	0.22	0.01963764	23
Ŭ	0	Risk of supply continuity		Unavailability of supply	0.24	0.02142288	20
				Delivery conditions	0.14	0.01249668	31
				Geographical and political instability	0.29	0.02588598	13
				Fluctuation of quality, quantity	0.11	0.00981882	36



### 7 Conclusion

This research explore the nervousness of the supply chain in MENA region in terms the SCN sources, main causes, noise factors, risks of uncertainty, impact, and the measures to mitigate the SCN. To this end a survey is developed and distributed to companies in the region and a group of experts are utilized to identify the major causes of SCN, study their impact, analyze the measures, and group the causes in main and subcategories. Based on the analysis, a framework was introduced to understand and investigate the SCN in MENA regions. The results indicate the nervousness sources and causes and rank the cause based on their impact. Existence of SCN even in the most stable SCs necessitates the exploration of the required measures to reduce the effect of nervousness. A list of measures is proposed to decrease the SCN and improve competitiveness, effectiveness, and future SC resilience.

As part of the global supply chain, MENA-SC suffers from nervousness with special characteristics. Nervousness in SCM systems is thought to be a source of confusion, instability, or uncertainty in SC systems due to disruptions or unexpected decisions. Nervousness increase, potentially due to the frequent change in the decisions, more frequent change in decisions lead to a confusion for both workers and customers resulting in a reduction in trust, moral, and loyalty to the SC system. Nervousness increases the bullwhip effect, pushing SC to strengthen the buffer against frequent decision changes. When all of these elements are considered, anxiousness might result in a high level of discontent. As a result, system nervousness should be considered because it has a good or negative impact on the entire SC, typically at the same time for different SC partners and locations.

Supply chains have become more nervous in recent years. Understanding SCN has become essential for SCmanagers in times of high uncertainty, as Covid 19 further explains this situation. Decision makers in MENA countries should rethink of the design of their SCs from a nervousness perspective. Therefore, this research adds to the literature on SCN by evaluating SCN factors such as causes, impact, and measures. This research identified five main categories and fifty operational causes. These SCN causes can be reduced and managers can take action to reduce the negative effects of disruption. Supply chain disasters and crises, geopolitical instability, and social unrest were found to be the most significant factor.

The results of the study help industrial managers, practitioners and decision-makers to focus on the SCN considerations during the planning stages, to increase sustainability in MENA supply chains, and further advance corporate and supply chain resilience development. The framework may also serve as a theoretical construct for a future empirical study on sustainable supply chain innovation in the manufacturing sector. Furthermore, the study introduce many policies and strategies to reduce nervousness in the SCs. Nervousness solutions may include integration, dealing with the problem from an external perspective, coordination's with partners, customers, and suppliers, and reduce instability in production environment.

This proposed SCN framework could be used to conduct surveys in different industries or consider the global supply chain (GSC) nervousness, and it would also provide interesting information and attention to GSC managers that require immediate attention. To capture the ambiguity of data collection by experts, advanced techniques such as Fuzzy-AHP technique can be used. This research can help companies decide strategies to reduce nervousness in the SCs, and would lead to a better assessment and decision on future resilient supply chains.

Future studies should examine the causes that lead to the occurrence of nervousness in the supply chain, methods of measuring it, and the appropriate solutions. Additional research may focus on evaluation of the nervousness solutions and use multi criteria decision making (MCDM) techniques to analyze and rank order the solutions based on their priority of implementation. Further research should deal with the nervousness in the global supply chain in terms of causes, sequences, measures, and solutions; so that decision makers can benefit from it in light of globalization, disruptions and instability in the supply chain, which ultimately leads to sustainable SC and increases the future resilience, responsiveness, and competitiveness of the SC.

#### Acknowledgement

This work was not funded by any agency.

#### References

[1] IVANOV, D., ROZHKOV, M.: Disruption Tails and Post-Disruption Instability Mitigation in the Supply Chain, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, Vol. 52, No. 13, pp. 343-348, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IFACOL.2019.11.140

- [2] MAGABLEH, G.M.: Supply Chains and the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Comprehensive Framework, *European Management Review*, Vol. 18, No. 3, pp. 363-382, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12449
- [3] JADALLAH, N., BHATTI, F.: Political Instability and Sustainable Green Supply Chain Management, *Management Science Letters*, pp. 1169-1178, 2020. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.12.001
- [4] NGUYEN, T.: Technical Note—Local Bargaining and Supply Chain Instability, *Operations Research*, Vol. 65, No. 6, pp. 1535-1545, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1287/opre.2017.1605
- [5] LI, Q., DISNEY, S.M.: Revisiting Rescheduling: MRP Nervousness and the Bullwhip Effect, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 55, No. 7, pp. 1992-2012, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1261106
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1261196
- [6] TUNC, H., KILIC, O.A., TARIM, S.A., EKSIOGLU, B.: A simple approach for assessing the cost of system nervousness, *International Journal of Production*



*Economics*, Vol. 141, No. 2, pp. 619-625, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.09.022

- [7] KAIPIA, R., KORHONEN, H., HARTIALA, H.: Planning nervousness in a demand supply network: an empirical study, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 95-113, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090610663455
- [8] FUJITA, M., HAMAGUCHI, N.: Supply chain internationalization in East Asia: Inclusiveness and risks, *Papers in Regional Science*, Vol. 95, No. 1, pp. 81-100, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1111/pirs.12183
- [9] ARCHIBALD, G., KARABAKAL, N., KARLSSON, P.: Supply chain vs. supply chain: Using simulation to compete beyond the four walls, In: *Proceedings of the 31st conference on Winter simulation: Simulation---a bridge to the future*, Vol. 2, pp. 1207-1214, 1999. https://doi.org/10.1145/324898.325039
- [10] MAGABLEH, G.M., MASON, S.J.: An integrated supply chain model with dynamic flow and replenishment requirements, *Journal of Simulation*, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 84-94, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1057/jos.2008.22
- [11] MAGABLEH, G.M.: A Dynamic Replenishment System for Integrating Supply Chain functions, *Maritime Economics & Logistics*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 52-66, 2007.
  - https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.mel.9100171
- [12] MAGABLEH, G., MASON, S.J. Increased supply chain efficiencies through integration, In: *IIE Annual Conference, Proceedings*, pp. 1, Institute of Industrial and Systems Engineers (IISE), Portland, Oregon – USA, 2003.
- [13] MAGABLEH, G.: Integration of Supply Chain Warehousing and Transportation Functions: A Dynamic Replenishment System (DRS), 3<sup>rd</sup>, Annual Tech Summit Conference (TSC), University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas – USA, 2003.
- [14] BUSSE, C., MEINLSCHMIDT, J., FOERSTL, K.: Managing Information Processing Needs in Global Supply Chains: A Prerequisite to Sustainable Supply Chain Management, Journal of Supply Chain Management, Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 87-113, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12129
- [15] KIM, M., CHAI, S.: The impact of supplier innovativeness, information sharing and strategic sourcing on improving supply chain agility: Global supply chain perspective, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 187, pp. 42-52, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.02.007
- [16] KOBERG, E., LONGONI, A.: A systematic review of sustainable supply chain management in global supply chains, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 207, pp. 1084-1098, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.10.033
- [17] HUGOS, M.H.: Essentials of Supply Chain Management, 4<sup>th</sup> ed., John Wiley & Sons, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119464495

- [18] WAGNER, S.M.: Tapping Supplier Innovation, Journal of Supply Chain Management, Vol. 48, No. 2, pp. 37-52, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493x.2011.03258.x
- [19] MAGABLEH, G.M.: A dynamic replenishment system for integrating supply chain warehousing and transportation functions, Doctorate dissertation,
- University of Arkansas, 2004.
  [20] KAIPIA, R., KORHONEN, H., HARTIALA, H.: Planning nervousness in a demand supply network: an empirical study, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 95-113, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090610663455
- [21] LI, Q., DISNEY, S.M.: Revisiting rescheduling: MRP nervousness and the bullwhip effect, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 55, No. 7, pp. 1992-2012, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1261196
- [22] ANDERSEN, A.L., PRÆSTHOLM, N., NIELSEN, K., BRUNØ, T.D.: Planning Nervousness in Product Segmentation: Literature Review and Research Agenda, In: *IFIP International Conference on Advances in Production Management Systems*, pp. 403-410, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-44739-0\_49
- [23] ASSAF, O.: Sanctions on Syria increase Jordan's suffering, *Ammonnews*, Retrieved 25/7/2021, [Online], Available: https://www.ammonnews.net/ar ticle/103979 [05 Feb 2022], 2021.
- [24] OKOLI, C., PAWLOWSKI, S.D.: The Delphi method as a research tool: an example, design considerations and applications, *Information & Management*, Vol. 42, No. 1, pp. 15-29, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002
- [25] SAATY, T.L.: Decision making with the analytic hierarchy process, *International Journal of Services Sciences*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 83-98, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijssci.2008.017590
- [26] ISHIZAKA, A., LABIB, A.: Review of the main developments in the analytic hierarchy process, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 38, No. 11, pp. 14336-14345, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2011.04.143
- [27] PAMUČAR, D., STEVIĆ, Ž., ZAVADSKAS, E.K.: Integration of interval rough AHP and interval rough MABAC methods for evaluating university web pages, *Applied Soft Computing*, Vol. 67, pp. 141-163, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2018.02.057
- [28] SHARMA, S.K., BHAT, A.: Supply chain risk management dimensions in Indian automobile industry, *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, Vol. 21, No. 6, pp. 1023-1040, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1108/bij-02-2013-0023
- [29] LÓPEZ, C., ISHIZAKA, A.: A hybrid FCM-AHP approach to predict impacts of offshore outsourcing location decisions on supply chain resilience, *Journal*



of Business Research, Vol. 103, pp. 495-507, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.09.050

[30] SAATY, T.L.: The Analytic Hierarchy Process: Planning, Priority Setting, Resource Allocation, McGraw-Hill. New York, 1980. https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-2217(82)90022-4

#### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.

Acta logistica

- International Scientific Journal about Logistics



Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 237-243 ISSN 1339-5629

WAYS TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS PROBLEMS EXISTING IN THE URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT SYSTEM

Tamaz Morchadze; Nunu Rusadze

doi:10.22306/al.v9i2.305

Received: 06 Mar. 2022; Revised: 20 Apr. 2022; Accepted: 18 May 2022

## WAYS TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS PROBLEMS EXISTING IN THE URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT SYSTEM

#### **Tamaz Morchadze**

Faculty of Technical Engineering, Georgia, 4600, Kutaisi, Demetre Tavdadebuli Street №9, Akaki Tsereteli State University, Tamar Mephe st. 59, Kutaisi, Georgia, tamaz.morchadze@atsu.edu.ge (corresponding author)

#### Nunu Rusadze

Faculty of Technical Engineering, Georgia, 4600, Kutaisi, Demetre Tavdadebuli Street №9, Akaki Tsereteli State University, Tamar Mephe st. 59, Kutaisi, Georgia, nunu.rusadze@atsu.edu.ge

Keywords: bus, efficiency, passenger traffic, urban transport, industry standard.

*Abstract:* At present, public transport needs to be managed using the different models, which will take into account health problems, passenger transport problems, refinement of technical parameters of buses and their adaptation to urban operating conditions, which would be one of the preventive measures in the context of combating the coronavirus pandemic. The article discusses the issues of optimizing the routeing scheme of buses and minibuses in the conditions of a three-level transport network in large cities. Measures for the performance of the city bus routes have been developed. It has been established that the qualification of a driver and the selection of urban passenger vehicles are central issues in terms of fuel efficiency and reducing the number of harmful substances in exhaust gases.

#### 1 Introduction

One of the fundamental conditions for the socioeconomic development of the country is the effective functioning of the transport system equipped with modern technologies.

Starting from the second half of the twentieth century in the world, including Georgia, we are witnessing the process of intensive motorization. The increase in the number of vehicles has resulted in two pronounced and contradictory trends. In particular, the high level that motorization has reached predetermines the development of the economic potential of society and ensures maximum satisfaction of the transport needs of the people [1,2]. On the other hand, it has contributed to the increased magnitude of the negative impact on society and the environment, which has resulted in environmental degradation.

Today, the problem of the rational use of our country's fuel and energy resources has acquired special economic significance because Georgia is one of the countries whose motor transport consumes only imported fuel and energy resources.

As oil and oil-origin fuel reserves are not renewable, and sooner or later, these reserves are expected to be exhausted, but the number of vehicles in the country is growing at a rapid pace, and the problem of fuel economy of vehicles continues to be a priority.

A successful resolution to this problem will depend on the level of perfection of automobile designs and scientific and technological progress in searching for and using alternative fuels in motor transport.

Today, addressing the transport problems through the improvement of technical parameters of vehicles is not having a great effect. It is necessary to explore the issues related to the theory of travel service administration and vehicle traffic, that is, to review the issues of the transportation process management itself under conditions of rapid motorization. Therefore, there has recently been a growing interest of researchers in the urban transport system, and the theories of passenger traffic simulation have been created. They are aimed at improving road infrastructure and creating systems of quality passenger service [3].

# 1.1 The major components of the system of urban passenger transport

In large cities, there are numerous routes providing transport for passengers. Acquisition of specific information on these routes (provision of reliable data on passenger flows and distributing them according to day and night hours and days of the week) is further processing, selection of the optimal route, and the number of vehicles (buses, minibuses) should be carried out systematically, taking into account the context combating the coronavirus pandemic.

In order to solve this problem, it is necessary to study the urban routes, analyze the operating parameters, process the information obtained from the experiments and provide sound guidance. This methodology will allow us to calculate the real parameters for a particular route and thereby increase the performance effectiveness of vehicles. It is necessary to take into account the volumes of traffic and passenger flows, as well as the operating characteristics of vehicles. In view of the foregoing, the definition of operation parameters on urban bus routes should be based on the establishment of characteristic parameters of these routes taking into account passenger flows, which will eventually improve the quality of



passenger services and increase the efficiency of the transport process [1,4].

The best rational option is considered that perfectly meets the needs of the population and high rates of passenger transport in terms of environmental performance and the minimum risk of coronavirus spreading.

The route and vehicle driving on this route should meet the major requirements. In particular, they must: be adequate to the volume of passenger flow; have sufficient manoeuvrability and a rapid response capacity to the volatility of flows and the disruption to traffic; be coordinated with other types of urban passenger transport; be correctly adapted to the length of flow, direction, and time, as well as to the rational distribution of terminal and intermediate stops.

A step forward in this regard is the introduction of a three-level transport network. The first level is the 10 main corridors, where passenger flow is large and passes through all the main big streets and avenues of Tbilisi. It is fed by two additional types of corridors - the second and third-level lines, respectively - the so-called "city lines" for traffic between the blocks, the so-called "block lines".

## 2 Methodology

# 2.1 Designing the passenger transport system development programs

As we have mentioned, the main goal of the urban passenger transport system is to ensure the qualitative, timely and cost-effective displacement of the population with a minimum level of coronavirus spreading and with minimum environmental pollution. In this regard, one of the most important is the qualification of a driver, which depends on the economical methods of bus driving and increases the efficiency of the transport process [11].

#### 2.2 Studies of the city route operating parameters

We have conducted a research investigation on the operational parameters of the intracity line by involving the

drivers with varied work experiences and levels of qualifications [22]. The results of the experiments that reflect the influence of driver's qualification on the operational parameters of a bus are given in Table 1.

Operating indicators	Operating conditions	Drivers with work experience of less than 1 year	Drivers with work experience of more than 5 years
Average speed, km/h	Urban	30	31.7
The number of stops, km <sup>-1</sup>	Urban	1.55	1.5
Fuel consumption per line	Urban	24.7	24

Table 1 The influence of driver's qualification on the operational indicators of a bus

#### 2.3 The review of the experiment

Following analysis of our experiment, we can conclude that during the operation of the bus on the city route, which runs on the first from the three-level transport network, that is, on one of the 10 main corridors, on a special bus line, in the case of drivers with different amounts of experience, the difference between the average speeds of traffic does not exceed 5%. This proves that even under conditions of rapid growth in traffic flows, the average speed of the bus is practically determined by a driver and not by the traffic flow, and it is almost the same for drivers with different amounts of experience on the city route [4,5,22].

The difference between the costs of line fuel reaches 2.8%, and it practically does not depend on the qualifications of a driver [8].

A very important factor is the impact of the number of stops on the performance of buses. However, as can be seen from the analysis of the values given in the table, in the case of drivers with different amounts of experience on the city routes, the difference between the values of specific quantities of stops is small and reaches just 3% [9,10].

The analysis shows that in the case of the special bus lane, the performance indicators do not depend on the qualification of a driver, which should be taken into account by transport companies in general in order to increase efficiency. On the second-and third-level lines, on the other hand, the qualification of a driver is of high importance. In the case of drivers with different amounts of experience, the qualifications of a driver, particularly his driving style, impact operating parameters – fuel consumption by rolling stock, environmental safety and the efficiency of a transport company in general [6].

It is necessary to retrain drivers with a fuel-saving criterion, and it has been computed that through retraining drivers in the motor transport enterprise, it is possible to achieve greater fuel economy.

It is known that the energy of rolling stock, in terms of phases and the amount of fuel consumption, correlates with the number of stops. The study showed that allocating a special line for buses, reducing the number of stops and increasing the runway length led to a reduction in fuel consumption, which is less dependent on the qualification of a driver. This leads to a reduction in the number of exhaust gases, which improves the environmental safety of road transport. Therefore, one of the main factors that do not affect the operating cost of rolling stock fuel and environmental safety is the qualification of a driver [7,9].

One of the main ways to reduce fuel consumption and increase its environmental friendliness, is proper organization of the transport process and improvement of management. Through improvements in science and technology, it would be possible to ensure efficient fuel



consumption. Fuel consumption depends on the following conditions:

- Operating conditions.
- Technical condition of vehicles.
- Organizational-technical measures.

For its part, each of these conditions also depends on a number of factors. For example, fuel economy depends to a large extent on road conditions, traffic modes, weather conditions, seasonality and so on. Allocating a special line for buses is a step forward in this regard.

An example of the effect of a vehicle's operating cycle on the operating cost of fuel (frequency of stops) can be the relationship between fuel consumption and long-distance travel. Cyclicity of operating modes leads to disruption of the established thermodynamic processes in the engine, increases fuel consumption and reduces power. This is proved by the experimental results. This is illustrated by the experimental data on the increase in fuel consumption by the road transport moving on the second and third-level lines of the city by 10-15% compared to the transport moving outside the city, while for buses moving on the first-level lines, this margin is within 5-7%.

An analysis of numerous studies revealed that one of the most important factors affecting fuel consumption is road conditions.

The variable nature of road conditions is taken into account when adjusting the norms and standards of technical operation of vehicles. At the same time, operating conditions have an impact on the operation mode of the vehicle. In accordance with the state of the road surface, fuel consumption may vary by 15-20%. In this regard, the existence of the first three-level transport network is a step forward. The rational organization of road traffic allows for reducing fuel consumption by 15%.

Fuel consumption in cities is affected by the presence of regulated and unregulated intersections on the route and their number, the presence of road signs, correct markings and so on.

The influence of the factors acting on the fuel consumption along with the operating properties is manifested in the formation of the operating modes of rolling stock.

The gains in productivity of urban passenger transport would be achieved through the reduction in fuel consumption, which is based on the management of the operating fuel costs of buses. In order to develop the mentioned measures, it is necessary to collect data on fuel consumption for each city bus route and to provide their computer processing. Based on the analysis of the obtained data, the decision is taken on the need to adjust the operating fuel costs and for adopting the route standards.

This will improve the efficiency of urban motor transport companies on the basis of the route standards of

fuel costs by adjusting the existing standards of fuel consumption of buses.

Equally important to enhancing the efficiency of passenger transport and the successful functioning of the transport process is the correctly chosen city route. The main goal is to provide transport of passengers in the shortest possible timeframe. Experience demonstrates that the transport network routing in major cities is a very complex and ambiguous process [14,15].

### 2.4 City route choice

Equally important to enhancing the efficiency of passenger transport and the successful functioning of the transport process is the correctly chosen city route. The main goal is to provide transport of passengers in the shortest possible timeframe. Experience demonstrates that the transport network routing in major cities is a very complex and ambiguous process.

Proper planning of stops on the city route is of high importance.

The calculation of the operating parameters of the bus routes and the provision of rational organization of passenger transportation should be based on the study of the actual passenger flow on the route.

The aim of the research is to obtain reliable data on the passenger flows on the bus routes and to distribute them according to the hours of the day and days of the week, which allows us to rationally organize the work on the bus lines, to establish their timetable, to choose the type of rolling stock, and to distribute the vehicles [12,13].

The study of passenger flows can be complex and selective [18]. Different methods are used for passenger flow study: surveys, questionnaires, coupons, visual methods and so on. A traffic flow study is also possible through the analysis of revenue from a particular route by the number of tickets sold during the transportation of passengers [19,20]. The information received on passenger flows is processed by specially designed programs using computer technologies.

The information obtained as a result of transportation of passengers must be redistributed according to the hours of the day and the stops on the route. It is schematically represented by diagrams. The diagrams allow us to visualize the distribution of passenger flows in each direction on the route at certain times of the day, as well as the values of passenger flow at "peak" hours, according to which the maximum number of buses is determined. The diagrams have been constructed using the day-to-day flow distribution tables (Table 2).

The distribution of passenger flows in both directions of one of the routes of the city (N 14) according to the hours of the day is given in the table, and the diagram is shown in Figure 1.



WAYS TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS PROBLEMS EXISTING IN THE URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT SYSTEM Tamaz Morchadze; Nunu Rusadze

Volume: 9 2022 Issue: 2 Pages: 237-243 ISSN 1339-5629

Distribution of passenger flows by day-night hours Number of passengers Number of passengers Day-night Day-night Direction Direction hours hours Backward Forward Forward Backward 14-15 370 374 5-6 45 21 420 483 6-7 455 15-16 382 7-8 591 562 16-17 440 575 722 577 8-9 692 17-18 547 9-10 421 18-19 741 605 623 10-11 505 310 19-20 363 421 11-12 173 20-21 192 222 301 12-13 204 21-22 70 240 51 13-14 466 155 -\_ 6266 7053 13319

Table 2 Distribution of passenger flows on the urban bus routes in both directions by day-night hours



Distribution of passenger flows in both directions on the city bus routes

Figure 1 Schematic distribution of passenger flows to the hours of the day and the stops on the routes in forwards and backwards directions

As can be seen from the diagram, the maximum values of passenger flows on a given route are 8-9 and 18-19 hours. As a result of the adjustment of road infrastructure, it is estimated that all the ten first-level lines of the city will increase passenger flow by 1.5-2 times, so the maximum number of buses should be calculated according to passenger flows at these hours. During the remaining hours, the number of buses on the route should be redistributed to ensure timely, safe and comfortable passenger services.

Thus, the analysis shows that in order to effectively organize the traffic of urban passenger vehicles and to



determine their optimal number on specific routes, it is necessary to establish the patterns of change in passenger flows. Analysis of the various methods of passenger flow study allows us to select any of them according to a specific purpose, which will provide efficient passenger transport services.

Tamaz Morchadze; Nunu Rusadze

A modern type of bus produced by leading companies with a large capacity (90 seats, 12 m long) was selected.

Arbitrary Route number Parameters notations N 150 N 14 N 47 N 54 The length of the route, km 13.3 8.1 13.5 11.9 L Specific quantity of stops, km<sup>-1</sup>  $N_0$ 1.95 1.97 1.92 1.93 Specific quantity of light signs, 2.7 3.1 3.3  $N_L$ 2.8 km<sup>-1</sup> Specific quantity of stops near Ν 0.9 0.98 0.96 1 the light signs, km<sup>1</sup> Operating speed, km h Vs 20.1 17.5 22.2 19.7

Table 3 Some operating parameters of routes

Analysis of these data showed that the length of the route has a significant impact on the effectiveness of the vehicle's environmental safety, and if it is reduced, fuel consumption increases while traffic speed decreases. This is explained by the increased number of stops  $(N_0, \text{ km}^{-1})$ . In the case of the short-distance routes, it almost doubles, and this result confirms the correctness of what we have said above.

A step forward in this regard is the regulation of road infrastructure, which envisages the creation of a special line for buses. The example of Tbilisi City shows that all the ten first-level lines belong to congested areas, and the creation of special bus lines on them will lead to a partial reduction of traffic congestion; timely transportation of passengers and increased passenger flows by 1.5-2 times; obvious improvement of environmental conditions, which is manifested in the reduction of the number of stops, the number of traffic lights and the number of stops with traffic lights, an increase in the route length, and an increased operating speed.

### 2.5 Passenger traffic route profitability

The cost-effectiveness of passenger transportation largely depends on the correct selection of rolling stock. First of all, before choosing a rational-capacity bus, it is necessary to remember that buses are classified according to two major criteria - destination and capacity. During urban passenger transportation, urban and large-capacity buses are regarded as a preferred solution [21].

An important parameter is the capacity of the bus, which primarily affects the bus filling factor and the comfort of passengers. When determining this factor, the values of passenger flows (in one direction) and their unequal distribution according to the hours of the day and night should be taken into consideration. Under the current conditions, in the context of combatting the coronavirus pandemic, there was a significant reduction in the bus filling factor, and its value was 0.5. In this regard, it is necessary to make some changes in the industry standard.

In order to determine the fuel efficiency and

The data of the conducted operation experiment were

environmental friendliness, the operation study was

processed using computer technologies, and the numerical values of some important parameters are given in Table 3.

conducted on several city routes in Tbilisi.

With improving the road infrastructure, according to the existing methodology, the bus was selected according to the existing methodology, and the bus traffic interval, frequency and all the necessary parameters were determined.

The number of public transport and the location of stops were theoretically determined according to the major indicators, according to the distance travelled by pedestrians and the speed of public transport [16,17].

Finally, we can conclude that in the current environment, in a manner fully consistent with the standard and for people with disabilities, the requirements are met by large-capacity buses at peak hours at intervals of 3 minutes, while during off-peak hours - by the withdrawal of buses.

Thus, the analysis shows that the efficient operation of the city bus routes is influenced by a large number of factors, the maximum account of which ensures safe, quality and timely transportation of the population.

### 3 Result and discussion

The analysis allowed us to systematize and generalize the efficiency criteria of urban passenger transport companies, identify indicators that characterize the quality of transport services for the city population, as well as the performance effectiveness of transport companies and the specifics of routes.

In order to select the appropriate urban passenger vehicles for the specific routes, as well as to determine their optimal number, the patterns of variability of passenger flows and the distribution of the number of vehicles



WAYS TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS PROBLEMS EXISTING IN THE URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT SYSTEM Tamaz Morchadze; Nunu Rusadze

selected on their basis according to the hours of the day were established.

The article analyses and establishes the operational factors affecting the fuel efficiency and environmental safety of road transport and focuses on qualification of a driver and the effective methods of driving to ensure the efficiency of the transport process.

It has been established that when creating a model for managing the urban passenger transport system, it is advisable for the municipal government to maximally investigate the city population's demand, study passenger flows and establish routes and timetables, as well as provide the timetable monitoring and scheduling system.

There has been established the nature of the variability of the operating parameters (average speed, fuel consumption, etc.) during the operation of buses in urban conditions, which is due to frequent stops, high saturation of obstacles, and increased frequency of unsteady traffic modes, and so on. As a result, there has been justified the need to improve the professional skills of drivers to increase the effective performance of transport companies and use the methods of their material incentives.

In urban traffic, the number of stops per kilometre of the route is large, which increases the share of unsteady bus traffic on the line, resulting in a significant increase in fuel consumption, increasing emissions and deteriorating environmental conditions in the city. A step forward in this regard is the improvement of road infrastructure, which envisages the construction of ten first-level roads in the city with special bus lines that will pass through all busy areas or streets of the city, thereby extending the bus lines and reducing the number of intermediate stops.

In terms of increasing the productivity of transport companies, it should be noted that, using the example of Tbilisi city, road infrastructure has been conditionally divided into two parts, the first of which, which includes ten first-level sections, has less dependence on qualification of a driver, the driver's choice of economy modes, namely, on his driving style, the reduction in the number of stops automatically led to the reduction in fuel consumption, it is no longer necessary to train drivers on the criteria of fuel efficiency.

The nature of the variability of its performance indicators in the vehicle's operation process in the conditions of Georgia has been established, which is due to frequent stops, high saturation of obstacles, increased frequency of unsteady traffic modes, and so on. As a result, with a view to improving fuel efficiency and environmental friendliness, there has been justified the appropriateness of motor vehicles.

The studies that we conducted on the urban route operating parameters and the results of the experiments involving the drivers with different amounts of experience and qualifications when driving on different categories of roads and in various transport network conditions show that the effective performance of transport companies varies between 55-60% depending on the qualification of a driver.

As can be seen from the analysis, it would be wrong to suggest that the economical driving of the vehicle is associated with the average speed of traffic and, consequently, with the reduction in the transport work performed. Therefore, when operating in these typical conditions, the driver's ability to maintain the optimal operating modes of the vehicle in terms of fuel economy comes first.

#### 4 Conclusions

The article discusses and elaborates the measures of operation of city bus routes in the conditions of a threelevel transport network in big cities, thus ensuring timely, safe and comfortable service of passengers, in a relatively ecologically clean environment, with minimal economic costs.

- The regularity of the change of passenger flows has been established.
- The bus scheme of minibuses and minibuses was optimized.
- Urban passenger vehicles were selected, and their optimal number was determined.
- The number of vehicles was distributed according to the day and hours.

### References

[1] MORCHADZE, T., RUSADZE, N.: *Ways* to address the challenges in passenger traffic within the urban transport systems, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 65-77, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.20858/tp.2018.13.3.6

[2] PENCHEVA, V., ASENOV, A., GROZEV, D., GEORGIEV, I., STOYANOV, P.: Study of the daily irregularity on specific routes, servicing the passenger stops in Ruse Bulgaria, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp. 5-21, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.20858/tp.2019.14.4.1

- [3] GNAP, J., VARJAN, P., ĎURANA, P., KOSTRZEWSKI, M.: Research on the relationship between freight transport and transport infrastructure in selected European countries, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 5-21, 2019. https://doi.org/10.20858/tp.2019.14.3.6
- [4] OZIOMEK, J., ROGOWSKI, A.: Improvement of the regularity of urban public transport lines by means of intervals synchronization, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 91-102, 2018. https://doi.org/10.20858/tp.2018.13.4.9
- [5] TARAN, I., LITVIN, V.: Determination of rational parameters for urban bus route with combined operating mode, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 157-172, 2018. https://doi.org/10.20858/tp.2018.13.4.14



WAYS TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS PROBLEMS EXISTING IN THE URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT SYSTEM

Tamaz Morchadze; Nunu Rusadze

- [6] ASENOV, A., PENCHEVA, V., GEORGIEV, I.: Planning and modeling of the time for acceptance and stay of vehicles at the loading and discharging points, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 23-35, 2021. https://doi.org/10.21307/tp-2021-057
- [7] SZYMALSKI, W.: Energy and CO2 emission intensities of various modes of passenger transport in Warsaw, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 131-140, 2021. https://doi.org/10.21307/tp-2021-029
- [8] GELASHVILI, O.G., TSERTSVADZE, G.P.: *The environmental effectiveness of diesel vehicles running on mixed fuel type*, Materials of the international scientific and technical conference Ecological problems of transport, Baku, May 24-26, 2011.
- [9] EROKHOV, V.: Toxicity of modern cars, Methods and means of reducing harmful emissions into the atmosphere, Moscow: Forum, Infra-M, 2013.
- [10] GRAFKINA, M., MIKHAILOV, V., IVANOV, K.: *Ecology and environmental safety*, Moscow: Forum, Infra-M, 2016.
- [11] YAKUNINA, N.V., YAKUNIN, N.N., DRYUCHIN, D.A., LEGASHCHEV, S.V.: Simulation of the carrying capacity of urban passenger transport, taking into account the capacity of a street-road network, *Automotive industry*, Vol. 2018, No. 3. pp. 27-31, 2018.
- [12] PUGACHEV, I.N., URMINCKI, E.A., SHAMRI, H.B., SEDYKEVICH, B.H.: Determination of passenger traffic flows in the regional transport system based on modified gravity models, *Science* and Technology, Vol. 2015, No. 5, pp. 39-45, 2015.
- [13] MIKHAILOV, A.YU., KOPYLOVA, T.A.: Development of estimated duration of transplantation in intermodal nodes of urban passenger transport, Proceedings of higher schools, Investments, Building, Real estate, No. 1, pp. 37-145, 2015.
- [14] LEBEDEVA, O., MIKHAILOV, A.: Model of passenger counting system data treatment,

*Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 20, pp. 401-405, 2017.

- [15] SHAROV, M., MIKHAILOV A.: Urban transport system reliability indicators, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 20, pp. 591-595, 2017.
- [16] LEVASHEV, A., MIKHAILOV, A., GOLOVNYKH, I.: Modelling parking based trips, WIT Transactions on Ecology and The Environment, Vol. 179, pp. 1067-1076, 2013.
- [17] PUGACHEV, I.N., ET, AL.: Factor Analysis of Traffic Organization and Safety Systems, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 20, pp. 529-535, 2017.
- [18] ZHAMANBAYEV, B., RAIMBAYEV, A., ALMAKHANOVA, E., RAIMBAYEVA, S., WÓJCIK, W.: Two-stage substantiation of placement of public transport stops, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 87-99, 2021.
- [19] MACIOSZEK, E., KUREK, A.: Road traffic distribution on public holidays and workdays on selected road transport network elements, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 127-139, 2021.
- [20] MUTIAWATI, C., SURYANI, F., FAISAL, R., AHLAN, M.: Analysis of pedestrians' sidewalk service, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 15, No. 4, Part 1, pp. 69-83, 2020.
- [21] NIKIFOROV, O., SAFRONOV, K., MOCHALIN, S., KOLEBER, YU.: Survey method improvement of urban passenger transport works, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 127-139, 2020.
- [22] GIORGOBIANI, G., GIORGOBIANI, T., KANDELAKI, K., KVARATSKHELIA, V., TSATSANASHVILI, M.: Statistical Analysis for Efficient Design of Passenger Transit System, *Bulletin of TICMI*, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 85-95, 2020.

#### **Review process**

Single-blind peer review process.





ABOUT/STATEMENT

# JOURNAL STATEMENT

Journal name:	Acta logistica
Abbreviated key title:	Acta logist
Journal title initials:	AL
Journal doi:	10.22306/al
ISSN:	1339-5629
Start year:	2014
The first publishing:	March 2014
Issue publishing:	Quarterly
Publishing form:	On-line electronic publishing
Availability of articles:	Open Access Journal
Journal license:	CC BY-NC
Publication ethics:	COPE, ELSEVIER Publishing Ethics
Plagiarism check:	Worldwide originality control system
Peer review process:	Single-blind review at least two reviewers
Language:	English
Journal e-mail:	info@actalogistica.eu

The journal focuses mainly on the original and new, interesting, high-quality, theoretical, practical and application-oriented contributions to the field of science and research and pedagogy and education in logistics and transport.

Publisher:	4S go, s.r.o.
Address:	Semsa 24, 044 21 Semsa, Slovak Republic, EU
Phone:	+421 948 366 110
Publisher e-mail:	info@4sgo.eu

# Responsibility for the content of a manuscript rests upon the authors and not upon the editors or the publisher.